Linear programming bounds in classical association schemes

Charlene Weiß

Dissertation

eingereicht am Institut für Mathematik zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.)

> Universität Paderborn 2022

Promotionskommission:

Prof. Dr. Kai-Uwe Schmidt (Betreuer und Gutachter) Prof. Dr. Leo Storme (Gutachter) Prof. Dr. Alfred Wassermann (Gutachter) Prof. Dr. Margit Rösler Prof. Dr. Tobias Weich

Tag der Einreichung: 31. Oktober 2022 Tag der Disputation: 8. Februar 2023

Lying, thinking Last night How to find my soul a home Where water is not thirsty And bread loaf is not stone I came up with one thing And I don't believe I'm wrong That nobody, But nobody, Can make it out here alone.

—Maya Angelou, excerpt from Alone

Acknowledgments

This thesis would not have been possible without numerous people who supported me in different ways.

First of all, I want to express my deep gratitude to my supervisor Kai-Uwe Schmidt. He already believed in my abilities during my bachelor studies and saw something in me that I did not see myself back then. His sparkling joy for combinatorics—and basically, any other mathematical topic—was contagious. He has been an inspiration for me as a researcher to always look for new mathematical adventures and to never give up. Especially, his immense and endless optimism and his high level of expectation had a positive effect on me and my work. I want to thank him for not only sharing his knowledge, but also his great teaching and presenting skills. Lastly, I am very grateful for his general trust and patience, as well as for the joyful working atmosphere he created with his wit and (nearly) never-ending smile. *Thank you, Kai*.

I also want to thank the external referees Leo Storme and Alfred Wassermann as well as the other committee members Margit Rösler and Tobias Weich for their contributed time and effort.

My thanks also go to my former and present colleagues at Paderborn University for all the enjoyable conversations that we had during the last years with topics about life, politics, teaching, and research.

I am also grateful to the people who did the unpleasant job of proofreading parts of this thesis' manuscript. Moreover, I want to thank Christian Tölle for providing the musical epigraphs by using his great musical ear.

This thesis is dedicated to my friends for filling my life with so much joy and creating many beautiful memories, and most importantly, being there for me even during challenging times. Especially, I want to thank: Alena, Daniel, Inga, Jessi, Lars, and Lena—you all supported me in various ways and helped me cope with even the most stressful moments during the last years.

Last but not least, I am grateful to my family, especially my mother for raising me to be the person I am today and for her unwavering belief in me.

Zusammenfassung

Digitale Kommunikation beruht in hohem Maße auf der Verwendung verschiedener Arten von Codes. Heutzutage wichtige Codes sind Rang-Metrik-Codes und Unterraumcodes – die *q*-Analoga von binären Codes und binären Codes mit konstantem Gewicht. All diese Codes können als Teilmengen klassischer Assoziationsschemata betrachtet werden. Ein zentrales codierungstheoretisches Problem besteht darin, obere Schranken für die Größe von Codes zu geben. Diese Arbeit untersucht Delsartes mächtiges lineares Optimierungsproblem, dessen Optimum genau eine solche Schranke für Codes in Assoziationsschemata ist. Die linearen Optimierungsprobleme für binäre Codes und binäre Codes mit konstantem Gewicht wurden seit den 1970er Jahren ausgiebig untersucht, aber ihr Optimum ist noch unbekannt. Wir bestimmen auf einheitliche Weise das Optimum des linearen Optimierungsproblems in verschiedenen gewöhnlichen q-Analoga sowie in deren affinen Pendants. Insbesondere werden Schranken und Konstruktionen für Codes in Polarräumen hergeleitet, wobei die Schranken in mehreren Fällen bis auf einen konstanten Faktor optimal sind. Darüber hinaus wird auf der Grundlage dieser Resultate eine fast vollständige Klassifizierung von Steiner-Systemen in Polarräumen gegeben, indem bewiesen wird, dass diese nur in wenigen Spezialfällen existieren könnten.

Abstract

Digital communications relies heavily on the usage of different types of codes. Prominent codes nowadays are rank-metric codes and subspace codes—the *q*-analogs of binary codes and binary codes with constant weight. All these codes can be viewed as subsets of classical association schemes. A central coding-theoretic problem is to derive upper bounds for the size of codes. This thesis investigates Delsarte's powerful linear program whose optimum is precisely such a bound for codes in association schemes. The linear programs for binary codes and binary constant-weight codes have been extensively studied since the 1970s, but their optimum is still unknown. We determine in a unified way the optimum of the linear program in several ordinary *q*-analogs as well as in their affine counterparts. In particular, bounds and constructions for codes in polar spaces are established, where the bounds are sharp up to a constant factor in many cases. Moreover, based on these results, an almost complete classification of Steiner systems in polar spaces is provided by showing that they could only exist in some corner cases.

Contents

Acknowledgments							
Zu	Zusammenfassung						
AŁ	Abstract						
Contents							
1	Intr	oductio	on	1			
2	Ass	ociatio	n schemes	11			
	2.1	Backg	ground on association schemes	12			
		2.1.1	Definition and examples	12			
		2.1.2	The Bose-Mesner algebra	16			
		2.1.3	<i>P</i> - and <i>Q</i> -polynomial association schemes	19			
		2.1.4	Codes and designs in association schemes	26			
	2.2	Linea	r programming	30			
		2.2.1	Basics from optimization theory	30			
		2.2.2	Delsarte's linear programming method	32			
	2.3	Classical association schemes					
		2.3.1	<i>q</i> -Johnson scheme	37			
		2.3.2	Polar space schemes	39			
		2.3.3	Affine schemes	47			
		2.3.4	Connection between affine and ordinary q -analogs	49			
3	Codes in polar spaces						
	3.1	Introd	Juction	53			
	3.2	Bounds					
	3.3	Constructions					
	3.4	Open	problems	65			

4	4 Steiner systems in polar spaces				
	4.1	Introduction	67		
	4.2	Proof of the classification results	69		
	4.3	Open problems	77		
5	5 Optimal solution of the linear program				
	5.1 Introduction				
	5.2 Feasible solution of the dual LP		87		
	5.3	Feasible solution of the primal LP	91		
		5.3.1 Affine <i>q</i> -analogs	92		
		5.3.2 Ordinary <i>q</i> -analogs	96		
		5.3.3 The Hermitian matrices and even d	107		
		5.3.4 The Hermitian polar space ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and even d	116		
	5.4	Open problems	133		
6	Sun	ummary			
A	List of classical association schemes				
Bi	Bibliography				
Li	List of figures				
Li	List of tables				
Li	List of symbols				
In	Index				

viii



---Reduction of *Spring 1* (excerpt 47"–56") from *Recomposed by Max Richter: Vivaldi - The Four Seasons*

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

This thesis investigates codes and designs as subsets of association schemes by using a linear programming method developed by Delsarte in the 1970s.

More specifically, we will focus on *rank-metric codes* and *subspace codes*, which gained particular interest in recent years because of their applications in network coding [MS12]—an area on which today's digital communications heavily relies on. Namely, nowadays, large amounts of data are stored or transmitted via a network of intermediate nodes, for example, if one uses video streaming, file distribution, peer-to-peer networking, or distributed storage. In these networks, the data can be disrupted because of noise, for example, by electromagnetic interference in cables when sending data over wires. Codes ensure that the original data can be recovered from the data exposed to noise if not too many errors occurred. In [KK08] and [SKK08], it was proposed to use matrices and finite-dimensional vector spaces over the finite field \mathbb{F}_q for network coding and it turned out that they are very well suited for the task of error-correction in network communications. Rank-metric codes and subspace codes are the *q*-analogs of the classical codes—the *binary* codes and the binary constant-weight codes. We will later see in this thesis that the notion "*q*-analog" comes from the fact that combinatorics of sets can be seen as the limiting case $q \to 1$ of combinatorics of vector spaces over \mathbb{F}_q , where vector spaces are replaced by sets and dimension by cardinality.

In general, one can think of a *d*-code *Y* as a finite subset in a metric space such that *d* is the *minimum distance* that can occur between two distinct elements of *Y*. Designs on the other hand are subsets of a given space that approximate the whole space in a precise way. Design theory originated in the first half of the 19th century, where the first example of a *t*-combinatorial design was given, which is a collection *Y* of subsets, having the same cardinality, of a finite set *V* such that every *t*-subset of *V* lies in exactly λ members of *Y*. For $\lambda = 1$, one obtains a special type of a combinatorial design called *t*-Steiner system. As an example, a 2-Steiner system is given in Figure 1.1, where the set *V* consists of all the seven depicted points and the lines are the members of the 2-Steiner



FIGURE 1.1. A 2-Steiner system.

system.

From an algebraic-combinatorial viewpoint, codes and designs can be seen as dual concepts and an immensely suitable framework to study them is the rich theory of association schemes. As Delsarte and Levenshtein [DL98] phrased it:

"In coding theory and related subjects, an association scheme [...] should mainly be viewed as a 'structured space' in which objects of interest (such as codes, or designs) are living."

More precisely, an *association scheme with n classes* consists of a finite set *X* together with n + 1 relations R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n on $X \times X$ such that the corresponding adjacency matrices D_0, D_1, \ldots, D_n span a commutative matrix algebra over the complex numbers, called *Bose-Mesner algebra*, where D_0 is the identity matrix, the sum of all D_i is the all-ones-matrix, and D_i^T lies in $\{D_0, D_1, \ldots, D_n\}$ for all *i*. One can show that the Bose-Mesner algebra has a unique basis of primitive idempotent matrices. The coefficients that occur in the change of basis between them and the adjacency matrices are essential for the theory of association schemes and are called *P*- and *Q*-*numbers*. In particular, the *P*-numbers are the eigenvalues of the adjacency matrices, which are simultaneously diagonalizable and have exactly n + 1 maximal common eigenspaces V_0, V_1, \ldots, V_n .

We will focus on *classical association schemes*, where the notion "classical" stems from their connection to distance-regular graphs with classical parameters [BCN89, § 6]. They are special in the sense that there exist orderings of the adjacency matrices D_0, D_1, \ldots, D_n and of the eigenspaces V_0, V_1, \ldots, V_n such that the *P*- and *Q*-numbers are given as evaluations of orthogonal polynomials. Because of these orderings, we can define a *d*-code as a subset *Y* of *X* such that

$$(Y \times Y) \cap R_i = \emptyset$$
 for all $i = 1, 2, \dots, d-1$

and a *t*-design as a subset Y of X such that its characteristic vector ϕ_Y satisfies

$$\phi_Y \notin V_1 + \cdots + V_t.$$

Particularly, in a classical association scheme, the relations R_i define a metric δ on X by

 $\delta(x, y) = i$ if and only if $(x, y) \in R_i$,

so that a *d*-code in such a classical association scheme is a *d*-code in the metric space (X, δ) .

The objective in coding theory is to construct *d*-codes with as many elements as possible since we aim for a high information rate during the transmitting and storing process. This gives rise to one of the central coding-theoretic problems.

Problem 1. What is the maximum cardinality of a d-code in a given metric space?

So, we would like to derive upper bounds on the cardinality of *d*-codes and construct codes that reach these upper bounds. For designs on the other hand, we want to give lower bounds on their cardinality since they are some kind of approximation of their whole space leading to the following problem.

Problem 2. What is the minimum cardinality of a t-design in a classical association scheme?

One is also interested in the existence of nontrivial designs, especially designs that are extremal in some sense. For example, a *t*-Steiner system is a *t*-design in an association scheme, called *Johnson scheme*, and is an optimal (n - t + 1)-code. So, we also study the following problem.

Problem 3. Do nontrivial "extremal" t-designs in a classical association scheme exist?

In this thesis, we will focus on Problem 1 and 3.

A landmark result in Delsarte's PhD thesis [Del73] is the *linear programming method*, which treats the problem of finding the maximum cardinality of a code as an extremum problem for subsets in association schemes. The idea behind the linear program is to first associate an *inner distribution* $(A_0, A_1, ..., A_n)$ with a *d*-code Y given by

$$A_i = \frac{|(Y \times Y) \cap R_i|}{|Y|} \quad \text{for all } i = 0, 1, \dots, n,$$

so that A_i is basically the average number of pairs from $Y \times Y$ that lie in R_i . It can be readily verified that the inner distribution of a *d*-code Y satisfies

- $A_0 + A_1 + \dots + A_n = |Y|$
- $A_0 = 1$
- $A_i \ge 0$ for all i = 0, 1, ..., n

4 Introduction

• $A_i = 0$ for all i = 1, 2, ..., d - 1

Recall that there exist some primitive idempotents E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n that constitute a second basis for the Bose-Mesner algebra. Hence, the matrices E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n are positive semidefinite implying that the characteristic vector ϕ_Y of Y satisfies $\phi_Y^T E_k \phi_Y \ge 0$ for all $k = 0, 1, \ldots, n$. It is readily verified that the condition $\phi_Y^T E_k \phi_Y \ge 0$ can be written as

$$\sum_{i=0}^n Q_k(i)A_i \ge 0,$$

where $Q_k(i)$ are the *Q*-numbers that occur when writing E_k as a linear combination of the matrices D_i . Combining all the aforementioned properties of the inner distribution gives Delsarte's linear program of the form

maximize
$$A_0 + A_1 + \dots + A_n$$

subject to $A_0 = 1$
 $A_i \ge 0$ for all $i = d, d + 1, \dots, n$
 $A_i = 0$ for all $i = 1, 2, \dots, d - 1$
 $\sum_{i=0}^n Q_k(i)A_i \ge 0$ for all $k = 1, 2, \dots, n$

The optimum of this linear program gives an upper bound on the cardinality of a *d*-code in the respective association scheme. The linear program can be solved numerically for a given set of parameters (e.g., number of classes in the association scheme, minimum distance of the code, etc.). However, we will see that the linear program can be also used to obtain analytic bounds and moreover, to characterize the cases, where equality holds.

The most important classical association schemes for classical coding and design theory are the Hamming scheme and the Johnson scheme, where codes in the first are the *q*-ary codes and in the latter the binary constant-weight codes. More concretely, the Hamming scheme consists of the set X that contains all *n*-tuples with entries from $\{1, 2, ..., q\}$ and the relations R_i consist of all pairs from $X \times X$ that differ in exactly *i* positions. For the Johnson scheme, the set X contains all *n*-subsets of a given *v*-set and the relations R_i consist of all pairs from $X \times X$ such that their intersection has exactly n - i elements. This thesis will focus on the *q*-analogs of the Hamming and Johnson scheme that are also classical association schemes. These *q*-analogs can be further categorized into ordinary q-analogs and affine q-analogs. The first ones consist of the *q*-Johnson scheme $J_a(n,m)$ and six polar space schemes: two Hermitians ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and ${}^{2}A_{2n}$, symplectic C_{n} , hyperbolic D_{n} , parabolic B_{n} , and elliptic ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$. For the polar space schemes, the set X contains all maximal totally isotropic subspaces of a finite vector space equipped with a nondegenerate form and the relations R_i consist of all pairs from $X \times X$ such that the dimension of their intersection is exactly n - i, where n is called the *rank* of the polar space and is

defined as the dimension of the maximal totally isotropic subspaces. For the *q*-Johnson scheme $J_q(n, m)$, the set X contains all *n*-dimensional subspaces of a given (m + n)-dimensional vector space over \mathbb{F}_q and the relations R_i consist of all pairs from $X \times X$ such the dimension of their intersection is exactly n - i. Moreover, it is well known that the maximal totally isotropic subspaces of the hyperbolic polar space D_n can be partitioned into two systems, called Latin and Greek, such that each system also gives rise to a classical association scheme denoted by $\frac{1}{2}D_n$ and called *bipartite half of* D_n . The affine *q*-analogs are the *bilinear forms scheme* $Bil_q(n, m)$ consisting of all $m \times n$ matrices over \mathbb{F}_q , the *alternating bilinear forms scheme* $Alt_q(m)$ consisting of all alternating $m \times m$ matrices over \mathbb{F}_q , and the *Hermitian forms scheme* $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$ consisting of all Hermitian $n \times n$ matrices over \mathbb{F}_{q^2} . The relations R_i of the affine *q*-analogs contain all pairs from $X \times X$ whose difference has rank *i* or in the case of $Alt_q(m)$, it has rank 2*i*. All six polar space schemes and the association schemes $J_q(n,m)$, $\frac{1}{2}D_m$, $Bil_q(n,m)$, $Alt_q(m)$, and $Her_q(n)$ have *n* classes, where n = n $\lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the case of Alt_q(m) and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$. The codes in the ordinary *q*-analogs are the subspace codes and in the affine *q*-analogs the rank-metric codes. Throughout this thesis, we will see a remarkable resemblance between the ordinary and affine *q*-analogs.

Known results

Even though at first sight, the idea behind Delsarte's linear program might seem simple, it is a strikingly effective method yielding "good" bounds for different types of codes. For example, the best known asymptotic bound for the cardinality of binary codes and of binary constant-weight codes was derived by applying this linear program in [McE+77]. Moreover, the method was also used to show that a *d*-code *Y* with $1 \le d \le n$ in the affine *q*-analog Bil_{*q*}(*n*, *m*), Her_{*q*}(*n*), or Alt_{*q*}(*m*) satisfies

$$|Y| \le (cb^n)^{n-d+1},\tag{1.1}$$

where *d* is required to be odd in the case of $\text{Her}_q(n)$ and the parameters *b* and *c* are defined by

$$(b,c) = \begin{cases} (q,q^{m-n}) & \text{for } \operatorname{Bil}_q(n,m) \\ (-q,-1) & \text{for } \operatorname{Her}_q(n) \\ (q^2,1/q) & \text{for } \operatorname{Alt}_q(m) \text{ if } m \text{ is even} \\ (q^2,q) & \text{for } \operatorname{Alt}_q(m) \text{ if } m \text{ is odd,} \end{cases}$$

see [Del78a], [Sch18], and [DG75]. Except for $Alt_q(m)$ with even m and odd q, there exist constructions reaching the bound (1.1), which were developed in the three aforementioned papers. So, Problem 1 is answered in $Bil_q(n, m)$, in

6 Introduction

Her_q(*n*) for odd *d*, and in Alt_q(*m*) except for even *m* and odd *q*. We will see in Chapter 5 that there also exists a bound for even *d* in Her_q(*n*) from [Sch18] that looks slightly more complicated than (1.1). However, there are no known constructions reaching the bound in Her_q(*n*) if *d* is even. For the *q*-Johnson scheme, a *d*-code Y with $1 \le d \le n$ in $J_q(n, m)$ satisfies

$$|Y| \le \frac{\binom{m+n}{n-d+1}_q}{\binom{n}{n-d+1}_q}.$$
(1.2)

This bound was first proved in [WXS03] and a proof based on linear programming was given in [ZJX11]. It was shown in [SKK08] that the bound (1.2) is sharp up to a constant factor by using known optimal rank-metric codes (*MRD codes*) in Bil_q(n, m), answering Problem 1 for $J_q(n, m)$ asymptotically. In the literature, the bound (1.2) is known under different names, for example, Wang-Xing-Safavi-Naini bound, anticode bound, and packing bound. However, we will see in this thesis that the bounds (1.2) and (1.1) deserve the name *Singleton bound*.¹ Delsarte's linear programming method was also used to derive a bound for codes consisting of symmetric matrices, which is sharp in some cases ([Sch10], [Sch15], [Sch20]). There, the codes correspond to subsets in the *symmetric bilinear forms scheme*, which is a nonclassical association scheme.

Although Problem 1 concerning binary codes and binary constant-weight codes has been studied for decades, a solution for these codes seems still out of reach. In particular, their linear programs have been investigated extensively and it is still unknown what their optima look like. This is different for their *q*-analogs, for example, since the Singleton bound for codes in the bilinear forms scheme was proved by using the linear program and there exist constructions (MRD codes) reaching this bound [Del78a], the Singleton bound is precisely the optimum of the linear program. Similarly for the other rank-metric codes in the cases, where the bounds obtained in [DG75], [Sch18], and [Sch20] are sharp. In particular, the optima are known for Alt_{*q*}(*m*) except if *m* is even and *q* is odd and for Her_{*q*}(*n*) if *d* is odd. To our knowledge, nothing was known about the optimum of the linear program for codes in the *q*-Johnson scheme.

Codes that are optimal in some sense are often some kind of a design, for example, a *d*-code in $J_q(n, m)$ of size (1.2) is an (n - d + 1)-design. The designs in the *q*-Johnson scheme have a combinatorial interpretation and were introduced in the 1970s (see [Del78b], [Cam74]). They are a *q*-analog version of a combinatorial design, namely, a *t*-design over \mathbb{F}_q is a collection *Y* of subspaces, having the same dimension, of a finite-dimensional vector space *V*

¹We note that there already exists a different bound called Singleton bound for codes in the *q*-Johnson scheme [KK08], which can be shown by using a puncturing argument similarly to the proof of the Singleton bound for *q*-ary codes and rank-metric codes in $Bil_q(n, m)$.

over \mathbb{F}_q such that every *t*-dimensional subspace of *V* lies in exactly λ members of *Y*. For $\lambda = 1$, one obtains a *t*-Steiner system over \mathbb{F}_q and a *d*-code *Y* is of size (1.2) if and only if *Y* is an (n - d + 1)-Steiner system over \mathbb{F}_q .

It was shown in [Tei87] that nontrivial *t*-combinatorial designs exist for all *t*. In [FLV14], a similar result was proved for *t*-designs over \mathbb{F}_q , namely that they exist for all *t* and *q* if the size of the ambient vector space is large enough and if the dimension of the members of the design is large enough compared to *t*. Whereas it was shown in [Kee14] that nontrivial classical Steiner systems are abundant (see also [Glo+16] for a different proof), it is quite sobering that nontrivial Steiner systems over \mathbb{F}_q are so far only known to exist for one set of parameters [Bra+16].

We will examine *t*-Steiner systems in polar spaces, which are sets *Y* of maximal totally isotropic subspaces such that every *t*-dimensional totally isotropic subspace of the polar space lies in exactly one element of *Y*. The special case of t = 1 corresponds to the well-known *spreads* in polar spaces. Although spreads have been heavily studied since the 1960s, their existence question is still not fully resolved (see [HT16, § 7.4] for the current status). For t = n - 1, it was known that (n - 1)-Steiner systems cannot exist in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$, B_n , and C_n , and in ${}^{2}A_{2n}$ and ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$ if q = 2, see [Van11, p. 160]. Moreover, it was known that (n - 1)-Steiner systems in D_n always exist—namely they are the two systems Latin and Greek. Not much was known about the existence of *t*-Steiner systems in polar spaces with 1 < t < n - 1. Only recently, it was shown in [Cos+22] that *t*-Steiner systems cannot exist if (n, t) = (4, 2) and (n, t) = (5, 3).

New results

To state two main results of this thesis, we extend the definition of the parameters b and c as follows

$$(b,c) = \begin{cases} (q,q^{m-n}) & \text{for Bil}_q(n,m) \text{ and } J_q(n,m) \\ (-q,-1) & \text{for Her}_q(n) \text{ and } {}^2A_{2n-1} \\ (q^2,1/q) & \text{for Alt}_q(m) \text{ and } \frac{1}{2}D_m \text{ if } m \text{ is even} \\ (q^2,q) & \text{for Alt}_q(m) \text{ and } \frac{1}{2}D_m \text{ if } m \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$

Our first main result contains the optima of the linear programs for several ordinary and affine *q*-analogs.

Theorem 1.

(a) Let X be the set of n-spaces in $J_q(n,m)$ or maximal totally isotropic subspaces in ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ or $\frac{1}{2}D_m$, where $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the case of $\frac{1}{2}D_m$. Then the optimum

of the linear program for d-codes with $1 \le d \le n$ in $J_q(n,m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ is given by

$$|X| \prod_{\ell=0}^{d-2} \frac{qb^{\ell} - 1}{qcb^{n+\ell} - 1},$$
(1.3)

where *d* is required to be odd in the case of ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$.

(b) The optimum of the linear program for d-codes with $1 \le d \le n$ in $\operatorname{Bil}_q(n, m)$, $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$, and $\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$ is given by

$$(cb^n)^{n-d+1}$$

where *d* is required to be odd in the case of $\text{Her}_q(n)$ and $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the case of $\text{Alt}_q(m)$.

Observe that there is a nice resemblance between the optima for the ordinary and affine *q*-analogs since we have

$$(cb^n)^{n-d+1} = |X| \prod_{\ell=0}^{d-2} \frac{qb^\ell}{qcb^{n+\ell}},$$

where $|X| = (cb^n)^n$ is the number of matrices in $\text{Bil}_q(n,m)$, $\text{Her}_q(n)$, and $\text{Alt}_q(m)$. In the case of $J_q(n,m)$, we have $|X| = {m+n \brack n}_q$ and the optimum (1.3) can thus be written as

$$\frac{\binom{m+n}{n-d+1}_q}{\binom{n}{n-d+1}_q}$$

which is the known bound (1.2). Therefore, the optima in $J_q(n, m)$, $Bil_q(n, m)$, $Her_q(n)$, and $Alt_q(m)$ are precisely the Singleton bounds (1.2) and (1.1).

We will moreover obtain the optimum of the linear program for *d*-codes in $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$ and ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ if *d* is even, in D_n if *d* is even, and in B_n and C_n if *d* is odd.

The proof of Theorem 1 given in Chapter 5 will rely on unified expressions of the *P*- and *Q*-numbers of $J_q(n, m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ as dual *q*-Hahn polynomials and *q*-Hahn polynomials, respectively, as well as of the *P*- and *Q*-numbers of Bil_q(*n*, *m*), Her_q(*n*), and Alt_q(*m*) as affine *q*-Krawtchouk polynomials.

The bound (1.3) for codes in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and $\frac{1}{2}D_{m}$ will be already derived in Chapter 3. Based on this bound for ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and $\frac{1}{2}D_{m}$, we will then obtain bounds for codes in all the remaining polar spaces ${}^{2}A_{2n}$, B_n , C_n , D_n , and ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$. We will also use known constructions of codes in the alternating bilinear, Hermitian, and symmetric bilinear forms scheme to construct codes in all polar spaces. Additionally, we will exploit these constructions to show that our obtained bounds are sharp up to a constant factor in several cases and thus, we will answer Problem 1 for codes in polar spaces from an asymptotic viewpoint. Exploiting our bounds for codes in polar spaces, we will classify nontrivial *t*-Steiner systems in polar spaces by proving their nonexistence except for some corner cases. This is remarkable since the classical Steiner systems are ubiquitous, whereas basically nothing is known for Steiner systems over \mathbb{F}_q . More specifically, our second main result, which will be proved in Chapter 4, is the following.

Theorem 2. Suppose that a polar space \mathcal{P} of rank *n* contains a t-Steiner system with 1 < t < n. Then one of the following holds

- (1) t = n 1 and $\mathcal{P} = D_n$;
- (2) t = n 1 and $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}A_{2n}$ or ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$ for $q \ge 3$;
- (3) t = 2 and $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}A_{2n}$ or ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$ for odd n.

Outline

Chapter 2 will introduce the required preliminaries about association schemes and linear programming. In particular, we will present the classical association schemes in more detail in Section 2.3. Tabular overviews of the classical association schemes can be found in Appendix A.

Every chapter will be preceded with an outline of its structure and a detailed introduction to its contents, especially stating its main results in the case of Chapter 4 and 5. Moreover, Chapter 3, 4, and 5 will be closed with a discussion of open problems arising from the results of the respective chapters or related to the topics considered therein. Finally, we will give a summary of the new results of this thesis in Chapter 6.

A list of all the notation occurring in this thesis can be found on page 155.

CHAPTER 2

Association schemes

Beautiful things don't ask for attention. —From the movie *The Secret Life of Walter Mitty*

Association schemes are fundamental in algebraic combinatorics. They give us an algebraic approach to study relations between elements of a finite set. Namely, we can associate a commutative matrix algebra with these relations if they satisfy some "nice" properties. By then using tools from, for example, linear algebra, harmonic analysis, or optimization theory, we can derive combinatorial properties of special subsets, called codes and designs, of this finite set. The theory behind this, and which we will apply in this thesis, goes back to Delsarte's groundbreaking PhD thesis [Del73], where he established a beautiful connection between coding and design theory by unifying both areas in the framework of association schemes. In this setting, codes and designs can be viewed as dual objects. For codes, one is interested in finding large subsets in a metric space such that specified distances cannot occur. Whereas for designs, one wants a small subset of the space such that its characteristic vector cannot lie in some specified eigenspaces associated with the commutative matrix algebra. Delsarte moreover developed a strong method, based on linear programming, to obtain bounds for the size of codes and designs and to characterize the extremal cases, when the bounds are tight. This method will be heavily applied and investigated throughout this thesis.

We start this chapter by giving some background on association schemes in Section 2.1. Afterwards, we will shortly look at some facts from the theory of linear programming that are needed to introduce Delsarte's linear programming method in Section 2.2. The last part of this chapter, Section 2.3, deals with the classical association schemes that we focus on in this thesis.

2.1 Background on association schemes

In this section, we will give an overview of association schemes and present the basic results that will be used throughout this thesis. For proofs and more information, we refer to the books [BI84] and [Ban+21] and especially to Delsarte's thesis [Del73]. Gently introductions to association schemes can also be found in [MS77, § 21] and [LW92].

2.1.1 Definition and examples

Association schemes. In the literature, various definitions of association schemes exist. Here, we will use the following one. An *association scheme* $(X, (R_i))$ *with n classes* is a finite set *X* with at least two elements together with n + 1 nonempty relations R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n such that

- (A1) all n + 1 relations R_i partition $X \times X$ and $R_0 = \{(x, x) \mid x \in X\};$
- (A2) for each relation R_i , its transpose $R_i^T = \{(y, x) \mid (x, y) \in R_i\}$ also occurs in $\{R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n\}$;
- (A3) for every pair $(x, y) \in R_k$, the number of $z \in X$ with $(x, z) \in R_i$ and $(z, y) \in R_j$ is a constant p_{ij}^k depending only on *i*, *j*, and *k*, but not on the particular choice of (x, y);

(A4)
$$p_{ii}^k = p_{ii}^k$$
 for all i, j, k .

The numbers p_{ij}^k are called *intersection numbers*. If $R_i = R_i^T$ holds for all *i*, then the association scheme is called *symmetric* and (A4) holds automatically. Let $R_{i'}$ denote the transposed relation R_i^T of R_i . Then we have $p_{ii'}^0 = p_{i'i}^0$. We write $v_i = p_{ii'}^0$ and call this number the *valency* of the relation R_i . So, for every $x \in X$, we have

$$v_i = |\{y \in X \mid (x, y) \in R_i\}|.$$

The elements of *X* are called *points* and the set $\{R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n\}$ of relations is henceforth denoted by \mathcal{R} .

In a symmetric association scheme, the condition (A3) can be visualized as follows. Associate with each relation R_i a color c_i . Let G be the graph, where the vertices are the points of X and between two vertices $x, y \in X$, there is an edge colored by c_i if (x, y) lies in R_i . Condition (A3) then implies that the number of triangles depicted in Figure 2.1 depends only on the coloring of the edges, but not on the chosen base edge between x and y.

In the following, we look at two examples of association schemes that are the two most important ones for classical coding and design theory—the Hamming scheme and the Johnson scheme. These two will be used as running examples throughout this chapter.



FIGURE 2.1. Interpretation of the condition (A3) of a symmetric association scheme: exactly p_{ij}^k vertices *z* form this type of triangle.

Example 2.1.1 (Hamming scheme). Let *n* and *q* be positive integers with $q \ge 2$ and let $X = Q^n$, where *Q* is a set with *q* elements. The Hamming distance $d_H(x, y)$ between two points $x, y \in X$ is the number of positions in which *x* and *y* differ. More specifically, the mapping $d_H: X \times X \to \mathbb{N}_0$ defined by

$$d_H(x, y) = |\{i \mid 0 \le i \le n, \ x_i \ne y_i\}|$$

is a metric. The relation R_i is given by all pairs of $X \times X$ whose Hamming distance equals i. Then there are n + 1 relations R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n that together with X form a symmetric association scheme with n classes, known as the Hamming scheme and denoted by H(n,q). The valencies are given by

$$v_i = (q-1)^i \binom{n}{i} \tag{2.1}$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n. For example, H(2, 2) and H(3, 2) are depicted in Figure 2.2 and 2.3, respectively.



FIGURE 2.2. Hamming scheme H(2, 2) with the relations R_1 and R_2 .

Example 2.1.2 (Johnson scheme). Let *m* and *n* be positive integers with $m \ge n$. Then the set *X* of all *n*-subsets of a given (m + n)-set together with

$$R_i = \{(x, y) \in X \times X \mid |x \cap y| = n - i\}$$
(2.2)

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n forms a symmetric association scheme with n classes, known as the Johnson scheme, and is denoted by J(n, m). For all i = 0, 1, ..., n, we have

$$v_i = \binom{n}{i} \binom{m}{i}.$$
 (2.3)

As an example, the Johnson scheme J(2, 2) is depicted in Figure 2.4.



FIGURE 2.3. Hamming scheme H(3, 2) with the relations R_1 , R_2 , and R_3 .



FIGURE 2.4. Johnson scheme J(2, 2) with the relations R_1 and R_2 .

There is a nice connection between the binary Hamming scheme and the Johnson scheme.

Remark 2.1.3. The Johnson scheme J(n, m) can be embedded into the Hamming scheme H(m + n, 2) as follows. Identify an *n*-set *x* in J(n, m) with its characteristic vector ϕ_x , defined by $(\phi_x)_a = 1$ if $a \in x$ and $(\phi_x)_a = 0$ otherwise, which lies in $\{0, 1\}^{m+n}$. Then, for two *n*-sets *x* and *y*, it holds $n - |x \cap y| = i$ if and only if $d_H(\phi_x, \phi_y) = 2i$. Hence, this gives $(x, y) \in R_i$ in J(n, m) if and only if $d_H(\phi_x, \phi_y) = 2i$.

The following proposition is often very useful to verify that a given finite set *X* together with some relations forms an association scheme. It can only be applied if the association scheme has a group as an underlying structure such that this group *G* acts *transitively* on *X*; that is, for all $x, y \in X$, there exists a $g \in G$ with gx = y.

Proposition 2.1.4 ([Ban+21, Example 2.3]). Let *G* be a finite group and let *X* be a finite set, where *G* acts transitively on *X*. Define an action of *G* on $X \times X$ by g(x, y) = (gx, gy) for all $x, y \in X$ and $g \in G$. Then $R_0 = \{(x, x) \mid x \in X\}$ is an orbit. If R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n are all the orbits of $X \times X$ under *G*, then $(X, \{R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n\})$ satisfies the conditions (A1)-(A3) of an association scheme.

We can use this proposition to show that the Hamming scheme and the Johnson scheme are really association schemes.

Example 2.1.5. Let (X, \mathcal{R}) be the Hamming scheme H(n, q). Its underlying group G is the wreath product $S_q \wr S_n$. More concretely, the group G is the semidirect product of $S_q \times \cdots \times S_q$ (n copies of S_q) and S_n with respect to $\varphi \colon S_n \to \operatorname{Aut}(S_q \times \cdots \times S_q)$, where

$$\varphi(\pi)(\sigma_1,\ldots,\sigma_n)=(\sigma_{\pi(1)},\ldots,\sigma_{\pi(n)}).$$

Then G acts transitively on X via

$$((\sigma, \pi), x) \mapsto (\sigma_1(x_{\pi(1)}), \ldots, \sigma_n(x_{\pi(n)}))$$

for all $\sigma \in S_q \times \cdots \times S_q$, $\pi \in S_n$, and $x \in X$. The action of G extends to $X \times X$ componentwise and the orbits of this group action are precisely the relations R_i defined in Example 2.1.1. Because $R_i = R_i^T$ for all i, the pair $(X, \{R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n\})$ is a symmetric association scheme. It is an association scheme of type B_n or C_n since in the binary case, the group $G = S_2 \wr S_n$ is the hyperoctahedral group, which is a Weyl group of a Chevalley group² of type B_n or C_n , see [Sta84, p. 103].

Example 2.1.6. Let (X, \mathcal{R}) be the Johnson scheme J(n, m). The symmetric group S_{m+n} acts transitively on X by permuting the elements of the (m + n)-set. The action of S_{m+n} extends to $X \times X$ componentwise and the orbits of this group action are given by R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n from (2.2). Because of $R_i = R_i^T$ for all *i*, the pair $(X, \{R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n\})$ is a symmetric association scheme. It is an association scheme of type A_{m+n-1} since the group S_{m+n} is the Weyl group of a Chevalley group of type A_{m+n-1} , see [Sta84, p. 101].

Strongly regular graphs. If a symmetric association scheme has only two classes, then it is closely related to a *strongly regular graph*. Let G = (V, E) denote a graph with vertex set V and edge set E. If there is an edge between two vertices $x, y \in V$, then write $x \sim y$. A simple graph G = (V, E), which is neither empty nor complete, is called a *strongly regular graph* $srg(v, k, \theta, \rho)$ if the graph G has v vertices, is k-regular (that is, every vertex has exactly k neighbors), and if the following holds

$$|\{z \in V \mid x \sim z \text{ and } y \sim z\}| = \begin{cases} \theta & \text{if } x \sim y, \\ \rho & \text{if } x \not\sim y. \end{cases}$$

The next proposition shows that symmetric association schemes with two classes are equivalent to strongly regular graphs.

Proposition 2.1.7.

(a) Let $(X, \{R_0, R_1, R_2\})$ be a symmetric association scheme with two classes. Then the graph $G = (X, R_1)$ is an $srg(|X|, p_{11}^0, p_{11}^1, p_{11}^2)$.

²The definitions of Weyl and Chevalley groups are out of the scope of this thesis and they are also not required in detail since the type is only used for a categorization of different association schemes.

(b) Let G be an $srg(v, k, \theta, \rho)$. Define $R_0 = \{(x, x) \mid x \in X\}$ and let R_1 be the edge set of G and let R_2 be the edge set of the complement of G. Then the pair $(X, \{R_0, R_1, R_2\})$ is a symmetric association scheme with two classes.

An example of a strongly regular graph can be constructed by using the Hamming scheme H(2, q), for example, see Figure 2.5.



FIGURE 2.5. A strongly regular graph srg(9,4,1,2) that arises from the Hamming scheme H(2,3).

2.1.2 The Bose-Mesner algebra

We now introduce an algebra associated with an association scheme and use tools from linear algebra to further study association schemes.

Given a relation R_i of an association scheme (X, \mathcal{R}) with *n* classes, let D_i be the *adjacency matrix* of the graph (X, R_i) , that is, D_i is an $|X| \times |X|$ matrix with

$$(D_i)_{x,y} = egin{cases} 1 & ext{if } (x,y) \in R_i, \ 0 & ext{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for $x, y \in X$. The conditions (A1)–(A3) are then equivalent to (A1')–(A3') with

(A1') $D_0 + D_1 + \cdots + D_n = J$ and $D_0 = I$ (where J and I are the all-onesmatrix and identity matrix, respectively);

(A2') for each $i \in \{0, 1, ..., n\}$, there exists an $i' \in \{0, 1, ..., n\}$ with $D_i^T = D_{i'}$;

(A3') for each $i, j \in \{0, 1, ..., n\}$, there exist nonnegative integers p_{ij}^k such that

$$D_i D_j = \sum_{k=0}^n p_{ij}^k D_k.$$

Consider the \mathbb{C} -vector space \mathcal{B} spanned by the adjacency matrices D_0, D_1, \ldots, D_n of an association scheme (X, \mathcal{R}) . This vector space together with the standard matrix multiplication is a commutative matrix algebra, called the *Bose-Mesner algebra*. The following proposition shows that \mathcal{B} has a second basis with some special properties.

Proposition 2.1.8 ([Ban+21, Lemma 2.18]). Let \mathcal{B} be the Bose-Mesner algebra of an association scheme (X, \mathcal{R}) with n classes. Then the algebra \mathcal{B} has a second basis consisting of pairwise orthogonal, idempotent, Hermitian matrices E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n that satisfy

$$E_0 + E_1 + \dots + E_n = I$$
 and $\frac{1}{|X|}J \in \{E_0, E_1, \dots, E_n\}.$

In what follows, we set $E_0 = \frac{1}{|X|}J$ and write $\mu_k = \operatorname{rank}(E_k)$, which are known as the *multiplicities* of the association scheme. We call the matrices E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n from Proposition 2.1.8 the *primitive idempotents* of the association scheme.³

P- and *Q*-numbers. Since there are two different bases for the Bose-Mesner algebra of an association scheme, we can use a change of basis to define complex numbers $P_i(k)$ and $Q_k(i)$ by

$$D_i = \sum_{k=0}^{n} P_i(k) E_k$$
 and $E_k = \frac{1}{|X|} \sum_{k=0}^{n} Q_k(i) D_i$.

The numbers $P_i(k)$ and $Q_k(i)$ are called *P*-numbers and *Q*-numbers (or eigenvalues and dual eigenvalues) of the association scheme, respectively. The origin of the second names comes from the fact that the *P*-numbers are indeed the eigenvalues of the matrices D_i because

$$D_i E_k = \sum_{j=0}^n P_i(j) E_j E_k = P_i(k) E_k.$$

Moreover, the column spaces of the matrices E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n are the maximal common eigenspaces of the matrices D_0, D_1, \ldots, D_n . We denote the eigenspaces by V_k , that is, $V_k = E_k \mathbb{C}^X$. We then have the orthogonal direct sum

$$\mathbb{C}^X = V_0 \perp V_1 \perp \cdots \perp V_n$$

with respect to the complex inner product, where V_0 is spanned by the all-ones vector.

Observe that the *P*- and *Q*-numbers are real if the association scheme is symmetric.

For the Hamming scheme and the Johnson scheme, the *P*- and *Q*-numbers are well known. For example, they were derived in [Del76a] by using semilattices.

Example 2.1.9 ([Del76a, Theorem 11], [Ban+21, Theorem 2.86]). *Consider the Hamming scheme* H(n, q)*. Then there exists a unique ordering of the primitive*

³This notion comes from ring theory, where a nonzero idempotent element E in a ring R means that E cannot be written as the sum of two nonzero orthogonal idempotents of R. Indeed, if $E_k = A + B$ for two orthogonal idempotents A and B of the Bose-Mesner algebra, then $E_k A = A$ follows and since A can be written as a linear combination of the matrices E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n , we have $A = E_k$ or A = 0.

idempotents E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n *such that the P- and Q-numbers are given by*

$$P_i(k) = Q_i(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{i} (-1)^j (q-1)^{i-j} \binom{k}{j} \binom{n-k}{i-j}.$$
 (2.4)

They can also be written as

$$P_i(k) = Q_i(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{i} (-1)^{i-j} q^j \binom{n-j}{n-i} \binom{n-k}{j},$$

which can be proved by using generating functions, see [MS77, § 5, Theorem 15].

Example 2.1.10 ([Del76a, Theorem 10], [Del78b]). Consider the Johnson scheme J(n,m). Then there exists a unique ordering of the primitive idempotents E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n such that the P-numbers are given by

$$P_{i}(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{i} (-1)^{i-j} \binom{n-j}{i-j} \binom{n-k}{j} \binom{m+j-k}{j}$$
(2.5)

and the Q-numbers are given by

$$Q_k(i) = \mu_k \sum_{j=0}^k (-1)^j \binom{k}{j} \binom{m+n+1-k}{j} \binom{n}{j}^{-1} \binom{m}{j}^{-1} \binom{i}{j}, \qquad (2.6)$$

where $\mu_k = \binom{m+n}{k} - \binom{m+n}{k-1}$ are the multiplicities.

Below we summarize some basic facts about the *P*- and *Q*-numbers. Writing

$$P = \begin{pmatrix} P_0(0) & P_0(1) & \cdots & P_0(n) \\ P_1(0) & P_1(1) & \cdots & P_1(n) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ P_n(0) & P_n(1) & \cdots & P_n(n) \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$Q = \begin{pmatrix} Q_0(0) & Q_0(1) & \cdots & Q_0(n) \\ Q_1(0) & Q_1(1) & \cdots & Q_1(n) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ Q_n(0) & Q_n(1) & \cdots & Q_n(n) \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.7)

gives PQ = QP = |X|I, which in one case means

$$\frac{1}{|X|} \sum_{k=0}^{n} P_i(k) Q_k(j) = \delta_{ij} \quad \text{for all } i, j = 0, 1, \dots, n.$$
 (2.8)

The following proposition contains some special values of the *P*- and *Q*-numbers.

Proposition 2.1.11 ([Ban+21, Proposition 2.21]). Let $P_i(k)$ and $Q_k(i)$ be the *P*- and *Q*-numbers of an association scheme (X, \mathcal{R}) with *n* classes. Then, for all i = 0, 1, ..., n, we have

- (a) $P_0(i) = Q_0(i) = 1$
- (*b*) $P_i(0) = v_i$
- (c) $Q_i(0) = \mu_i$

The *P*- and *Q*-numbers satisfy some orthogonality relations that will be of importance in the next subsection.

Proposition 2.1.12 ([Ban+21, Theorem 2.22]). Let $P_i(k)$ and $Q_k(i)$ be the *P*- and *Q*-numbers of an association scheme (X, \mathcal{R}) with *n* classes. Then we have the two orthogonality relations

$$\frac{1}{|X|}\sum_{k=0}^{n}\mu_k P_i(k)\overline{P_j(k)} = \delta_{ij}v_i \quad \text{for all } i, j = 0, 1, \dots, n,$$
(2.9)

$$\frac{1}{|X|}\sum_{i=0}^{n}v_{i}Q_{k}(i)\overline{Q_{j}(i)} = \delta_{jk}\mu_{k} \quad \text{for all } j,k = 0,1,\ldots,n.$$
(2.10)

Moreover, the P- and Q-numbers are connected by

$$\mu_k \overline{P_i(k)} = v_i Q_k(i) \quad \text{for all } i, k = 0, 1, \dots, n.$$
(2.11)

Krein numbers. We remark that the Bose-Mesner algebra of an association scheme with the adjacency matrices D_0, D_1, \ldots, D_n is also an algebra with respect to the Hadamard (entrywise) product \circ , where the matrices D_0, D_1, \ldots, D_n form a basis consisting of pairwise orthogonal idempotent elements. Moreover, there exist complex numbers q_{ij}^k , called *Krein numbers*, such that

$$E_i \circ E_j = \frac{1}{|X|} \sum_{k=0}^n q_{ij}^k E_k$$

for all i, j = 0, 1, ..., n, where $E_0, E_1, ..., E_n$ are the primitive idempotents of the association scheme. The Krein numbers satisfy similar properties as the intersection numbers p_{ij}^k . However, no general combinatorial interpretation for them is known. For more details, see [Ban+21, § 2].

2.1.3 *P*- and *Q*-polynomial association schemes

In this subsection, we will consider only symmetric association schemes since their *P*- and *Q*-numbers are real numbers.

Metric association schemes. Let (X, \mathcal{R}) be a symmetric association scheme with *n* classes and intersection numbers p_{ij}^k , where we assume an

ordering of the relations $R_0, R_1, ..., R_n$. Then (X, \mathcal{R}) is called *metric* if $p_{ij}^{i+j} \neq 0$ and

$$p_{ii}^k \neq 0 \implies |i-j| \le k \le i+j$$
 for all i, j, k .

The motivation for this definition comes from the following proposition.

Proposition 2.1.13 ([Del73, § 5.2]). Let (X, \mathcal{R}) be a symmetric association scheme with intersection numbers p_{ij}^k . Define a mapping $\delta \colon X \times X \to \mathbb{N}_0$ by $\delta(x, y) = i$ whenever $(x, y) \in R_i$. Then the following are equivalent:

- (1) δ is a metric.
- (2) (X, \mathcal{R}) is metric.

Example 2.1.14. *The Hamming scheme* H(n,q) *is metric and the Hamming distance* $d_H(\cdot, \cdot)$ *is the corresponding metric.*

Example 2.1.15. The Johnson scheme J(n,m) is metric: Use the embedding of J(n,m) into H(m + n, 2) from Remark 2.1.3 and identify each set $x \in X$ with its characteristic vector ϕ_x in $\{0,1\}^{m+n}$. The metric δ is then given by $\delta(x,y) = d_H(\phi_x, \phi_y)/2$.

P-polynomial association scheme. We will see that metric association schemes have the useful property that the *P*-numbers are given by polynomials. A symmetric association scheme is called *P*-polynomial with respect to the ordering R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n if there exist polynomials $f_i \in \mathbb{R}[x]$ of degree *i* and distinct real numbers y_0, y_1, \ldots, y_n such that $P_i(k) = f_i(y_k)$ for all $i, k = 0, 1, \ldots, n$. The following proposition gives the connection between *P*-polynomial and metric association schemes.

Proposition 2.1.16 ([Ban+21, Theorem 2.76], [Del73, Theorem 5.6]). Let (X, \mathcal{R}) be a symmetric association scheme with the adjacency matrices D_0, D_1, \ldots, D_n corresponding to the relations R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n . Then the following are equivalent:

- (a) (X, \mathcal{R}) is P-polynomial with respect to the ordering R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n of the relations.
- (b) (X, \mathcal{R}) is metric with respect to the ordering R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n .
- (c) There exist polynomials $h_i(x) \in \mathbb{R}[x]$ of degree i such that $D_i = h_i(D_1)$.

Q-polynomial association scheme. A definition similar to *P*-polynomial association scheme can be given in terms of the *Q*-numbers. A symmetric association scheme is called *Q*-polynomial with respect to the ordering E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n of the primitive idempotents if there exist polynomials $g_k \in \mathbb{R}[x]$ of degree *k* and distinct real numbers z_0, z_1, \ldots, z_n such that $Q_k(i) = g_k(z_k)$ for all $i, k = 0, 1, \ldots, n$.

Similar to Proposition 2.1.16, we have the following.⁴

Proposition 2.1.17. *Let* (X, \mathcal{R}) *be a symmetric association scheme with primitive idempotents* E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n . *Then the following are equivalent:*

- (a) (X, \mathcal{R}) is Q-polynomial with respect to the ordering E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n .
- (b) There exist polynomials $h_k(x) \in \mathbb{R}[x]$ of degree k such that $|X|E_k = h_k(|X|E_1)$, where the Hadamard product is used whenever a matrix is substituted into the polynomial h_k .

By (2.9), the polynomials f_i associated with a *P*-polynomial association scheme are orthogonal with respect to the inner product

$$(f,g) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \mu_k f(y_k) g(y_k) \text{ for } f,g \in \mathbb{R}[x]$$

and we have $(f_i, f_j) = |X|v_i\delta_{ij}$. Similarly, by using (2.10), the polynomials g_k associated with a *Q*-polynomial association scheme are orthogonal with respect to the inner product

$$(f,g) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} v_i f(z_i) g(z_i) \quad \text{for } f,g \in \mathbb{R}[x]$$
(2.12)

and we have $(g_j, g_k) = |X| \mu_k \delta_{jk}$. Therefore, for some association schemes, there is a connection to orthogonal polynomials.

Orthogonal polynomials. In what follows, and also in Section 2.3, we will introduce different orthogonal polynomials associated with association schemes. We note that there exist various definitions for the orthogonal polynomials used in this thesis. For the sake of consistency, we will always use the definitions given in [KLS10]. The polynomials will be expressed by hypergeometric functions, which requires the definition of the *Pochhammer symbol* $a^{(i)}$ given by

$$a^{(0)} = 1$$
 and $a^{(i)} = a(a+1)\cdots(a+i-1)$,

where *a* is a complex number and *i* is a positive integer.⁵ The Pochhammer symbol can be seen as a generalization of the factorial since $i! = 1^{(i)}$. It is also related to the binomial coefficient by

$$\binom{a}{i} = \frac{(-a)^{(i)}}{1^{(i)}} (-1)^i \tag{2.13}$$

⁴There exists a dual version of the term *metric* with respect to the Krein parameters, called *cometric*, see [Del73, Theorem 5.16], for example.

⁵The Pochhammer symbol $a^{(i)}$ is commonly denoted by $(a)_i$. However, we will use the latter notation as a a short version of the *q*-Pochhammer symbol $(a;q)_i$ for a specific *q* in all upcoming chapters.

for all complex numbers *a* and all nonnegative integers *i*. The *hypergeometric function* $_{r}F_{s}$ is now defined by the series

$${}_{r}F_{s}\left(\begin{array}{c}a_{1},\ldots,a_{r}\\b_{1},\ldots,b_{s}\end{array}\middle|z\right)=\sum_{k=0}^{\infty}\frac{(a_{1},\ldots,a_{r})^{(k)}}{(b_{1},\ldots,b_{s})^{(k)}}\frac{z^{k}}{k!},$$
(2.14)

where

$$(a_1,\ldots,a_r)^{(k)}=a_1^{(k)}\cdots a_r^{(k)}.$$

The parameters in (2.14) must be chosen such that the denominators in the series are never zero. If one of the parameters a_i in the numerators is a non-positive integer, then the hypergeometric function is a polynomial in z. This is the case for all hypergeometric functions considered in this thesis.

We will now look at the polynomials associated with the Hamming scheme and the Johnson scheme.

Example 2.1.18. For the Hamming scheme H(n,q), the *P*-numbers $P_i(k)$ and *Q*-numbers $Q_i(k)$ can be written by using the Krawtchouk polynomial of degree *i* in *x* with the parameters *n*, *A* given by

$$K_i(x; A, n) = {}_2F_1\left(\begin{array}{c} -i, -x \\ -n \end{array} \middle| \frac{1}{A} \right) \quad for \ i = 0, 1, \dots, n$$

see [KLS10, § 9.11]. Namely, we have

$$P_i(k) = Q_i(k) = v_i K_i(k; (q-1)/q, n) = v_{i\,2} F_1 \begin{pmatrix} -i, -k & | & q \\ -n & | & q \end{pmatrix},$$

see [CS90, Equation 2.6], for example. Therefore, the Hamming scheme is Ppolynomial with respect to the ordering R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n and Q-polynomial with respect to the ordering E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n that is imposed by (2.4). We call these two orderings the standard orderings. For the P-polynomial structure, we have $y_k = k$ for all $k = 0, 1, \ldots, n$ and in the case of the Q-polynomial structure, we have $z_i = i$ for all $i = 0, 1, \ldots, n$.

Example 2.1.19. For the Johnson scheme J(n, m), the *P*-numbers $P_i(k)$ can be written by using a dual Hahn polynomial (also called Eberlein polynomial) with the parameters n, C, D given by

$$E_{i}(\lambda(x); C, D, n) = {}_{3}F_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c} -i, -x, x+C+D+1 \\ C+1, -n \end{array} \middle| 1\right) \quad for \ i = 0, 1, \dots, n,$$

which is a polynomial of degree *i* in $\lambda(x) = x(x + C + D + 1)$, see [KLS10, § 9.6]. The *Q*-numbers $Q_k(i)$ can be written by using a Hahn polynomial with the parameters *n*, *A*, *B* given by

$$H_k(x; A, B, n) = {}_{3}F_2\left(\begin{array}{c} -x, -k, k+A+B+1 \\ A+1, -n \end{array} \middle| 1 \right) \quad for \ k = 0, 1, \dots, n,$$

which is a polynomial of degree k in x, see [KLS10, Section 9.5]. Then, from (2.5), we obtain

$$P_{i}(k) = v_{i}E_{i}(\lambda(k); -m-1, -n-1, n) = v_{i}_{3}F_{2}\begin{pmatrix} -i, -k, k-m-n-1\\ -m, -n \\ \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$Q_k(i) = \mu_k H_k(i; -m-1, -n-1, n) = \mu_{k,3} F_2 \begin{pmatrix} -i, -k, k-m-n-1 \\ -m, -n \end{pmatrix} ,$$

see [Del76b, § 5.2] and use (2.11). Therefore, the Johnson scheme is P-polynomial with respect to the ordering R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n and Q-polynomial with respect to the ordering E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n . Similarly to the Hamming scheme, we call these two orderings the standard orderings. For the P-polynomial structure, we have $y_k = k(k - m - n - 1)$ for all $k = 0, 1, \ldots, n$ and in the case of the Q-polynomial structure, we have $z_i = i$ for all $i = 0, 1, \ldots, n$.

Different orderings. We will now shortly discuss the importance of the orderings required in the definition of *P*- and *Q*-polynomial association schemes. We will later see in Section 3.2 why it is useful to study a symmetric association scheme with respect to different orderings if they exist.

It is well known that a *P*-polynomial association scheme can have at most two different orderings and moreover, it is known which orderings it could have.

Proposition 2.1.20 ([BB80, Theorem 1 and 2]). A symmetric association scheme, which is not the association scheme of an n-gon⁶, can only be P-polynomial with respect to at most two orderings of its relations. Moreover, if $(X, \{R_0, R_1, ..., R_n\})$ is a P-polynomial association scheme with respect to some ordering $R_0, R_1, ..., R_n$, then there are the following four possible patterns of a second P-polynomial ordering:

- (*I*) $R_0, R_2, R_4, R_6, \ldots, R_5, R_3, R_1$
- (II) $R_0, R_n, R_1, R_{n-1}, R_2, R_{n-2}, R_3, R_{n-3}, \ldots$
- (III) $R_0, R_n, R_2, R_{n-2}, R_4, R_{n-4}, \ldots, R_{n-5}, R_5, R_{n-3}, R_3, R_{n-1}, R_1$
- (*IV*) $R_0, R_{n-1}, R_2, R_{n-3}, R_4, R_{n-5}, \ldots, R_5, R_{n-4}, R_3, R_{n-2}, R_1, R_n$

To determine whether a *P*-polynomial scheme has a second *P*-polynomial structure or not, one can use its intersection numbers. For more details, see [Ban+21, § 6.1].

A similar theorem holds for the *Q*-polynomial structure.

⁶This association scheme consists of the point set $X = \{0, 1, ..., n-1\}$ together with the relations $R_0, R_1, ..., R_{\lfloor n/2 \rfloor}$ given by $(x, y) \in R_i$ if and only if $\min\{|x - y|, n - |x - y|\} = i$. It is *P*-polynomial with respect to the orderings $R_0, R_\ell, R_{2\ell}, R_{3\ell}, ...$ for all ℓ with $gcd(n, \ell) = 1$, where the indices in the relations are taken modulo *n*.

Proposition 2.1.21 ([Suz98, Theorem 1], [MW14, Theorem 3]). A symmetric association scheme, which is not the association scheme of an *n*-gon⁷, can only be *Q*-polynomial with respect to at most two orderings of its primitive idempotents E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n . Moreover, if an association scheme is *Q*-polynomial with respect to some ordering E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n of its primitive idempotents, then there are the following four possible patterns of a second *Q*-polynomial ordering:

- (*I*) $E_0, E_2, E_4, E_6, \ldots, E_5, E_3, E_1$
- (II) $E_0, E_n, E_1, E_{n-1}, E_2, E_{n-2}, E_3, E_{n-3}, \ldots$
- (III) $E_0, E_n, E_2, E_{n-2}, E_4, E_{n-4}, \dots, E_{n-5}, E_5, E_{n-3}, E_3, E_{n-1}, E_1$
- (*IV*) $E_0, E_{n-1}, E_2, E_{n-3}, E_4, E_{n-5}, \ldots, E_5, E_{n-4}, E_3, E_{n-2}, E_1, E_n$

To determine whether a *Q*-polynomial scheme has a second *Q*-polynomial structure or not, one can use its Krein numbers. For more details, see [Ban+21, § 6.1].

We now look at different orderings for the Hamming scheme and the Johnson scheme.

Example 2.1.22. It is known that the Hamming scheme H(n,q) with $n \ge 3$ has two *P*- or *Q*-polynomial structures if and only if q = 2 and *n* is even, see [BI84, Remark on *p*. 259]. Thus, assume that $n \ge 4$ is even. Then the binary Hamming scheme H(n,2) is *P*-polynomial with respect to the second ordering

$$R_0, R_{n-1}, R_2, R_{n-3}, R_4, R_{n-5}, \ldots, R_1, R_n$$

and Q-polynomial with respect to the second ordering

$$E_0, E_{n-1}, E_2, E_{n-3}, E_4, E_{n-5}, \ldots, E_1, E_n.$$

If we use the second P-polynomial structure, then the P-numbers $P'_i(k)$ *are given by*

$$P'_i(k) = egin{cases} P_i(k) & \textit{for even } i \ P_{n-i}(k) & \textit{for odd } i, \end{cases}$$

where $P_i(k)$ are the P-numbers with respect to the standard ordering, see [CS86, Equations (4.14) and (4.15)]. From (2.4), we obtain $P'_i(n-k) = (-1)^i P_i(k)$, which together with (2.11) and (2.1) gives

$$P'_i(k) = (-1)^{ki} P_i(k).$$

Similarly, the Q-numbers $Q'_k(i)$ with respect to the second Q-polynomial ordering are given by

$$Q'_k(i) = (-1)^{ki} Q_k(i),$$

⁷Let E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n be a *Q*-polynomial ordering for the association scheme of an *n*-gon. Then, for all *k* with gcd(n,k) = 1, it is also *Q*-polynomial with respect to the ordering $E_0, E_k, E_{2k}, E_{3k}, \ldots$, where the indices are taken modulo *n*.
where $Q_k(i)$ are the Q-numbers with respect to the standard ordering.

Example 2.1.23. It is known that the Johnson scheme J(n, m) with $n \ge 3$ has two *P*-polynomial structures if and only if m = n + 1 or (n, m) = (3, 3). Moreover, a second *Q*-polynomial structure for J(n, m) can only occur if (n, m) = (3, 3), see [BI84, Remark on p. 259]. For $m = n + 1 \ge 4$, the second *P*-polynomial ordering for J(n, n + 1) is given by

$$R_0, R_n, R_1, R_{n-1}, R_2, R_{n-2}, \ldots$$

The eigenvalues $P'_i(k)$ *with respect to this ordering are determined by*

$$P'_{i}(k) = \begin{cases} P_{i/2}(k) & \text{for even } i \\ P_{n-(i-1)/2}(k) & \text{for odd } i, \end{cases}$$

where $P_i(k)$ are the eigenvalues with respect to the standard orderings, see [CS86, Table 1].

Bipartite association schemes. Some *P*-polynomial association schemes contain "subschemes" in the following way. A *P*-polynomial association scheme $(X, (R_i))$ with *n* classes, which is not an *n*-gon (see Footnote 6 on p. 23), is called *bipartite* if

$$D_i D_j = \sum_{k \in \Omega} p_{i,j}^k D_k$$

with $\Omega = \{0, 2, 4, \dots, \lfloor n/2 \rfloor\}$ holds for all $i, j = 0, 2, 4, \dots, \lfloor n/2 \rfloor$. This gives an equivalence relation

$$x \sim y$$
 if and only if $(x, y) \in \bigcup_{i \in \Omega} R_i$,

which partitions X into exactly two equivalence classes X_1 and X_2 , called *bipar*tite halves. Then the pair $(X_i, (R_{2i})_{0 \le i \le \lfloor n/2 \rfloor})$ is also a *P*-polynomial association scheme, denoted by $\frac{1}{2}X$. If $(X, (R_i))$ is a bipartite association scheme with *n* classes and *P*-numbers $P_i(k)$, then the *P*-numbers $P'_i(k)$ of $\frac{1}{2}X$ are given by $P'_i(k) = P_{2i}(k)$, see [CS86, Theorem 4.1], for example. In Chapter 3 and 5, we will heavily exploit a bipartite half of an association scheme associated with the hyperbolic polar space, which will be introduced in Section 2.3.2. Here, as an example, we will look at the bipartite half of the binary Hamming scheme.

Example 2.1.24. The binary Hamming scheme H(n, 2) is bipartite, where the bipartite halves X_i are given by the set of binary n-tuples with an even/odd number of nonzero entries, see [Ban+21, § 6.4 (iv)]. For example, see Figure 2.6. The relations of $\frac{1}{2}H(n, 2)$ are the orbits of $X_i \times X_i$ under the transitive group action of

 $G = \{g \in S_2 \wr S_n \mid g \text{ has an even number of sign changes}\}.$

The association scheme $\frac{1}{2}H(n, 2)$ is of type D_n since G is a Weyl group of a Chevalley group of type D_n , see [Sta84, p. 104].

The P-numbers $P'_i(k)$ *of* $\frac{1}{2}H(n,2)$ *are given by*

$$P_i'(k) = v_{i2}'F_1\left(\begin{array}{c} -2i, -k\\ -n \end{array} \middle| 2\right)$$

for $i, k = 0, 1, ..., \lfloor n/2 \rfloor$, where $v'_i = {n \choose 2i}$ is the valency of the relation R_{2i} of H(n, 2). This can also be written as

$$P'_{i}(k) = v'_{i3}F_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c} -i, -k, k-n \\ -\frac{n}{2}, \frac{-n+1}{2} \end{array} \right)$$

for $i, k = 0, 1, ..., \lfloor n/2 \rfloor$, see [CS86, Equation (4.13)]. Thus, $P'_i(k)$ can be expressed by using a Hahn polynomial, namely we have

$$P'_{i}(k) = v_{2i}E_{i}\left(\lambda(k); -\frac{n+1}{2}, -\frac{n+1}{2}, \frac{n}{2}\right)$$
(2.15)

with $\lambda(k) = k(k-n)$. By using (2.11) and the multiplicities $\mu'_k = \binom{n}{k}$ of $\frac{1}{2}H(n,2)$, we obtain the Q-numbers $Q'_k(i)$ of $\frac{1}{2}H(n,2)$ as follows

$$Q'_{k}(i) = \mu'_{k\,3}F_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c} -i, -k, k-n \\ -\frac{n}{2}, \frac{-n+1}{2} \end{array} \middle| 1\right) = \mu'_{k}H_{k}\left(i; -\frac{n+1}{2}, -\frac{n+1}{2}, \frac{n}{2}\right).$$
(2.16)



FIGURE 2.6. The bipartite halves of the Hamming scheme H(3,2) with the relation R_1 .

2.1.4 Codes and designs in association schemes

The objective of this thesis is to study special subsets of the set X of a (P and Q)-polynomial association scheme—namely, codes and designs. Whereas codes are dense packings in a metric space defined on X, designs are "good" approximations of the whole set X. It will turn out that codes and designs are dual to each other. In this subsection, we will introduce the basic tools to study them and in Section 2.2, we will see how optimization theory can be used to derive bounds for the size of codes.

We start with the definitions of the inner distribution and codes.

Inner distribution and codes. Let (X, \mathcal{R}) be an association scheme with *n* classes. The *inner distribution* of a subset *Y* of *X* is the tuple $A = (A_0, A_1, ..., A_n)$, where

$$A_i = \frac{|(Y \times Y) \cap R_i|}{|Y|}$$

So, the entry A_i is basically the average number of pairs from $Y \times Y$ that lie in R_i . The motivation for the inner distribution comes from its connection to codes. A *D*-code is a subset Y of X such that $A_i = 0$ for all $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\} \setminus D$, where D is a subset of $\{1, ..., n\}$. If the association scheme (X, \mathcal{R}) is *P*-polynomial, then a subset Y of X is a *d*-code if no pair $(x, y) \in Y \times Y$ lies in one of the relations $R_1, R_2, ..., R_{d-1}$, that means, Y is a *D*-code with $D = \{d, d + 1, ..., n\}$. Note that the inner distribution (A_i) of a *d*-code satisfies

$$A_1 = A_2 = \dots = A_{d-1} = 0.$$

It turns out that this definition of *D*-codes coincides with various types of codes introduced in coding theory, as can be seen in the next example.

Example 2.1.25. The *d*-codes in the Hamming scheme H(n,q) and in the Johnson scheme J(n,m) are codes defined in coding theory. Namely, we have the following (where we take the standard ordering of the relations in both association schemes).

(1) A d-code in H(n,q) is a subset Y of Q^n (where |Q| = q) such that

 $d_H(x, y) \ge d$ for all distinct $x, y \in Y$.

These codes are the classical q-ary codes that have been heavily studied since the 1940s and which have multiple applications in communication and storage systems and are used in, e.g., deep-space communications, solid-state drives, QR codes, Blu-ray discs.

(2) A d-code in J(n,m) is a subset Y of n-subsets of an (m + n)-set such that

$$|n - |x \cap y| \ge d$$
 for all distinct $x, y \in Y$.

Identify each n-subset x of the (m + n)-set by its characteristic vector ϕ_x in \mathbb{F}_2^{m+n} . Then each such vector has exactly n nonzero entries and a d-code Y satisfies

$$d_H(\phi_x, \phi_y) \ge 2d$$
 for all distinct $x, y \in Y$.

Such codes are called binary constant-weight codes, which are also used in various digital communication systems, e.g., in barcodes or for frequency hopping in telecommunications. **Dual distribution.** Let $Q_k(i)$ denote the *Q*-numbers of an association scheme (X, \mathcal{R}) . The *dual distribution* of a subset *Y* of *X* is the tuple $A' = (A'_0, A'_1, \dots, A'_n)$ defined by

$$A'_{k} = \sum_{i=0}^{n} Q_{k}(i)A_{i}, \qquad (2.17)$$

that is QA = A', where Q is the Q-matrix from (2.7) containing the Q-numbers $Q_k(i)$.

The inner and dual distributions have some useful properties summarized in Table 2.1. All properties follow directly from the definitions and sometimes by also using $PQ = |X|I_n$, except for property (f) of the dual distribution, which follows from the expression (e) of A'_k and the fact that the primitive idempotents E_k are positive semidefinite. We emphasize property (f) of the dual distribution since it is essential for several important proofs in the remainder of this thesis.

Proposition 2.1.26 ([Del73, Theorem 3.3]). *All entries of the dual distribution of a subset in an association scheme are nonnegative real numbers.*

TABLE 2.1. Properties of the inner and dual distributions of a subset Y of X, where (X, \mathcal{R}) is an association scheme with the adjacency matrices D_0, D_1, \ldots, D_n and primitive idempotents E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n . Moreover, ϕ_Y denotes the characteristic vector of Y.

	inner distribution $A = (A_i)$	dual distribution $A' = (A'_k)$
(a)	$A_0 = 1$	$A_0' = Y $
(b)	$\sum_{i=0}^{n} A_i = Y $	$\sum_{k=0}^n A'_k = X $
(c)	$A = \frac{1}{ X } PA'$	A' = QA
(d)	$A_i = \frac{1}{ X } \sum_{k=0}^n P_i(k) A'_k$	$A_k' = \sum_{i=0}^n Q_k(i) A_i$
(e)	$A_i = \frac{1}{ Y } \phi_Y^T D_i \phi_Y$	$A_k' = rac{ X }{ Y } \phi_Y^T E_k \phi_Y$
(f)	$A_i \ge 0$	$A_k' \geq 0$

We now look at a dual concept of a code.

Designs. Proposition 2.1.26 motivates the next definition. A subset *Y* of *X* is called a *T*-design if $A'_k = 0$ for all $k \in T$, where *T* is a subset of $\{1, 2, ..., n\}$.



FIGURE 2.7. A 2-(2,3,1) orthogonal array (left) and a 2-(3,4,1) orthogonal array (right).

If the association scheme is *Q*-polynomial with the ordered primitive idempotents E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n , then a *t*-design is a subset of *X* whose dual distribution (A'_k) satisfies

$$A'_1 = A'_2 = \dots = A'_t = 0.$$

Recall that we have $\mathbb{C}^X = V_0 \perp V_1 \perp \cdots \perp V_n$, where V_k is the column space of E_k . Therefore, the characteristic vector ϕ_Y of a subset Y of X is spanned by the column vectors of the primitive idempotents. In the case of a *t*-design, we can apply property (e) of A'_k from Table 2.1 to obtain $E_k \phi_Y = 0$ for all $k = 1, 2, \ldots, t$. Thus, the characteristic vector ϕ_Y of a *t*-design Y satisfies

$$\phi_Y \in V_0 \perp V_{t+1} \perp V_{t+2} \perp \cdots \perp V_n.$$

So, the eigenspaces $V_1, V_2, ..., V_t$ are forbidden, whereas for a *d*-code, the relations $R_1, R_2, ..., R_{d-1}$ are forbidden.

Applying a result by Roos [Roo82, Theorem 3.4], one can give a combinatorial interpretation of *T*-designs in an association scheme that is constructed by using a group as in Proposition 2.1.4. For the Hamming and Johnson scheme, we then obtain the following classification results.

Example 2.1.27. Designs in the Hamming scheme H(n,q) are related to orthogonal arrays: Take $X = Q^n$ with $|Q| = q \ge 2$ and $1 \le t \le n$. Then a subset Y of X is called a t- (q, n, λ) orthogonal array if every restriction of Y to any t positions contains every t-tuple from Q^t exactly λ times. For example, a 2-(2,3,1) orthogonal array and a 2-(3,4,1) orthogonal array can be found in Figure 2.7. We have the following classification result for the Hamming scheme: a T-design with $T = \{1, 2, ..., t\}$ for $t \le n$ in the Hamming scheme H(n,q) is equivalent to a t- (q, n, λ) orthogonal array with $\lambda = |Y|/q^t$, see [Del73, Theorem 4.4] and [Roo82, Theorem 4.1.3].

Example 2.1.28. Designs in the Johnson scheme J(n,m) are related to the (classical) combinatorial designs: Let X be the set of n-subsets of an (m + n)-set V and let

 $1 \le t \le n$. Then a subset Y of X is a t- $(m + n, n, \lambda)$ combinatorial design if every t-subset of V lies in exactly λ elements of Y. For example, a 2-(7, 3, 1) combinatorial design (called Fano plane) was depicted in Figure 1.1. We have the following classification result for the Johnson scheme: a T-design with $T = \{1, 2, ..., t\}$ and $t \le n$ in the Johnson scheme J(n, m) is equivalent to a t- $(m + n, n, \lambda)$ combinatorial design with $\lambda = |Y| {n \choose t} / {m+n \choose t}$, see [Del73, Theorem 4.7] and [Roo82, Theorem 4.2.2].

In some cases, a *t*-design in a *Q*-polynomial association scheme can be used to construct a new association scheme.

Proposition 2.1.29 ([Del73, Theorem 5.25]). Let (X, \mathcal{R}) be a *Q*-polynomial association scheme with *n* classes such that $Q_k(i) = g_k(z_i)$ for all i, k = 0, 1, ..., n. Suppose Y is a t-design in (X, \mathcal{R}) with $|Y| \ge 2$ and that there are exactly s + 1 nonzero entries in the inner distribution of Y such that $t \in \{2s - 2, 2s - 1, 2s\}$. Then the pair $(Y, \mathcal{R}|_Y)$ becomes a *Q*-polynomial association scheme with *s* classes, where $\mathcal{R}|_Y$ contains all relations R from \mathcal{R} such that $R \cap (Y \times Y) \ne \emptyset$.

We close this section by looking at an example of Proposition 2.1.29.

Example 2.1.30. Let (X, \mathcal{R}) be the binary Hamming scheme H(n, 2) and let Y be the set of elements in X with an even number of nonzero entries. Then Y is an (n - 1)-design in H(n, 2). Since all Hamming distances in Y are even, we have $s = \lfloor n/2 \rfloor$ and thus, $t \in \{2s - 1, 2s\}$. From Proposition 2.1.29, we find that Y induces an association scheme with $\lfloor n/2 \rfloor$ classes, which is the bipartite half $\frac{1}{2}H(n, 2)$ that we already encountered in Example 2.1.24.

2.2 Linear programming

Besides establishing a connection between association schemes and coding theory—by showing that some codes defined in coding theory are special subsets in association schemes—Delsarte also introduced the powerful linear programming method in [Del73], which treats the problem of finding the maximum size of codes as an extremum problem for subsets in association schemes. Finding upper bounds on the size of codes is one of the main objectives in coding theory since large codes correspond to a high information rate in the transmitting or storing process of data.

This section starts with a small overview on linear programming and afterwards, we will introduce Delsarte's pioneering linear programming method.

2.2.1 Basics from optimization theory

In this subsection, we briefly summarize the most basic facts from the theory of linear programming. For further information, we refer to [Sch86], [Van14], and [GM07].

Primal and dual LP. Let $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times s}$, $b \in \mathbb{R}^n$, and $c \in \mathbb{R}^s$. Then the *primal linear problem (primal LP)* is the problem of finding $x \in \mathbb{R}^s$ that maximizes $c^T x$ under the constraints that $x \ge 0$ and $Ax \ge -b$. We write the primal LP as follows

$$\max_{\substack{x \in \mathbb{R}^{s} \\ \text{s.t.}}} c^{T}x$$

$$s.t. \quad x \geq 0$$

$$Ax \geq -b$$
(2.18)

The mapping $x \mapsto c^T x$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}^s$ is called the *objective function*. If a vector $x \in \mathbb{R}^s$ satisfies the constraints of an LP, then x is called a *feasible solution* of that LP. The LP is *bounded* if for all feasible solutions x, the value $c^T x$ of the objective function at x is bounded, otherwise the LP is *unbounded*. If the LP is bounded, then a feasible solution x^* is called *optimal* if $c^T x \leq c^T x^*$ holds for all feasible solutions x. We call the objective function value $c^T x^*$ for an optimal solution x^* the *LP optimum*.

The *dual linear problem* (*dual LP*) is the problem of finding $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ that minimizes $y^T b$ under the constraints that $y \ge 0$ and $y^T A \le -c^T$. Similarly to the primal LP, we write

$$\min_{y \in \mathbb{R}^{s}} \quad y^{T}b$$
s.t. $y \geq 0$
 $y^{T}A \leq -c^{T}$

$$(2.19)$$

for the dual LP. Hence, the number of variables x_i in the primal LP is equal to the number of inequalities in $y^T A \leq -c^T$ contained in the dual LP. Vice versa, the number of inequalities in $Ax \geq -b$ contained in the primal LP equals the number of variables in the dual LP.

The terms objective function, feasible solution, (un)bounded, and optimal are analogously defined for the dual LP.

Duality theory. There is a beautiful duality theory connecting the primal and dual LP, see [Van14, § 5], for example. Here, we will need the two following duality theorems.

Theorem 2.2.1 (Weak duality theorem, [Sch86, Corollary 7.1g]). *Every feasible solution of the dual* LP *gives an upper bound on the* LP *optimum of the primal* LP. *More specifically, for every feasible solutions* x *and* y *of the primal* LP (2.18) *and dual* LP (2.19), *respectively, we have*

$$c^T x \leq y^T b.$$

The weak duality theorem implies that the primal LP and dual LP are bounded if both have a feasible solution.

The next theorem gives a connection between the optimal solutions of the primal and dual LP.

Theorem 2.2.2 (Strong duality theorem, [Sch86, § 7.9]). Let *x* and *y* be feasible solutions of the primal LP (2.18) and dual LP (2.19), respectively. Then both solutions *x* and *y* are optimal if and only if their objective function values coincide, that is, $c^{T}x = y^{T}b$.

Another useful property is the *complementary slackness*, which follows directly from the weak and strong duality theorem.

Theorem 2.2.3 (Complementary slackness, [Sch86, § 7.9]). Let *x* and *y* be feasible solutions of the primal and dual LP, respectively. Then *x* and *y* are optimal if and only if $y^{T}(b + Ax) = 0$ and $(c^{T} + y^{T}A)x = 0$, which means

- (1) *if an entry* y_i *of* y *is nonzero, then the i-th inequality in* $Ax \ge -b$ *is satisfied with equality;*
- (2) *if the i-th inequality in* $Ax \ge -b$ *is not satisfied with equality, then the corresponding entry* y_i *of* y *is zero;*
- (3) *if an entry* x_i *of* x *is nonzero, then the i-th inequality in* $y^T A \le -c^T$ *is satisfied with equality;*
- (4) *if the i-th inequality in* $y^T A \leq -c^T$ *is not satisfied with equality, then the corresponding entry* x_i *of* x *is zero.*

One can apply *LP solvers* to compute the optimal solution (if it exists) numerically. For example, one can use the package glpk in the software GNU Octave [Eat+20], which uses so-called primal and dual simplex methods to solve linear problems.

2.2.2 Delsarte's linear programming method

This subsection is about the powerful linear programming method developed by Delsarte in [Del73], which gives upper bounds for the size of codes in symmetric association schemes. Thus, let (X, \mathcal{R}) be a symmetric association scheme with *n* classes and denote its *Q*-numbers by $Q_k(i)$ and its multiplicities by μ_k in what follows.

LP for codes. Recall that the inner distribution (A_i) and dual distribu-

tion (A'_k) of a *D*-code *Y* in *X* have the following properties (see Table 2.1):

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} A_i = |Y|$$

$$A_0 = 1$$

$$A_i \ge 0 \quad \text{for all } i = 1, 2, \dots, n$$

$$A_i = 0 \quad \text{for all } i \in \{1, 2, \dots, n\} \setminus D$$

$$A'_k = \sum_{i=0}^{n} Q_k(i) A_i \ge 0 \quad \text{for all } k = 0, 1, \dots, n$$

Since we are interested in upper bounds for the size of a code Y, we want to maximize the sum $\sum_{i=0}^{n} A_i$. This motivates the following two definitions. The *primal LP for D-codes* in (X, \mathcal{R}) is given by

$$\max_{\substack{x_i \in \mathbb{R} \\ i = 0}} \sum_{i=0}^n x_i$$
s.t.
$$x_0 = 1$$

$$x_i \ge 0 \quad \text{for all } i \in D \quad (2.20)$$

$$x_i = 0 \quad \text{for all } i \in \{1, 2, \dots, n\} \setminus D$$

$$\sum_{i=0}^n Q_k(i) x_i \ge 0 \quad \text{for all } k = 1, 2, \dots, n$$

Henceforth, the LP optimum of (2.20) is denoted by LP(*D*) and in the case of a *P*-polynomial association scheme and $D = \{d, d + 1, ..., n\}$, it is denoted by LP(*d*). (We will presently see that the LP optimum of (2.20) always exists.) Dualizing (2.20) gives the *dual LP for D-codes* in (*X*, \mathcal{R}) of the form

$$\begin{array}{lll} \min_{y_i \in \mathbb{R}} & \sum_{k=0}^n \mu_k y_k \\ \text{s.t.} & y_0 &= 1 \\ & y_k &\geq 0 \quad \text{for all } k = 1, 2, \dots, n \\ & \sum_{k=0}^n Q_k(i) y_k &\leq 0 \quad \text{for all } i \in D, \end{array}$$

$$(2.21)$$

where μ_k is the multiplicity.

We then have the following theorem.

Theorem 2.2.4 ([Del73, § 3.2, Theorem 3.8]). Let (X, \mathcal{R}) be a symmetric association scheme with *n* classes and *Q*-numbers $Q_k(i)$ and let *D* be a subset of $\{1, 2, ..., n\}$. Then the linear program (2.20) has at least one feasible solution and is bounded. Moreover, if *Y* is a *D*-code in *X*, then its inner distribution is a feasible solution of (2.20) and in particular, we have $|Y| \leq LP(D)$.

Because of the Weak duality theorem 2.2.1 and Complementary slackness 2.2.3, we obtain the following corollary. **Corollary 2.2.5** ([Del73, Lemma 3.5, § 3.3.2]). Let (X, \mathcal{R}) be a symmetric association scheme with *n* classes and *Q*-numbers $Q_k(i)$ and let *D* be a subset of $\{1, 2, ..., n\}$. Then the linear program (2.21) has at least one feasible solution and is bounded. Moreover, if LP(*D*) is the LP optimum of (2.20), then the objective function value of every feasible solution y_k of (2.21) gives an upper bound on LP(*D*), that is,

$$LP(D) \le \sum_{k=0}^{n} \mu_k y_k.$$
(2.22)

Moreover, if Y *is a* D*-code with dual distribution* (A'_k) *such that* |Y| *equals the righthand side of* (2.22)*, then* $y_k A'_k = 0$ *for all* k = 1, 2, ..., n.

We remark that one can also construct a linear program that minimizes a function under some constraints, whose optimal solution gives lower bounds on the size of designs, see [Del73, § 3.4].

Polynomial LP for codes. The next theorem plays a crucial part in this thesis. It restates Corollary 2.2.5 for *Q*-polynomial association schemes by using the orthogonal polynomials associated with the *Q*-polynomial structure.

Theorem 2.2.6 ([Del73, § 4.3]). Let (X, \mathcal{R}) be a *Q*-polynomial association scheme with *n* classes, where $Q_k(i) = g_k(z_i)$ for some $g_k \in \mathbb{R}[x]$ of degree *k* and some real numbers z_i . Let *D* be a subset of $\{1, 2, ..., n\}$. Suppose that $F \in \mathbb{R}[x]$ is a polynomial of degree at most *n* whose coefficients F_k from the expansion

$$F = F_0g_0 + F_1g_1 + \dots + F_ng_n$$

satisfy $F_0 = 1$, $F_k \ge 0$ for all k = 1, 2, ..., n, and $F(z_i) \le 0$ for all $i \in D$. Then $(F_0, F_1, ..., F_n)$ is a feasible solution of the dual LP (2.21) with objective function value $F(z_0)$. In particular, we have LP $(D) \le F(z_0)$.

The next remark shows how to compute the coefficients F_k for a chosen polynomial F.

Remark 2.2.7. Assume that (X, \mathcal{R}) is *Q*-polynomial with *Q*-numbers given by $Q_k(i) = g_k(z_i)$ as in Theorem 2.2.6. Let $P_i(k)$, v_i , and μ_k be the *P*-numbers, the valencies, and the multiplicities of (X, \mathcal{R}) , respectively. Then, for a polynomial *F* with $F = F_0g_0 + F_1g_1 + \cdots + F_ng_n$, the coefficients F_k can be computed by using the inner product (2.12) and (2.11), namely

$$F_k = \frac{(F, g_k)}{(g_k, g_k)} = \frac{1}{|X|\mu_k} \sum_{i=0}^n v_i F(z_i) Q_k(i) = \frac{1}{|X|} \sum_{i=0}^n F(z_i) P_i(k).$$
(2.23)

We will see throughout this thesis that in the case of a (P and Q)-polynomial association scheme, the polynomial

$$F(z) = c \prod_{i=d}^{n} (z - z_i)$$
 for some real constant c

often gives "good" bounds for *d*-codes in the sense that they are asymptotically optimal. We call this polynomial *F* the *Singleton polynomial*. The following example explains the origin of this name.

Example 2.2.8 ([Del73, § 4.3.2]). Assume that Y is a d-code in H(n, q). Recall from *Example 2.1.18* that we have $z_i = i$ for all i = 0, 1, ..., n. We apply Theorem 2.2.6 with the Singleton polynomial

$$F(z) = q^{n-d+1} \prod_{j=d}^{n} (z-j).$$

We have

$$F(z_i) = F(i) = q^{n-d+1} \frac{\binom{n-i}{n-d+1}}{\binom{n}{d-1}}.$$

The P-numbers satisfy the identity

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} \binom{n-i}{j} P_i(k) = q^{n-j} \binom{n-k}{n-j}$$
(2.24)

for all j, k = 0, 1, ..., n, see [Del76a, Theorem 9], for example. Applying this identity, we can compute the coefficients F_k by using (2.23) and obtain

$$F_k = \frac{q^{n-d+1}}{q^n \binom{n}{d-1}} \sum_{i=0}^n \binom{n-i}{n-d+1} P_i(k) = \frac{\binom{n-k}{d-1}}{\binom{n}{d-1}}.$$

Therefore, the polynomial F satisfies all conditions in Theorem 2.2.6 and we deduce

$$LP(d) \le F(z_0) = q^{n-d+1}.$$
 (2.25)

This is the well-known Singleton bound *from coding theory, see* [*MS77, Chapter 17* § 4], *for example.*

We can moreover say something about the structure of a d-code Y that reaches the bound. Namely, assume that Y has exactly q^{n-d+1} elements. Denote the dual distribution of Y by (A'_k) . Then Corollary 2.2.5 implies $F_kA'_k = 0$ for all k = 1, 2, ..., n. Since $F_k \neq 0$ if and only if $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n - d + 1\}$, the code Y is an (n - d + 1)-design. More specifically, it is an (n - d + 1)-(q, n, 1) orthogonal array because of Example 2.1.27.

We close this section by also applying Theorem 2.2.6 with the Singleton polynomial to the Johnson scheme.

Example 2.2.9 ([Del73, § 4.3.2]). Assume that Y is a d-code in J(n,m). Recall from Example 2.1.19 that we have $z_i = i$ for all i = 0, 1, ..., n. Similarly as in Example 2.2.8, we apply Theorem 2.2.6 together with the Singleton polynomial

$$F(z) = \frac{\binom{m+n}{n}}{\binom{m+d-1}{d-1}} \prod_{i=d}^{n} (z-i).$$

36 Association schemes

This gives

$$F(z_i) = \frac{\binom{m+n}{n}\binom{n-i}{n-d+1}}{\binom{m+d-1}{d-1}\binom{n}{d-1}}.$$

The P-numbers satisfy the identity

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} \binom{n-i}{j} P_i(k) = \binom{n-k}{n-j} \binom{m+n-j-k}{n-j}$$
(2.26)

for all j, k = 0, 1, ..., n, see [Del76a, Theorem 9], for example. From (2.23), we obtain

$$F_k = \frac{\binom{n-k}{d-1}\binom{m+d-1-k}{d-1}}{\binom{m+d-1}{d-1}\binom{n}{d-1}}.$$

Hence, the polynomial F satisfies all conditions in Theorem 2.2.6 and we deduce

$$LP(d) \le F(z_0) = \frac{\binom{m+n}{n}}{\binom{m+d-1}{d-1}} = \frac{\binom{m+n}{n-d+1}}{\binom{n}{n-d+1}}.$$
(2.27)

Similarly as in Example 2.2.8, we can give a combinatorial interpretation of a d-code Y reaching this bound. Assume that |Y| equals the right-hand side of (2.27) and let (A'_k) be the dual distribution of Y. Then Corollary 2.2.5 implies $F_kA'_k = 0$ for all k = 1, 2, ..., n. Since $F_k \neq 0$ if and only if $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n - d + 1\}$, the code Y is an (n - d + 1)-design in the Johnson scheme. More specifically, it is an (n - d + 1)-(m + n, n, 1) combinatorial design.

2.3 Classical association schemes

This section studies several q-analogs of the Hamming scheme and Johnson scheme. These two schemes as well as all the schemes that will be introduced in this section are *classical* association schemes. The notion "classical" stems from their connection to distance-regular graphs with classical parameters [BCN89, Table 6.1]. Moreover, "classical" makes also sense in a broader context since these association schemes are connected to finite classical groups (linear, symplectic, unitary, and orthogonal groups on finite vector spaces), classical forms (bilinear, alternating bilinear, Hermitian, and quadratic forms), and classical orthogonal polynomials (in the sense of [AA85, § 4]: polynomials that are special cases or limiting cases of the q-Racah polynomials or Askey-Wilson polynomials).

The first two subsections deal with the *ordinary q-analogs*—namely, the *q*-Johnson scheme and six polar space schemes. Afterwards, we will introduce the *affine q-analogs* arising from bilinear forms, alternating bilinear forms, and Hermitian forms.⁸ We will end this section by giving a connection between some ordinary *q*-analogs and affine *q*-analogs.

⁸We will neglect the classical association scheme arising from quadratic forms on an *m*-dimensional vector space over \mathbb{F}_q since it was shown in [Ega85] that this scheme has the same parameters, and consequently the same *P*- and *Q*-numbers, as the alternating bilinear forms scheme on an (m + 1)-dimensional vector space over \mathbb{F}_q .

A summary of all the classical association schemes occurring in this thesis can be found in Appendix A.

In what follows, we will frequently use the *q*-binomial coefficient defined by

$$\begin{bmatrix} n \\ k \end{bmatrix}_q = \prod_{j=1}^k \frac{q^{n-j+1}-1}{q^j-1},$$

which is a polynomial in *q*.

2.3.1 *q*-Johnson scheme

Let *m* and *n* be positive integers with $m \ge n$ and let *q* be a prime power. Choose *X* to be the set of all *n*-dimensional⁹ subspaces (*n*-spaces for short) of an (m + n)-dimensional vector space over the finite field \mathbb{F}_q . We have $|X| = {m+n \choose n}_q$. The group $\operatorname{GL}_{m+n}(q)$ acts transitively on *X* and this action extends to $X \times X$ componentwise, where the orbits of the latter group action are given by

$$R_i = \{ (U, W) \in X \times X \mid \dim(U \cap W) = n - i \}$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n. By Proposition 2.1.4, $(X, (R_i))$ is an association scheme with n classes, which is known as the *q*-Johnson scheme (also called *Grassmann* scheme) and denoted by $J_q(n, m)$. It is an association scheme of type A_{m+n-1} since $GL_{m+n}(q)$ is a Chevalley group of type A_{m+n-1} , see [Sta84, p. 110]. We refer to [BI84, § 3.6], [BCN89, § 9.3], and [Ban+21, § 6.4] for more information on this association scheme.

The valencies are

$$v_i = q^{i^2} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ i \end{bmatrix}_q \begin{bmatrix} m \\ i \end{bmatrix}_q$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n. The *P*-numbers are given by [Del76a, Theorem 10]

$$P_{i}(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{i} (-1)^{i-j} {n-j \brack i-j}_{q} {n-k \brack j}_{q} {m+j-k \brack j}_{q} q^{jk+{i-j \choose 2}}$$
(2.28)

and the *Q*-numbers are given by $[Del78b, \S 2]$

$$Q_{k}(i) = \mu_{k} \sum_{j=0}^{k} (-1)^{j} q^{\binom{j}{2}} {k \brack j}_{q} {m+n+1-k \atop j}_{q} {n \brack j}_{q}^{-1} {m \brack j}_{q}^{-1} {i \brack j}_{q} q^{-ij}, \quad (2.29)$$

where the multiplicities are $\mu_k = {m+n \brack k}_q - {m+n \brack k-1}_q$. The *q*-Johnson scheme is the *q*-analog of the Johnson scheme; namely by taking the limit $q \rightarrow 1$, the *P*-and *Q*-numbers as well as the valencies and multiplicities equal those of the Johnson scheme J(n, m), cf. (2.3), (2.5), and (2.6).

⁹We always use algebraic and not projective (geometric) dimension in this thesis.

The *P*-number $P_i(k)$ from (2.28) is a polynomial of degree *i* in the variable $[k]_q[m+n+1-k]_q$, where $[n]_q$ is the *q*-number defined by

$$[n]_q = \frac{q^n - 1}{q - 1}.$$

Therefore, the *q*-Johnson scheme is *P*-polynomial with respect to the ordering R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n . Moreover, the *Q*-number $Q_k(i)$ is a polynomial of degree *k* in q^{-i} . Thus, the *q*-Johnson scheme is also *Q*-polynomial with respect to the ordering E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n of the primitive idempotents that is imposed by (2.29).

We can also write the *P*- and *Q*-numbers in a different form by using the *q*-analogs of the Hahn and dual Hahn polynomials. This requires some definitions. We define the *q*-*Pochhammer symbol*¹⁰ $(a;q)_n$ by

$$(a;q)_0 = 1, \quad (a;q)_n = \prod_{i=0}^{n-1} (1 - aq^i)$$

for a positive integer *n* and a real number *a* and the *q*-hypergeometric function $_r\phi_s$ by

$${}_{r}\phi_{s}\left(\begin{array}{c}a_{1},\ldots,a_{r}\\b_{1},\ldots,b_{s}\end{array}\middle|q,z\right)=\sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty}\frac{(a_{1};q)_{\ell}\cdots(a_{r};q)_{\ell}}{(b_{1};q)_{\ell}\cdots(b_{s};q)_{\ell}}(-1)^{(1+s-r)\ell}q^{(1+s-r)\binom{\ell}{2}}\frac{z^{\ell}}{(q;q)_{\ell}}$$

Observe that the *q*-binomial coefficient and the *q*-Pochhammer symbol are connected as follows

$$\begin{bmatrix} n \\ k \end{bmatrix}_{q} = \frac{(q^{-n};q)_{k}}{(q;q)_{k}} (-1)^{k} q^{kn - \binom{k}{2}}.$$
(2.30)

This can be seen as the *q*-analog of (2.13). The *dual q-Hahn polynomial*¹¹ with parameters n, q, C, D is defined by

$$E_{i}(\mu(x); C, D, n; q) = {}_{3}\phi_{2} \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-i}, q^{-x}, CDq^{x+1} \\ Cq, q^{-n} \end{array} \middle| q; q \right),$$

which is a polynomial of degree *i* in $\mu(x) = q^{-x} + CDq^{x+1}$, see [KLS10, § 14.7]. The *q*-Hahn polynomial¹² with parameters *n*, *q*, *A*, *B* is defined by

$$H_k(q^{-x}; A, B, n; q) = {}_3\phi_2 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-x}, q^{-k}, ABq^{k+1} \\ Aq, q^{-n} \end{array} \middle| q; q \right),$$

which is a polynomial of degree *k* in q^{-x} , see [KLS10, § 14.6]. Then the *P*- and *Q*-numbers can be written as

$$P_{i}(k) = v_{i}E_{i}(\mu(k); q^{-m-1}, q^{-n-1}, n; q)$$

= $v_{i}_{3}\phi_{2}\begin{pmatrix} q^{-i}, q^{-k}, q^{k-m-n-1} \\ q^{-m}, q^{-n} \end{pmatrix}$ (2.31)

¹⁰This is the q-analog of the Pochhammer symbol in the sense that $(q^a;q)_n/(1-q)^n = a^{(n)}$ for $q \to 1$.

¹¹This is indeed the q-analog of the dual Hahn polynomial since $E_i(\mu(x); q^C, q^D, n; q) = E_i(\lambda(x); C, D, n)$ for $q \to 1$.

¹²We have $H_k(q^{-x}; q^A, q^B, n; q) = H_k(x; A, B, n)$ for $q \to 1$, which justifies the name q-Hahn polynomial.

and

$$Q_{k}(i) = \mu_{k} H_{k}(q^{-i}; q^{-m-1}, q^{-n-1}, n; q)$$

= $\mu_{k} {}_{3}\phi_{2} \begin{pmatrix} q^{-i}, q^{-k}, q^{k-m-n-1} \\ q^{-m}, q^{-n} \end{pmatrix} | q; q \end{pmatrix}.$ (2.32)

see [Del76b, § 5.2] and [Del78b, § 2].

2.3.2 Polar space schemes

Finite classical polar spaces play an important role in finite geometry. In this thesis, we will study codes and special designs in polar spaces. We start by giving some basic facts from finite geometry. For further background, we refer to [Cam92], [Tay92], [BCN89, § 9.4], [Bal15, § 4.2], and [HT16, § 5.1].

Different forms. Let *V* be a finite-dimensional vector space over \mathbb{F}_q and let σ be a field automorphism of \mathbb{F}_q . A *sesquilinear form* on *V* is a mapping $f: V \times V \to \mathbb{F}_q$ that is linear in its first argument and semilinear in its second argument, that is,

$$f(av_1 + w_1, v_2) = af(v_1, v_2) + f(w_1, v_2)$$

$$f(v_1, av_2 + w_2) = a^{\sigma} f(v_1, v_2) + f(v_1, w_2)$$

for all $v_1, v_2, w_1, w_2 \in V$ and $a \in \mathbb{F}_q$. A sesquilinear form f on V is called *reflexive* if f(v, w) = 0 implies f(w, v) = 0 for all $v, w \in V$. A reflexive sesquilinear form f is *nondegenerate* if f(v, w) = 0 for all $w \in V$ implies v = 0, or equivalently if f(v, w) = 0 for all $v \in V$ implies w = 0. If a mapping $f: V \times V \to \mathbb{F}_q$ is linear in both arguments, then f is a *bilinear form*. A sesquilinear form f is *Hermitian* if σ is a nontrivial involution (i.e., $\sigma^2 = 1$) and if $f(v, w) = f(w, v)^{\sigma}$ for all $v, w \in \mathbb{F}_q$, which requires that q is a square and $\sigma(a) = a\sqrt{q}$ for all $a \in \mathbb{F}_q$. A bilinear form f is *symmetric* if f(v, w) = f(w, v) for all $v, w \in V$ and *alternating* if f(v, v) = 0 for all $v \in V$. In the case of an alternating form, the vector space V must have even dimension. A *quadratic form* on V is a mapping $Q: V \to \mathbb{F}_q$ such that $Q(av) = a^2Q(v)$ for all $v \in V$, $a \in \mathbb{F}_q$ and $(v, w) \mapsto Q(v + w) - Q(v) - Q(w)$ is a bilinear form on V. A quadratic form Q on V is *nondegenerate* if Q(v + w) = Q(w) for all $w \in V$ implies v = 0.

An *isometry* is a bijective linear mapping φ between two finite-dimensional vector spaces V_1 and V_2 equipped with reflexive sesquilinear forms f_1 and f_2 , respectively, such that φ transforms one form into the other, that is, $f_1(v, w) = f_2(\varphi(v), \varphi(w))$ for all $v, w \in V_1$. The same definition holds if the vector spaces are equipped with quadratic forms, where the condition for being an isometry is replaced by $f_1(v) = f_2(\varphi(v))$ for all $v \in V_1$.

Polar spaces. We can now define polar spaces. A subspace *U* of *V* is called *totally isotropic* with respect to a sesquilinear or quadratic form on *V* if the form

vanishes completely on this subspace U, that is, f(u, v) = 0 for all $u, v \in U$, or in the case of a quadratic form, f(u) = 0 for all $u \in U$. A *finite classical polar space* with respect to a nondegenerate form f consists of all totally isotropic subspaces of V. We will consider only finite classical polar spaces in this thesis and therefore, we will refer to them as *polar spaces*.

The totally isotropic subspaces that are maximal with respect to inclusion in a polar space are called *generators*. It turns out that all generators have the same dimension, which is called the *rank* of the polar space. This comes from the following theorem as can be seen in the corollary thereafter.

Theorem 2.3.1 ([Tay92, Theorem 7.4]). Let V be a finite-dimensional vector space over \mathbb{F}_q equipped with a nondegenerate quadratic, symmetric, alternating, or Hermitian form. Then every isometry between two subspaces of V extends to an isometry of V.

Corollary 2.3.2 ([Tay92, p. 59]). *Every two generators of a polar space have the same dimension.*

Proof. Assume that there are two generators *U* and *W* in a polar space defined on a vector space *V* with dim(*U*) < dim(*W*). Then there exists a bijective mapping from *U* to a subspace *W'* of *W*, which is an isometry since both spaces *U* and *W* are totally isotropic. By Theorem 2.3.1, this isometry extends to an isometry $\varphi: V \to V$. Thus, *U* lies in the totally isotropic space $\varphi^{-1}(W)$, which is a contradiction to *U* being maximal.

Since the form f on a vector space V associated with a polar space \mathcal{P} is nondegenerate, we can apply the dimension formula $\dim(U) + \dim(U^{\perp}) = \dim(V)$ for $U \in \mathcal{P}$, where

$$U^{\perp} = \{ u \in V \mid f(u, v) = 0 \text{ for all } v \in U \},\$$

and $U \subseteq U^{\perp}$ to obtain that the rank of \mathcal{P} is at most $\frac{1}{2} \dim(V)$.

A polar space \mathcal{P} has the parameter e if every (n - 1)-space in \mathcal{P} lies in exactly $p^{e+1} + 1$ generators.

Types of polar spaces. We will now look at the different types of polar spaces of rank *n*. Let V(m, p) be an *m*-dimensional vector space over \mathbb{F}_p , where *p* is a prime power. It is well known that up to a change of the coordinate system, the polar spaces can be described as follows.

• The *Hermitian polar spaces* ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and ${}^{2}A_{2n}$. They consist of all totally isotropic subspaces of $V(2n, q^2)$ and $V(2n + 1, q^2)$, respectively, where the form associated with $V(m, q^2)$ is Hermitian and given by

$$x_1y_1^q + x_2y_2^q + \cdots + x_my_m^q.$$

The group of isometries of ${}^{2}A_{m-1}$ is the unitary group $U_m(q^2)$.



FIGURE 2.8. Symplectic polar space C_2 of rank 2, where the points are the 1-spaces and the lines are the 2-spaces (generators).

• The *symplectic polar space* C_n . It consists of all totally isotropic subspaces of V(2n, q), where the form is alternating and given by

$$x_1y_2 - x_2y_1 + \cdots + x_{2n-1}y_{2n} - x_{2n}y_{2n-1}$$
.

The group of isometries is the symplectic group $\text{Sp}_{2n}(q)$. For example, the symplectic polar space C_2 of rank 2 is depicted in Figure 2.8.

• The *hyperbolic polar space* D_n . It consists of all totally isotropic subspaces of V(2n, q), where the form is quadratic and given by

 $x_1x_2 + x_3x_4 + \cdots + x_{2n-1}x_{2n}$.

The group of isometries is the orthogonal group $O_{2n}^+(q)$. For example, the hyperbolic polar space D_2 of rank 2 is depicted in Figure 2.9.

• The *parabolic polar space* B_n . It consists of all totally isotropic subspaces of V(2n + 1, q), where the form is quadratic and given by

 $x_1^2 + x_2x_3 + \dots + x_{2n-2}x_{2n-1} + x_{2n}x_{2n+1}$.

The group of isometries is the orthogonal group $O_{2n+1}(q)$.

• The *elliptic polar space* ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$. It consists of all totally isotropic subspaces of V(2n + 2, q), where the form is quadratic and given by

$$g(x_1, x_2) + x_3 x_4 + \dots + x_{2n-1} x_{2n} + x_{2n+1} x_{2n+2}$$

with an irreducible homogeneous polynomial g over \mathbb{F}_q of degree two. The group of isometries is the orthogonal group $O_{2n+2}^-(q)$.

Table 2.2 contains a summary of all these six polar spaces together with their parameter e.¹³ We remark that there are different notations for these

 $^{^{13}}$ In some literature (for example, [Van11]), one finds the parameters $1/2,\,3/2,\,1,\,0,\,1,\,2$ instead of $-1/2,\,1/2,\,0,\,-1,\,0,\,1.$



FIGURE 2.9. Hyperbolic polar space D_2 of rank 2, where the points are the 1-spaces and the lines are the 2-spaces (generators).

name	form	notation	group	$\dim(V)$	р	е
Hermitian	Hermitian	${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$	$U_{2n}(q^2)$	2 <i>n</i>	q^2	-1/2
Hermitian	Hermitian	${}^{2}A_{2n}$	$\mathrm{U}_{2n+1}(q^2)$	2n + 1	q^2	1/2
symplectic	alternating	C_n	$\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(q)$	2 <i>n</i>	q	0
hyperbolic	quadratic	D_n	$\mathrm{O}_{2n}^+(q)$	2 <i>n</i>	q	-1
parabolic	quadratic	B_n	$O_{2n+1}(q)$	2n + 1	q	0
elliptic	quadratic	${}^{2}D_{n+1}$	$\mathrm{O}^{2n+2}(q)$	2n + 2	q	1

TABLE 2.2. List of all six finite classical polar spaces.

six polar spaces.¹⁴ Here, we use the notation that comes from identifying the corresponding projective groups of isometries with the Chevalley groups of type ${}^{2}A_{m}$, C_{n} , D_{n} , B_{n} , and ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$, see [Car89, Theorems 11.3.2, 14.5.1, 14.5.2].

There exist various embeddings of the polar spaces into each other.

Remark 2.3.3. Let \mathcal{P} be a polar space consisting of the totally isotropic subspaces of an *m*-dimensional vector space *V* over \mathbb{F}_p equipped with a nondegenerate form *f*. By choosing a hyperplane *H* of *V* such that *f* restricted to this hyperplane is still nondegenerate, we obtain the following embeddings by intersecting the polar space with this hyperplane *H*:

- (a) the Hermitian polar space ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ into the Hermitian polar space ${}^{2}A_{2n}$;
- (b) the hyperbolic polar space D_n into the parabolic polar space B_n ;
- (c) the parabolic polar space B_n into the elliptic polar space ${}^2D_{n+1}$;
- (d) the Hermitian polar space ${}^{2}A_{2n}$ into the Hermitian polar ${}^{2}A_{2n+1}$;
- (e) the parabolic polar space B_n into the hyperbolic polar space D_{n+1} ;
- (f) the elliptic polar space ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$ into the parabolic polar space B_{n+1} .

¹⁴The notation based on the embedding of the polar spaces ${}^{2}A_{m}$, C_{n} , D_{n} , B_{n} , and ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$ into a projective space is given by $H(m, q^{2})$, W(2n-1, q), $Q^{+}(2n-1, q)$, Q(2n, q), and $Q^{-}(2n+1, q)$, respectively. The last three are sometimes also denoted by $\Omega^{+}(2n, q)$, $\Omega(2n+1, q)$, and $\Omega^{-}(2n+2, q)$ in the literature.

For example in (a), (b), and (d), the corresponding hyperplane can be chosen to be $H = \{(x_1, x_2, ..., x_m) \in V \mid x_1 = 0\}$. Observe that in (a)–(c) the ranks of the polar spaces stay the same, whereas in (d)–(f) they decrease by 1.

If *q* is even, then the symplectic polar space C_n and the parabolic polar space B_n are isomorphic, see [De 16, Corollary 7.129] for a proof.

Polar space schemes. We will now study the association schemes that arise from polar spaces. Let \mathcal{P} be a polar space of rank n and let G be the corresponding group from Table 2.2. Then G acts transitively on the set X of generators of \mathcal{P} . The action of G extends to $X \times X$ componentwise and the orbits of this group action are given by

$$R_i = \{(U, W) \in X \times X \mid \dim(U \cap W) = n - i\}$$

$$(2.33)$$

for i = 0, 1, ..., n, see [Sta80, Proposition 4.9]. Proposition 2.1.4 implies that $(X, (R_i))$ is an association scheme with n classes. For more information on the polar space schemes, we refer to [BI84, § 3.6], [BCN89, § 9.4], and [Ban+21, § 6.4]. An example of an association scheme arising from a polar space is given in Figure 2.10.



FIGURE 2.10. Association scheme arising from the hyperbolic polar space D_2 with the relations R_1 and R_2 .

It is well known that

$$|X| = \prod_{i=1}^{n} (1 + p^{i+e})$$
(2.34)

see [BCN89, Lemma 9.4.1], for example. The *P*- and *Q*-numbers of $(X, (R_i))$ are given by

$$P_{i}(k) = v_{i} {n \brack k}_{p}^{-1} \sum_{\ell=0}^{i} (-1)^{\ell} {n-i \brack k-\ell}_{p} {i \brack \ell}_{p} p^{\ell(\ell-i-e-1)}$$
(2.35)

and

$$Q_{k}(i) = \mu_{k} {n \brack k}_{p}^{-1} \sum_{\ell=0}^{i} (-1)^{\ell} {n-i \brack k-\ell}_{p} {i \brack \ell}_{p} p^{\ell(\ell-i-e-1)}, \qquad (2.36)$$

where

$$v_i = p^{\binom{i+1}{2} + ie} \begin{bmatrix} n\\i \end{bmatrix}_p \tag{2.37}$$

44 Association schemes

and

$$\mu_{k} = p^{k(k-n)} {n \brack k}_{p} \frac{(-p^{e+1};p)_{n}}{(-p^{e-k+1};p)_{n-k}(-p^{n-k-e-1};p)_{k}}$$
(2.38)

are the valencies and the multiplicities, respectively, see [Sta80, Equation (8.1)], [Sta81, Proposition 2.4].^{15,16}

The *P*-number $P_i(k)$, given in (2.35), is a polynomial of degree *i* in p^{-k} , and the *Q*-number $Q_k(i)$, given in (2.36), is a polynomial of degree *k* in p^{-i} . These polynomials can be written by using *q*-Krawtchouk polynomials¹⁷, which are defined by

$$K_i(q^{-x}; A, n; q) = {}_{3}\phi_2 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-x}, q^{-i}, -Aq^{i+1} \\ 0, q^{-n} \end{array} \middle| q; q \right) \quad \text{for } k = 0, 1, \dots, n,$$

see [KLS10, § 14.15]. Namely, we have

$$P_{i}(k) = v_{i}K_{k}(p^{-i}; p^{-n-e-2}, n; p)$$

= $v_{i}_{3}\phi_{2}\begin{pmatrix} p^{-k}, p^{-i}, -p^{-n-e-1+k} \\ 0, p^{-n} \end{pmatrix}$ (2.39)

and

$$Q_{k}(i) = \mu_{k} K_{k}(p^{-i}; p^{-n-e-2}, n; p)$$

= $\mu_{k} {}_{3}\phi_{2} \begin{pmatrix} p^{-k}, p^{-i}, -p^{-n-e-1+k} \\ 0, p^{-n} \end{pmatrix} p; p$. (2.40)

The association scheme $(X, (R_i))$ is thus *P*-polynomial with respect to the ordering $R_0, R_1, ..., R_n$ and *Q*-polynomial with respect to the ordering $E_0, E_1, ..., E_n$ of the primitive idempotents that is imposed by (2.33) and (2.39). We call both orderings the *standard orderings*.

Note that the association schemes arising from B_n and C_n have the same parameters (e.g., size of X, eigenvalues), however they are isomorphic only when *q* is even, see [BCN89, § 9.4.A] or [Ban+21, § 6.4].

 ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and a second ordering. The association scheme ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ is Q-polynomial with respect to two different orderings: the standard ordering E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n and $E_0, E_n, E_1, E_{n-1}, E_2, E_{n-2}, \ldots$ [CS86]. We continue to use $P_i(k)$ and $Q_k(i)$ to denote the P- and Q-numbers with respect to the standard

¹⁵It should be noted that p is assumed to be odd in [Sta80] and [Sta81]. However, all parameters of the association scheme as well as $P_i(k)$ and $Q_k(i)$ are polynomials in p. Hence, the expressions for $P_i(k)$ and $Q_k(i)$ hold for all p.

¹⁶A computation of the *P*-numbers can also be found in [Van11, Theorem 4.3.6] and [Eis99, Theorem 3.8].

¹⁷The name comes from the fact that by taking the limit $q \to 1$, a q-Krawtchouk polynomial becomes a Krawtchouk polynomial, more concretely, $K_i(q^{-x}; A, n; q) = K_i(x; (A+1)^{-1}, n)$ for $q \to 1$. A resemblance can also be seen between (2.4) and (2.35).

ordering and we write $P'_i(k)$ and $Q'_k(i)$ for the *P*- and *Q*-numbers with respect to the second ordering. Then $P_i(k)$ is given in (2.39) and $P'_i(k)$ is given by [CS86]

$$P'_{i}(2k) = P_{i}(k) \quad \text{for } i = 0, \dots, n \text{ and } k = 0, 1, \dots, \left\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \right\rfloor,$$
$$P'_{i}(2k+1) = P_{i}(n-k) \quad \text{for } i = 0, \dots, n \text{ and } k = 0, 1, \dots, \left\lfloor \frac{n-1}{2} \right\rfloor.$$

By applying the quadratic transformation for hypergeometric functions (see [KLS10, (1.13.28)], for example)

$${}_{4}\phi_{3}\left(\begin{array}{c}A^{2},B^{2},C,D\\ABq^{1/2},-ABq^{1/2},-CD\end{array}\middle|q;q\right) = {}_{4}\phi_{3}\left(\begin{array}{c}A^{2},B^{2},C^{2},D^{2}\\A^{2}B^{2}q,-CD,-CDq\end{array}\middle|q^{2};q^{2}\right)$$
(2.41)

to $P_i(k)$ and $P_i(n-k)$ from (2.39), we obtain

$$P'_{i}(k) = v_{i\,3}\phi_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c} (-q)^{-i}, (-q)^{-k}, (-q)^{-2n+k-1} \\ (-q)^{-n}, -(-q)^{-n} \end{array} \middle| -q; -q\right), \quad (2.42)$$

where $v_i = q^{i^2} {n \brack i^2}_{q^2}$ is the valency of R_i . Using (2.11) gives

$$Q'_{k}(i) = \mu'_{k\,3}\phi_{2} \left(\begin{array}{c} (-q)^{-i}, (-q)^{-k}, (-q)^{-2n+k-1} \\ (-q)^{-n}, -(-q)^{-n} \end{array} \middle| -q; -q \right)$$
(2.43)

with

$$\mu'_{k} = \begin{cases} \mu_{k/2} & \text{for even } k \\ \mu_{n-(k-1)/2} & \text{for odd } k, \end{cases}$$

where μ_k denotes the multiplicities of ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ with respect to the standard ordering of E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n . Observe that $P'_i(k)$ and $Q'_k(i)$ can be expressed with a dual *q*-Hahn polynomial and a *q*-Hahn polynomial, respectively. Namely, we have

$$P'_{i}(k) = v_{i}E_{i}(\mu(k); (-q)^{-n-1}, (-q)^{-n-1}, n; -q)$$

$$Q'_{k}(i) = \mu'_{k}H_{k}((-q)^{-i}; (-q)^{-n-1}, (-q)^{-n-1}, n; -q).$$

Bipartite halves $\frac{1}{2}D_n$ of D_n . The hyperbolic polar space D_n gives rise to another association scheme, called the *bipartite half of* D_n , in the following way. Let *X* be the set of generators of D_n and define two generators in *X* to be equivalent if the dimension of their intersection has the same parity as *n*. This induces two equivalence classes, X_1 and X_2 , which are called *Latin* and *Greek*. See Figure 2.11 for the bipartite halves of D_2 . Each pair $(X_i, (R_{2j})_{0 \le j \le \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor})$ is a *P*- and *Q*-polynomial association scheme with $\lfloor n/2 \rfloor$ classes [BCN89, § 9.4.C], denoted by $\frac{1}{2}D_n$. The corresponding group that acts transitively on $\frac{1}{2}D_n$ is the special orthogonal group SO⁺_{2n}(*q*), see [Sta80, p. 635] and [Tay92, Theorem 11.61], which is a Chevalley group of type D_n . Therefore, the association



FIGURE 2.11. The bipartite halves of the hyperbolic polar space D_2 .

scheme is of type D_n . In what follows, we put $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ and treat $\frac{1}{2}D_m$. We still denote by $P_i(k)$ and $Q_k(i)$ the *P*- and *Q*-numbers of D_m and by $P'_i(k)$ and $Q'_k(i)$ the *P*- and *Q*-numbers of $\frac{1}{2}D_m$. From [CS86] we find that

$$P'_i(k) = P_{2i}(k)$$
 for $i, k = 0, 1, ..., n$.

Applying (2.41) to $P_{2i}(k)$ given in (2.39) implies

$$P'_{i}(k) = v_{2i\,3}\phi_{2} \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-2i}, q^{-2k}, q^{-2m+2k} \\ q^{-m}, q^{-m+1} \end{array} \middle| q^{2}; q^{2} \right),$$
(2.44)

where $v_{2i} = q^{\binom{2i}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} m \\ 2i \end{bmatrix}_q$ is the valency of the relation R_{2i} of D_m . Using (2.11) implies

$$Q'_{k}(i) = \mu_{k\,3}\phi_{2} \begin{pmatrix} q^{-2i}, q^{-2k}, q^{-2m+2k} \\ q^{-m}, q^{-m+1} \end{pmatrix} q^{2}; q^{2} \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.45)

where μ_k is the multiplicity of D_m . Observe that similar to ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ with respect to the second ordering, the numbers $P'_i(k)$ and $Q'_k(i)$ can be expressed with a dual *q*-Hahn polynomial and a *q*-Hahn polynomial, respectively. Namely, we have

$$P'_{i}(k) = v_{2i}E_{i}(\mu(k); q^{-m-1}, q^{-m-1}, m; q^{2})$$

$$Q'_{k}(i) = \mu_{k}H_{k}(q^{-2i}; q^{-m-1}, q^{-m-1}, m; q^{2}).$$

 $\frac{1}{2}D_{n+1}$ and B_n/C_n . In the cases of B_n and C_n , one obtains a new association scheme with the classes

$$R_0, R_1 \cup R_2, R_3 \cup R_4, \ldots,$$

see [IMU89]. Then the bipartite half $\frac{1}{2}D_{n+1}$ is isomorphic to this new association scheme arising from B_n , which also implies that $\frac{1}{2}D_{n+1}$ has the same parameters as the new association scheme arising from C_n and they are isomorphic if q is even. The first part can be seen as follows. Recall that we can embed B_n into D_{n+1} by intersecting the space D_{n+1} with a nondegenerate hyperplane H. Since e = 1 for D_{n+1} , every n-space of D_{n+1} lies in exactly two (n + 1)-spaces—one from each bipartite half. Because of dim(H) = 2n + 1, every n-space contained in H lies in a uniquely determined (n + 1)-space in $\frac{1}{2}D_{n+1}$. For two n-spaces U_1 and U_2 in H, we have dim $(U_1 \cap U_2) \in \{n - k, n - k - 1\}$ if and only if dim $(V_1 \cap V_2) = n - k$, where V_1 and V_2 are the corresponding (n + 1)-spaces containing U_1 or U_2 , respectively. See also [BCN89, § 9.4.C].

2.3.3 Affine schemes

It remains to introduce the *affine schemes*, which consist of the matrix groups of type A_{m+n-1} , D_n , and 2A_n together with relations defined by the rank metric. It will turn out later that the affine schemes are closely related to the *q*-Johnson scheme (which is of type A_{m+n-1}), the hyperbolic bipartite half $\frac{1}{2}D_n$, and the association scheme arising from the Hermitian polar space ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ and we will see a remarkable resemblance between these schemes in Subsection 2.3.4 and throughout Chapter 5.

Let *m* and *n* be integers with $m \ge n \ge 1$ and let *X* be the set of $m \times n$ matrices over \mathbb{F}_q . The group $G = X \rtimes (GL_m(q) \times GL_n(q))$ acts transitively on *X* via

$$G \times X \to X$$

 $((D, (M, N)), A) \mapsto MAN^{-1} + D.$

The action of *G* extends to $X \times X$ componentwise and the orbits of this group action are given by

$$R_i = \{(A, B) \in X \times X \mid \operatorname{rank}(A - B) = i\}$$

for i = 0, 1, ..., n. By Proposition 2.1.4, $(X, (R_i))$ is an association scheme with n classes, which is known as the *bilinear forms scheme* (or *q*-Hamming scheme) since the matrices in $\mathbb{F}_q^{m \times n}$ are in 1-to-1-correspondence with the set of bilinear forms on $\mathbb{F}_q^m \times \mathbb{F}_q^n$. We denote this association scheme by $\text{Bil}_q(n, m)$. Note that $|X| = q^{mn}$. For more information, we refer to [Del78a], [BI84, § 3.6 (II)], [BCN89, § 9.5.A], and [Ban+21, § 6.4.1].



FIGURE 2.12. Bilinear forms scheme $Bil_2(2, 2)$, where only the relation R_1 is depicted to keep the graph more clearly represented.

An $m \times m$ matrix $A = (a_{ij})$ over \mathbb{F}_q is called *alternating* if it is skewsymmetric with zero main diagonal, that is, $a_{i,i} = 0$ and $a_{i,j} + a_{j,i} = 0$ for all i, j. Every alternating matrix has even rank. Let X now be the set of alternating $m \times m$ matrices. The group $G = X \rtimes GL_m(q)$ acts transitively on X

48 Association schemes

via

$$G \times X \to X$$

 $((D, M), A) \mapsto MAM^{-1} + D$

The action of *G* extends to $X \times X$ componentwise and the orbits of this group action are given by

$$R_i = \{(A, B) \in X \times X \mid \operatorname{rank}(A - B) = 2i\}$$

for i = 0, 1, ..., n. By Proposition 2.1.4, $(X, (R_i))$ is an association scheme with $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ classes. This scheme is known as the *alternating bilinear forms scheme* since a matrix is alternating if and only if the corresponding bilinear form is alternating. We denote this association scheme by $Alt_q(m)$. Note that $|X| = q^{\binom{m}{2}}$. For more information, we refer to [DG75], [BI84, § 3.6 (II)], [BCN89, § 9.5.B], and [Ban+21, § 6.4.1].

An $n \times n$ matrix A over \mathbb{F}_{q^2} is called *Hermitian* if $A^* = A$, where A^* is obtained from A by conjugation $x \mapsto x^q$ of each entry x of A and transposition. Let X be the set of $n \times n$ Hermitian matrices over \mathbb{F}_{q^2} . The group $G = X \rtimes \operatorname{GL}_n(q^2)$ acts transitively on X via

$$G \times X \to X$$

 $((D, M), A) \mapsto MAM^* + D.$

The action of *G* extends to $X \times X$ componentwise and the orbits of this group action are given by

$$R_i = \{ (A, B) \in X \times X \mid \operatorname{rank}(A - B) = i \}$$

for i = 0, 1, ..., n. By Proposition 2.1.4, $(X, (R_i))$ is an association scheme with *n* classes, which is known as the *Hermitian forms scheme* since a matrix is Hermitian if and only if the corresponding form is Hermitian. We denote it by $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$. For example, $\operatorname{Her}_2(2)$ is depicted in Figure 2.13. Note that $|X| = q^{n^2}$. For more information, we refer to [Sch18], [BI84, § 3.6 (II)], [BCN89, § 9.5.C], and [Ban+21, § 6.4.1].

In what follows, we write

$$(b,c) = \begin{cases} (q,q^{m-n}) & \text{for } \operatorname{Bil}_q(n,m) \\ (-q,-1) & \text{for } \operatorname{Her}_q(n) \\ (q^2,1/q) & \text{for } \operatorname{Alt}_q(m) \text{ if } m \text{ is even} \\ (q^2,q) & \text{for } \operatorname{Alt}_q(m) \text{ if } m \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$
(2.46)

For all three affine schemes $Bil_q(n, m)$, $Her_q(n)$, and $Alt_q(m)$, the valencies and multiplicities are given by

$$v_i = \mu_i = b^{\binom{i}{2}} {n \brack i}_b \prod_{j=0}^{i-1} (cb^{n-j} - 1)$$



FIGURE 2.13. Hermitian forms scheme $\text{Her}_2(2)$, where the edges represent the relation R_2 and R_1 is neglected for keeping it simple.

and the *P*- and *Q*-numbers are given by

$$P_{i}(k) = Q_{i}(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{i} (-1)^{i-j} b^{\binom{i-j}{2}} {n-j \brack n-i}_{b} {n-k \brack j}_{b} (cb^{n})^{j}, \qquad (2.47)$$

see [Del78a], [DG75], and [Sch18]. Observe that $P_i(k)$ is a polynomial of degree *i* in b^{-k} . Therefore, these three schemes are *P*- and *Q*-polynomial with respect to the ordering R_0, R_1, \ldots, R_n of relations and the ordering E_0, E_1, \ldots, E_n of the primitive idempotents imposed by (2.47). The corresponding polynomials are related to *affine q-Krawtchouk polynomials* defined by

$$K_i^{\text{aff}}(q^{-x}; B, n; q) = {}_3\phi_2 \left(\begin{array}{c} q^{-x}, q^{-i}, 0 \\ Bq, q^{-n} \end{array} \middle| q; q \right),$$

see [KLS10, § 14.16]. Namely, we have

$$P_{i}(k) = Q_{i}(k) = v_{i}K_{i}^{\text{aff}}(q^{-k}; c^{-1}b^{-n-1}, n; b)$$

= $v_{i\,3}\phi_{2}\begin{pmatrix} b^{-k}, b^{-i}, 0\\ c^{-1}b^{-n}, b^{-n} \end{pmatrix} b; b$. (2.48)

2.3.4 Connection between affine and ordinary *q*-analogs

The affine schemes $\operatorname{Bil}_q(n, m)$, $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$, and $\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$ are related to the ordinary q-analogs $J_q(n, m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ in the following way. For a vector space V over \mathbb{F}_p , let $P_n(V)$ be the set of n-spaces of V. Define the mapping

$$v \colon \mathbb{F}_p^{m \times n} \to P_n(\mathbb{F}_p^{m+n})$$
$$A \mapsto \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x \\ Ax \end{pmatrix} \mid x \in \mathbb{F}_p^n \right\}.$$
(2.49)

It is well known [BCN89, § 9.5.E] that, after an appropriate choice of the form, v(A) is in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ if and only if A is Hermitian, and v(A) is in D_n if and only

if *A* is alternating (as before, $p = q^2$ for ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ and p = q otherwise). The mapping *v* satisfies

$$n - \dim(v(A) \cap v(B)) = \operatorname{rank}(A - B)$$

for all $A, B \in \mathbb{F}_q^{n \times n}$, so in particular v is injective. We therefore obtain the following embeddings:

$$Bil_{q}(n,m) \hookrightarrow J_{q}(n,m)$$

$$Her_{q}(n) \hookrightarrow {}^{2}A_{2n-1}$$

$$Alt_{q}(m) \hookrightarrow \frac{1}{2}D_{m}$$
(2.50)

The *P*- and *Q*-numbers of these six association schemes are also quite connected. Recall that we defined the parameters *b* and *c* in (2.46), which we used to express the *P*- and *Q*-numbers of the affine schemes in a unified way. We can use these parameters *b* and *c* for the ordinary *q*-analogs as well to also write their *P*- and *Q*-numbers in a unified way. We thus expand the definition of *b* and *c* as follows

$$(b,c) = \begin{cases} (q,q^{m-n}) & \text{for Bil}_q(n,m) \text{ and } J_q(n,m) \\ (-q,-1) & \text{for Her}_q(n) \text{ and } {}^2A_{2n-1} \\ (q^2,1/q) & \text{for Alt}_q(m) \text{ and } \frac{1}{2}D_m \text{ if } m \text{ is even} \\ (q^2,q) & \text{for Alt}_q(m) \text{ and } \frac{1}{2}D_m \text{ if } m \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$
(2.51)

Observe that because of (2.31), (2.32), (2.44), (2.45), (2.42), and (2.43) the *P*- and *Q*-numbers $P'_i(k)$ and $Q'_k(i)$ of $J_q(n,m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ (with respect to the second *Q*-polynomial ordering), and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ are given by dual *q*-Hahn polynomials and *q*-Hahn polynomials as follows

$$P'_{i}(k) = v'_{i\,3}\phi_{2} \left(\begin{array}{c} b^{-i}, b^{-k}, q^{-1}c^{-1}b^{-2n+k} \\ b^{-n}, c^{-1}b^{-n} \end{array} \middle| b; b \right)$$
(2.52)

and

$$Q'_{k}(i) = \mu'_{k\,3}\phi_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c} b^{-i}, b^{-k}, q^{-1}c^{-1}b^{-2n+k} \\ b^{-n}, c^{-1}b^{-n} \end{array} \middle| b; b\right), \qquad (2.53)$$

where the corresponding valencies v'_i and multiplicities μ'_k are stated in Table 2.3.

Note that the parameters of the hypergeometric functions in (2.52) and (2.53) are similar to those in (2.48).

We close this chapter by shortly looking at a nonclassical affine scheme that is connected to the symplectic polar space C_n . Namely, the set of symmetric $n \times n$ matrices over \mathbb{F}_q gives rise to an association scheme, known as the symmetric bilinear forms scheme $\operatorname{Sym}_q(n)$, where a relation is indexed by the

	$J_q(n,m)$	${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$	$\frac{1}{2}D_m$
v'_i	$q^{i^2} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ i \end{bmatrix}_q \begin{bmatrix} v - n \\ i \end{bmatrix}_q$	$q^{i^2} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ i \end{bmatrix}_{q^2}$	$q^{\binom{2i}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} m \\ 2i \end{bmatrix}_q$
μ'_k	$\begin{bmatrix} m+n\\k \end{bmatrix}_q - \begin{bmatrix} m+n\\k-1 \end{bmatrix}_q$	$\mu_{k/2}$ for k even $\mu_{n-(k-1)/2}$ for k odd	μ_k

TABLE 2.3. Valencies and multiplicities occurring in (2.52) and (2.53), where μ_k for ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ is given in (2.38).

rank of the difference of any matrix pair from the relation and also by the *type* of this difference if the rank is even, see [Sch15], for example. This association scheme is of *type* C_n [Sta84, p. 117] and it is neither *P*- nor *Q*-polynomial since the *P*- and *Q*-numbers are not determined from evaluations of orthogonal polynomials. However, they are given by a linear combination of evaluations of affine *q*-Krawtchouk polynomials, see [Sch15] and [Sch20]. As above, after an appropriate choice of the form, the space v(A) with $A \in \mathbb{F}_q^{n \times n}$ is in C_n if and only if *A* is symmetric and we additionally have the embedding

$$\operatorname{Sym}_{q}(n) \hookrightarrow C_{n},$$
 (2.54)

see [BCN89, § 9.5.E].

We note that according to Stanton [Sta84, p. 118] a natural additive matrix group of type B_n or ${}^2A_{2n}$ does not seem to exist.

In Chapter 5, we will encounter more similarities between the eight association schemes occurring in (2.50) and (2.54). Moreover, we will exploit these embeddings to construct codes in the polar space schemes.

CHAPTER 3

Codes in polar spaces

"Hope" is the thing with feathers -That perches in the soul -And sings the tune without the words -And never stops - at all -

-Emily Dickinson

This chapter studies codes in polar spaces. We will derive upper bounds for the size of codes in all polar spaces and show that most of these bounds are sharp up to a constant factor by giving constructions of codes.

The results of this chapter can also be found in [SW22].

3.1 Introduction

Since the last century codes in the Hamming scheme and Johnson scheme have been heavily exploited in different areas of digital communications. However, today's communications are mostly done via a network of intermediate nodes. This requires new types of codes. It turned out that by using combinatorics of vector spaces over a finite field, one can construct suitable codes for network communications. One then studies rank-metric codes and subspace codes [KK08], which are, for example, codes in the bilinear forms scheme [Del78a], the alternating bilinear forms scheme [DG75], the Hermitian forms scheme [Sch18], and the *q*-Johnson scheme. Here, we introduce another type of subspace codes; namely, we define a *d*-code in a polar space \mathcal{P} to be a set of generators *Y* of \mathcal{P} such that $n - \dim U \cap W \ge d$ for all distinct $U, W \in Y$ (the mapping $(U, W) \mapsto n - \dim U \cap W$ agrees with the subspace metric, also known as Grassmann metric, used by coding theorists). This chapter focuses on one of the main coding-theoretic problems for codes in polar spaces:

What is the maximum cardinality of a d-code in a polar space of rank n?

This question will be answered for various polar spaces by showing that the bounds are asymptotically sharp. Namely, our main result in this chapter, Theorem 3.2.1 and Corollary 3.2.4, is a bound on the size of a *d*-code in a polar space, which is sharp up to a constant factor in many cases. The proof of the bound relies on Delsarte's linear programming method introduced in Section 2.2. In Chapter 4, we will apply the bound obtained here to show the nonexistence of Steiner systems in polar spaces in most cases.

We will start with the derivation of the bound in Section 3.2. Afterwards, we will construct codes in all polar spaces in Section 3.3, and lastly, we will give a list of open problems related to the topic at hand in Section 3.4.

3.2 Bounds

To derive bounds for *d*-codes in all polar spaces, we begin with bounds for *d*-codes in the Hermitian polar space ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and the bipartite half $\frac{1}{2}D_n$ of the hyperbolic polar space D_n . We proceed in this way because by taking the second *Q*-polynomial ordering for ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and studying $\frac{1}{2}D_n$ instead of D_n , we can express the resulting *Q*-numbers $Q_k(i)$ by *q*-Hahn polynomials of degree *k* in b^{-i} , see Section 2.3.4. This allows us to treat ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and $\frac{1}{2}D_n$ in a unified way. We will then use the bounds in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and $\frac{1}{2}D_n$ to establish bounds for codes in the remaining polar spaces.

Recall the definition of *b* and *c* from (2.51). We write $(x)_i = (x; b)_i$ in what follows.

It will turn out that the bound for ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ has a similar form as the *Singleton bound*¹⁸ for the *q*-Johnson scheme $J_q(n,m)$, which is given by¹⁹

$$|Y| \le \frac{\binom{m+n}{n-d+1}_q}{\binom{n}{n-d+1}_q} = \frac{\binom{m+n}{n}_q(q)_{d-1}}{(qcb^n)_{d-1}}$$
(3.1)

for *d*-codes *Y* in $J_q(n,m)$, see [WXS03, Theorem 5.2], [ZJX11], and [EV11, Theorem 1]. We will give a different proof of (3.1) in the following theorem—which is the main result of this chapter—where we also derive a bound for ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$.

Theorem 3.2.1. Let X be the set of n-spaces in $J_q(n,m)$ or generators in ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ or $\frac{1}{2}D_m$, where $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the case of $\frac{1}{2}D_m$, and let Y be a d-code in X with $1 \le d \le n$. Then we have

$$|Y| \le \frac{|X|(q)_{d-1}}{(qcb^n)_{d-1}}$$

where *d* is required to be odd in the case of ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$. For even *d* in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$, we have

$$|Y| \leq \frac{|X|(q)_{d-1}}{(qcb^n)_{d-1}} \frac{(b^{n-d+2}-1) + q\frac{b^{n+d-2}-1}{qb^{d-2}-1}(b^{n-d+1}-1)}{(b^{n-d+2}-1) + q\frac{b^{n+d-2}-1}{b^{n+d-1}-1}(b^{n-d+1}-1)}.$$

¹⁸Also known as the Wang-Xing-Safavi-Naini, anticode bound, or packing bound.

 $^{^{19} \}rm Observe$ the resemblance between (3.1) and the Singleton bound (2.27) for the Johnson scheme.

Moreover, these bounds also hold for *d*-codes in association schemes with the same *P*- and *Q*-numbers as $J_q(n,m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, or $\frac{1}{2}D_m$.

Before we can prove Theorem 3.2.1, we need the following identity for the Q-numbers. In the case of $J_q(n, m)$, a different proof for this identity can be found in [Del76a].

Lemma 3.2.2. Let X be the set of n-spaces in $J_q(n,m)$ or generators in ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ or $\frac{1}{2}D_m$, where we put $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the latter case. Let $Q'_k(i)$ be as in (2.53). Then we have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} b^{k(n-j)} {n-k \brack n-j}_{b} \frac{(qcb^{n-k})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} Q'_{k}(i) = |X| {n-i \brack j}_{b}$$
(3.2)

for all i, j = 0, 1, ..., n.

The proof of Lemma 3.2.2 requires some identities involving the q-Pochhammer symbol. For a real number a and nonnegative integers n, k, we have

$$(a^2;q^2)_k = (a;q)_k (-a;q)_k$$
(3.3)

$$(a;q)_{2k} = (a;q^2)_k (aq;q^2)_k$$
(3.4)

$$(a;q)_{n+k} = (a;q)_n (aq^n;q)_k$$
(3.5)

$$(a;q)_{n-k} = \frac{(a;q)_n}{(a^{-1}q^{1-n};q)_k} (-a)^{-k} q^{\binom{k}{2}-nk+k} \quad \text{for } a \neq 0.$$
(3.6)

These identities can be found in [KLS10, § 1.8], for example. We will moreover frequently use the well-known identity

$$\begin{bmatrix} k \\ j \end{bmatrix}_{q} \begin{bmatrix} j \\ i \end{bmatrix}_{q} = \begin{bmatrix} k \\ i \end{bmatrix}_{q} \begin{bmatrix} k-i \\ j-i \end{bmatrix}_{q}$$
(3.7)

without specific reference in the upcoming proof.

Proof of Lemma 3.2.2. Let $P'_i(k)$ and $Q'_k(i)$ be as in (2.52) and (2.53), respectively, for $J_q(n,m)$, $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ and ${}^2A_{2n-1}$. We will show that²⁰

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{b} P'_{i}(k) = b^{k(n-j)} {n-k \brack n-j}_{q} \frac{(qcb^{n-k})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}}.$$
(3.8)

By multiplying (3.8) with $Q'_k(\ell)$, taking the sum over k, and using (2.8), we obtain the identity in the lemma. It remains to prove (3.8). First, we rewrite

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{q} P'_{i}(k) = q^{k(n-j)} {n-k \brack n-j}_{q} {m+n-j-k \brack n-j}_{q}.$$

Observe that this is the q-analog of (2.26).

 $^{^{20}}$ In the case of $J_q(n,m)$, the identity (3.8) can be written as

the valencies v'_i , given in Table 2.3, such that we have a similar form for $P'_i(k)$ in both association schemes. For $J_q(n, m)$, we use (2.30) to obtain

$$v_{i} = q^{i^{2}} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ i \end{bmatrix}_{q} \begin{bmatrix} m \\ i \end{bmatrix}_{q} = (-1)^{i} q^{i^{2} - \binom{i}{2} + mi} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ i \end{bmatrix}_{q} \frac{(q^{-m};q)_{i}}{(q;q)_{i}}$$

For ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$, we use (2.30) and (3.3) to obtain

$$\begin{split} v_i' &= q^{i^2} {n \brack i}_{q^2} = (-1)^i q^{i^2 - 2\binom{i}{2} + 2ni} \frac{((-q)^{-n}; -q)_i (-(-q)^{-n}; -q)_i}{(-q; -q)_i (q; -q)_i} \\ &= (-1)^i (-q)^{\binom{i}{2} + i + ni} {n \brack i}_{-q} \frac{(-(-q)^{-n}; -q)_i}{(q; -q)_i}. \end{split}$$

For $\frac{1}{2}D_m$, we use (2.30) and (3.4) to obtain

$$v'_{i} = q^{\binom{2i}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} m \\ 2i \end{bmatrix}_{q} = q^{2im} \frac{(q^{-m}; q^{2})_{i}(q^{-m+1}; q^{2})_{i}}{(q^{2}; q^{2})_{i}(q; q^{2})_{i}}.$$

For even m = 2n, we have

$$v'_{i} = (-1)^{i} q^{2in+2\binom{i}{2}} {n \brack i}_{q^{2}} \frac{(q^{-2n+1}; q^{2})_{i}}{(q; q^{2})_{i}}$$

and for odd m = 2n + 1, we obtain

$$v'_{i} = (-1)^{i} q^{2in+2i+2\binom{i}{2}} {n \brack i}_{q^{2}} \frac{(q^{-2n-1}; q^{2})_{i}}{(q; q^{2})_{i}}$$

Hence, in all cases, we can write

$$v'_{i} = (-q)^{i} c^{i} b^{\binom{i}{2}+ni} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ i \end{bmatrix}_{b} \frac{(c^{-1}b^{-n})_{i}}{(q)_{i}}.$$

To simplify notation, we set $a = q^{-1}c^{-1}b^{-2n}$. Now, from the expression (2.52) for $P'_i(k)$, we find

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{b} P'_{i}(k) \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{b} (-q)^{i} c^{i} b^{\binom{i}{2}+ni} {n \brack i}_{b} \frac{(c^{-1}b^{-n})_{i}}{(q)_{i}} {}_{3}\phi_{2} \left(\begin{array}{c} b^{-i}, b^{-k}, ab^{k} \\ b^{-n}, c^{-1}b^{-n} \end{array} \middle| b; b \right) \\ &= {n \brack j} \sum_{b \ i, \ell \geq 0} {n-j \brack i}_{b} (-q)^{i} c^{i} b^{\binom{i}{2}+ni+\ell} \frac{(c^{-1}b^{-n})_{i}(b^{-i})_{\ell}(b^{-k})_{\ell}(ab^{k})_{\ell}}{(q)_{i}(b^{-n})_{\ell}(c^{-1}b^{-n})_{\ell}(b)_{\ell}}. \end{split}$$

From (2.30) we have

$$\begin{bmatrix} n-j\\i \end{bmatrix}_{b} \frac{(b^{-i})_{\ell}}{(b)_{\ell}} = (-1)^{\ell} b^{\binom{\ell}{2}-i\ell} \begin{bmatrix} n-j\\\ell \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} n-j-\ell\\i-\ell \end{bmatrix}_{b'}$$

and therefore

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{b} P'_{i}(k) = {n \brack j}_{b} \sum_{\ell \ge 0} (-1)^{\ell} b^{{\ell \choose 2}+\ell} {n-j \brack \ell}_{b} \frac{(b^{-k})_{\ell} (ab^{k})_{\ell}}{(b^{-n})_{\ell} (c^{-1}b^{-n})_{\ell}} S_{\ell}, \quad (3.9)$$

where

$$S_{\ell} = \sum_{i \ge 0} (-q)^{i} c^{i} b^{\binom{i}{2} + i(n-\ell)} {n-j-\ell \brack i-\ell}_{b-\ell} \frac{(c^{-1}b^{-n})_{i}}{(q)_{i}}.$$

By interchanging the order of summation and then applying (3.5), we obtain

$$S_{\ell} = \sum_{i=0}^{n-\ell} (-q)^{i+\ell} c^{i+\ell} b^{\binom{i+\ell}{2} + (i+\ell)(n-\ell)} {n-j-\ell \brack i}_{b} \frac{(c^{-1}b^{-n})_{i+\ell}}{(q)_{i+\ell}}$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^{n-\ell} (-q)^{i+\ell} c^{i+\ell} b^{\binom{i+\ell}{2} + (i+\ell)(n-\ell)} {n-j-\ell \brack i}_{b} \frac{(c^{-1}b^{-n})_{\ell} (c^{-1}b^{-n+\ell})_{i}}{(q)_{\ell} (qb^{\ell})_{i}}.$$

By using (2.30), this sum becomes

$$S_{\ell} = (-q)^{\ell} c^{\ell} b^{\binom{\ell}{2} - \ell^{2} + n\ell} \frac{(c^{-1}b^{-n})_{\ell}}{(q)_{\ell}} \sum_{i=0}^{n-\ell} (qcb^{2n-j-\ell})^{i} \frac{(b^{-(n-j-\ell)})_{i}(c^{-1}b^{-n+\ell})_{i}}{(b)_{i}(qb^{\ell})_{i}}$$
$$= (-q)^{\ell} c^{\ell} b^{\binom{\ell}{2} - \ell^{2} + n\ell} \frac{(c^{-1}b^{-n})_{\ell}}{(q)_{\ell}} {}_{2}\phi_{1} \left(\begin{array}{c} b^{-(n-j-\ell)}, c^{-1}b^{-n+\ell} \\ qb^{\ell} \end{array} \middle| b; qcb^{2n-j-\ell} \right).$$

The hypergeometric function $_2\phi_1$ can be evaluated by using the *q*-Chu-Vandermonde identity

$$_{2}\phi_{1}\left(\begin{array}{c}b^{-k},x\\y\end{array}\middle|b;rac{yb^{k}}{x}
ight)=rac{(x^{-1}y)_{k}}{(y)_{k}}$$

(see [KLS10, (1.11.4)], for example), which implies that

$$S_{\ell} = (-q)^{\ell} c^{\ell} b^{\binom{\ell}{2} - \ell^2 + n\ell} \frac{(c^{-1}b^{-n})_{\ell} (qcb^n)_{n-j-\ell}}{(q)_{\ell} (qb^{\ell})_{n-j-\ell}}.$$

Substitute into (3.9) to obtain

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{b} P'_{i}(k) = {n \brack j}_{b} \sum_{\ell \ge 0} q^{\ell} c^{\ell} b^{n\ell} {n-j \brack \ell}_{b} \frac{(b^{-k})_{\ell} (ab^{k})_{\ell} (qcb^{n})_{n-j-\ell}}{(b^{-n})_{\ell} (q)_{\ell} (qb^{\ell})_{n-j-\ell}}.$$
 (3.10)

From (3.5) we have

$$(qb^{\ell})_{n-j-\ell} = \frac{(q)_{n-j}}{(q)_{\ell}}$$
 (3.11)

and from (3.6) we find that

$$(qcb^{n})_{n-j-\ell} = \frac{(qcb^{n})_{n-j}}{(q^{-1}c^{-1}b^{-2n+1+j})_{\ell}}(-qcb^{n})^{-\ell}b^{\binom{\ell}{2}-(n-j)\ell+\ell}.$$
(3.12)

By substituting (3.11) and (3.12) into (3.10) and using (2.30), we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{b} P'_{i}(k) \\ &= {n \brack j}_{b} \sum_{\ell \ge 0} (-1)^{\ell} b^{\binom{\ell}{2} - (n-j)\ell + \ell} {n-j \brack \ell} \frac{(b^{-k})_{\ell}(ab^{k})_{\ell}(qcb^{n})_{n-j}}{(b^{-n})_{\ell}(q)_{n-j}(q^{-1}c^{-1}b^{-2n+1+j})_{\ell}} \\ &= {n \brack j}_{b} \frac{(qcb^{n})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} \sum_{\ell \ge 0} b^{\ell} \frac{(b^{-(n-j)})_{\ell}(b^{-k})_{\ell}(ab^{k})_{\ell}}{(b)_{\ell}(b^{-n})_{\ell}(q^{-1}c^{-1}b^{-2n+1+j})_{\ell}} \\ &= {n \brack j}_{b} \frac{(qcb^{n})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} \,_{3}\varphi_{2} \left(\begin{array}{c} b^{-(n-j)}, b^{-k}, ab^{k} \\ b^{-n}, q^{-1}c^{-1}b^{-2n+1+j} \end{array} \right) b; b \right). \end{split}$$

The hypergeometric function $_{3}\phi_{2}$ on the right-hand side can be computed via the *q*-Pfaff-Saalschütz formula

$${}_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c}b^{-i}, x, y\\z, xyz^{-1}b^{1-i}\end{array}\middle|b; b\right) = \frac{(x^{-1}z)_{i}(y^{-1}z)_{i}}{(z)_{i}(x^{-1}y^{-1}z)_{i}}$$

(see [KLS10, (1.11.9)], for example). Note that $qcb^n = a^{-1}b^{-n}$. Therefore, we obtain

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{b} P'_{i}(k) = {n \brack j}_{b} \frac{(b^{-(n-k)})_{n-j}(qcb^{n-k})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}(b^{-n})_{n-j}}.$$

Applying (2.30) to ${n \brack j}_b = {n \brack n-j}_b$ and using (2.30) one more time leads to the identity (3.8).

We can now prove Theorem 3.2.1.

Proof of Theorem 3.2.1. Suppose that *Y* is a *d*-code in $J_q(n,m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, or $\frac{1}{2}D_m$. Let (A_0, A_1, \ldots, A_n) and $(A'_0, A'_1, \ldots, A'_n)$ be the inner and dual distribution of *Y*, respectively, in terms of the orderings imposed by the *P*- and *Q*-numbers given in (2.52) and (2.53). From (2.17) and Lemma 3.2.2, we obtain for all $j = 0, 1, \ldots, n$ that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{j} b^{k(n-j)} {n-k \choose n-j}_{b} \frac{(qcb^{n-k})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} A'_{k}$$

$$= \sum_{i=0}^{n} A_{i} \sum_{k=0}^{j} b^{k(n-j)} {n-k \choose n-j}_{b} \frac{(qcb^{n-k})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} Q'_{k}(i)$$

$$= |X| \sum_{i=0}^{n} A_{i} {n-i \choose j}_{b}.$$
(3.13)

First, assume that *d* is odd in the case of ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$. Since $A_{1} = \cdots = A_{d-1} = 0$ and $\begin{bmatrix} n-i\\ n-d+1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} = 0$ for $i \ge d$, we find from (3.13) with j = n - d + 1 that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-d+1} b^{k(d-1)} {n-k \brack d-1}_b \frac{(qcb^{n-k})_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-1}} A'_k = |X| {n \brack d-1}_b A_0.$$

Since $A_0 = 1$ and $A'_0 = |Y|$, we obtain

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n-d+1} b^{k(d-1)} {n-k \brack d-1}_b \frac{(qcb^{n-k})_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-1}} A'_k = {n \brack d-1}_b \left(|X| - \frac{(qcb^n)_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-1}} |Y| \right).$$
(3.14)

Recall that $A'_k \ge 0$ for all $k \ge 0$. For ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, the sign of $(qcb^{n-k})_{d-1}/(q)_{d-1}$ is $(-1)^{(d-1)(n-k+1)}$ and the sign of ${n-k \choose d-1}_b$ is $(-1)^{(d-1)(n-k-d+1)}$. Since *d* is odd, both signs are thus positive. Hence, all summands on the left-hand side of (3.14) are nonnegative implying

$$|Y| \le \frac{|X|(q)_{d-1}}{(qcb^n)_{d-1}},$$

as required.

Now, consider ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ for even *d*. Put

$$\begin{aligned} x_{k} &= b^{k(d-1)+d-2} \frac{(b^{n-k+1})_{d-1}(b^{n})_{d-2}}{(q)_{d-1}(q)_{d-2}} \begin{bmatrix} n-k\\d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} n-1\\d-2 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \\ y_{k} &= b^{k(d-2)+d-1} \frac{(b^{n-k+1})_{d-2}(b^{n})_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-2}(q)_{d-1}} \begin{bmatrix} n-k\\d-2 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} n-1\\d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.15)

Use (3.13) with j = n - d + 1 and j = n - d + 2 to obtain

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-d+2} (x_k - y_k) A'_k$$

= $|X| b^{d-2} \frac{(b^n)_{d-2}}{(q)_{d-2}} \left({n-1 \brack d-2}_b {n \brack d-1}_b + q {n-1 \brack d-1}_b {n-2 \brack b}_b \frac{b^{n+d-2} - 1}{qb^{d-2} - 1} \right).$
(3.16)

Next, we show that the summands on the left-hand side are nonnegative. The sign of $\binom{m}{\ell}_{b}$ is $(-1)^{\ell(m-\ell)}$ and the sign of $(b^{m})_{\ell}/(q)_{\ell}$ is $(-1)^{m\ell}$. Hence, we have $\operatorname{sign}(x_{k}) = (-1)^{k}$ and $\operatorname{sign}(y_{k}) = -1$, which implies that the left-hand side of (3.16) equals

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-d+2} ((-1)^k |x_k| + |y_k|) A'_k.$$

From

$$\frac{x_k}{y_k} = b^{k-1} \frac{(b^{n-k-d+2} - 1)(b^{n-k+d-1} - 1)}{(b^{n+d-2} - 1)(b^{n-d+1} - 1)}$$

we see that $|x_k| \le |y_k|$ for all $k \ge 1$. Therefore, the left-hand side of (3.16) can be bounded from below by $(x_0 - y_0)A'_0$, which is also positive. Since $A'_0 = |Y|$, we thus find from (3.16) that

$$|Y| \leq \frac{|X|b^{d-2}\frac{(b^n)_{d-2}}{(q)_{d-2}} \left({n-1 \brack d-2}_b {n \brack d-1}_b + q {n-1 \brack d-1}_b {n \brack d-2}_b \frac{b^{n+d-2}-1}{qb^{d-2}-1} \right)}{\left(b^{d-2}\frac{(b^{n+1})_{d-1}(b^n)_{d-2}}{(q)_{d-1}(q)_{d-2}} {n \brack d-1}_b {n-1 \brack d-2}_b - b^{d-1}\frac{(b^{n+1})_{d-2}(b^n)_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-2}(q)_{d-1}} {n \brack d-2}_b {n-1 \brack b}_b {n-1 \brack d-2}_b} \right)}.$$

We can now deduce the second inequality of the theorem after elementary manipulations. This completes the proof. $\hfill \Box$

In what follows, we use Theorem 3.2.1 to obtain bounds for *d*-codes in the remaining polar spaces ${}^{2}A_{2n}$, B_n , C_n , D_n , and ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$. To do so, we write

$$\alpha(n,d) = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} (1+q^{2i-1})\right) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{d-1} \frac{1+(-q)^{i}}{1-(-q)^{n+i}}\right) \varepsilon(n,d),$$

where $\varepsilon(n, d) = 1$ for odd *d* and

$$\varepsilon(n,d) = \frac{((-q)^{n-d+2}-1) + q\frac{(-q)^{n+d-2}-1}{q(-q)^{d-2}-1}((-q)^{n-d+1}-1)}{((-q)^{n-d+2}-1) + q\frac{(-q)^{n+d-2}-1}{(-q)^{n+d-1}-1}((-q)^{n-d+1}-1)}$$

for even *d*. Moreover, we write

$$\beta(m,d) = \begin{cases} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{m-1} (1+q^i)\right) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{d-1} \frac{1-q^{2i-1}}{1-q^{m+2i-2}}\right) & \text{for even } m \\ \left(\prod_{i=1}^{m-1} (1+q^i)\right) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{d-1} \frac{1-q^{2i-1}}{1-q^{m+2i-1}}\right) & \text{for odd } m. \end{cases}$$

Observe that, using (2.34), the bounds in Theorem 3.2.1 for ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and $\frac{1}{2}D_{m}$ equal $\alpha(n, d)$ and $\beta(m, d)$, respectively.

First, we make the following observation about *d*-codes in D_n if *d* is even.

Proposition 3.2.3. Every *d*-code in D_n with even *d* and $2 \le d \le n$ induces a $\frac{d}{2}$ -code in $\frac{1}{2}D_n$ of the same size.

Proof. The strategy of this proof is depicted in Figure 3.1.

Let Y be a d-code in D_n with even d and $2 \le d \le n$. Recall that the set of generators is partitioned into two equivalence classes X_1 and X_2 , where two generators lie in the same class if and only if the dimension of their intersection has the same parity as n. For each $y \in Y$, choose an (n - 1)-space contained in y. Because Y is a d-code with d > 1, all these chosen (n - 1)-spaces are distinct and moreover, the dimension of their intersection is at most n - d. Since e = -1, each of these (n - 1)-spaces lies in exactly two generators—one from X_1 and one from X_2 . Let \widehat{Y} be the set of all generators in X_1 corresponding to the chosen (n - 1)-spaces. Then it holds

$$\dim(\widehat{x} \cap \widehat{y}) \le n - d + 1$$

for all $\hat{x}, \hat{y} \in \hat{Y}$. However, the case dim $(\hat{x} \cap \hat{y}) = n - d + 1$ cannot occur since d is even and dim $(\hat{x} \cap \hat{y})$ must have the same parity as n. Hence, $\hat{Y} \subseteq X_1$ is a $\frac{d}{2}$ -code in $\frac{1}{2}D_n$ with $|Y| = |\hat{Y}|$, as required.

We now derive bounds for codes in all polar spaces.

Corollary 3.2.4. Let \mathcal{P} be a polar space of rank n and let Y be a d-code in \mathcal{P} with $1 \le d \le n$. Put $\delta = \lceil d/2 \rceil$.

- (*a*) If $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}A_{2n-1}$, then $|Y| \leq \alpha(n, d)$.
- (b) If $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}A_{2n}$, then $|Y| \leq \alpha(n+1, d)$.
- (c) If $\mathcal{P} = B_n$ or C_n , then $|Y| \leq \beta(n+1,\delta)$.
- (*d*) If $\mathcal{P} = D_n$ and *d* is odd, then $|Y| \leq 2\beta(n, \delta)$.
- (e) If $\mathcal{P} = D_n$ and d is even, then $|Y| \leq \beta(n, \delta)$.
- (f) If $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}D_{n+1}$, then $|Y| \le \beta(n+2,\delta)$.


FIGURE 3.1. Idea for the proof of Proposition 3.2.3—a *d*-code \hat{Y} in X induces a *d*-code \hat{Y} in the equivalence class X_1 of X.

Proof. The bound in (a) follows directly from Theorem 3.2.1 by using (2.34).

A *d*-code in D_n induces δ -codes in each of the two bipartite halves of D_n , so it is at most twice as large as a δ -code in $\frac{1}{2}D_n$. Theorem 3.2.1 then gives (d). Proposition 3.2.3 immediately implies (e).

Recall from Section 2.3.2 (see p. 46) that in the cases of B_n and C_n , one obtains a new association scheme with the classes

$$R_0, R_1 \cup R_2, R_3 \cup R_4, \ldots$$

and this new association scheme has the same *P*- and *Q*-numbers as $\frac{1}{2}D_{n+1}$ [IMU89]. Therefore, the size of a *d*-code in B_n or C_n is at most the upper bound for a δ -code in $\frac{1}{2}D_{n+1}$ given in Theorem 3.2.1, which proves (c).

To establish the remaining cases (b) and (f), note that ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$ and ${}^{2}A_{2n}$ arise by intersecting B_{n+1} and ${}^{2}A_{2n+1}$, respectively, with a hyperplane (see Remark 2.3.3). Hence, ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$ can be embedded into B_{n+1} and ${}^{2}A_{2n}$ can be embedded into ${}^{2}A_{2n+1}$. Note that B_{n+1} and ${}^{2}A_{2n+1}$ are of rank n + 1 and each generator in ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$ or ${}^{2}A_{2n}$ becomes an n-space in B_{n+1} or ${}^{2}A_{2n+1}$ under these embeddings. In B_{n+1} and ${}^{2}A_{2n+1}$, every n-space is contained in exactly $p^{e+1} + 1 = q + 1$ generators. For each embedded element of Y, we choose one of these q + 1 generators giving a subset \widetilde{Y} of B_{n+1} or ${}^{2}A_{2n+1}$. Then \widetilde{Y} is also a d-code and (c) implies (f) and (a) implies (b).

We close this section by giving the following more useful bounds on $\alpha(n, d)$ and $\beta(n, d)$.

Lemma 3.2.5. *For* $1 \le d \le n$ *, we have*

$$\alpha(n,d) < \begin{cases} \frac{14}{5}q^{n(n-d+1)} & \text{for odd } d\\ \frac{14}{5}q^{n(n-d+2)} & \text{for even } d, \end{cases}$$
(3.17)

62 Codes in polar spaces

and

$$\beta(n,d) < \begin{cases} \frac{5}{2}q^{(n-1)(n-2d+2)/2} & \text{for even } n\\ \frac{5}{2}q^{n(n-2d+1)/2} & \text{for odd } n. \end{cases}$$
(3.18)

To prove Lemma 3.2.5, we use the identity

$$\frac{x-1}{y-1} \le \frac{x}{y} \quad \text{for } y \ge x \ge 1 \text{ with } y \ne 1$$
(3.19)

and the following lemma.

Lemma 3.2.6. Let $n \ge 1$ and $q \ge 2$ be integers. Then we have

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(1 + \frac{1}{q^{i}} \right) < \frac{5}{2}, \quad \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(1 + \frac{1}{q^{2i}} \right) < \frac{7}{5} \quad and \quad \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(1 + \frac{1}{q^{2i-1}} \right) < 2.$$
(3.20)

Proof. We use $1 + x < \exp(x)$ to obtain

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(1 + \frac{1}{q^{i}}\right) < \left(1 + \frac{1}{q}\right) \exp\left(\frac{1}{q(q-1)}\right) \le \left(1 + \frac{1}{q}\right) \exp\left(\frac{1}{q}\right).$$

Applying $(1 + x) \exp(x) < \frac{5}{2}$ for all $x \in [0, \frac{1}{2}]$ leads to the first inequality. Using a similar approach gives us

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(1 + \frac{1}{q^{2i}}\right) < \exp\left(\frac{1}{q^2 - 1}\right) \le \exp\left(\frac{1}{3}\right) < \frac{7}{5},$$

and

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(1 + \frac{1}{q^{2i-1}}\right) < \exp\left(\frac{q}{q^2 - 1}\right) \le \exp\left(\frac{2}{3}\right) < 2,$$

as required.

We can now prove Lemma 3.2.5.

Proof of Lemma 3.2.5. For $\beta(n, d)$ and even *n*, use (3.19) and (3.20) to obtain

$$\begin{split} \beta(n,d) &< \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n-1} q^i \left(1 + \frac{1}{q^i}\right)\right) q^{(-n+1)(d-1)} \\ &\leq \frac{5}{2} q^{(n-1)(n-2d+2)/2}. \end{split}$$

The bound for $\beta(n,d)$ and odd *n* can be obtained similarly. For $\alpha(n,d)$, we write

$$\alpha(n,d) = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} (1+q^{2i-1})\right) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{d-1} \frac{q^i + (-1)^i}{q^{n+i} - (-1)^{n+i}}\right) (-1)^{(n+1)(d-1)} \varepsilon(n,d).$$
(3.21)

We have

$$\prod_{i=1}^{d-1} \frac{q^{i} + (-1)^{i}}{q^{n+i} - (-1)^{n+i}} = \begin{cases} \prod_{i=1}^{d-1} \frac{(q^{2i}+1)(q^{2i-1}-1)}{(q^{n+2i}-(-1)^{n})(q^{n+2i-1}+(-1)^{n})} & \text{for odd } d \\ \frac{q^{d-1}-1}{q^{n+d-1}+(-1)^{n}} \prod_{i=1}^{d-2} \frac{(q^{2i}+1)(q^{2i-1}-1)}{(q^{n+2i}-(-1)^{n})(q^{n+2i-1}+(-1)^{n})} & \text{for even } d. \end{cases}$$
(3.22)

Using (3.19) and (3.20), we obtain for each $r \ge 1$,

$$\begin{split} \prod_{i=1}^r \frac{(q^{2i}+1)(q^{2i-1}-1)}{(q^{n+2i}-(-1)^n)(q^{n+2i-1}+(-1)^n)} &\leq \prod_{i=1}^r \frac{(q^{2i}+1)(q^{2i-1}-1)}{(q^{n+2i}+1)(q^{n+2i-1}-1)} \\ &\leq \prod_{i=1}^r q^{-2n} \left(1 + \frac{1}{q^{2i}}\right) \\ &< \frac{7}{5}q^{-2nr}. \end{split}$$

Substitute into (3.22) to give

$$\prod_{i=1}^{d-1} \frac{q^i + (-1)^i}{q^{n+i} - (-1)^{n+i}} < \begin{cases} \frac{7}{5}q^{-n(d-1)} & \text{for odd } d\\ \frac{7}{5}q^{-n(d-2)} \frac{q^{d-1} - 1}{q^{n+d-1} + (-1)^n} & \text{for even } d. \end{cases}$$
(3.23)

From (3.20) we have

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} (1+q^{2i-1}) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} q^{2i-1} \left(1+\frac{1}{q^{2i-1}}\right) < 2q^{n^2}.$$
 (3.24)

Substitute (3.23) and (3.24) into (3.21) to obtain

$$\alpha(n,d) < \begin{cases} \frac{14}{5}q^{n(n-d+1)} & \text{for odd } d\\ \frac{14}{5}q^{n(n-d+2)}\frac{q^{d-1}-1}{q^{n+d-1}+(-1)^n}(-1)^{(n+1)(d-1)}\varepsilon(n,d) & \text{for even } d. \end{cases}$$
(3.25)

For even *d*, we have

$$(-1)^{(n+1)(d-1)} \varepsilon(n,d) = \frac{q \frac{q^{n+d-2} - (-1)^n}{q^{d-1} - 1} (q^{n-d+1} + (-1)^n) - (-1)^n (q^{n-d+2} - (-1)^n)}{(q^{n-d+2} - (-1)^n) + q \frac{q^{n+d-2} - (-1)^n}{q^{n+d-1} + (-1)^n} (q^{n-d+1} + (-1)^n)} = \frac{q \frac{(q^{n+d-2} - (-1)^n)(q^{n-d+1} + (-1)^n)}{(q^{d-1} - 1)(q^{n-d+2} - (-1)^n)} - (-1)^n}{q \frac{(q^{n+d-2} - (-1)^n)(q^{n-d+1} + (-1)^n)}{(q^{n-d+2} - (-1)^n)(q^{n-d+2} - (-1)^n)} + 1}
$$< \frac{q^{n+d-1} + (-1)^n}{q^{d-1} - 1},$$
(3.26)$$

by using (3.19), so that (3.25) gives the required bound for $\alpha(n, d)$.

3.3 Constructions

We now discuss the sharpness of the bounds in Corollary 3.2.4 by giving constructions of codes in polar spaces. For a vector space V, let $P_n(V)$ be the set of n-spaces of V. Recall the definition of the injective mapping $v \colon \mathbb{F}_p^{n \times n} \to P_n(\mathbb{F}_p^{2n})$ from (2.49) in Section 2.3.4. We already stated that, after an appropriate choice of the form, v(A) is in ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ if and only if A is Hermitian, v(A) is in D_n if and only if A is alternating, and v(A) is in C_n if and only if A is symmetric (as before, $p = q^2$ for ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ and p = q otherwise). Also recall that the mapping v satisfies

$$n - \dim(v(A) \cap v(B)) = \operatorname{rank}(A - B)$$

for all $A, B \in \mathbb{F}_q^{n \times n}$. Accordingly, to construct codes in polar spaces, we can use different types of codes in $\mathbb{F}_q^{n \times n}$. Such objects were studied in [Sch18], [Sch10], [Sch15], and [DG75] for Hermitian, symmetric, and alternating matrices, and are precisely the codes in affine schemes $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$, $\operatorname{Sym}_q(n)$, and $\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$. This implies the following corollary.

Corollary 3.3.1. *The bound in Corollary 3.2.4 for a d-code in a polar space* \mathcal{P} *of rank n with* $1 \leq d \leq n$ *is sharp up to a constant factor if*

- (a) $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and d is odd;
- (b) $\mathcal{P} = C_n$ and d is odd;
- (c) $\mathcal{P} = B_n$, d is odd, and q is even;
- (d) $\mathcal{P} = D_n$ except possibly when n is even and q is odd.

Observe that in the case of D_n , the constructed code actually lies in the bipartite half $\frac{1}{2}D_n$ since alternating matrices always have even rank.

Proof of Corollary 3.3.1. From [Sch18] and the injection v, we find that for odd d, there exists a d-code Y in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ satisfying $|Y| = q^{n(n-d+1)}$. In view of Lemma 3.2.5, this shows that the bound in Corollary 3.2.4 (a) for odd d is sharp up to a constant factor. Likewise from [Sch10] and [Sch15] we find that, for odd d, there exists a d-code Y in C_n satisfying

$$|Y| = \begin{cases} q^{(n+1)(n-d+1)/2} & \text{for even } n \\ q^{n(n-d+2)/2} & \text{for odd } n, \end{cases}$$

showing that the bound in Corollary 3.2.4 (c) for $\mathcal{P} = C_n$ and odd *d* is sharp up to a constant factor. Since B_n and C_n are isomorphic for even *q*, the same is

true when $\mathcal{P} = B_n$ and q is even. From [DG75] we find that, for even d, there exists a d-code Y in D_n satisfying

$$|Y| = \begin{cases} q^{(n-1)(n-d+2)/2} & \text{for even } n \text{ and even } q \\ q^{n(n-d+1)/2} & \text{for odd } n. \end{cases}$$

Since a *d*-code is trivially also a (d - 1)-code, this shows that the bound in Corollary 3.2.4 (d) and (e) is sharp up to a constant factor except possibly when *n* is even and *q* is odd.

We note that in all other cases, one can obtain constructions of *d*-codes in a similar fashion, showing that the remaining bounds in Corollary 3.2.4 are met up to a small power of q^n .

3.4 Open problems

We close this chapter by looking at some open problems that directly arise from our results or are related to codes in polar spaces.

Problem 3.4.1. Is there a combinatorial proof for the bounds from Corollary 3.2.4?

In the case of the *q*-Johnson scheme, we will see in Chapter 5 that Theorem 2.2.6 with the Singleton polynomial gives the *Singleton bound* (also known as *Wang-Xing-Safavi-Naini bound, anticode bound,* or *packing bound,* see [WXS03, Theorem 5.2] and [EV11, Theorem 1 and 2]), which can also be proved combinatorially. Applying the same combinatorial proof for the polar spaces gives the size of an (n - d + 1)-Steiner system in the polar space as an upper bound for *d*-codes, see Proposition 5.1.2. However, we will see in Chapter 4 that the bounds from Corollary 3.2.4 are smaller than the size of Steiner systems in most cases. Since we gave only an algebraic proof for the bounds in Corollary 3.2.4, it would be interesting to see whether they can still be proved purely combinatorially. This problem is similar to Problem 5.4.5.

Problem 3.4.2. *Improve the bounds in Corollary 3.2.4 that are not asymptotically optimal, or construct new codes whose sizes reach these bounds up to constant factor.*

Related to Problem 3.4.2 is the following.

Problem 3.4.3. *Can some of the bounds in Corollary 3.2.4 be improved by using semidefinite programming?*

In 2005, Schrijver [Sch05] improved some of Delsarte's linear programming bounds for codes in the binary Hamming scheme H(n, 2) by using semidefinite programming (SDP). Schrijver's method gave new bounds for different

types of codes as well (see [Val21] for a survey of this method). In the linear programming (LP), one looks at constraints for pairs of codewords, whereas in the SDP the constraints are for triples, quadruples, etc. of codewords. In the case of the *q*-Johnson scheme, Schrijver's SDP method did not give new upper bounds for the size of codes so far, which was checked by Ihringer, see his blog post [Ihr18] on this. It would be interesting to see whether SDP yields better bounds than LP for codes in polar spaces.

Problem 3.4.4. Let \mathcal{P} be a polar space of rank n. What is the maximum number of elements in a subset Y of k-spaces in \mathcal{P} with $1 \le k < n$ such that $k - \dim(x \cap y) \ge d$ for all distinct $x, y \in Y$?

Such subsets *Y* can be seen as a generalization of our definition of a code in a polar space. One possibility to tackle this problem could be to study the nonclassical association scheme arising from the action of the corresponding group from Table 2.2 on the *k*-spaces (with k < n) instead of the generators. This was shown by Stanton [Sta80], who proved that the orbits under this action are indexed by two parameters and who also computed the eigenvalues of this scheme, as did Eisfeld [Eis99].

Problem 3.4.5. Do 1-perfect codes in B_n and C_n exist if $n = 2^m - 1$ for some integer $m \ge 3$?

An *e-perfect code* in a polar space \mathcal{P} is a subset of generators such that for every generator x in \mathcal{P} , there is a unique generator from Y, whose intersection with x has dimension at least n - e. The existence of *e*-perfect codes was solved in most cases by using Lloyd's theorem [Del73, Theorem 5.7]. More precisely, it was proved by Chihara [Chi87] that nontrivial *e*-perfect codes do not exist except possibly in B_n or C_n with e = 1 and $n = 2^m - 1$ for some integer m (where nontrivial means that the code is neither a singleton nor the full set of generators). A 1-perfect code Y in C_n and B_n is a 3-code with

$$|Y| = \frac{|X|}{v_0 + v_1} = \left(\prod_{i=1}^n (1+q^i)\right) \left(\frac{q-1}{q^{n+1}-1}\right),$$

where v_i denotes the valency (2.37). The size of Y is precisely the value of the respective bound in Corollary 3.2.4(c). For n = 3, a 1-perfect code in C_3 or B_3 is a so-called *spread*, whose existence question is affirmatively solved in C_3 and still not completely settled in B_3 , for example. (See [HT16, § 7.4 and 7.5] for an overview on the existence of spreads.) So far, nothing seems to be known in the case of $n = 2^m - 1$ with $m \ge 3$.

CHAPTER 4

Steiner systems in polar spaces

Some things will drop out of the public eye and will go away, but there will always be science, engineering and technology. And there will always, always be mathematics. —Katherine Johnson

In this chapter, we will give an almost complete classification of Steiner systems in polar spaces by showing that such objects can only exist in some corner cases. This classification result will be proved by using the bounds for codes in polar spaces that were obtained in Chapter 3.

The results of this chapter can also be found in [SW22].

4.1 Introduction

A *t-Steiner system* is a collection Y of *n*-subsets of a *v*-set V such that each *t*-subset of V is contained in exactly one member of Y. The long-standing existence question for *t*-Steiner systems has been settled recently: it was shown in [Kee14] and [Glo+16] that, for all $t \le n$ and all sufficiently large v, a *t*-Steiner system exists, provided that some natural divisibility conditions are satisfied. Observe that a *t*-Steiner system is a t-(v, n, 1) combinatorial design and by Example 2.1.28 and 2.2.9, a *t*-design and an optimal (n - t + 1)-code in the Johnson scheme J(n, v - n).

It is well known that combinatorics of sets can be regarded as the limiting case $q \rightarrow 1$ of combinatorics of vector spaces over \mathbb{F}_q . Indeed, following [Cam74] and [Del78b], a *t-Steiner system over* \mathbb{F}_q is a collection Y of *n*-dimensional subspaces (*n*-spaces for short) of a *v*-space V over \mathbb{F}_q such that each *t*-space of V is contained in exactly one member of Y. It is remarkable that, in the nontrivial case 1 < t < n < v, Steiner systems over \mathbb{F}_q are only known for a single set of parameters [Bra+16], namely for (t, n, v) = (2, 3, 13)and q = 2. Similar to Steiner systems of sets, a *t*-Steiner system over \mathbb{F}_q is a *t*-design over \mathbb{F}_q and an optimal (n - t + 1)-code in the *q*-Johnson scheme $J_q(n, v - n)$, as we will see in Chapter 5.

We may consider these objects as *q*-analogs of Steiner systems of type A_{n-1} , as *V* together with the action of $GL_n(q)$ is of this type. We study *q*-analogs of Steiner systems in finite vector spaces of type ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, ${}^2A_{2n}$, B_n , C_n , D_n , and ${}^2D_{n+1}$ (using the notation of [Car89]), which are the polar spaces introduced in Section 2.3. Namely, a *t*-Steiner system in a polar space \mathcal{P} is a collection Y of generators in \mathcal{P} such that each totally isotropic *t*-space of *V* is contained in exactly one member of Y. These objects are sometimes called *regular systems* or 1-*regular systems* in the literature. Examples of Steiner systems in polar spaces are given in Figure 4.1 and 4.2.



FIGURE 4.1. Two 1-Steiner systems (spreads) in the hyperbolic polar space D_2 from Figure 2.9.



FIGURE 4.2. A 1-Steiner system (spread) in the symplectic polar space C_2 from Figure 2.8.

A 1-Steiner system in a polar space is known as a *spread*, whose existence question has been studied for decades (see [Seg65], [Dye77], [Tha81], [Kan82b], [Kan82a], [Cal+97], for example), but is still not fully resolved (see [HT16, § 7.4] for the current status). The only other known nontrivial *t*-Steiner systems in polar spaces occur for t = n - 1 in the hyperbolic polar space D_n and equal one of the two bipartite halves $\frac{1}{2}D_n$ of D_n , see p. 45.

We prove the following classification result.

Theorem 4.1.1. *Suppose that a polar space* P *of rank n contains a t-Steiner system with* 1 < t < n*. Then one of the following holds*

- (1) t = n 1 and $\mathcal{P} = D_n$;
- (2) t = n 1 and $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}A_{2n}$ or ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$ for $q \ge 3$;
- (3) t = 2 and $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}A_{2n}$ or ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$ for odd n.

It is unknown whether *t*-Steiner systems exist in the remaining possibilities and we conjecture the following.

Conjecture 4.1.2. *If a polar space* \mathcal{P} *of rank n contains a t-Steiner system* Y *with* 1 < t < n, then $\mathcal{P} = D_n$ and Y is a bipartite half of D_n .

The special cases (n, t) = (4, 2) and (n, t) = (5, 3) in Theorem 4.1.1 were recently obtained in [Cos+22] and the results in the cases t = n - 1 are essentially known (see Case (C1) in Section 4.2). All other cases appear to be new.

An elementary counting argument shows that the size of a *t*-Steiner system in a polar space necessarily equals the total number of totally isotropic *t*-spaces divided by the number of *t*-spaces contained in a generator. Our proof of Theorem 4.1.1 is based on the fact that a set *Y* of generators in a polar space is a *t*-Steiner system if and only if *Y* has the correct size and dim $U \cap W < t$ for all distinct $U, W \in Y$. Therefore, the intersection of two distinct members of a *t*-Steiner system can have dimension at most t - 1 and so a *t*-Steiner system is an (n - t + 1)-code and its size must satisfy the bounds derived in Chapter 3. However, we will show that in most cases the bound is too small for a *t*-Steiner system to exist, eventually leading to Theorem 4.1.1. Numerical evidence suggests that in all cases remaining in Theorem 4.1.1, the LP optimum in the corresponding association scheme equals the size of the putative Steiner system. Hence, it seems that entirely new techniques are required to deal with the remaining cases.

After giving a proof of Theorem 4.1.1 in Section 4.2, we will discuss some open problems related to the topic of this chapter in Section 4.3.

4.2 Proof of the classification results

Here, we prove Theorem 4.1.1. The proof is split into the following cases:

- (C1) t = n 1 and $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}A_{2n}, {}^{2}D_{n+1}$ for q = 2 or $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}A_{2n-1}, B_n, C_n;$
- (C2) $\mathcal{P} = D_n$ with 1 < t < n 1;
- (C3) $\mathcal{P} = B_n$ or C_n with t = 2 and even n or 2 < t < n 1;

- (C4) $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}D_{n+1}$ with $t \in \{2,3\}$ and odd n or 3 < t < n-1, but $(n,t) \notin \{(7,4), (8,5)\};$
- (C5) $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ with 1 < t < n-1;
- (C6) $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}A_{2n}$ with t = 2 and even n, or 2 < t < n 1 except for (n,t) = (6,3);
- (C7) t = 2 and $\mathcal{P} = B_n$ or C_n for odd n > 3 or $\mathcal{P} = {}^2D_{n+1}$ for even n > 3;
- (C8) $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}D_{n+1}$ with t = 3 and even n > 4;

(C9)
$$\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}D_{n+1}$$
 with $(n,t) = (7,4)$ or $(8,5)$, or $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}A_{2n}$ with $(n,t) = (6,3)$.

The case (C1) is essentially known [Van11, p. 160] and a proof is sketched below for completeness. The cases (C2)-(C6) will follow from Theorem 3.2.1 and Corollary 3.2.4. The cases (C7)-(C9) are some corner cases, which need special treatment.

We begin with a sketch for a proof of (C1).

Proof of (*C*1). By taking the elements of an (n - 1)-Steiner system in a polar space of rank n that contain a fixed isotropic 1-space v and taking the quotient by v, one obtains an (n - 2)-Steiner system in a polar space of the same type but rank n - 1. This reduces the existence question to 2-Steiner systems in rank 3 or 1-Steiner systems, namely spreads, in rank 2. There are no spreads in B_2 for odd q, 2A_4 for q = 2, and 2A_5 for all q [HT16, § 7.4] and there are no 2-Steiner systems in 2D_4 for q = 2 [Pan98] and C_3 for all q [Th096], [CP03]. Since B_n and C_n are isomorphic if q is even, there are also no 2-Steiner systems in B_3 for even q.

To prove (C2)–(C6), we note that the number of totally isotropic *t*-spaces in a polar space of rank n is

$$\binom{n}{t}_{p} \prod_{i=0}^{t-1} (1+p^{n-i+e})$$
(4.1)

(see [BCN89, Lemma 9.4.1], for example). Since every generator contains exactly $\begin{bmatrix}n\\t\end{bmatrix}_p$ subspaces of dimension *t*, the size of a *t*-Steiner system is thus given by

$$\prod_{i=0}^{t-1} (1+p^{n-i+e}).$$
(4.2)

Recall that a *t*-Steiner system is an (n - t + 1)-code. Henceforth, we thus write d = n - t + 1. Let *B* denote the corresponding bound of a *d*-code in Corollary 3.2.4. We denote the size of an (n - d + 1)-Steiner system by *S*, hence

$$S = \prod_{i=0}^{n-d} (1+p^{n-i+e}), \tag{4.3}$$

and in particular

$$S \ge p^{\frac{1}{2}(n-d+1)(n+d+2e)}.$$
 (4.4)

We set R = B/S and show that R < 1.

Proof of (C2). In this case, we assume that $\mathcal{P} = D_n$ and 2 < d < n. Use Corollary 3.2.4 (d) and (e), (4.4), and (3.18) to obtain

$$R < \begin{cases} \frac{5}{2}q^{\frac{1}{2}(d-2)(d-n)} & \text{for even } n \text{ and even } d \\ 5q^{\frac{1}{2}(d-1)(d-n-1)} & \text{for even } n \text{ and odd } d \\ \frac{5}{2}q^{\frac{1}{2}(d-2)(d-n-1)} & \text{for odd } n \text{ and even } d \\ 5q^{\frac{1}{2}(d-1)(d-n-2)} & \text{for odd } n \text{ and odd } d. \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

If *n* and *d* have the same parity, then (4.5) implies R < 1. If *n* and *d* have a different parity, then (4.5) implies R < 1, except when (n, d) = (4, 3). In the latter case, Corollary 3.2.4 (d) and (4.3) give

$$R = \frac{2}{1+q^2} < 1$$

This completes the proof.

Proof of (C3). In this case, we assume that $\mathcal{P} = B_n$ or C_n and 2 < d < n - 1 or d = n - 1 is odd. Use Corollary 3.2.4 (c), (4.4), and (3.18) to obtain

$$R < \begin{cases} \frac{5}{2}q^{\frac{1}{2}(d(d-1)-(n+1)(d-2))} & \text{for even } n \text{ and even } d \\ \frac{5}{2}q^{\frac{1}{2}(d(d+1)-(n+1)(d-1))} & \text{for even } n \text{ and odd } d \\ \frac{5}{2}q^{\frac{1}{2}(d(d-1)-n(d-2))} & \text{for odd } n \text{ and even } d \\ \frac{5}{2}q^{\frac{1}{2}(d(d+1)-n(d-1))} & \text{for odd } n \text{ and odd } d. \end{cases}$$

It is the readily verified that R < 1, except if (i) d = 4 and n = 6, 7, or (ii) d = 3 and n = 6, 7, or (iii) d = n - 2 is odd, or (iv) d = n - 1 is odd. For (i) and (ii), Corollary 3.2.4 (c) and (4.3) imply that R equals $(1+q^3)/(1+q^4)$ and $1/(1+q^4)$, respectively, giving R < 1 in both cases. For (iii), Corollary 3.2.4 (c) and (4.3) imply that

$$\begin{split} R &= \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n-2} (1+q^i)\right) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{\frac{n}{2}-1} \frac{1-q^{2i-1}}{(1-q^{\frac{n}{2}+i})(1+q^{\frac{n}{2}+i})}\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{1+q^{n-1}} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{\frac{n}{2}} (1+q^i)\right) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{\frac{n}{2}-1} \frac{1-q^{2i-1}}{1-q^{\frac{n}{2}+i}}\right) \\ &< \frac{5}{2} \frac{q}{1+q^{n-1}} < 1, \end{split}$$

by using (3.19), (3.20), and $n \ge 4$. Similarly, for (iv), we deduce

$$R < \frac{5}{2} \frac{q}{1+q^{n-2}} < 1,$$

which completes the proof.

Proof of (C4). In this case, we assume that $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}D_{n+1}$ and 2 < d < n-2 or d = n-2 is odd or d = n-1 is even, but $(n,d) \notin \{(7,4), (8,4)\}$. Use Corollary 3.2.4 (f), (4.4), and (3.18) to obtain

$$R < \begin{cases} \frac{5}{2}q^{\frac{1}{2}(d(d+1)-(n+1)(d-2))} & \text{for even } n \text{ and even } d \\ \frac{5}{2}q^{\frac{1}{2}(d(d+1)-(n+1)(d-1))} & \text{for even } n \text{ and odd } d \\ \frac{5}{2}q^{\frac{1}{2}(d(d+1)-(n+2)(d-2))} & \text{for odd } n \text{ and even } d \\ \frac{5}{2}q^{\frac{1}{2}(d(d+1)-(n+2)(d-1))} & \text{for odd } n \text{ and odd } d. \end{cases}$$

Then we have R < 1, except for (i) d = 3 and n = 5, 6, or (ii) d = 4 and n = 9, 10, or (iii) d = 6 and n = 9, 10. Corollary 3.2.4 (f) and (4.3) imply that, in the respective cases, R equals

$$\frac{1+q^3}{1+q^4}, \qquad \frac{(1+q^3)(1-q^8)}{1-q^{12}}, \qquad \frac{(1-q^8)(1+q^5)}{1-q^{14}}.$$

In all cases, we have R < 1, as required.

Proof of (*C5*). In this case, we assume that $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ with 2 < d < n. Use Corollary 3.2.4 (a), (4.4), and (3.17) to obtain

$$R < \begin{cases} \frac{14}{5}q^{(d-1)(d-n-1)} & \text{for odd } d\\ \frac{14}{5}q^{(d-1)(d-n-1)+n} & \text{for even } d. \end{cases}$$

Then we have R < 1, except for (n, d) = (5, 4). In the latter case, we find from Corollary 3.2.4 (a), (3.21), (4.3), and (3.26) that

$$\begin{split} R &< \frac{q^8 - 1}{q^3 - 1} \prod_{i=1}^3 (q^{2i-1} + 1) \frac{q^i + (-1)^i}{q^{5+i} + (-1)^i} \\ &= \frac{(q^4 - 1)(q^5 + 1)}{(q^7 + 1)(q^3 - 1)} \\ &\leq 2q^{-1} \leq 1, \end{split}$$

as required.

Proof of (*C6*). In this case, we assume that $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}A_{2n}$ with 2 < d < n-1 or d = n-1 is odd, where the case (n,d) = (6,4) is excluded. Use Corollary 3.2.4 (b), (4.4), and (3.17) to obtain

$$R < \begin{cases} \frac{14}{5}q^{(d-1)(d-n-2)+2d-1} & \text{for odd } d\\ \frac{14}{5}q^{d(d-n-1)+2n+2} & \text{for even } d. \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

For odd *d*, it follows R < 1, except when (n, d) = (4, 3). In the latter case, we find from Corollary 3.2.4 (b) and (4.3) that

$$R = \frac{(q^4 - 1)(q^5 + 1)}{(q^3 - 1)(q^7 + 1)} < \frac{q^2 + q^{-3}}{q^3 - 1} < 1.$$

If *d* is even, then (4.6) implies R < 1, except when (n,d) = (8,6) (recall that we excluded (n,d) = (6,4)). In this case, we find from Corollary 3.2.4 (b), (3.21), and (4.3) that

$$R = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{6} (1+q^{2i-1})\right) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{4} \frac{q^i + (-1)^i}{q^{9+i} + (-1)^i}\right) \frac{q^5 - 1}{q^{14} - 1} \varepsilon(9, 6)$$

with

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon(9,6) &= \frac{q^5 + 1 + q \frac{q^{13} + 1}{q^5 - 1} (q^4 - 1)}{q^5 + 1 + q \frac{q^{13} + 1}{q^{14} - 1} (q^4 - 1)} \\ &= \frac{(q^{14} - 1)}{(q^5 - 1)} \, \frac{(q^{18} - q^{14} + q^{10} + q^5 - q - 1)}{(q^{19} + q^{18} - q - 1)} \\ &< \frac{(q^{14} - 1)}{(q^5 - 1)} \, \frac{1}{q}. \end{split}$$

This gives

$$\begin{split} R &< \frac{1}{q} \bigg(\prod_{i=1}^{6} (1+q^{2i-1}) \bigg) \bigg(\prod_{i=1}^{4} \frac{q^{i}+(-1)^{i}}{q^{9+i}+(-1)^{i}} \bigg) \\ &= \frac{1}{q} \frac{(q^{8}-1)(q^{7}+1)(q^{9}+1)}{(q^{5}-1)(q^{6}+1)(q^{13}-1)} \\ &< q^{-3} \frac{q^{7}+1}{q^{5}-1} < 1, \end{split}$$

by using (3.19), which completes the proof.

Now, it remains to prove the corner cases (C7)-(C9). This is done by showing that the dual distribution of the Steiner system has a negative entry, which contradicts Proposition 2.1.26. In what follows, all inner and dual distributions (in particular those in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$) are determined with respect to the standard orderings imposed by (2.33) and (2.35). We require the following result on the inner and dual distributions of *t*-Steiner systems.

Proposition 4.2.1. Let X be the set of generators in a polar space of rank n and suppose that Y is a t-Steiner system in X with $1 \le t \le n$. Let (A_i) and (A'_k) be the inner distribution and dual distribution of Y, respectively, in terms of the standard orderings imposed by (2.33) and (2.35). Then we have

$$A_{n-i} = \sum_{j=i}^{t-1} (-1)^{j-i} p^{\binom{j-i}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} j \\ i \end{bmatrix}_p \begin{bmatrix} n \\ j \end{bmatrix}_p \left(\prod_{\ell=j}^{t-1} (1+p^{n-\ell+e}) - 1 \right)$$

for all $i = 0, 1, \dots, n-1$ and $A'_1 = A'_2 = \dots = A'_t = 0.$

To prove Proposition 4.2.1, we use the following counterpart of Lemma 3.2.2

for the *Q*-numbers of the association scheme of polar spaces.

74 Steiner systems in polar spaces

Lemma 4.2.2. Let X be the set of generators in a polar space of rank n and let $Q_k(i)$ be the corresponding Q-numbers given by (2.36). Then we have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} p^{k(n-j)} {n-k \brack n-j}_{p} \prod_{\ell=1}^{n-j} (1+p^{\ell-k+\ell}) Q_{k}(i) = |X| {n-i \brack j}_{p}$$

for all i, j = 0, 1, ..., n.

Proof. We will frequently use the identity (3.7) without specific reference in this proof.

Let $P_i(k)$ and $Q_k(i)$ be as in (2.35) and (2.36), respectively. We will prove

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{p} P_{i}(k) = p^{k(n-j)} {n-k \brack n-j}_{p} \prod_{\ell=1}^{n-j} (1+p^{\ell-k+\ell}).$$
(4.7)

By multiplying (4.7) with $Q_k(\ell)$, taking the sum over k, and using (2.8), we obtain the identity in the lemma. It remains to prove (4.7). For all i, j = 0, 1, ..., n, we have

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{p} P_{i}(k) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \sum_{\ell=0}^{i} (-1)^{\ell} {n \brack k}_{p}^{-1} {n-i \brack j}_{p} {n-i \brack k-\ell}_{p} {n \brack k}_{p} {n \brack k}_{p} {i \brack k}_{p} p^{\ell(\ell-i-e-1)+{i+1 \choose 2}+ie},$$

which becomes

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{p} P_{i}(k)$$

$$= \sum_{i=0}^{n} \sum_{\ell=0}^{i} (-1)^{\ell} {n \brack k}_{p}^{-1} {n-i \brack j}_{p} {n \brack \ell}_{p} {n-\ell \brack k-\ell}_{p} {n-k \atop i-\ell}_{p} p^{\ell(\ell-i-e-1)+{i+1 \choose 2}+ie}$$

Interchanging the order of summation by putting $m = i - \ell$ gives us

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{p} P_{i}(k)$$

= $\sum_{m=0}^{n-k} \left(\sum_{\ell=0}^{k} (-1)^{\ell} p^{\binom{\ell}{2}} {k \brack \ell}_{p} {n-m-\ell \brack j}_{p} \right) {n-k \brack m}_{p} p^{\binom{m}{2}+m(e+1)}.$ (4.8)

To evaluate the inner sum, we use the *q*-Chu-Vandermonde identity

$$\begin{bmatrix} x+y\\z \end{bmatrix}_p = \sum_{i=0}^x p^{i(y-z+i)} \begin{bmatrix} x\\i \end{bmatrix}_p \begin{bmatrix} y\\z-i \end{bmatrix}_p,$$
(4.9)

where x, y, z are integers, see [GJ83, § 2, 2.6.3(c)]. Applying the *q*-binomial inversion formula

$$\sum_{j=i}^{k} (-1)^{j-i} p^{\binom{j-i}{2}} {j \brack i}_{p} {k \brack j}_{p} = \delta_{ik}$$
(4.10)

for nonnegative integers i, k to (4.9), which can be deduced from the q-binomial theorem

$$\sum_{i=0}^{k} p^{\binom{i}{2}} {k \brack i}_{p} z^{i} = \prod_{i=0}^{k-1} (1+zp^{i})$$
(4.11)

for example, reveals that

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{x} (-1)^{\ell} p^{\binom{\ell}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} x \\ \ell \end{bmatrix}_{p} \begin{bmatrix} x-\ell+y \\ z \end{bmatrix}_{p} = p^{x(y-z+x)} \begin{bmatrix} y \\ z-x \end{bmatrix}_{p}.$$

Put x = k, y = n - k - m, and z = j to obtain

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{k} (-1)^{\ell} p^{\binom{\ell}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} k \\ \ell \end{bmatrix}_{p} \begin{bmatrix} n-m-\ell \\ j \end{bmatrix}_{p} = p^{k(n-m-j)} \begin{bmatrix} n-k-m \\ j-k \end{bmatrix}_{p}$$

Substitute into (4.8) to give

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} {\binom{n-i}{j}}_{p} P_{i}(k) = \sum_{m=0}^{n-k} p^{k(n-m-j)} {\binom{n-k-m}{j-k}}_{p} {\binom{n-k}{m}}_{p} p^{\binom{m}{2}+m(e+1)}$$
$$= \left(\sum_{m=0}^{n-j} {\binom{n-j}{m}}_{p} p^{\binom{m}{2}+m(e+1)-km} \right) p^{k(n-j)} {\binom{n-k}{j-k}}_{p}. \quad (4.12)$$

Applying the *q*-binomial theorem (4.11) to the sum on the right-hand side of (4.12) leads to the identity (4.7). \Box

We can now prove Proposition 4.2.1.

Proof of Proposition 4.2.1. From (2.17) and Lemma 4.2.2, we find that, for all $j \ge 0$,

$$\sum_{k=0}^{j} A'_{k} p^{k(n-j)} {n-k \brack n-j}_{p} \prod_{\ell=1}^{n-j} (1+p^{\ell-k+\ell}) = |X| \sum_{i=0}^{n} A_{i} {n-i \brack j}_{p}.$$
 (4.13)

Since *Y* is an (n - t + 1)-code, we have $A_0 = 1$ and $A_1 = \cdots = A_{n-t} = 0$ and therefore obtain, by setting j = t in (4.13),

$$\sum_{k=0}^{t} A'_{k} p^{k(n-t)} {n-k \brack n-t} \prod_{p \ \ell=1}^{n-t} (1+p^{\ell-k+e}) = |X| {n \brack t}$$

From $A'_0 = |Y|$, we find that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{t} A'_{k} p^{k(n-t)} {n-k \brack n-t} \prod_{p \ i=1}^{n-t} (1+p^{\ell-k+e}) = {n \brack t} \left[X | -|Y| \prod_{\ell=1}^{n-t} (1+p^{\ell+e}) \right].$$

From the expression (2.34) for |X| and the expression (4.2) for |Y|, we see that the right-hand side is zero. Since $A'_k \ge 0$ by Proposition 2.1.26, we conclude $A'_1 = A'_2 = \cdots = A'_t = 0$. Moreover, (4.13) simplifies to

$$\begin{bmatrix} n \\ j \end{bmatrix}_p \prod_{\ell=1}^{n-j} (1+p^{\ell+e})|Y| = |X| \left(\begin{bmatrix} n \\ j \end{bmatrix}_p + \sum_{i=n-t+1}^n A_i \begin{bmatrix} n-i \\ j \end{bmatrix}_p \right)$$

76 Steiner systems in polar spaces

for all j = 0, 1, ..., t - 1. Using (2.34) and the expression (4.2) for |Y| again, we obtain

$$\sum_{i=0}^{t-1} A_{n-i} \begin{bmatrix} i \\ j \end{bmatrix}_p = \begin{bmatrix} n \\ j \end{bmatrix}_p \left(\prod_{\ell=j}^{t-1} (1+p^{n-\ell+e}) - 1 \right).$$

Applying the *q*-binomial inversion formula (4.10) gives the desired expression for A_{n-i} .

We now prove (C7)–(C9). Henceforth, we denote by (A_i) and (A'_k) the inner and dual distribution, respectively, of a putative *t*-Steiner system *Y*.

Proof of (C7). We now assume that t = 2 and $\mathcal{P} = B_n$ or C_n for odd n > 3 or $\mathcal{P} = {}^2D_{n+1}$ for even n > 3. We will show that $A'_{n-1} < 0$ in the first case and $A'_n < 0$ in the second case. By (2.17) and (2.11), we have

$$\frac{A'_k}{\mu_k} = 1 + \frac{P_{n-1}(k)}{v_{n-1}} A_{n-1} + \frac{P_n(k)}{v_n} A_n$$

By Proposition 4.2.1, we have

$$A_{n-1} = q^{n-1+e} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}_q$$

and

$$A_n = (q^{n+e} + 1)(q^{n-1+e} + 1) - {n \brack 1}_q q^{n-1+e} - 1$$

From (2.35) and (2.37), we find for B_n and C_n that

$$\frac{P_{n-1}(n-1)}{v_{n-1}} = {\binom{n}{1}}_q^{-1} \left(q^{-n+1} - q^{-2n+4} {\binom{n-1}{1}}_q \right)$$

and

$$\frac{P_n(n-1)}{v_n} = q^{-2n+2},$$

and for ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$ that

$$rac{P_{n-1}(n)}{v_{n-1}} = -q^{-2n+2}$$
 and $rac{P_n(n)}{v_n} = q^{-2n}$.

Here, we have crucially used the assumed parity of *n*. For B_n and C_n , we then obtain

$$\frac{A'_{n-1}}{\mu_{n-1}} = 2 - \frac{q^n - 1}{(q-1)q^{n-1}} - \frac{1}{q^{2n-2}} - \frac{q^{n-1} - 1}{(q-1)q^{n-3}} + \frac{(q^n + 1)(q^{n-1} + 1)}{q^{2n-2}}.$$

For n > 3, we have

$$2 - \frac{q^n - 1}{(q-1)q^{n-1}} - \frac{1}{q^{2n-2}} = \frac{q^{2n-1} - 2q^{2n-2} + q^{n-1} - q + 1}{(q-1)q^{2n-2}}$$
$$< \frac{q^{2n-1} - 2q^{n+1} + q^{n-1} - q + 1}{(q-1)q^{2n-2}}$$
$$= \frac{q^{n-1} - 1}{(q-1)q^{n-3}} - \frac{(q^n + 1)(q^{n-1} + 1)}{q^{2n-2}}$$

and therefore $A'_{n-1} < 0$ if $\mathcal{P} = B_n$ or C_n , which completes the proof in the first case. For ${}^2D_{n+1}$, we obtain

$$\frac{A'_n}{\mu_n} = 1 - \frac{q^n - 1}{(q - 1)q^n} - \frac{1}{q^{2n}} - \frac{(q^n - 1)q^2}{(q - 1)q^n} + \frac{(1 + q^{n+1})(1 + q^n)}{q^{2n}}$$

For n > 2, we have

$$\begin{split} 1 - \frac{q^n - 1}{(q - 1)q^n} - \frac{1}{q^{2n}} &= \frac{q^{2n + 1} - 2q^{2n} + q^n - q + 1}{(q - 1)q^{2n}} \\ &< \frac{q^{2n + 1} - 2q^{n + 2} + q^n - q + 1}{(q - 1)q^{2n}} \\ &= \frac{(q^n - 1)q^2}{(q - 1)q^n} - \frac{(1 + q^{n + 1})(1 + q^n)}{q^{2n}}, \end{split}$$

and therefore $A'_n < 0$ in the case $\mathcal{P} = {}^2D_{n+1}$. This completes the proof. \Box *Proof of (C8).* We now assume $\mathcal{P} = {}^2D_{n+1}$ for t = 3 and even n > 4. As in (C7) we compute

$$\frac{A_{n-1}'(q-1)^2(q+1)}{2\mu_{n-1}} = -q(q+1)(1-q^{2-n})(1-q^{4-n}) + q^{5-3n}(1+q^{-2}),$$

from which it is readily verified that $A'_{n-1} < 0$, as required.

Proof of (*C*9). As in (C7) we compute the following. For $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}D_{8}$ and t = 4, we have

$$\frac{A_6'}{\mu_6} = -2q^{-5}(q+1)^2(q^2+1)(q^3+q+1) < 0,$$

for ${}^{2}D_{9}$ and t = 5, we have

$$\frac{A'_{7}}{\mu_{7}} = -2q^{-5}(q+1)^{4}(q^{2}-q+1)(q^{2}+1)^{2} < 0,$$

and for ${}^{2}A_{12}$ and t = 3, we have

$$\frac{A_5'}{\mu_5} = -q^{-7}(q+1)^3(q^2-q+1)(q^4-q^3+q^2+1) < 0.$$

In all cases, we obtain the required nonexistence of *t*-Steiner systems. \Box

This completes the proof of Theorem 4.1.1.

4.3 Open problems

We close this chapter by discussing some open problems that are related to Steiner systems in polar spaces.

Problem 4.3.1. Prove Conjecture 4.1.2.

This conjecture is true if there are no *t*-Steiner systems in ${}^{2}A_{2n}$ and ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$ in the case t = n - 1 and $q \ge 3$, and in the case t = 2 and odd *n*. For the first case, recall from the proof of (C1) in Section 4.2 that an (n - 1)-Steiner system in a polar space of rank *n* induces a 2-Steiner system in a polar space of the same type of rank 3, or a 1-Steiner system, hence a spread, in rank 2. Thus, showing the nonexistence of spreads in ${}^{2}A_{4}$ and ${}^{2}D_{3}$ for $q \ge 3$ could prove the conjecture. However, for ${}^{2}D_{3}$ and all $q \ge 2$, there always exists a spread, whereas nothing is known for ${}^{2}A_{4}$ with $q \ge 3$. Similarly, for the second case, a 2-Steiner system in odd rank *n* induces a spread in even rank n - 1. The existence question for spreads in a general rank in ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$ and ${}^{2}A_{2n}$ is also not completely settled yet, see [HT16, § 7.4 and 7.5]. The case ${}^{2}A_{2n}$ with $q \ge 3$ is the most important open case concerning spreads in polar spaces since only the special case ${}^{2}A_{4}$ with q = 2 has been solved so far.

Problem 4.3.1 is also related to the existence of strongly regular graphs with specific parameters. Namely, a putative 2-Steiner system *Y* in rank 3 is a 2-design and a 2-code and, by Proposition 2.1.29, it induces a symmetric association scheme with two classes and hence a strongly regular graph.

Problem 4.3.2. *Do nontrivial t-designs in polar spaces exist for all* $t \ge 2$?

A t- (v, n, λ) design over \mathbb{F}_q is a collection Y of n-subspaces of \mathbb{F}_q^v such that every t-subspace of \mathbb{F}_q^v lies in exactly λ members of Y. These are precisely the t-designs in the q-Johnson scheme. Using a probabilistic argument, it was shown in [FLV14] that t-designs over \mathbb{F}_q exist for all t and q if n > 12(t + 1)and v is sufficiently large. The definition of a design over \mathbb{F}_q can be extended to polar spaces: a t- (v, n, λ) design in a polar space \mathcal{P} of rank n is a collection of generators of \mathcal{P} such that every t-space of \mathcal{P} lies in exactly λ members of Y. Nontrivial designs in polar spaces were recently found by computer constructions in [Lan20] and by Kiermaier, Schmidt, Wassermann, which was announced in [Was]. See also [Cos+22] for more information on designs in polar spaces. However, a general existence result for designs in polar spaces is presently not known.

Problem 4.3.3. Let \mathcal{P} be a polar space of rank n, and let k, t be integers with $1 \le t < k < n$. Do collections Y of k-spaces in \mathcal{P} exist such that every t-space in \mathcal{P} lies in exactly one member of Y?

Such collections *Y* can be seen as a generalization of a *t*-Steiner system in a polar space. This problem is related to Problem 3.4.4

Problem 4.3.4. Do nontrivial t-Steiner systems over \mathbb{F}_q exist for all $t \geq 2$?

Recall from Section 4.1 that so far, nontrivial *t*-Steiner systems over \mathbb{F}_q , which are designs in the *q*-Johnson scheme, are only known for a single set of parameters. In the case of *t*-Steiner systems in the Johnson scheme, the existence question was open for over 150 years and has been only settled recently in [Kee14] and [Glo+16]. It would be interesting to see whether the methods from these papers could be modified for the *q*-analog case. However, this is certainly a very challenging problem and the methods applied in these two papers are way out of scope of this thesis.

CHAPTER 5

Optimal solution of the linear program

I can see that, without being excited, mathematics can look pointless and cold. —Maryam Mirzakhani

This chapter focuses on Delsarte's linear program for codes in various classical association schemes. We will derive the LP optimum in the bilinear forms scheme, Hermitian forms scheme, and alternating bilinear forms scheme as well as in several ordinary *q*-analogs. This is done by using the duality theory of linear programming.

5.1 Introduction

It is well known that Delsarte's linear programming method, which was introduced in Section 2.2, yields asymptotically optimal bounds in many association schemes. In particular, the best known asymptotic bound for codes in the binary Hamming scheme H(n, 2) and in the Johnson scheme J(n, m) arises from Delsarte's linear program (2.20), see [McE+77]. However, even though the linear program for *d*-codes in H(n,q) and J(n,m) has been studied since the 1970s no explicit expression for the LP optimum is known so far except for the special case that $q \ge \max\{d, n - d + 2\}$ for H(n, q), see [Del73, § 4.3.2]. For the bilinear forms scheme, Hermitian forms scheme, and alternating bilinear forms scheme, Delsarte's linear program was used to derive bounds that are sharp in most cases implying that in these respective cases, the bounds are precisely the LP optima, see [Del78a], [DG75], and [Sch18]. For the ordinary *q*-analogs, nothing was known about the LP optimum so far. Here, we will give an explicit expression for the LP optimum for codes in several classical association schemes. We will see that these LP optima are sharp up to a constant factor in most cases.

The main result of this chapter is the following theorem. Recall the definition of the parameters b and c from (2.51).

Theorem 5.1.1.

(a) Let X be the set of n-spaces in $J_q(n,m)$ or generators in ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ or $\frac{1}{2}D_m$, where $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the case of $\frac{1}{2}D_m$. Then the LP optimum for d-codes with $1 \le d \le n$ in $J_q(n,m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ is given by

$$LP(d) = \frac{|X|(q)_{d-1}}{(qcb^n)_{d-1}},$$
(5.1)

where *d* is required to be odd in the case of ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$. For even *d* with $2 \le d \le n$, the LP optimum for *d*-codes in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ is given by

$$LP(d) = \frac{|X|(q)_{d-1}}{(qcb^n)_{d-1}} \frac{(b^{n-d+2}-1) + q\frac{b^{n+d-2}-1}{qb^{d-2}-1}(b^{n-d+1}-1)}{(b^{n-d+2}-1) + q\frac{b^{n+d-2}-1}{b^{n+d-1}-1}(b^{n-d+1}-1)}.$$
 (5.2)

Moreover, both LP optima (5.1) *and* (5.2) *also hold for association schemes* with the same *P*- and *Q*-numbers as $J_q(n,m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$.

(b) The LP optimum for d-codes with $1 \le d \le n$ in $\operatorname{Bil}_q(n,m)$, $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$, and $\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$ is given by

$$LP(d) = (cb^n)^{n-d+1},$$
 (5.3)

where *d* is required to be odd in the case of $\text{Her}_q(n)$ and $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the case of $\text{Alt}_q(m)$. For even *d* with $2 \le d \le n$, the LP optimum for *d*-codes in $\text{Her}_q(n)$ is given by

$$LP(d) = (cb^{n})^{n-d+1} \frac{(b^{n-d+2}-1) + b^{n}(b^{n-d+1}-1)}{b^{n-d+2} - b^{n-d+1}}.$$
 (5.4)

Observe that the LP optima in Theorem 5.1.1(a) are exactly the bounds we obtained in Chapter 3. In particular, we want to emphasize that for $J_q(n, m)$, the LP optimum is the well-known Singleton bound

$$LP(d) = \frac{\binom{m+n}{n-d+1}_{q}}{\binom{n}{n-d+1}_{q}},$$

see p. 54 for more information on this bound. Moreover, it was known that (5.3) and (5.4) are upper bounds for the size of *d*-codes in $\text{Bil}_q(n, m)$, $\text{Her}_q(n)$, and $\text{Alt}_q(m)$. Namely, they are also the Singleton bounds, which were derived by using Delsarte's linear program in [Del78a], [DG75], and [Sch18]. Therefore, it seems reasonable to use a similar approach for the six polar space schemes to obtain some kind of a Singleton bound. This is done in Proposition 5.1.2, where we derive an upper bound for *d*-codes in all six polar space schemes with

respect to the standard ordering by using a Singleton polynomial together with Theorem 2.2.6. Moreover, we also give a purely combinatorial proof of Proposition 5.1.2. It will turn out that the bound therein is precisely the number of elements in a Steiner system. Since we showed in Chapter 4 that Steiner systems cannot exist in most cases, the bound of Proposition 5.1.2 is weaker than the one in Corollary 3.2.4 in most cases, motivating our approach to study ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ with respect to the second ordering and $\frac{1}{2}D_{m}$.

Proposition 5.1.2. *Let* \mathcal{P} *be a polar space of rank n with parameter e and let* Y *be a d-code in* \mathcal{P} *with* $1 \leq d \leq n$ *. Then we have*

$$|Y| \leq \prod_{i=0}^{n-d} (1+p^{n-i+e}).$$

Algebraic proof of Proposition 5.1.2. Let X be the set of generators in \mathcal{P} , let $P_i(k)$ be the *P*-numbers of the corresponding association scheme given in (2.35) and consider the standard ordering of the *Q*-polynomial structure. We apply Theorem 2.2.6 with the Singleton polynomial

$$F(z) = \begin{bmatrix} n \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_p \prod_{j=d}^n p^j \frac{z-z_j}{p^j-1},$$

where $z_j = p^{-j}$. Then we have $F(z_i) = 0$ for all i = d, d + 1, ..., n and we also obtain

$$F(z_i) = \begin{bmatrix} n \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_p \prod_{j=d}^n p^j \frac{p^{-i} - p^{-j}}{p^j - 1} = \begin{bmatrix} n-i \\ n-d+1 \end{bmatrix}_p$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n. By using (2.23) and (4.7), we have

$$F_{k} = \frac{1}{|X|} \sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack n-d+1}_{p} P_{i}(k) = \frac{1}{|X|} p^{k(d-1)} {n-k \brack d-1}_{p} \prod_{i=1}^{d-1} (1+p^{\ell-k+e}).$$

Hence, it holds $F_k \ge 0$ for all k = 0, 1, ..., n. The polynomial F/F_0 thus satisfies all conditions of Theorem 2.2.6 giving the desired bound by using (2.34).

Combinatorial proof of Proposition 5.1.2. Every element of the *d*-code *Y* contains exactly $\begin{bmatrix} n \\ n-d+1 \end{bmatrix}_p$ totally isotropic subspaces of dimension n - d + 1. A given (n - d + 1)-space in \mathcal{P} is contained in at most one element of *Y* since otherwise there would exist distinct $x, y \in Y$ such that $n - \dim(x \cap y) \leq d - 1$, contradicting to *Y* being a *d*-code. By (4.1), the number of (n - d + 1)-spaces in \mathcal{P} is

$$\binom{n}{n-d+1}_p \prod_{i=0}^{n-d} (1+p^{n-i+e}).$$

Therefore, we have

$$|Y| \le \frac{{\binom{n}{n-d+1}}_p \prod_{i=0}^{n-d} (1+p^{n-i+e})}{{\binom{n}{n-d+1}}_p} = \prod_{i=0}^{n-d} (1+p^{n-i+e}),$$

as stated.

Theorem 5.1.1 also gives the LP optimum in B_n , C_n , and D_n in the following way. First, recall from Section 2.3.2 (see p. 46) that B_n and C_n induce new association schemes with the classes

$$R_0, R_1 \cup R_2, R_3 \cup R_4, \ldots,$$

which have the same *P*- and *Q*-numbers as $\frac{1}{2}D_{n+1}$. Therefore, without loss of generality for odd *d*, we can study the linear program for $\frac{d+1}{2}$ -codes in $\frac{1}{2}D_{n+1}$ instead of the linear program for *d*-codes in B_n and C_n . Second for even *d*, by Proposition 3.2.3, we can require without loss of generality that the inner distribution (A_0, A_1, \ldots, A_n) of a *d*-code in D_n satisfies $A_i = 0$ for all odd *i*. Thus, without loss of generality for even *d*, we can add this constraint to the linear program (2.20) for *d*-codes in D_n and can study the linear program for $\frac{d}{2}$ -codes in $\frac{1}{2}D_n$ instead. These observations imply the following corollary from Theorem 5.1.1.

Corollary 5.1.3.

(a) Let X be the set of generators in B_n or C_n . Assume that d is odd with $1 \le d \le n$. Then the LP optimum for d-codes in C_n and B_n is given by

$$LP(d) = \begin{cases} |X| \prod_{i=1}^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \frac{1-q^{2i-1}}{1-q^{n+2i-1}} & \text{for odd } n\\ |X| \prod_{i=1}^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \frac{1-q^{2i-1}}{1-q^{n+2i}} & \text{for even } n. \end{cases}$$
(5.5)

(b) Let X be the set of generators in D_n . Assume that d is even with $2 \le d \le n$. Then the LP optimum for d-codes in D_n is given by

$$\mathrm{LP}(d) = \begin{cases} \frac{|X|}{2} \prod_{i=1}^{\frac{d}{2}-1} \frac{1-q^{2i-1}}{1-q^{n+2i-1}} & \text{for odd } n \\ \frac{|X|}{2} \prod_{i=1}^{\frac{d}{2}-1} \frac{1-q^{2i-1}}{1-q^{n+2i-2}} & \text{for even } n \end{cases}$$

We pose the following conjecture that the bound from Corollary 3.2.4(d) for D_n is precisely the LP optimum if n is odd. This was checked with a computer for many small values of q, n, and d.

Conjecture 5.1.4. *Let X be the set of generators in* D_n *. Assume that n and d are odd integers with* $1 \le d \le n$ *. Then the LP optimum for d-codes in* D_n *is given by*

$$LP(d) = |X| \prod_{i=1}^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \frac{1 - q^{2i-1}}{1 - q^{n+2i-1}}.$$

Observe that the LP optima in Corollary 5.1.3 and in Conjecture 5.1.4 are exactly the bounds we obtained in Chapter 3.

We will see in the next remark that there is a nice similarity between the LP optimum in the ordinary *q*-analogs and their affine counterparts.

Remark 5.1.5. The LP optimum (5.3) can also be written as

$$\mathrm{LP}(d) = \frac{|X|}{(cb^n)^{d-1}},$$

where |X| is the number of matrices in the corresponding association scheme $\text{Bil}_q(n, m)$, $\text{Her}_q(n)$, and $\text{Alt}_q(m)$ with

$$|X| = (cb^n)^n. (5.6)$$

We can then write (5.1) and (5.3) as

$$LP(d) = |X| \prod_{\ell=0}^{d-2} \frac{qb^{\ell} - 1}{qcb^{n+\ell} - 1}$$
(5.7)
$$LP(d) = |X| \prod_{\ell=0}^{d-2} \frac{qb^{\ell}}{qcb^{n+\ell}},$$

respectively. If we neglect the ones in the fractions of the right-hand side in (5.7), then both LP optima have the same form. This resemblance also occurs in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and $\operatorname{Her}_{q}(n)$ for even *d* by neglecting some ones in the long fraction appearing in (5.2) in a similar way.

In [Sch10] and [Sch15], it was shown that a *d*-code *Y* in the association scheme $\text{Sym}_q(n)$ of symmetric $n \times n$ matrices over \mathbb{F}_q with odd *d*, which means that rank $(x - y) \ge d$ for all distinct $x, y \in Y$, satisfies

$$|Y| \le \begin{cases} |X|q^{-n(d-1)/2} & \text{for odd } n\\ |X|q^{-(n+1)(d-1)/2} & \text{for even } n \end{cases}$$

with $|X| = q^{n(n+1)/2}$. Since these bounds are sharp and were proved by using Delsarte's linear programming method, they are precisely the LP optimum for *d*-codes in Sym_q(n) if *d* is odd. Observe that we again have a nice resemblance to the LP optimum in C_n by neglecting the minus ones in the fractions occurring in (5.5).

Since it was known that (5.3) and (5.4) are upper bounds for the size of d-codes in Bil_q(n, m), Her_q(n), and Alt_q(m) that were derived by using Delsarte's linear program in [Del78a], [DG75], and [Sch18] and moreover, sharp constructions were given in the aforementioned papers except for Alt_q(m) if m is even and q is odd and for Her_q(n) if d is even, the LP optimum (5.3) was basically known, except in the latter cases. Here, we derive the LP optimum for Bil_q(n, m), Her_q(n), and Alt_q(m) without using the known constructions. In particular, we obtain as a new result the LP optimum in the case of Alt_q(m) with even m and odd q and in the case of Her_q(n) with even d. We note that

for the latter case, it was conjectured in [Sch18] that (5.4) is precisely the LP optimum.

We already saw in Section 3.3 that the LP optimum (5.1) is reached up to a constant factor for ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and $\frac{1}{2}D_{m}$ except possibly when *m* is even and *q* is odd in the case of $\frac{1}{2}D_{m}$. It is well known that the Singleton bound—and thus the LP optimum—for $J_{q}(n,m)$ is also reached up to a constant factor, see [SKK08, § IV.A.]. Moreover, a *d*-code *Y* in $J_{q}(n,m)$ is of size (5.1) if and only if *Y* is an (n - d + 1)-Steiner system over \mathbb{F}_{q} .

Proof strategy for Theorem 5.1.1. The proof of Theorem 5.1.1 is split into two parts. First, in Section 5.2, we will give a feasible solution of the dual LP (2.21) whose objective function value coincides with (5.1), (5.2), (5.3), or (5.4). Second, in Section 5.3, we will compute the inner distribution of a *d*-code whose size is precisely the stated LP optimum in Theorem 5.1.1 and show that the inner distribution is a feasible solution of the primal LP (2.20). The Strong duality theorem 2.2.2 then proves Theorem 5.1.1.

At the end of this chapter, we will discuss some related open problems in Section 5.4.

We close this section by stating some preliminaries that are needed for the proof of Theorem 5.1.1.

Identities for the *P***- and** *Q***-numbers.** Crucial for the proofs in Section 5.2 and 5.3 are the following identities for the *P*-numbers in the studied classical association schemes.

• Recall from (3.8) that the *P*-numbers (2.52) of $J_q(n, m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ satisfy

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{b} P'_{i}(k) = b^{k(n-j)} {n-k \brack n-j}_{b} \frac{(qcb^{n-k})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}}$$
(5.8)

for all j, k = 0, 1, ..., n, where $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the case of $\frac{1}{2}D_m$.

• The *P*-numbers (2.47) of $Bil_q(n, m)$, $Her_q(n)$, and $Alt_q(m)$ satisfy

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{b} P_i(k) = {n-k \brack n-j}_{b} (cb^n)^{n-j}$$
(5.9)

for all j, k = 0, 1, ..., n, where $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the case of $Alt_q(m)$. This follows by using the *P*-numbers (2.47) and the *q*-binomial inversion formula of the form

$$\sum_{j=i}^{k} (-1)^{k-j} b^{\binom{k-j}{2}} {j \brack i}_{b} {k \brack j}_{b} = \delta_{ik}.$$
(5.10)

The identities (5.8) and (5.9) can be also written as

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{b} P'_{i}(k) = {n-k \brack n-j}_{b} \prod_{\ell=0}^{n-j-1} b^{k} \frac{qcb^{n-k+\ell}-1}{qb^{\ell}-1}$$
$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{b} P_{i}(k) = {n-k \brack n-j}_{b} \prod_{\ell=0}^{n-j-1} \frac{qcb^{n+\ell}}{qb^{\ell}}.$$

We have a similar resemblance between these identities as for the corresponding LP optima: by neglecting the ones in the fractions of the first identity, the terms on the right-hand side of both identities become the same.

Finally, for the sake of convenience, we rewrite the inequality (3.19) as

$$\frac{y-1}{x-1} \ge \frac{y}{x}$$
 for $y \ge x > 1$. (5.11)

5.2 Feasible solution of the dual LP

In this section, we will apply Theorem 2.2.6 together with a suitable Singleton polynomial or variations of it to construct a feasible solution of the dual LP (2.21) for the ordinary *q*-analogs $J_q(n,m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ as well as for the affine *q*-analogs $\text{Bil}_q(n,m)$, $\text{Her}_q(n)$, and $\text{Alt}_q(m)$. We start with the latter three. Recall from (2.47) that $\text{Bil}_q(n,m)$, $\text{Her}_q(n)$, and $\text{Alt}_q(m)$ are Q-polynomial with $z_i = b^{-i}$.

Proposition 5.2.1. There exists a feasible solution of the dual LP (2.21) for d-codes in $\operatorname{Bil}_q(n,m)$, $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$, and $\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$ with objective function value (5.3) for $1 \le d \le n$, where d is required to be odd in the case of $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$ and $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the case of $\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$.

Proof. Let $P_i(k)$ be given in (2.47). Take the Singleton polynomial

$$F(z) = (cb^{n})^{n-d+1} {n \brack d-1}_{b} \prod_{j=d}^{n} b^{j} \frac{z-z_{j}}{b^{j}-1}$$

with $z_j = b^{-j}$. Then we have $F(z_i) = 0$ for all i = d, d + 1, ..., n. Moreover, we obtain

$$F(z_i) = (cb^n)^{n-d+1} {n \brack d-1}_b \prod_{j=d}^n b^j \frac{b^{-i} - b^{-j}}{b^j - 1} = (cb^n)^{n-d+1} {n-i \brack n-d+1}_b$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n. Together with (2.23), (5.6), and (5.9), we have

$$F_{k} = \frac{(cb^{n})^{n-d+1}}{(cb^{n})^{n}} \sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack n-d+1}_{b} P_{i}(k) = {n-k \brack d-1}_{b}$$

Observe that in the case of $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$, the sign of $\begin{bmatrix} n-k \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_b$ is $(-1)^{(d-1)(n-k+d-1)} = 1$ since *d* is odd. We thus obtain $F_k \ge 0$ for all $k = 0, 1, \ldots, n$. Therefore, the

polynomial F/F_0 satisfies all conditions of Theorem 2.2.6 with

$$\frac{F(z_0)}{F_0} = (cb^n)^{n-d+1},$$

which implies the stated result.

We now look at $\text{Her}_q(n)$ with even *d* and proceed similarly as in Proposition 5.2.1, but we take a linear combination of two Singleton polynomials instead of just one Singleton polynomial.

Proposition 5.2.2. Let *n* and *d* be integers with $2 \le d \le n$ and even *d*. Then there exists a feasible solution of the dual LP (2.21) for *d*-codes in Her_q(*n*) with objective function value (5.4).

Proof. Take

$$F(z) = \begin{bmatrix} n-1\\ d-2 \end{bmatrix}_b \beta_1(z) - \begin{bmatrix} n-1\\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_b \beta_2(z)$$

with

$$\beta_1(z) = q^{n(n-d+1)} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_b \prod_{j=d}^n b^j \frac{z-z_j}{b^j-1}$$
$$\beta_2(z) = (-1)^{n+1} q^{n(n-d+2)} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ d-2 \end{bmatrix}_b \prod_{j=d-1}^n b^j \frac{z-z_j}{b^j-1},$$

where $z_j = b^{-j}$. We then have $F(z_i) = 0$ for all i = d, d + 1, ..., n and also obtain

$$\beta_1(z_i) = q^{n(n-d+1)} {n-i \brack n-d+1}_b$$

$$\beta_2(z_i) = (-1)^{n+1} q^{n(n-d+2)} {n-i \brack n-d+2}_b$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n. This gives

$$F(z_i) = q^{n(n-d+1)} {\binom{n-1}{d-2}}_b {\binom{n-i}{n-d+1}}_b + (-1)^n q^{n(n-d+2)} {\binom{n-1}{d-1}}_b {\binom{n-i}{n-d+2}}_b$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n. From (2.23), (5.6), and (5.9), we find

$$F_{k} = (-1)^{n+1} \left(\begin{bmatrix} n-1\\ d-2 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} n-k\\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} - \begin{bmatrix} n-1\\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} n-k\\ d-2 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \right)$$

The sign of $\binom{n-1}{d-2}_b \binom{n-k}{d-1}_b$ and $\binom{n-1}{d-1}_b \binom{n-k}{d-2}_b$ is $(-1)^{n-k+1}$ and $(-1)^n$, respectively, which gives

$$F_{k} = (-1)^{k} \left| \begin{bmatrix} n-1\\ d-2 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} n-k\\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \right| + \left| \begin{bmatrix} n-1\\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} n-k\\ d-2 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \right|.$$

For even k, we immediately have $F_k \ge 0$. For k = 1, we obtain $F_1 = 0$ and for all odd $k \ge 3$, we have

$$\left|\frac{\binom{n-1}{d-1}\binom{n-k}{d-2}_b}{\binom{n-1}{d-2}_b\binom{n-k}{d-1}_b}\right| = \left|\frac{(-q)^{n-d+1}-1}{(-q)^{n-k-d+2}-1}\right| \ge \frac{q^{n-d+1}-1}{q^{n-k-d+2}+1} \ge 1$$

Hence, we obtain $F_k \ge 0$ for all k = 0, 1, ..., n. Therefore, the polynomial F/F_0 satisfies all conditions of Theorem 2.2.6 with

$$\frac{F(z_0)}{F_0} = \frac{q^{n(n-d+1)} \left({\binom{n-1}{d-2}}_{b} {\binom{n}{d-1}}_{b} + b^{n} {\binom{n-1}{d-1}}_{b} {\binom{n}{d-2}}_{b} \right)}{(-1)^{n+1} \left({\binom{n-1}{d-2}}_{b} - {\binom{n-1}{d-1}}_{b} {\binom{n}{d-2}}_{b} \right)}.$$

After some elementary manipulations, this gives the stated objective function value and thus proves the proposition. $\hfill \Box$

We will now look at the ordinary *q*-analogs $J_q(n,m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ and again use Theorem 2.2.6 with a Singleton polynomial. Similarly to $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$, we will distinguish between even and odd *d* in the case of ${}^2A_{2n-1}$. Recall from (2.53) that the association schemes $J_q(n,m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ are *Q*-polynomial with $z_i = b^{-i}$, where we take the second ordering for ${}^2A_{2n-1}$.

Proposition 5.2.3. Let X be the set of n-spaces in $J_q(n,m)$ or generators in ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ or $\frac{1}{2}D_m$, where $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the case of $\frac{1}{2}D_m$. Then there exists a feasible solution of the dual LP (2.21) for d-codes in $J_q(n,m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ with objective function value (5.1) for $1 \le d \le n$, where d is required to be odd in the case of ${}^2A_{2n-1}$.

Proof. Let $P'_i(k)$ be given in (2.52). Take the Singleton polynomial

$$F(z) = \begin{bmatrix} n \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \prod_{j=d}^{n} b^{j} \frac{z-z_{j}}{b^{j}-1}$$

with $z_j = b^{-j}$. This gives $F(z_i) = 0$ for all i = d, d + 1, ..., n and

$$F(z_i) = \begin{bmatrix} n \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_b \prod_{j=d}^n b^j \frac{b^{-i} - b^{-j}}{b^j - 1} = \begin{bmatrix} n-i \\ n-d+1 \end{bmatrix}_b$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n. From (2.23) and (3.8), we find that

$$F_{k} = \frac{1}{|X|} \sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \choose n-d+1}_{b} P'_{i}(k) = \frac{1}{|X|} b^{k(d-1)} {n-k \choose d-1}_{b} \frac{(qcb^{n-k})_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-1}}.$$

For $J_q(n,m)$ (since $m \ge k$) and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$, we see that

$$\frac{(qcb^{n-k})_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-1}} \ge 0$$

and thus, we have $F_k \ge 0$ for all k = 0, 1, ..., n. For ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, the sign of

$$\frac{(qcb^{n-k})_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-1}} = \frac{((-q)^{n-k+1}; -q)_{d-1}}{(q; -q)_{d-1}}$$

is $(-1)^{(n-k+1)(d-1)}$ and $\begin{bmatrix} n-k \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_b$ has the sign $(-1)^{(d-1)(n-k-d+1)}$. Since *d* is odd for ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, we also obtain $F_k \ge 0$ for all k = 0, 1, ..., n. Therefore, the polynomial F/F_0 satisfies all conditions of Theorem 2.2.6 with

$$\frac{F(z_0)}{F_0} = \frac{|X|(q)_{d-1}}{(qcb^n)_{d-1}}.$$

This concludes the proof.

It remains to look at ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ with even d, where we take a linear combination of two Singleton polynomials like in the proof of Proposition 5.2.2 for $\text{Her}_{q}(n)$ with even d.

Proposition 5.2.4. Let X be the set of generators in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and let d be an even integer with $2 \le d \le n$. Then there exists a feasible solution of the dual LP (2.21) for d-codes in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ with objective function value (5.2).

Proof. Take

$$F(z) = \begin{bmatrix} n-1\\ d-2 \end{bmatrix}_b \beta_1(z) - \begin{bmatrix} n-1\\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_b \beta_2(z)$$

with

$$\beta_{1}(z) = \begin{bmatrix} n \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \prod_{j=d}^{n} b^{j} \frac{z-z_{j}}{b^{j}-1}$$
$$\beta_{2}(z) = b \frac{(b^{n+d-2}-1)}{(qb^{d-2}-1)} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ d-2 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \prod_{j=d-1}^{n} b^{j} \frac{z-z_{j}}{b^{j}-1},$$

where $z_j = b^{-j}$. We then obtain $F(z_i) = 0$ for all i = d, d + 1, ..., n. Moreover, we have

$$\beta_1(z_i) = \begin{bmatrix} n-i\\ n-d+1 \end{bmatrix}_b$$

$$\beta_2(z_i) = b \frac{(b^{n+d-2}-1)}{(qb^{d-2}-1)} \begin{bmatrix} n-i\\ n-d+2 \end{bmatrix}_b$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n. Therefore, we find

$$F(z_i) = {\binom{n-1}{d-2}}_{b} {\binom{n-i}{n-d+1}}_{b} - b \frac{(b^{n+d-2}-1)}{(qb^{d-2}-1)} {\binom{n-1}{d-1}}_{b} {\binom{n-i}{n-d+2}}_{b}$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n. Using (2.23) and (3.8) gives

$$F_{k} = \frac{1}{|X|} \left(b^{k(d-1)} \frac{(b^{n-k+1})_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-1}} \begin{bmatrix} n-1\\d-2 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} n-k\\d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} - b^{k(d-2)+1} \frac{(b^{n+d-2}-1)}{(qb^{d-2}-1)} \frac{(b^{n-k+1})_{d-2}}{(q)_{d-2}} \begin{bmatrix} n-1\\d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} n-k\\d-2 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \right).$$

Since the sign of $\begin{bmatrix} m \\ \ell \end{bmatrix}_b$ and $(b^m)_{\ell}/(q)_{\ell}$ is $(-1)^{\ell(m-\ell)}$ and $(-1)^{m\ell}$, respectively, we obtain

$$F_{k} = \frac{1}{|X|} \left((-1)^{k} \left| b^{k(d-1)} \frac{(b^{n-k+1})_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-1}} \begin{bmatrix} n-1\\d-2 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} n-k\\d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \right| + \left| b^{k(d-2)+1} \frac{(b^{n+d-2}-1)}{(qb^{d-2}-1)} \frac{(b^{n-k+1})_{d-2}}{(q)_{d-2}} \begin{bmatrix} n-1\\d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} n-k\\d-2 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \right| \right).$$

We have $F_k \ge 0$ for all even *k*. Assume that *k* is odd. This gives

$$\begin{split} & \left| \frac{b^{k(d-2)+1} \frac{(b^{n+d-2}-1)}{(qb^{d-2}-1)} \frac{(b^{n-k+1})_{d-2}}{(q)_{d-2}} {n-1 \brack d-1}_{b} {n-k \brack d-2}_{l}}{b^{k(d-1)} \frac{(b^{n-k+1})_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-1}} {n-1 \brack d-2}_{b} {n-k \brack d-1}_{b}} \right| \\ & = \left| \frac{b^{-k+1} (b^{n+d-2}-1) (b^{n-d+1}-1)}{(b^{n-k+d-1}-1) (b^{n-k-d+2}-1)} \right|. \end{split}$$

For k = 1, this becomes 1 and for $k \ge 3$, it can be bounded from below by

$$q^{-k+1} \frac{(q^{n+d-2}+1)(q^{n-d+1}-1)}{(q^{n-k+d-1}-1)(q^{n-k-d+2}+1)} \ge 1$$

Hence, we also have $F_k \ge 0$ for all odd k. Thus, the polynomial F/F_0 satisfies all conditions of Theorem 2.2.6 with

$$\frac{F(z_0)}{F_0} = \frac{\binom{n-1}{d-2}_b \binom{n}{d-1}_b - b \frac{(b^{n+d-2}-1)}{(qb^{d-2}-1)} \binom{n-1}{d-1}_b \binom{n}{d-2}_b}{\frac{1}{|X|} \left(\frac{(b^{n+1})_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-1}} \binom{n-1}{d-2}_b \binom{n}{d-1}_b - b \frac{(b^{n+d-2}-1)}{(qb^{d-2}-1)} \frac{(b^{n+1})_{d-2}}{(q)_{d-2}} \binom{n-1}{d-1}_b \binom{n}{d-2}_b\right)}.$$

After some elementary manipulations, this gives the stated objective function value and thus proves the proposition. $\hfill \Box$

5.3 Feasible solution of the primal LP

The goal of this section is to show the existence of a feasible solution of the primal LP (2.20) whose objective function value equals the stated LP optimum in Theorem 5.1.1 for the affine *q*-analogs $\text{Bil}_q(n,m)$, $\text{Her}_q(n)$, $\text{Alt}_q(m)$, and for the ordinary *q*-analogs $J_q(n,m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, $\frac{1}{2}D_m$. The strategy is to first compute the inner and dual distribution of a code whose size equals the respective stated LP optimum in Theorem 5.1.1. Afterwards, we will show that these distributions are nonnegative and therefore, the inner distribution (A_i) is a feasible solution of the primal LP (2.20) such that its objective function value—the sum of the entries A_i —is precisely the stated LP optimum in Theorem 5.1.1.

This is done in Section 5.3.1 and 5.3.2 for the affine and ordinary *q*-analogs, respectively, where *d* is required to be odd for $\text{Her}_q(n)$ and ${}^2A_{2n-1}$. The case *d* even in the latter two association schemes is treated separately in Section 5.3.3 and 5.3.4.

5.3.1 Affine *q*-analogs

In this subsection, we will prove the existence of a feasible solution of the primal LP (2.20) for $\operatorname{Bil}_q(n,m)$, $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$, and $\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$, where *d* is required to be odd in the case of $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$. In all these three cases, the inner distribution of a code whose size equals (5.3) was computed in [Del78a], [DG75], and [Sch18]. Moreover, it was shown therein that a *d*-code of size (5.3) is an (n - d + 1)-design. Here, we use these results to determine the corresponding dual distributions and show that both distributions are nonnegative implying that the inner distribution is a feasible solution of the primal LP (2.20). It actually suffices to look at $\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$ with even *m* and odd *q* since for all the other cases, there are known constructions of codes in $\operatorname{Bil}_q(n,m)$, $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$, and $\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$ whose sizes equal the respective stated LP optimum (5.3), see [Del78a], [DG75], and [Sch18]. Nevertheless, we will give a proof for the nonnegativity of the inner and dual distributions without using the known constructions. The case of $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$ with even *d* is handled in Section 5.3.3.

The main result of this subsection is the following proposition.

Proposition 5.3.1. There exists a feasible solution of the primal LP (2.20) for d-codes with $1 \le d \le n$ in $\operatorname{Bil}_q(n,m)$, $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$, and $\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$ with objective function value (5.3), where d is required to be odd in the case of $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$ and $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the case of $\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$.

Observe that Proposition 5.3.1 and 5.2.1 together with the Strong duality theorem 2.2.2 imply the first part of Theorem 5.1.1(b).

To prove Proposition 5.3.1, we first derive the dual distribution of a code of size (5.3) by using the inner distribution that was computed in [Del78a], [DG75], and [Sch18].

Proposition 5.3.2. Let *Y* be a *d*-code with $1 \le d \le n$ in $\text{Bil}_q(n, m)$, $\text{Her}_q(n)$, or $\text{Alt}_q(m)$ of size (5.3), where *d* is required to be odd in the case of $\text{Her}_q(n)$ and $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the case of $\text{Alt}_q(m)$. Then the inner distribution (A_i) of *Y* satisfies

$$A_{n-i} = \sum_{j=i}^{n-d} (-1)^{j-i} b^{\binom{j-i}{2}} {j \brack i}_{b} {n \choose j}_{b} ((cb^{n})^{n-d+1-j} - 1)$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - 1, and the dual distribution (A'_k) of Y satisfies

$$A'_{n-i} = (cb^n)^{n-d+1} \sum_{j=i}^{d-2} (-1)^{j-i} b^{\binom{j-i}{2}} {j \brack i}_b {n \brack j}_b ((cb^n)^{d-1-j} - 1)$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - 1. In particular, Y is an (n - d + 1)-design.

Proof. Let (A_i) and (A'_k) be the inner and dual distribution of Y, respectively. Then (A_i) was determined in [Del78a, Theorem 5.6], [DG75, Theorem 4],

and [Sch18, Theorem 3] and moreover, it was shown that *Y* is an (n - d + 1)-design. It remains to compute (A'_k) . By using (2.17), $Q_k(i) = P_k(i)$, and (5.9), we obtain

$$\sum_{k=0}^{j} {n-k \brack n-j}_{b} A'_{k} = \sum_{i=0}^{n} A_{i} \sum_{k=0}^{j} {n-k \brack n-j}_{b} P_{k}(i)$$
$$= (cb^{n})^{j} \sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack j}_{b} A_{i}$$

for all j = 0, 1, ..., n. We have $A_1 = A_2 = \cdots = A_{d-1} = 0$ and

$$A'_1 = A'_2 = \dots = A'_{n-d+1} = 0.$$

Because of $A_0 = 1$, $A'_0 = |Y|$, and ${n-i \choose j}_b = 0$ if $i \ge d$ and $j \ge n - d + 2$, we obtain

$$\sum_{k=n-d+2}^{j} {n-k \choose n-j}_{b} A'_{k} = {n \choose j}_{b} ((cb^{n})^{j} - (cb^{n})^{n-d+1})$$

for all j = n - d + 2, ..., n. Interchanging the order of summation gives

$$\sum_{k=j}^{d-2} {k \brack j}_{b} A'_{n-k} = (cb^{n})^{n-d+1} {n \brack j}_{b} ((cb^{n})^{d-1-j} - 1)$$

for all j = 0, 1, ..., d - 2. Applying the *q*-binomial inversion formula (4.10) implies the desired expression of A'_{n-k} .

We need the following lemma to show that both distributions (A_i) and (A'_k) are nonnegative.

Lemma 5.3.3. *Let* q *be an integer with* $q \ge 2$ *and* b = -q*.*

(a) For all nonnegative integers n, i, j with $n - i \ge j + 2$, we have

$$\frac{\left|\binom{n-i}{j}_{b}\right|}{\left|\binom{n-i}{j+2}_{b}\right|} \ge q^{-2n+4j+2i+2}.$$
(5.12)

(b) Let *n* and *i* be nonnegative integers. If $n - i \ge 1$, then we have

$$\left| \begin{bmatrix} n-i\\1 \end{bmatrix}_b \right| \le q^{n-i-1}. \tag{5.13}$$

If $n - i \ge 2$ *, then we have*

$$\left| \begin{bmatrix} n-i\\2 \end{bmatrix}_b \right| \le \frac{1}{3}q^{2n-2i-2}.$$
(5.14)

94 Optimal solution of the linear program

Proof. (a) We have

$$\begin{split} \frac{\left|\binom{n-i}{j}_{b}\right|}{\left|\binom{n-i}{j+2}\right|_{b}} &= \left|\frac{((-q)^{j+2}-1)((-q)^{j+1}-1)}{((-q)^{n-i-j}-1)((-q)^{n-i-j-1}-1)}\right| \\ &\geq \frac{(q^{j+2}+1)\left(q^{j+1}-1\right)}{(q^{n-i-j}-1)\left(q^{n-i-j-1}+1\right)}. \end{split}$$

This gives

$$\frac{\left|\binom{n-i}{j}_{b}\right|}{\left|\binom{n-i}{j+2}_{b}\right|} \geq q^{-2n+4j+2i+2},$$

as stated.

(b) For $n - i \ge 1$, by using (5.11), we have

$$\left| \begin{bmatrix} n-i \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \right| = \frac{|(-q)^{n-i} - 1|}{q+1} \le \frac{q^{n-i} + 1}{q+1} \le q^{n-i-1}.$$

For $n - i \ge 2$, by again using (5.11), we obtain

$$\left| \begin{bmatrix} n-i\\2 \end{bmatrix}_b \right| \le \frac{(q^{n-i}-1)(q^{n-i-1}+1)}{(q+1)(q^2-1)} \le \frac{1}{3}q^{2n-2i-2},$$

as wanted.

We can now prove Proposition 5.3.1.

Proof of Proposition 5.3.1. Let $1 \le d \le n$. For d = 1, the set of all matrices in the respective affine scheme is a 1-code and thus, there exists a feasible solution of the primal LP with the required objective function value.

Assume now that $d \ge 2$. Let (A_i) and (A'_k) be given in Proposition 5.3.2. We will show that all entries of (A_i) and (A'_k) are nonnegative, which implies that (A_i) is a feasible solution of the primal LP (2.20). First, we rewrite A_{n-i} by applying (3.7) and interchanging the order of summation and obtain

$$A_{n-i} = {n \brack i}_{b} \sum_{j=0}^{n-d-i} (-1)^{j} b^{\binom{j}{2}} {n-i \brack j}_{b} ((cb^{n})^{n-d+1-j-i} - 1)$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - d.

We start with $\text{Bil}_q(n, m)$ and $\text{Alt}_q(m)$. Observe that it suffices to show that the inner distribution is nonnegative because by taking n - d + 2 instead of d, the dual distribution becomes a positive multiple of the inner distribution. For n = d, we immediately have $A_n \ge 0$. Assume now that $2 \le d < n$. Write

$$a_{i,j} = b^{\binom{j}{2}} {\binom{n-i}{j}}_{b} ((cb^{n})^{n-d+1-j-i} - 1)$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - d and j = 0, 1, ..., n - d - i. Take $i \in \{0, 1, ..., n - d\}$. For all j = 0, 1, ..., n - d - i - 1, we have

$$\frac{a_{i,j}}{a_{i,j+1}} = \frac{b^{\binom{j}{2}\binom{n-i}{j}}_{b^{\binom{j+1}{2}\binom{n-i}{j+1}}_{[j+1]}(cb^n)^{n-d-j-i}-1)}}{b^{\binom{j+1}{2}\binom{n-i}{j+1}_{b^{\binom{j}{2}}(cb^n)^{n-d-j-i}-1)}} \frac{((cb^n)^{n-d+1-j-i}-1)}{((cb^n)^{n-d-j-i}-1)}$$

From (5.11) we find

$$\frac{a_{i,j}}{a_{i,j+1}} > cb^{i+j} \ge 1$$

for all $i, j \ge 0$ except for $Alt_q(m)$ with even m and (i, j) = (0, 0), where we have

$$\frac{a_{0,0}}{a_{0,1}} = \frac{(q^2 - 1)(q^{(2n-1)(n-d+1)} - 1)}{(q^{2n} - 1)(q^{(2n-1)(n-d)} - 1)} \ge \frac{q^2 - 1}{q} > 1.$$

This completes the proof for $Bil_q(n, m)$ and $Alt_q(m)$.

Now, consider $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$ with odd $d \ge 3$. Write

$$a_{i,j} = (-1)^{j} b^{\binom{j}{2}} {n \brack i}_{b} {n-i \choose j}_{b} ((cb^{n})^{m-j-i} - 1)$$

with $m \in \{n - d + 1, d - 1\}$ for all i = 0, 1, ..., m - 1 and j = 0, 1, ..., m - i - 1. The sign of $a_{i,j}$ is $(-1)^{\binom{j}{2}+ij+j}$ since $(-1)^{(n+1)m} = 1$. Therefore, we have $a_{i,2j} \ge 0$ if $j \ge 0$ is even, and $a_{i,2j+1} \ge 0$ if $j + i \equiv 1 \pmod{2}$. Thus, in what follows, we look at $a_{i,2j} = |a_{i,2j}|$ and $a_{i,2j+1} = |a_{i,2j+1}|$ in the respective cases. For n = d, we immediately have $A_n \ge 0$. Henceforth, assume that $3 \le d < n$. We will show that

$$a_{i,0} \ge |a_{i,2}| \text{ for all odd } i \ge 1$$

$$a_{i,0} \ge |a_{i,1}| + |a_{i,2}| \text{ for all even } i \ge 0,$$

$$a_{i,2j} \ge |a_{i,2j+2}| \text{ for all } i \ge 0 \text{ and all even } j \ge 2$$

$$a_{i,2j+1} \ge |a_{i,2j+3}| \text{ for all } i, j \ge 0 \text{ with } i+j \equiv 1 \pmod{2}.$$

(5.15)

Observe that the nonnegativity of the inner and dual distribution follows by showing that $(a_{i,j})$ satisfies (5.15).

Take $i \in \{0, 1, ..., m - 1\}$. For all j = 0, 1, ..., m - i - 3, by using (5.12), we have

$$\frac{|a_{i,j}|}{|a_{i,j+2}|} = \left| \frac{b^{\binom{j}{2}} {\binom{n-i}{j}}_b ((cb^n)^{m-j-i} - 1)}{b^{\binom{j+2}{2}} {\binom{n-i}{j+2}}_b ((cb^n)^{m-j-i-2} - 1)} \right| \ge q^{2j+2i+1} \frac{1 - q^{-n(m-j-i)}}{1 + q^{-n(m-j-i-2)}}.$$

Since $n \ge 4$ and $3 \le m - j - i \le m$, we obtain

$$\frac{|a_{i,j}|}{|a_{i,j+2}|} < \frac{47}{50}q^{2j+2i+1} > 1$$

for all *i*, *j*. It remains to show that

$$\frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}|+|a_{i,2}|} \ge 1$$

if *i* is even. Let *i* be an even number with $0 \le i \le m - 2$. We have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}|+|a_{i,2}|} &= \frac{|(cb^n)^{m-i}-1|}{\left|\binom{n-i}{1}_b((cb^n)^{m-i-1}-1)\right|+q\left|\binom{n-i}{2}_b((cb^n)^{m-i-2}-1)\right|} \\ &\geq \frac{q^{n(m-i)}-1}{q^{n-i-1}(q^{n(m-i-1)}+1)+\frac{1}{3}q^{2n-2i-1}(q^{n(m-i-2)}+1)},\end{aligned}$$

by using (5.13) and (5.14). This becomes

$$\frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}|+|a_{i,2}|} \geq \frac{1-q^{-n(m-i)}}{q^{-i-1}(1+q^{-n(m-i-1)})+\frac{1}{3}q^{-2i-1}(1+q^{-n(m-i-2)})}.$$

For $n \ge 4$, we obtain

$$\frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}| + |a_{i,2}|} > 1$$

if $i \le m - 4$, and if i = m - 2 (where $a_{i,2}$ cannot occur), we have

$$\frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}|} > 1.$$

This completes the proof.

5.3.2 Ordinary *q*-analogs

The goal of this subsection is to prove the following proposition.

Proposition 5.3.4. Let X be the set of n-spaces in $J_q(n, m)$ or generators in ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ or $\frac{1}{2}D_m$, where $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the case of $\frac{1}{2}D_m$. Then there exists a feasible solution of the primal LP (2.20) for d-codes in $J_q(n, m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ with objective function value (5.1) for $1 \le d \le n$, where d is required to be odd in the case of ${}^2A_{2n-1}$.

Observe that Proposition 5.3.4 and 5.2.3 together with the Strong duality theorem 2.2.2 imply the first part of Theorem 5.1.1(a).

To prove Proposition 5.3.4, we start with the derivation of the inner distribution of a code whose size equals the stated LP optimum (5.1).

Proposition 5.3.5. Assume that Y is a d-code with $1 \le d \le n$ in $J_q(n,m)$, ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$, or $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ of size (5.1), where d is required to be odd in the case of ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the case of $\frac{1}{2}D_m$. Then Y is an (n - d + 1)-design, where the ordering of the dual distribution is imposed by (2.53)—in particular, the second ordering is taken for ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$. Moreover, the inner distribution (A_i) of Y satisfies

$$A_{n-i} = \sum_{j=i}^{n-d} (-1)^{j-i} b^{\binom{j-i}{2}} {j \brack i}_{b} {n \brack j}_{b} \left(\frac{(qcb^{n})_{n-j}(q)_{d-1}}{(qcb^{n})_{d-1}(q)_{n-j}} - 1 \right)$$
(5.16)

for all $i = 0, 1, \ldots, n - 1$.
Before we prove this proposition, we rephrase the design property obtained therein in the case of ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ with respect to the standard ordering. Namely, if *Y* is a *d*-code in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ for odd *d* whose size equals (5.1), then its dual distribution with respect to the standard ordering satisfies

$$A'_i = A'_{n-i+1} = 0$$
 for all $i = 1, 2, \dots, \frac{n-d+1}{2}$

if n - d + 1 is even, and

$$A'_i = A'_{n-i+1} = 0, \ A'_{n-\frac{n-d}{2}} = 0 \quad \text{for all } i = 1, 2, \dots, \frac{n-d}{2}$$

if n - d + 1 is odd.

Proof of Proposition 5.3.5. Let *X* be the set of *n*-spaces in $J_q(n, m)$ or generators in ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ or $\frac{1}{2}D_m$. Then we have

$$|Y| = \frac{|X|(q)_{d-1}}{(qcb^n)_{d-1}}.$$
(5.17)

Let (A_i) and (A'_k) denote the inner and dual distribution of Y, respectively, in terms of the orderings imposed by (2.52) and (2.53). Recall the formulae (3.13) and (3.14) from the proof of Theorem 3.2.1, namely we have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{j} b^{k(n-j)} {n-k \brack n-j}_{b} \frac{(qcb^{n-k})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} A'_{k} = |X| \sum_{i=0}^{n} A_{i} {n-i \brack j}_{b}$$
(5.18)

for all j = 0, 1, ..., n and in particular,

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n-d+1} b^{k(d-1)} {n-k \brack d-1}_b \frac{(qcb^{n-k})_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-1}} A'_k = {n \brack d-1}_b \left(|X| - \frac{(qcb^n)_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-1}} |Y| \right),$$
(5.19)

where all coefficients of A'_k on the left-hand side of (5.19) are nonnegative. Observe that the bracket on the right-hand side of (5.19) equals zero because of (5.17). Therefore, we have $A'_1 = A'_2 = \cdots = A'_{n-d+1} = 0$, which means that *Y* is an (n - d + 1)-design.

By using $A'_0 = |Y|$ and (5.17), we then find from (5.18) that the inner distribution is determined by the equations

$$\begin{bmatrix} n \\ j \end{bmatrix}_{b} \frac{(qcb^{n})_{n-j}(q)_{d-1}}{(qcb^{n})_{d-1}(q)_{n-j}} = \begin{bmatrix} n \\ j \end{bmatrix}_{b} + \sum_{i=d}^{n} \begin{bmatrix} n-i \\ j \end{bmatrix}_{b} A_{i}$$

for all j = 0, 1, ..., n - d. This can be rewritten as

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-d} {k \brack j}_{q} A_{n-k} = {n \brack j}_{q} \left(\frac{(qcb^{n})_{n-j}(q)_{d-1}}{(qcb^{n})_{d-1}(q)_{n-j}} - 1 \right)$$
(5.20)

for all j = 0, 1, ..., n - d. Applying the *q*-binomial inversion formula (4.10) gives the desired expression of the inner distribution.

The derivation of the dual distribution requires the following lemma. To simplify the notation, we set $a = q^{-1}c^{-1}b^{-2n}$.

Lemma 5.3.6. Let C and Q be the $n \times n$ matrices defined by $Q = (Q'_k(i))_{k,i}$ and $C = (c_{ji})_{j,i}$ with $Q'_k(i)$ as in (2.53) and $c_{j,i} = {n-i \choose j}_b$ for all i, j, k = 0, 1, ..., n. Then C is invertible and the product QC^{-1} is given by

$$(QC^{-1})_{k,j} = \mu'_k a^k b^{k^2 + \binom{j}{2}} (-bc)^j \frac{(b^{-k})_j (ab^k)_j (qb^{n-k})_k}{(b^{-n})_j (q^{-1}b^{1-n})_j (c^{-1}b^{-n})_k}$$
(5.21)

for all k, j = 0, 1, ..., n with μ'_k given in Table 2.3.

To prove Lemma 5.3.6, we need an extension of the *q*-Pochhammer symbol for negative subscripts as follows

$$(a;q)_{-k} = \prod_{i=1}^{k} (1 - aq^{-i})^{-1}$$

for k = 1, 2, 3, ... if $a \neq q, q^2, ..., q^k$.

Proof of Lemma 5.3.6. The inverse of *C* is given by

$$(C^{-1})_{i,j} = (-1)^{i+j-n} b^{\binom{i+j-n}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} j\\ n-i \end{bmatrix}_b$$
(5.22)

for all i, j = 0, 1, ..., n since the *q*-binomial inversion formula (5.10) implies

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} {n-i \brack k}_{b} (-1)^{i+j-n} b^{\binom{i+j-n}{2}} {j \brack n-i}_{b} = \delta_{k,j}.$$

Let $k, j \in \{0, 1, ..., n\}$. By substituting (5.22) and (2.53), we have

$$(QC^{-1})_{k,j} = \sum_{i=0}^{n} Q'_{k}(i)(C^{-1})_{i,j}$$

= $\sum_{i=0}^{n} \mu'_{k,3} \phi_{2} \begin{pmatrix} b^{-i}, b^{-k}, ab^{k} \\ b^{-n}, c^{-1}b^{-n} \end{pmatrix} b; b (-1)^{i+j-n} b^{\binom{i+j-n}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} j \\ n-i \end{bmatrix}_{b}$

Use the definition of the q-hypergeometric function and (2.30) to obtain

$$(QC^{-1})_{k,j} = \mu'_{k} \sum_{i,\ell \ge 0} \frac{(b^{-i})_{\ell} (b^{-k})_{\ell} (ab^{k})_{\ell}}{(b^{-n})_{\ell} (c^{-1}b^{-n})_{\ell} (b)_{\ell}} (-1)^{i+j-n} b^{\binom{i+j-n}{2}+\ell} {j \brack n-i}_{b}$$
$$= \mu'_{k} \sum_{\ell \ge 0} \frac{(b^{-k})_{\ell} (ab^{k})_{\ell}}{(b^{-n})_{\ell} (c^{-1}b^{-n})_{\ell}} (-1)^{\ell} b^{\binom{\ell}{2}+\ell} S_{\ell},$$
(5.23)

where

$$S_{\ell} = \sum_{i=0}^{n} (-1)^{i+j-n} b^{\binom{i+j-n}{2}-i\ell} \begin{bmatrix} i \\ \ell \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} j \\ n-i \end{bmatrix}_{b}.$$

Interchanging the order of summation gives

$$S_{\ell} = b^{-n\ell} \sum_{i=0}^{n} (-1)^{j-i} b^{\binom{j-i}{2}+i\ell} {n-i \brack \ell}_{b} {j \brack i}_{b}.$$

To compute this sum, we use the *q*-Chu-Vandermonde identity

$$\begin{bmatrix} x+y\\z \end{bmatrix}_{b} = \sum_{i=0}^{x} b^{i(y-z+i)} \begin{bmatrix} x\\i \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} y\\z-i \end{bmatrix}_{b}$$
(5.24)

(see [GJ83, § 2, 2.6.3(c)], for example). Applying the *q*-inversion formula (5.10) to (5.24) reveals that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{x} (-1)^k b^{\binom{k}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} x \\ k \end{bmatrix}_b \begin{bmatrix} x-k+y \\ z \end{bmatrix}_b = b^{x(y-z+x)} \begin{bmatrix} y \\ z-x \end{bmatrix}_b.$$

Put x = i, y = n - i, and $z = n - \ell$ to obtain

$$\sum_{k=0}^{i} (-1)^{k} b^{\binom{k}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} i \\ k \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} n-k \\ n-\ell \end{bmatrix}_{b} = b^{i\ell} \begin{bmatrix} n-i \\ \ell \end{bmatrix}_{b}'$$

which, by again applying the *q*-binomial inversion formula (5.10), gives

$$\sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-i} b^{\binom{j-i}{2}+i\ell} {n-i \brack \ell}_{b} {j \brack i}_{b} = (-1)^{j} b^{\binom{j}{2}} {n-j \brack n-\ell}_{b}.$$

Therefore, we have

$$S_{\ell} = (-1)^{j} b^{\binom{j}{2}-n\ell} \begin{bmatrix} n-j\\ n-\ell \end{bmatrix}_{b}.$$

Substitute into (5.23) to obtain

$$(QC^{-1})_{k,j} = \mu'_k (-1)^j b^{\binom{j}{2}} \sum_{\ell \ge 0} \frac{(b^{-k})_\ell (ab^k)_\ell}{(b^{-n})_\ell (c^{-1}b^{-n})_\ell} (-1)^\ell b^{\binom{\ell}{2} - (n-1)\ell} {n-\ell \brack n-\ell}_h^{n-j}.$$

Interchanging the order of summation gives

$$(QC^{-1})_{k,j} = \mu'_k b^{j^2 - nj} \sum_{\ell=0}^n \frac{(b^{-k})_{\ell+j} (ab^k)_{\ell+j}}{(b^{-n})_{\ell+j} (c^{-1}b^{-n})_{\ell+j}} (-1)^\ell b^{\binom{\ell}{2} - (n-j-1)\ell} {n-j \brack \ell}_b.$$

By (2.30), this becomes

$$(QC^{-1})_{k,j} = \mu'_k b^{j^2 - nj} \sum_{\ell=0}^n \frac{(b^{-k})_{\ell+j} (ab^k)_{\ell+j} (b^{-(n-j)})_{\ell}}{(b^{-n})_{\ell+j} (c^{-1}b^{-n})_{\ell+j} (b)_{\ell}} b^{\ell}.$$

Applying (3.5) gives

$$(QC^{-1})_{k,j} = \mu'_k b^{j^2 - nj} \frac{(b^{-k})_j (ab^k)_j}{(b^{-n})_j (c^{-1}b^{-n})_j} \sum_{\ell=0}^n \frac{(b^{-k+j})_\ell (ab^{k+j})_\ell}{(c^{-1}b^{-n+j})_\ell (b)_\ell} b^\ell$$

= $\mu'_k b^{j^2 - nj} \frac{(b^{-k})_j (ab^k)_j}{(b^{-n})_j (c^{-1}b^{-n})_j} 2\phi_1 \left(\begin{array}{c} b^{-(k-j)}, ab^{k+j} \\ c^{-1}b^{-n+j} \end{array} \middle| b; b \right).$

Using the *q*-Chu-Vandermonde identity of the form

$$_{2}\phi_{1}\left(\begin{array}{c}b^{-i},x\\y\end{array}\middle|b;b
ight)=rac{(x^{-1}y)_{i}}{(y)_{i}}x^{i}$$

(see [KLS10, Eq. (1.11.5)], for example) implies

$$(QC^{-1})_{k,j} = \mu'_k a^{k-j} b^{k^2 - nj} \frac{(b^{-k})_j (ab^k)_j (a^{-1}c^{-1}b^{-n-k})_{k-j}}{(b^{-n})_j (c^{-1}b^{-n})_j (c^{-1}b^{-n+j})_{k-j}}$$

From (3.5) we have $(c^{-1}b^{-n+j})_{k-j} = (c^{-1}b^{-n})_k / (c^{-1}b^{-n})_j$ and from (3.6) we find

$$(a^{-1}c^{-1}b^{-n-k})_{k-j} = \frac{(a^{-1}c^{-1}b^{-n-k})_k}{(acb^{n+1})_j} (-a^{-1}c^{-1}b^{-n-k})^{-j}b^{\binom{j}{2}-kj+j}.$$

Substituting these and using $a = q^{-1}c^{-1}b^{-2n}$ give the required value of $(QC^{-1})_{k,j}$.

We are now in position to derive the dual distribution.

Proposition 5.3.7. Let Y be a d-code with $1 \le d \le n$ in $J_q(n,m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, or $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ of size (5.1), where d is required to be odd in the case of ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ and $n = \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$ in the case of $\frac{1}{2}D_m$. Let (A'_k) be the dual distribution of Y in terms of the ordering imposed by (2.53)—in particular, the second ordering is taken for ${}^2A_{2n-1}$. Then we have

$$A'_{n-k} = c_k \sum_{j=0}^{d-2-k} (-1)^j b^{\binom{n-k-j}{2}} \frac{(qb^k)_j}{(qcb^{2k+1})_j} {n-k \brack j}_b \left(1 - \frac{(qb^{k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}{(qcb^{n+k+j})_{d-k-j-1}} \right)$$
(5.25)

for all k = 0, 1, ..., n - 1, where

$$c_{k} = \mu_{n-k}'(-q^{-1}b^{-n+1})^{n-k} \frac{(qb^{k})_{n-k}(ab^{n-k})_{n-k}}{(c^{-1}b^{-n})_{n-k}(q^{-1}b^{1-n})_{n-k}}$$

with μ'_{n-k} given in Table 2.3.

Proof. Similarly to the derivation of the inner distribution, we solve a system of linear equations. Because of (5.18) and $A_0 = 1$, $A_1 = \cdots = A_{d-1} = 0$, we have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{j} b^{k(n-j)} {n-k \brack n-j}_{b} \frac{(qcb^{n-k})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} A'_{k} = |X| \left({n \brack j}_{b} + \sum_{i=d}^{n} A_{i} {n-i \brack j}_{b} \right)$$

for all j = 0, 1, ..., n. Since $\binom{n-i}{j}_{h=0} = 0$ if $i \ge d$ and $j \ge n - d + 1$, we see that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{j} b^{k(n-j)} {n-k \brack n-j}_{b} \frac{(qcb^{n-k})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} A'_{k} = |X| {n \brack j}_{b}$$
(5.26)

for all j = n - d + 1, ..., n. Recall from Proposition 5.3.5 that Y is an (n - d + 1)-design. Therefore, we have $A'_1 = A'_2 = \cdots = A'_{n-d+1} = 0$. Because of $A'_0 = |Y|$, we obtain

$$\sum_{k=n-d+2}^{j} b^{k(n-j)} {n-k \brack n-j}_{b} \frac{(qcb^{n-k})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} A'_{k} = |X| {n \brack j}_{b} \left(1 - \frac{(qcb^{n})_{n-j}(q)_{d-1}}{(qcb^{n})_{d-1}(q)_{n-j}}\right)$$
(5.27)

for all j = n - d + 2, ..., n. In the case of the inner distribution, we simply applied the *q*-binomial inversion formula to solve the system (5.20). Here, we need a slightly different approach. Recall that the *Q*-numbers are determined by (3.2). Define the $n \times n$ matrices $Q = (Q'_k(i))_{k,i}$, $B = (b_{jk})_{j,k}$, and $C = (c_{ji})_{j,i}$ by

$$b_{jk} = b^{k(n-j)} {n-k \brack n-j}_b {(qcb^{n-k})_{n-j} \over (q)_{n-j}}, \quad c_{ji} = {n-i \brack j}_b$$

for all *i*, *j*, *k* = 0, 1, . . . , *n*. Then we can write (3.2) as BQ = |X|C, which implies that the inverse of *B* is determined by $B^{-1} = \frac{1}{|X|}QC^{-1}$. Multiplication of (5.27) with B^{-1} gives

$$A'_{k} = \sum_{j=n-d+2}^{n} (QC^{-1})_{k,j} {n \brack j}_{b} \left(1 - \frac{(qcb^{n})_{n-j}(q)_{d-1}}{(qcb^{n})_{d-1}(q)_{n-j}}\right)$$

for all k = n - d + 2, ..., n. Substituting (5.21) and using (2.30) imply

$$\begin{aligned} A'_{k} &= \mu'_{k} a^{k} b^{k^{2}} \frac{(q b^{n-k})_{k}}{(c^{-1} b^{-n})_{k}} \sum_{j=n-d+2}^{n} (b^{n+1} c)^{j} \frac{(b^{-k})_{j} (a b^{k})_{j}}{(b)_{j} (q^{-1} b^{1-n})_{j}} \\ &\times \left(1 - \frac{(q c b^{n})_{n-j} (q)_{d-1}}{(q c b^{n})_{d-1} (q)_{n-j}}\right) \end{aligned}$$

Using (2.30) and interchanging the order of summation give

$$\begin{aligned} A'_{k} &= \mu'_{k} a^{k} \frac{(qb^{n-k})_{k}}{(c^{-1}b^{-n})_{k}} \sum_{j=0}^{k-n+d-2} (-b^{n+1}c)^{k-j} b^{\binom{k-j}{2}+kj} \frac{(ab^{k})_{k-j}}{(q^{-1}b^{1-n})_{k-j}} \begin{bmatrix} k \\ j \end{bmatrix}_{b} \\ &\times \left(1 - \frac{(qcb^{n})_{n-k+j}(q)_{d-1}}{(qcb^{n})_{d-1}(q)_{n-k+j}}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Apply (3.6) and $a = q^{-1}c^{-1}b^{-2n}$ to obtain

$$A'_{n-k} = c_k \sum_{j=0}^{d-2-k} (-1)^j b^{\binom{n-k-j}{2}} \frac{(qb^k)_j}{(qcb^{2k+1})_j} {n-k \brack j} \left[{n-k \atop j} \right]_b \left(1 - \frac{(qcb^n)_{k+j}(q)_{d-1}}{(qcb^n)_{d-1}(q)_{k+j}} \right)$$

with c_k as stated in the proposition. The desired expression of A'_{n-k} now follows by using (3.5).

It remains to show that both distributions (A_i) and (A'_k) are nonnegative. This requires the following lemma.

Lemma 5.3.8. *Let n and q be integers with* $n \ge 1$ *and* $q \ge 2$ *. Then we have*

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(1 - \frac{1}{q^i} \right) \ge \frac{1}{4}.$$
(5.28)

Proof. Use $1 - x \ge 4^{-x}$ for all $x \in [0, \frac{1}{2}]$ to obtain

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(1 - \frac{1}{q^{i}}\right) \ge \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(1 - \frac{1}{2^{i}}\right) \ge \prod_{i=1}^{n} 4^{-1/2^{i}} \ge 4^{-\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} 2^{-i}} = \frac{1}{4},$$

as stated.

We start with the nonnegativity of the inner distribution.

Proposition 5.3.9. For $1 < d \le n$, all entries of the inner distribution (A_i) given in (5.16) are nonnegative.

Proof. Let (A_i) be given in (5.16). By using (3.5) and (3.7), and interchanging the order of summation, we have

$$A_{n-i} = \sum_{j=0}^{n-d-i} (-1)^j b^{\binom{j}{2}} {n \brack i}_b {n-i \brack j}_b \left(\frac{(qcb^{n+d-1})_{n-i-j-d+1}}{(qb^{d-1})_{n-i-j-d+1}} - 1 \right)$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - d. Set

$$a_{i,j} = (-1)^{j} b^{\binom{j}{2}} {n \brack i}_{b} {n-i \brack j}_{b} \left(\frac{(qcb^{n+d-1})_{n-i-j-d+1}}{(qb^{d-1})_{n-i-j-d+1}} - 1 \right)$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - d and j = 0, 1, ..., n - d - i.

We begin with $J_q(n,m)$ and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$. Observe that $A_n \ge 0$ if n = d. Assume now that n > d. We will show that the sequence $(|a_{i,j}|)_j$ is decreasing for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - d, which implies $A_{n-i} \ge 0$. Take $i \in \{0, 1, ..., n - d\}$. For all j = 0, 1, ..., n - d - i - 1, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|a_{i,j}|}{|a_{i,j+1}|} &= \frac{b^{\binom{j}{2}}\binom{n-i}{j}}{b^{\binom{j+1}{2}}\binom{n-i}{j}} \left(\frac{(qcb^{n+d-1})_{n-i-j-d+1}}{(qb^{d-1})_{n-i-j-d}} - 1\right)}{b^{\binom{j+1}{2}}\binom{n-i}{j+1}{j+1}} \left(\frac{(qcb^{n+d-1})_{n-i-j-d}}{(qb^{d-1})_{n-i-j-d}} - 1\right)}{\left(\frac{(qcb^{n+d-1})_{n-i-j-d}}{(qb^{n-i-j-1}-1)}}{\left(\frac{(qcb^{n+d-1})_{n-i-j-d}}{(qb^{d-1})_{n-i-j-d}}} - 1\right)}.\end{aligned}$$

Since $(qcb^{2n-i-j-1} - 1)/(qb^{n-i-j-1} - 1) > 1$, we can apply (5.11) to obtain

$$\frac{|a_{i,j}|}{|a_{i,j+1}|} > b^{-j} \frac{(b^{j+1}-1)(qcb^{2n-i-j-1}-1)}{(b^{n-i-j}-1)(qb^{n-i-j-1}-1)}.$$

Then again from (5.11) we find

$$\frac{|a_{i,j}|}{|a_{i,j+1}|} > cb^{i+j+1}\left(1 - \frac{1}{b^{j+1}}\right) \ge cb\left(1 - \frac{1}{b}\right) \ge 1$$

for all $i, j \ge 0$, as required.

Now, consider ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ with odd $d \ge 3$. Write

$$a'_{i,j} = (-1)^{j} b^{\binom{j}{2}} {n \brack i}_{b} {n-i \brack j}_{b}$$
 and $\varepsilon_{i,j} = \frac{(b^{n+d})_{n-i-j-d+1}}{(-b^{d})_{n-i-j-d+1}},$

so that $a_{i,j} = a'_{i,j}(\varepsilon_{i,j} - 1)$. Observe that the signs of $a'_{i,j}$ and $\varepsilon_{i,j}$ are $(-1)^{\binom{j}{2} + (i+j)(n-i)}$ and $(-1)^{(n+1)(i+j)}$, respectively, which implies

$$sign(a_{i,j}) = (-1)^{\binom{j}{2} + ij + j}$$

For all $i \ge 0$, we have $a_{i,2j} \ge 0$ for all even $j \ge 0$ and $a_{i,2j+1} \ge 0$ for all jwith $j + i \equiv 1 \pmod{2}$. Hence in what follows, we look at $a_{i,2j} = |a_{i,2j}|$ and $a_{i,2j+1} = |a_{i,2j+1}|$ in the respective cases. If n = d, then we immediately obtain $A_n \ge 0$. Assume now that n > d. We will show that $a_{i,j}$ satisfies (5.15). Observe that this will prove the nonnegativity of the inner distribution.

Take $i \in \{0, 1, ..., n - d\}$. For all j = 0, 1, ..., n - d - i - 2, use (5.12) to obtain

$$\frac{|a'_{i,j}|}{|a'_{i,j+2}|} = \frac{q^{\binom{j}{2}} \left| \binom{n-i}{j}_{b} \right|}{q^{\binom{j+2}{2}} \left| \binom{n-i}{j+2}_{b} \right|} \ge q^{-2n+2j+2i+1}.$$
(5.29)

For all $i = 0, 1, \dots, n - d - i$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\varepsilon_{i,j}| &= \prod_{\ell=0}^{n-j-i-d} \frac{q^{n+d+\ell} - (-1)^{n+d+\ell}}{q^{d+\ell} - (-1)^{\ell}} \\ &\geq \prod_{\ell=0}^{n-j-i-d} \frac{q^{n+d+\ell} - 1}{q^{d+\ell} + 1} \\ &\geq q^{(n-2)(n-j-i-d+1)} > 4 \end{aligned}$$

because of $i + j \le n - d$ and $3 \le d < n$. Since $\varepsilon_{i,j}$ and $\varepsilon_{i,j+2}$ have the same sign, we thus either have

$$\frac{|\varepsilon_{i,j}-1|}{|\varepsilon_{i,j+2}-1|} = \frac{|\varepsilon_{i,j}|+1}{|\varepsilon_{i,j+2}|+1} \quad \text{or} \quad \frac{|\varepsilon_{i,j}-1|}{|\varepsilon_{i,j+2}-1|} = \frac{\varepsilon_{i,j}-1}{\varepsilon_{i,j+2}-1}.$$

Because of $|\varepsilon_{i,j}| \ge |\varepsilon_{i,j+2}|$, we find in both cases that

$$\frac{|\varepsilon_{i,j}-1|}{|\varepsilon_{i,j+2}-1|} \geq \frac{|\varepsilon_{i,j}|}{2|\varepsilon_{i,j+2}|} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{(q^{2n-j-i}-(-1)^{j-i})(q^{2n-j-i-1}-(-1)^{j-i-1})}{(q^{n-j-i}-(-1)^{n-j-i-1})(q^{n-j-i-1}-(-1)^{n-j-i})},$$

from which we obtain

$$\frac{|\varepsilon_{i,j}-1|}{|\varepsilon_{i,j+2}-1|} \ge \frac{1}{2} \frac{(q^{2n-j-i}+1)(q^{2n-j-i-1}-1)}{(q^{n-j-i}-1)(q^{n-j-i-1}+1)} \ge \frac{1}{2}q^{2n-1}$$

by using (5.11). Combining this with (5.29) gives

$$\frac{|a_{i,j}|}{|a_{i,j+2}|} \ge \frac{1}{2}q^{2j+2i} \ge 2$$

for all $(i, j) \neq (0, 0)$.

It remains to prove that

$$\frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}| + |a_{i,2}|} \ge 1$$

for all even *i*. Let *i* be an even number in $\{0, 1, ..., n - d - 1\}$. Using (5.13) and (5.14) gives

$$\frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}| + |a_{i,2}|} = \frac{(\varepsilon_{i,0} - 1)}{\left| {\binom{n-i}{1}}_{b} \right| |\varepsilon_{i,1} - 1| + q \left| {\binom{n-i}{2}}_{b} \right| (\varepsilon_{i,2} - 1)} \ge \frac{\left(1 - \frac{1}{\varepsilon_{i,0}}\right)}{D}$$

/

with

$$D = q^{n-i-1} \left(\left| \frac{\varepsilon_{i,1}}{\varepsilon_{i,0}} \right| + \frac{1}{\varepsilon_{i,0}} \right) + \frac{1}{3} q^{2n-2i-1} \left(\frac{\varepsilon_{i,2}}{\varepsilon_{i,0}} - \frac{1}{\varepsilon_{i,0}} \right).$$

We have

$$\left|\frac{\varepsilon_{i,1}}{\varepsilon_{i,0}}\right| = \left|\frac{b^{n-i}-1}{b^{2n-i}-1}\right| \le \frac{q^{n-i}+1}{q^{2n-i}-1}$$

and

$$\frac{\varepsilon_{i,2}}{\varepsilon_{i,0}} = \frac{(b^{n-i}-1)(b^{n-i-1}-1)}{(b^{2n-i}-1)(b^{2n-i-1}-1)} \le q^{-n+1}\frac{(q^{n-i-1}+1)}{(q^{2n-i}-1)}$$

We thus obtain

$$D \leq q^{-i-1} \frac{\left(1 + \frac{1}{q^{n-i}}\right)}{\left(1 - \frac{1}{q^{2n-i}}\right)} + \frac{1}{3}q^{-2i-1} \frac{\left(1 + \frac{1}{q^{n-i-1}}\right)}{\left(1 - \frac{1}{q^{2n-i}}\right)} - \frac{1}{\varepsilon_{i,0}} \left(\frac{1}{3}q^{2n-2i-1} - q^{n-i-1}\right).$$

From $2n - i \ge 7$, $n - i \ge 3$, and $i \ge 0$, we see that

$$q^{-i-1}\frac{\left(1+\frac{1}{q^{n-i}}\right)}{\left(1-\frac{1}{q^{2n-i}}\right)} + \frac{1}{3}q^{-2i-1}\frac{\left(1+\frac{1}{q^{n-i-1}}\right)}{\left(1-\frac{1}{q^{2n-i}}\right)} \le \frac{296}{381} < 1$$

Since $n - i \ge 3$, we also have

$$\frac{1}{3}q^{2n-2i-1}-q^{n-i-1}>1.$$

This gives

$$D < 1 - \frac{1}{\varepsilon_{i,0}}$$

and thus,

$$\frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}| + |a_{i,2}|} > 1$$

for all $i \leq n - d - 2$, and in particular,

$$\frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}|} > 1$$

for i = n - d - 1 since $a_{i,2}$ does not exist in this case. This completes the proof.

Using a similar approach as in the preceding proof, we will now show that the dual distribution is also nonnegative.

Proposition 5.3.10. For $1 < d \le n$, all entries of the dual distribution (A'_k) given in (5.25) are nonnegative.

Proof. Let (A'_k) be given in (5.25). Write

$$b_{k,j} = c_k(-1)^j b^{\binom{n-k-j}{2}} \frac{(qb^k)_j}{(qcb^{2k+1})_j} {n-k \brack j}_b \left(1 - \frac{(qb^{k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}{(qcb^{n+k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}\right)^{k-j}$$

for all k = 0, 1, ..., d - 2 and j = 0, 1, ..., d - 2 - k.

We start with $J_q(n,m)$ and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$. Observe that for all k, the factor c_k in A'_k is nonnegative. We will show that the sequence $(|b_{k,j}|)_j$ is decreasing for all k = 0, 1, ..., d - 2 implying $A'_{n-k} \ge 0$. Take $k \in \{0, 1, ..., d - 2\}$. For all j = 0, 1, ..., d - 3 - k, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|b_{k,j}|}{|b_{k,j+1}|} &= \frac{b^{\binom{n-k-j}{2}} \frac{(qb^k)_j}{(qcb^{2k+1})_j} {\binom{n-k}{j}}_b \left(1 - \frac{(qb^{k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}{(qcb^{n+k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}\right)}{b^{\binom{n-k-j-1}{2}} \frac{(qb^k)_{j+1}}{(qcb^{2k+1})_{j+1}} {\binom{n-k}{j+1}}_b \left(1 - \frac{(qb^{k+j+1})_{d-k-j-2}}{(qcb^{n+k+j+1})_{d-k-j-2}}\right)} \\ &= b^{n-k-j-1} \frac{(qcb^{2k+j+1}-1)(b^{j+1}-1)}{(qb^{k+j}-1)(b^{n-k-j}-1)} \frac{\left(1 - \frac{(qb^{k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}{(qcb^{n+k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}\right)}{\left(1 - \frac{(qcb^{n+k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}{(qb^{k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}\right)}.\end{aligned}$$

Since $(qcb^{n+k+j} - 1)/(qb^{k+j} - 1) > 1$, we obtain

$$\frac{|b_{k,j}|}{|b_{k,j+1}|} \ge b^{n-k-j-1} \frac{(qcb^{2k+j+1}-1)(b^{j+1}-1)}{(qb^{k+j}-1)(b^{n-k-j}-1)}.$$
(5.30)

By using (5.11), we have

$$\frac{|b_{k,j}|}{|b_{k,j+1}|} \ge cb^{k+j} \ge 1$$

for all $k, j \ge 0$ except for $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ with even m and k = j = 0, in which case (5.30) gives

$$\frac{|b_{0,0}|}{|b_{0,1}|} \ge \frac{q^{2n-2}(q+1)(q^2-1)}{(q^{2n}-1)} \ge \frac{q^2-1}{q} > 1,$$

as required.

Now, consider ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ with odd $d \ge 3$. The sign of c_k is $(-1)^{\binom{n-k}{2}}$. For $0 \le k+j \le d-2$ and $3 \le d \le n$, we obtain

$$|\delta_{k,j}| \le \prod_{\ell=0}^{d-k-j-2} \frac{q^{k+j+\ell+2}}{q^{n+k+j+\ell}} = q^{(n-2)(k+j+1-d)}$$
(5.31)

and therefore,

$$|\delta_{k,j}| \le \frac{1}{q^{n-2}} < \frac{1}{2}.$$
(5.32)

Hence, the entry $b_{k,j}$ has the sign $(-1)^{\binom{j}{2}+kj+j}$. Thus, we have $b_{k,2j} = |b_{k,2j}|$ if j is even and $b_{k,2j+1} = |b_{k,2j+1}|$ if $k + j \equiv 1 \pmod{2}$ for all k, j. Similarly to the

inner distribution, we will show that $(b_{k,j})$ satisfies (5.15). Observe that this will prove the nonnegativity of (A'_k) . Set

$$b'_{k,j} = b^{\binom{n-k-j}{2}} \frac{(qb^k)_j}{(b^{2k+2})_j} {n-k \brack j}_b \text{ and } \delta_{k,j} = \frac{(qb^{k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}{(b^{n+k+j+1})_{d-k-j-1}},$$

so that $b_{k,j} = c_k(-1)^j b'_{k,j}(1-\delta_{k,j})$. Take $k \in \{0, 1, ..., d-2\}$. For all j = 0, 1, ..., d-4-k, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|b'_{k,j}|}{|b'_{k,j+2}|} &= \frac{q^{\binom{n-k-j}{2}} \left| \frac{(qb^k)_j}{(b^{2k+2})_j} {n-k \choose j} \right|_b}{q^{\binom{n-k-j-2}{2}} \left| \frac{(qb^k)_{j+2}}{(b^{2k+2})_{j+2}} {n-k \choose j} \right|_b} \\ &= q^{2(n-k-j)-3} \frac{\left| (b^{2k+j+2}-1)(b^{2k+j+3}-1) {n-k \choose j} \right|_b}{\left| (qb^{k+j}-1)(qb^{k+j+1}-1) {n-k \choose j+2} \right|_b}.\end{aligned}$$

Using (5.12) and (5.11) gives

$$\frac{|b'_{k,j}|}{|b'_{k,j+2}|} \ge q^{2(n-k-j)-3} \frac{(q^{2k+j+2}-1)(q^{2k+j+3}+1)}{(q^{k+j+1}+1)(q^{k+j+2}-1)} q^{-2n+4j+2k+2} \ge q^{2k+2j}.$$

From (5.32) we see that $\frac{1}{2} < 1 - \delta_{k,j} < \frac{3}{2}$, which gives

$$\frac{|1 - \delta_{k,j}|}{|1 - \delta_{k,\ell}|} > \frac{1}{3}$$

for all $j, \ell = 0, 1, \dots, d - 2 - k$. Hence, we find

$$\frac{|b_{k,j}|}{|b_{k,j+2}|} \geq \frac{1}{3}q^{2k+2j} > 1$$

for all $(k, j) \neq (0, 0)$, as required.

It remains to show that

$$\frac{|b_{k,0}|}{|b_{k,1}| + |b_{k,2}|} \ge 1$$

for all even k. Let k be an even number in $\{0, 1, \dots, d-3\}$. We have

$$\begin{split} \frac{|b_{k,0}|}{|b_{k,1}|+|b_{k,2}|} &= \frac{\left|b^{\binom{n-k}{2}}(1-\delta_{k,0})\right|}{\left|b^{\binom{n-k-1}{2}}\frac{(qb^k)_1}{(b^{2k+2})_1} {n-k \choose 1}_b(1-\delta_{k,1})\right| + \left|b^{\binom{n-k-2}{2}}\frac{(qb^k)_2}{(b^{2k+2})_2} {n-k \choose 2}_b(1-\delta_{k,2})\right|}, \end{split}$$

which becomes

$$\frac{|b_{k,0}|}{|b_{k,1}|+|b_{k,2}|} = \frac{|1-\delta_{k,0}|}{\frac{q^{-n+k+1}}{(q^{k+1}+1)}|[{n-k \choose 1}_b| \ |1-\delta_{k,1}| + \frac{q^{-2n+2k+3}(q^{k+2}+1)}{(q^{k+1}+1)(q^{2k+3}+1)}|[{n-k \choose 2}_b| \ |1-\delta_{k,2}|}.$$

Applying (5.13) and (5.14) gives

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|b_{k,0}|}{|b_{k,1}|+|b_{k,2}|} &\geq \frac{(q^{k+1}+1)|1-\delta_{k,0}|}{|1-\delta_{k,1}|+\frac{1}{3}q^{-k}\left(1+\frac{1}{q^{k+2}}\right)|1-\delta_{k,2}|} \\ &\geq \frac{3|1-\delta_{k,0}|}{|1-\delta_{k,1}|+\frac{1}{3}\left(1+\frac{1}{4}\right)|1-\delta_{k,2}|}.\end{aligned}$$

From (5.31) and $k \le d - 3$, we find

$$\begin{split} |\delta_{k,0}| &\leq q^{(n-2)(k+1-d)} \leq \frac{1}{q^{2n-4}} \leq \frac{1}{4} \\ |\delta_{k,1}| &\leq q^{(n-2)(k+2-d)} \leq \frac{1}{q^{n-2}} \leq \frac{1}{2} \\ |\delta_{k,2}| &\leq q^{(n-2)(k+3-d)} \leq \frac{1}{q^{2n-4}} \leq \frac{1}{4}, \end{split}$$

where the latter follows from $k \le d - 5$ since otherwise j = 2 cannot occur. This implies

$$\frac{|b_{k,0}|}{|b_{k,1}|+|b_{k,2}|} \geq \frac{3\left(1-\frac{1}{4}\right)}{1+\frac{1}{2}+\frac{1}{3}\left(1+\frac{1}{4}\right)^2} > 1$$

for $k \le d - 5$ and

$$\frac{|b_{k,0}|}{|b_{k,1}|} > 1$$

for k = d - 3 since $b_{k,2}$ does not exist in this case. This completes the proof. \Box

We can now prove the existence of a feasible solution of the primal LP with the required objective function value.

Proof of Proposition 5.3.4. For d = 1, take Y = X and thus, there exists a feasible solution of the primal LP (2.20) with the required objective function value. For d > 1, combine Proposition 5.3.9 and 5.3.10.

5.3.3 The Hermitian matrices and even d

The following proposition is the main result of this subsection.

Proposition 5.3.11. There exists a feasible solution of the primal LP (2.20) for *d*-codes in $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$ with objective function value (5.4) for all even *d* with $2 \le d \le n$.

Observe that Proposition 5.3.11 and 5.2.2 together with the Strong duality theorem 2.2.2 imply the second part of Theorem 5.1.1(b).

As in the previous sections, we will compute the inner and dual distribution of a d-code with even d whose size equals (5.4). Afterwards, we will show that these distributions are nonnegative implying the existence of a feasible solution of the primal LP.

We start with the computation of the inner distribution.

1

Proposition 5.3.12. Let *n* and *d* be integers with $2 \le d \le n$ and even *d*. Assume that *Y* is a *d*-code in Her_q(*n*) of size (5.4). Let (A_i) and (A'_k) be the inner and dual distribution of *Y*, respectively. Then we have

$$A_{n-i} = \sum_{j=i}^{n-d} (-1)^{j-i} b^{\binom{j-i}{2}} {j \brack i}_{b} {n \brack j}_{b}$$
$$\times \left((-1)^{j} \frac{|Y|}{b^{nj}} - 1 - \frac{b^{j} - 1}{b^{n-d+1} - 1} \left((-1)^{j} \frac{|Y|}{b^{nj}} + (-1)^{n+j} b^{n(n-d+1-j)} \right) \right)$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - 1. Moreover, we have $A'_2 = \cdots = A'_{n-d+2} = 0$ and

$$A'_{1} = \frac{b^{n} - 1}{b^{n-d+1} - 1} \left((-1)^{n+1} q^{n(n-d+1)} - |Y| \right).$$
(5.33)

Proof. By using (2.47), (2.17) and (5.9), we obtain for all j = 0, 1, ..., n

$$\sum_{k=0}^{j} {n-k \brack n-j}_{b} A'_{k} = (-1)^{j} b^{nj} \sum_{i=0}^{n} A_{i} {n-i \brack j}_{b}.$$
(5.34)

Put

$$x_{k} = \begin{bmatrix} n-k \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} n-1 \\ d-2 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \text{ and } y_{k} = \begin{bmatrix} n-k \\ d-2 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \begin{bmatrix} n-1 \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b}$$

Using (5.34) with j = n - d + 1 and j = n - d + 2 gives

$$(-1)^{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{n-d+2} (x_k - y_k) A'_k$$

= $q^{n(n-d+1)} \left({n \brack d-1}_b {n-1 \brack d-2}_b + b^n {n \brack d-2}_b {n-1 \brack d-1}_b \right).$

It was shown in [Sch18, Proof of Theorem 2] that the coefficients of A'_k on the left-hand side are nonnegative. Since *Y* is of size (5.4), we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n-d+2} (x_k - y_k) A'_k = 0$$

Because of $x_1 = y_1$ and $x_k \neq y_k$ for all k = 2, 3, ..., n - d + 2, we obtain

$$A'_2 = A'_3 = \dots = A'_{n-d+2} = 0.$$

From (5.34) we thus find

$$\begin{bmatrix}n\\j\end{bmatrix}_{b}|Y| + \begin{bmatrix}n-1\\j-1\end{bmatrix}_{b}A'_{1} = (-1)^{j}b^{nj}\left(\begin{bmatrix}n\\j\end{bmatrix}_{b} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-d}A_{n-k}\begin{bmatrix}k\\j\end{bmatrix}_{b}\right)$$

for all j = 0, 1, ..., n - d. Applying the *q*-binomial inversion formula (4.10) gives

$$A_{n-i} = \sum_{j=i}^{n-d} (-1)^{j-i} b^{\binom{j-i}{2}} {j \brack i}_{b} \left({n \brack j}_{b} \frac{(-1)^{j} |Y|}{b^{nj}} + {n-1 \brack j-1}_{b} \frac{(-1)^{j} A_{1}'}{b^{nj}} - {n \brack j}_{b} \right)$$
(5.35)

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - d. It remains to compute A'_1 . Set j = n - d + 1 in (5.34) to obtain

$$\begin{bmatrix} n \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} |Y| + \begin{bmatrix} n-1 \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} A'_{1} = (-1)^{n+1} q^{n(n-d+1)} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b}.$$

This gives

$$A'_{1} = \frac{b^{n} - 1}{b^{n-d+1} - 1} \left((-1)^{n+1} q^{n(n-d+1)} - |Y| \right).$$

By substituting this into (5.35) and doing some elementary manipulations, we have

$$A_{n-i} = \sum_{j=i}^{n-d} (-1)^{j-i} b^{\binom{j-i}{2}} {j \brack i}_b \left({n \brack j}_b \left((-1)^j \frac{|Y|}{b^{nj}} - 1 \right) - {n-1 \brack j-1}_b \frac{b^n - 1}{b^{n-d+1} - 1} \left((-1)^j \frac{|Y|}{b^{nj}} + (-1)^{n+j} b^{n(n-d+1-j)} \right) \right)$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - d. After some elementary manipulations, the desired expression of the inner distribution follows.

We now derive the dual distribution.

Proposition 5.3.13. Let *n* and *d* be integers with $2 \le d \le n$ and even *d*. Assume that *Y* is a *d*-code in Her_q(*n*) of size (5.4). Then the dual distribution (A'_k) of *Y* satisfies

$$A_1' = \frac{b^n - 1}{b^{n-d+1} - 1} \left((-1)^{n+1} q^{n(n-d+1)} - |Y| \right)$$

and for all k = 0, 1, ..., n - 2,

$$A'_{n-k} = \sum_{j=0}^{d-k-3} (-1)^{n-k} b^{\binom{j}{2}+n(n-j-k)} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ k \end{bmatrix}_b \begin{bmatrix} n-k \\ j \end{bmatrix}_b (1-\delta_{k,j}),$$

where

$$\delta_{k,j} = (-1)^{n-j-k} \frac{|Y|}{b^{n(n-j-k)}} - (-1)^{n-j-k} \frac{(b^{n-j-k}-1)}{(b^{n-d+1}-1)} \frac{(|Y| + (-1)^n q^{n(n-d+1)})}{b^{n(n-j-k)}}$$

for all $j = 0, 1, \dots, d-k-3$.

Proof. Let (A_i) and (A'_k) denote the inner and dual distribution of Y, respectively. Recall from Proposition 5.3.12 that $A'_1, A'_2, \ldots, A'_{n-d+2}$ were already determined with $A'_2 = \cdots = A'_{n-d+2} = 0$. Since Y is a *d*-code, we also have $A_1 = \cdots = A_{d-1} = 0$. Combine this with (5.34) to obtain

$$\sum_{k=n-d+3}^{j} {n-k \brack n-j}_{b} A'_{k} = {n \brack j}_{b} ((-1)^{j} b^{nj} - |Y|) - {n-1 \brack j-1}_{b} A'_{1}$$

for all j = n - d + 3, ..., n. Changing the index j and interchanging the order of summation give

$$\sum_{k=j}^{d-3} {k \brack j}_{b} A'_{n-k} = {n \brack j}_{b} \left((-1)^{n-j} b^{n(n-j)} - |Y| \right) - {n-1 \brack j}_{b} A'_{1}$$

for all j = 0, 1, ..., d - 3. By applying the *q*-binomial inversion formula (4.10), we have

$$A'_{n-k} = \sum_{j=k}^{d-3} (-1)^{j-k} b^{\binom{j-k}{2}} {j \brack k}_b \left({n \choose j}_b \left((-1)^{n-j} b^{n(n-j)} - |Y| \right) - {n-1 \choose j}_b A'_1 \right)$$

for all k = 0, 1, ..., d - 3. Using (5.33) and doing some manipulations give

$$\begin{split} A'_{n-k} &= \sum_{j=k}^{d-3} (-1)^{j-k} b^{\binom{j-k}{2}} {j \brack k} {n \brack j}_{b} {n \brack j}_{b} \\ &\times \left((-1)^{n-j} b^{n(n-j)} - |Y| - \frac{b^{n-j} - 1}{b^{n-d+1} - 1} \left((-1)^{n+1} q^{n(n-d+1)} - |Y| \right) \right). \end{split}$$

Interchanging the order of summation implies the stated expression of the dual distribution. $\hfill \Box$

To show that the inner and dual distribution given in Proposition 5.3.12 and 5.3.13, respectively, are nonnegative, we write

$$\gamma(n,d) = (-b^n)^{n-d+1}\delta(n,d)$$

with

$$\delta(n,d) = \frac{(b^{n-d+2}-1) + b^n(b^{n-d+1}-1)}{b^{n-d+2} - b^{n-d+1}}$$

where *d* is assumed to be even. Observe that (5.4) equals $\gamma(n, d)$. We first need some bounds on $\gamma(n, d)$.

Lemma 5.3.14. *Let n and d be integers, where* $2 \le d \le n$ *and d is even. Then we have*

$$\frac{1}{3}q^{n(n-d+2)-1} \le \gamma(n,d) \le \frac{1}{2}q^{n(n-d+2)}.$$
(5.36)

Proof. For odd *n*, we have

$$\gamma(n,d) = q^{n(n-d+1)} \frac{q^{n-d+2} + 1 + q^n(q^{n-d+1} - 1)}{q^{n-d+2} + q^{n-d+1}},$$
(5.37)

and for even *n*,

$$\gamma(n,d) = q^{n(n-d+1)} \frac{-q^{n-d+2} + 1 + q^n(q^{n-d+1} + 1)}{q^{n-d+2} + q^{n-d+1}}.$$
 (5.38)

Hence, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \gamma(n,d) &\leq q^{n(n-d+1)} \; \frac{q^{2n-d+1}+q^n-q^{n-d+2}+1}{q^{n-d+1}(q+1)} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{3} q^{n(n-d+1)} \; \frac{q^{2n-d+1}+q^n}{q^{n-d+1}}. \end{split}$$

This gives

$$\gamma(n,d) \leq \frac{1}{3}q^{n(n-d+2)}\left(1+\frac{1}{q^{n-d+1}}\right) \leq \frac{1}{2}q^{n(n-d+2)}.$$

From (5.37) and (5.38), we see that

$$\gamma(n,d) \ge q^{n(n-d+1)} \frac{q^{2n-d+1}-q^n+q^{n-d+2}+1}{q^{n-d+1}(q+1)}.$$

We have

$$\frac{q^{2n-d+1}-q^n+q^{n-d+2}+1}{q^{n-d+1}(q+1)} \ge \frac{q^{2n-d+1}-q^n}{q^{n-d+1}(q+1)} = q^{n-1}\frac{\left(1-\frac{1}{q^{n-d+1}}\right)}{\left(1+\frac{1}{q}\right)} \ge \frac{1}{3}q^{n-1}.$$

Thus, we obtain

$$\gamma(n,d) \geq \frac{1}{3}q^{n(n-d+2)-1},$$

which completes the proof.

To prove the nonnegativity of the inner distribution (A_i) given in Proposition 5.3.12, we rewrite it by doing some elementary manipulations and interchanging the order of summation and obtain

$$A_{n-i} = \sum_{j=0}^{n-d-i} a_{i,j} \tag{5.39}$$

with $a_{i,j} = a'_{i,j}(1 - \varepsilon_{i,j})$, where

$$a'_{i,j} = (-1)^{i} b^{\binom{j}{2} - n(j+i)} {n \brack i}_{b} {n-i \brack j}_{b} |Y|$$
(5.40)

and

$$\varepsilon_{i,j} = (-1)^{j+i} \frac{b^{n(j+i)}}{|Y|} + \frac{b^{j+i} - 1}{b^{n-d+1} - 1} \left(1 + (-1)^n \frac{q^{n(n-d+1)}}{|Y|} \right)$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - d and j = 0, 1, ..., n - d - i.

We start by deriving bounds on $1 - \varepsilon_{i,j}$.

Lemma 5.3.15. Let *n* and *d* be integers, where $2 \le d < n$ and *d* is even. For $0 \le i + j \le n - d$, we have

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} \ge \begin{cases} \frac{29}{32} & \text{for } n \text{ and } i + j \text{ odd} \\ \frac{125}{128} & \text{for } n \text{ and } i + j \text{ even} \\ \frac{186}{256} & \text{for odd } n \text{ and even } i + j \\ \frac{31}{64} & \text{for even } n \text{ and odd } i + j \end{cases}$$

and

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} \leq \begin{cases} 2 & \text{for } n \text{ and } i + j \text{ odd} \\ \frac{27}{16} & \text{for } n \text{ and } i + j \text{ even} \\ 1 & \text{for odd } n \text{ and even } i + j \\ \frac{2051}{2048} & \text{for even } n \text{ and odd } i + j. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, for odd $n \ge 3$ *, we have*

$$1-\varepsilon_{0,0}\geq \frac{253}{256}.$$

Proof. We have to look at four different cases depending on the parity of n and i + j.

Assume that $n \ge 3$ and i + j are odd, hence $1 \le i + j \le n - d$. We have

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} = 1 - \frac{q^{n(j+i)}}{|Y|} + \frac{q^{j+i} + 1}{q^{n-d+1} - 1} \left(1 - \frac{q^{n(n-d+1)}}{|Y|} \right).$$
(5.41)

By using the lower bound from (5.36), we obtain

$$1 - arepsilon_{i,j} \geq 1 - rac{3}{q^{n(n-d-j-i+2)-1}} \geq rac{29}{32}.$$

Moreover, applying the lower bound from (5.36) to (5.41) gives

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} \le 1 + \frac{q^{j+i} + 1}{q^{n-d+1} - 1} \le 1 + \frac{q^{n-d} + 1}{q^{n-d+1} - 1} \le 2,$$

where the last inequality holds since $n - d \ge 1$.

Assume that $n \ge 4$ and i + j are even, thus $0 \le i + j \le n - d$. We have

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} = 1 - \frac{q^{n(j+i)}}{|Y|} + \frac{q^{j+i} - 1}{q^{n-d+1} + 1} \left(1 + \frac{q^{n(n-d+1)}}{|Y|} \right).$$
(5.42)

Because of the lower bound from (5.36), we obtain

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} \ge 1 - \frac{3}{q^{n(n-d-j-i+2)-1}} \ge \frac{125}{128}$$

Applying the lower bound from (5.36) to (5.42) gives

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} \le 1 + \frac{q^{j+i} - 1}{q^{n-d+1} + 1} \left(1 + \frac{3}{q^{n-1}} \right) \le \frac{27}{16}.$$

Assume that $n \ge 3$ is odd and i + j is even, thus $0 \le i + j \le n - d - 1$. Then we have

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} = 1 - \frac{q^{n(j+i)}}{|Y|} - \frac{q^{j+i} - 1}{q^{n-d+1} - 1} \left(1 - \frac{q^{n(n-d+1)}}{|Y|} \right).$$

The bounds from (5.36) imply

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} \ge 1 - \frac{3}{q^{n(n-d-j-i+2)-1}} - \frac{q^{j+i} - 1}{q^{n-d+1} - 1}$$

Applying (3.19) and $i + j \le n - d - 1$ gives

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} \ge 1 - \frac{3}{q^{3n-1}} - \frac{1}{q^2} \ge \frac{186}{256}.$$

Moreover, we obtain

$$1 - \varepsilon_{0,0} = 1 - \frac{1}{|Y|} \ge 1 - \frac{3}{q^{n(n-d+2)-1}} \ge \frac{253}{256}.$$

Because of the lower bound from (5.36), we also have

$$1-\varepsilon_{i,j}\leq 1.$$

Assume that $n \ge 4$ is even and i + j is odd, hence $1 \le i + j \le n - d - 1$. Then we have

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} = 1 + \frac{q^{n(j+i)}}{|Y|} - \frac{q^{j+i} + 1}{q^{n-d+1} + 1} \left(1 + \frac{q^{n(n-d+1)}}{|Y|} \right).$$

Using the lower bound from (5.36) gives

$$\begin{split} 1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} &\geq 1 - \frac{q^{j+i} + 1}{q^{n-d+1} + 1} \left(1 + \frac{3}{q^{n-1}} \right) \\ &\geq 1 - \frac{1}{q^2} \left(1 + \frac{1}{q^{n-d-1}} \right) \left(1 + \frac{3}{q^{n-1}} \right) \\ &\geq \frac{31}{64}. \end{split}$$

We also obtain

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} \le 1 + \frac{3}{q^{n(n-d-j-i+2)-1}} \le 1 + \frac{3}{q^{3n-1}} < \frac{2051}{2048}.$$

This finishes the proof.

We can now prove the nonnegativity of the inner distribution.

Proposition 5.3.16. For $2 \le d \le n$, all entries of the inner distribution (A_i) given in Proposition 5.3.12 are nonnegative.

Proof. Let (A_i) be given in (5.39).

First, assume that n = d. Then n is even and we only have to show that $A_n \ge 0$. We have

$$A_n = |Y| - 1 \ge \frac{1}{3}q^{2n-1} \ge 0.$$

So, we henceforth assume that $2 \le d < n$. Since $1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} > 0$ for all i, j by Lemma 5.3.15, the sign of $a_{i,j}$ is $(-1)^{\binom{j}{2}+ij+j}$. Hence, for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - d,

we have $sign(a_{i,2j}) = 1$ if $j \ge 0$ is even and $sign(a_{i,2j+1}) = 1$ if $j + i \equiv 1 \pmod{2}$. In all other cases, we have $sign(a_{i,j}) = -1$. We will show that $a_{i,j}$ satisfies (5.15). Observe that this will prove the nonnegativity of the inner distribution.

Take $i \in \{0, 1, ..., n - d\}$. For all j = 0, 1, ..., n - d - i - 2, by using (5.12), we obtain

$$\frac{|a'_{i,j}|}{|a'_{i,j+2}|} = \frac{q^{\binom{j}{2} - n(j+i)} \left| \binom{n-i}{j}_{b} \right|}{q^{\binom{j+2}{2} - n(j+i+2)} \left| \binom{n-i}{j+2}_{b} \right|} \ge q^{2j+2i+1}.$$
(5.43)

Assume that $n \ge 4$. By using Lemma 5.3.15, we deduce

$$\frac{1 - \varepsilon_{i,j}}{1 - \varepsilon_{i,j+2}} \ge \begin{cases} \frac{29}{64} & \text{for } n \text{ and } i + j \text{ odd} \\ \frac{125}{216} & \text{for } n \text{ and } i + j \text{ even} \\ \frac{186}{256} & \text{for odd } n \text{ and even } i + j \\ \frac{992}{2051} & \text{for even } n \text{ and odd } i + j \end{cases}$$

for all *i*, *j* with $0 \le i + j \le n - d$. We thus obtain

$$\frac{|a_{i,j}|}{|a_{i,j+2}|} = \frac{|a'_{i,j}|(1-\varepsilon_{i,j})}{|a'_{i,j+2}|(1-\varepsilon_{i,j+2})} \ge q^{2j+2i+1}\frac{1-\varepsilon_{i,j}}{1-\varepsilon_{i,j+2}} \ge 1$$

for all *i*, *j* with $i + j \ge 0$.

It remains to show that

$$\frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}| + |a_{i,2}|} \ge 1$$

for all even $n \ge 3$ and $i \ge 0$. Thus, let $i \ge 0$ be even. Then, by using (5.13) and (5.14), we have

$$\frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}| + |a_{i,2}|} = \frac{1 - \varepsilon_{i,0}}{q^{-n} |\binom{n-i}{1}_{b}| (1 - \varepsilon_{i,1}) + q^{1-2n} |\binom{n-i}{2}_{b}| (1 - \varepsilon_{i,2})}$$
$$\geq \frac{1 - \varepsilon_{i,0}}{q^{-i-1} (1 - \varepsilon_{i,1}) + \frac{1}{3} q^{-2i-1} (1 - \varepsilon_{i,2})}.$$

Together with Lemma 5.3.15, this gives

$$\frac{|a_{i,0}|}{a_{i,1}|+|a_{i,2}|} \ge 1$$

for all $n \ge 3$ and all even $i \ge 0$ except for odd $n \ge 3$ and i = 0. In the latter case, by using (5.13), (5.14), and Lemma 5.3.15, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|a_{0,0}|}{|a_{0,1}| + |a_{0,2}|} &= \frac{1 - \varepsilon_{0,0}}{q^{-n} |\binom{n}{1}_{b}| (1 - \varepsilon_{0,1}) + q^{1-2n} |\binom{n}{2}_{b}| (1 - \varepsilon_{0,2})} \\ &\geq \frac{1 - \varepsilon_{0,0}}{\frac{(1 + q^{-n})}{(q+1)} (1 - \varepsilon_{0,1}) + \frac{(1 + q^{-n})}{(q+1)(q^{2} - 1)} (1 - \varepsilon_{0,2})} \\ &\geq 1. \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof.

It remains to show the nonnegativity of the dual distribution.

Proposition 5.3.17. For $2 \le d \le n$, all entries of the dual distribution (A'_k) given in Proposition 5.3.13 are nonnegative.

Proof. Let (A'_k) be given in Proposition 5.3.13.

First, we have

$$\begin{aligned} A_1' &= \frac{b^n - 1}{b^{n-d+1} - 1} \left((-1)^{n+1} q^{n(n-d+1)} - |Y| \right) \\ &= \frac{q^n - (-1)^n}{q^{n-d+1} + (-1)^n} \left(|Y| + (-1)^n q^{n(n-d+1)} \right). \end{aligned}$$

From Lemma 5.3.14, we find $A'_1 \ge 0$. In particular, this proves the proposition for d = 2. Henceforth, we assume $4 \le d \le n$. We write

$$A'_{n-k} = \sum_{j=0}^{d-k-3} b_{k,j}$$

with $b_{k,j} = b'_{k,j}(1 - \delta_{k,j})$, where $\delta_{k,j}$ as in Proposition 5.3.13 and

$$b'_{k,j} = (-1)^{n-k} b^{\binom{j}{2} + n(n-j-k)} {n \brack k} {n-k \brack j}_{b}$$

for all k = 0, 1, ..., d - 3 and j = 0, 1, ..., d - k - 3.

First, we look at $\delta_{k,j}$. For $0 \le k + j \le d - 3$, applying the upper bound from (5.36) gives

$$\begin{aligned} |\delta_{k,j}| &\leq \frac{|Y|}{q^{n(n-j-k)}} + \frac{(q^{n-j-k}+1)(|Y|+q^{n(n-d+1)})}{q^{n(n-j-k)}(q^{n-d+1}-1)} \\ &\leq \frac{q^{n(n-d+2)}}{2q^{n(n-j-k)}} + \frac{(q^{n-j-k}+1)(\frac{1}{2}q^{n(n-d+2)}+q^{n(n-d+1)})}{q^{n(n-j-k)}(q^{n-d+1}-1)}. \end{aligned}$$

Using $k + j \le d - 3$ and doing some elementary manipulations imply

$$|\delta_{k,j}| \le \frac{1}{2q^n} + \left(\frac{1}{q^{d-3}} + \frac{1}{q^n}\right) \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{q^n}\right) \le \frac{89}{256}$$

for all $n \ge 4$. This gives

$$\frac{1 - |\delta_{k,j}|}{1 + |\delta_{k,\ell}|} \ge \frac{167}{345} \tag{5.44}$$

for all $k, j, \ell \ge 0$ with $k + j \le d - 3$ and $k + \ell \le d - 3$. In particular, we have $1 - \delta_{k,j} > 0$ and hence, the sign of $b_{k,j}$ is $(-1)^{\binom{j}{2}+kj+j}$. Thus, for all $k = 0, 1, \ldots, d - 3$, we have sign $(b_{k,2j}) = 1$ if j is even and sign $(b_{k,2j+1}) = 1$ if $j + k \equiv 1 \pmod{2}$. In the other cases, we have sign $(b_{k,j}) = -1$.

We will now show that $b_{k,j}$ has the same properties as $a_{k,j}$ in (5.15). Observe that this will prove the nonnegativity of the dual distribution.

We have $b'_{k,j} = \frac{q^{n^2}}{|Y|} a'_{k,j}$ for $a'_{k,j}$ as in (5.40). Because of (5.43), we conclude

$$\frac{|b_{k,j}|}{|b_{k,j+2}|} \ge \frac{|a'_{k,j}|}{|a'_{k,j+2}|} \frac{(1-|\delta_{k,j}|)}{(1+|\delta_{k,j+2}|)} \ge \frac{167}{345}q^{2j+2k+1} > 1$$

for all $k, j \ge 0$ with $(k, j) \ne (0, 0)$.

It remains to show that

$$\frac{|b_{k,0}|}{|b_{k,1}| + |b_{k,2}|} \ge 1$$

for all even $k \ge 0$. Let $k \ge 0$ be even. From (5.44), (5.13), and (5.14), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|b_{k,0}|}{|b_{k,1}|+|b_{k,2}|} &\geq \frac{167}{345} \frac{1}{\left(q^{-n}|\binom{n-k}{1}_b|+q^{1-2n}|\binom{n-k}{2}_b|\right)} \\ &\geq \frac{167}{345} \frac{1}{(q^{-k-1}+\frac{1}{3}q^{-2k-1})}. \end{aligned}$$

This gives

$$\frac{|b_{k,0}|}{|b_{k,1}| + |b_{k,2}|} \ge 1$$

for all $k \ge 2$. Similarly to the estimation of $|\delta_{k,j}|$, we obtain

$$|\delta_{0,0}| \le \frac{1}{2q^{n(d-2)}} + \left(\frac{1}{q^{n(d-3)}} + \frac{1}{q^{n(d-2)}}\right) \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{q^n}\right) \le \frac{161}{4096}$$

for all *n*, *d* with $4 \le d \le n$. Hence, we have

$$\frac{|b_{0,0}|}{|b_{0,1}|+|b_{0,2}|} \geq \frac{1}{(q^{-1}+\frac{1}{3}q^{-1})} \frac{(1-\frac{161}{4096})}{(1+\frac{89}{256})} \geq 1.$$

This completes the proof.

Combining Proposition 5.3.16 and 5.3.17 proves Proposition 5.3.11.

5.3.4 The Hermitian polar space ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and even d

The goal of this subsection is to prove the following proposition.

Proposition 5.3.18. Let X be the set of generators in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and let d be an even integer with $2 \le d \le n$. Then there exists a feasible solution of the primal LP (2.20) for d-codes in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ with objective function value (5.2).

Observe that Proposition 5.3.18 and 5.2.4 together with the Strong duality theorem 2.2.2 imply the second part of Theorem 5.1.1(a).

We will use the same approach as for odd *d* and compute the inner and dual distribution of a *d*-code in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ of size (5.2). However, the expressions for the inner and dual distribution are slightly more complicated if *d* is even.

This comes from the fact that for even *d*, the first entry of the dual distribution is nonzero whereas for odd *d*, we obtain an (n - d + 1)-design.

We start by computing the inner distribution. To do so, we write the LP optimum (5.2) as

$$\operatorname{LP}(d) = |X| \frac{(q)_{d-1}}{(b^{n+1})_{d-1}} \varepsilon(n, d),$$

where d is assumed to be even and

$$\varepsilon(n,d) = \frac{((-q)^{n-d+2} - 1) + q \frac{(-q)^{n+d-2} - 1}{q(-q)^{d-2} - 1}((-q)^{n-d+1} - 1)}{((-q)^{n-d+2} - 1) + q \frac{(-q)^{n+d-2} - 1}{(-q)^{n+d-1} - 1}((-q)^{n-d+1} - 1)}.$$
(5.45)

Thus, a code Y of size (5.2) satisfies

$$|Y| = |X| \frac{(q)_{d-1}}{(b^{n+1})_{d-1}} \varepsilon(n, d).$$
(5.46)

We can now derive the inner distribution.

Proposition 5.3.19. Let X be the set of generators in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and let d be an even integer with $2 \le d \le n$. Assume that Y is a d-code in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ of size (5.2). Let (A_i) and (A'_k) be the inner and dual distribution of Y, respectively, in terms of the orderings imposed by (2.52) and (2.53). Then we have

$$\begin{split} A_{n-i} &= \frac{|Y|}{|X|} \sum_{j=i}^{n-d} (-1)^{j-i} b^{\binom{j-i}{2}} {j \brack i}_{b} {n \brack j}_{b} \frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} \\ &\times \left(1 - (1 - \varepsilon(n,d)^{-1}) b^{n-j-d+1} \frac{(b^{n+d-1} - 1)(b^{j} - 1)}{(b^{n-d+1} - 1)(b^{2n-j} - 1)} \right) \\ &- \frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-d+1}} \varepsilon(n,d)^{-1} \right) \end{split}$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - 1. Moreover, we have $A'_{2} = \cdots = A'_{n-d+2} = 0$ and

$$A'_{1} = |X|b^{-d+1}\frac{(q)_{d-1}}{(b^{n})_{d-1}}\frac{(b^{n}-1)}{(b^{n-d+1}-1)}(1-\varepsilon(n,d)).$$
(5.47)

Proof. Recall the formulae (3.13) and (3.16) from the proof of Theorem 3.2.1, namely we have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{j} b^{k(n-j)} {n-k \brack n-j}_{b} \frac{(b^{n-k+1})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} A'_{k} = |X| \sum_{i=0}^{n} A_{i} {n-i \brack j}_{b}$$
(5.48)

for all j = 0, 1, ..., n and

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n-d+2} (x_k - y_k) A'_k$$

= $|X| b^{d-2} \frac{(b^n)_{d-2}}{(q)_{d-2}} \left({n-1 \brack d-2}_b {n \brack d-1}_b + q {n-1 \brack d-1}_b {n-2 \brack b} \frac{b^{n+d-2}-1}{qb^{d-2}-1} \right)$
(5.49)

with x_k and y_k as in (3.15), where all coefficients of A'_k on the left-hand side of (5.49) are nonnegative. Using $A'_0 = |Y|$ and doing some elementary manipulations give

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n-d+2} (x_k - y_k) A'_k = 0.$$

Since $x_1 = y_1$ and $x_k \neq y_k$ for all $k \ge 2$, we obtain

$$A'_2 = A'_3 = \dots = A'_{n-d+2} = 0.$$

We therefore find from (5.48) that

$$\begin{bmatrix} n \\ j \end{bmatrix}_{b} \frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} |Y| + b^{n-j} \begin{bmatrix} n-1 \\ j-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \frac{(b^{n})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} A'_{1} = |X| \left(\begin{bmatrix} n \\ j \end{bmatrix}_{b} + \sum_{k=0}^{n-d} A_{n-k} \begin{bmatrix} k \\ j \end{bmatrix}_{b} \right)$$

for all j = 0, 1, ..., n - d. Applying the *q*-binomial inversion formula (4.10) gives

$$A_{n-i} = \frac{1}{|X|} \sum_{j=i}^{n-d} (-1)^{j-i} b^{\binom{j-i}{2}} {j \brack i}_{b} \times \left({n \brack j}_{b} \frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} |Y| + b^{n-j} {n-1 \brack j-1}_{b} \frac{(b^{n})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} A'_{1} - |X| {n \brack j}_{b} \right)$$
(5.50)

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - d. It remains to compute A'_1 . Set j = n - d + 1 in (5.48) to obtain

$$\begin{bmatrix} n \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \frac{(b^{n+1})_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-1}} |Y| + b^{d-1} \begin{bmatrix} n-1 \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b} \frac{(b^{n})_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-1}} A'_{1} = |X| \begin{bmatrix} n \\ d-1 \end{bmatrix}_{b}.$$

This implies

$$A'_{1} = b^{-d+1} \frac{(q)_{d-1}}{(b^{n})_{d-1}} \frac{{\binom{n}{d-1}}_{b}}{{\binom{n-1}{d-1}}_{b}} \left(|X| - \frac{(b^{n+1})_{d-1}}{(q)_{d-1}} |Y| \right).$$

Using (5.46) gives

$$A'_{1} = |X|b^{-d+1}\frac{(q)_{d-1}}{(b^{n})_{d-1}}\frac{(b^{n}-1)}{(b^{n-d+1}-1)}(1-\varepsilon(n,d)).$$

By substituting this into (5.50) and doing some elementary manipulations, we obtain

$$\begin{split} A_{n-i} &= \frac{|Y|}{|X|} \sum_{j=i}^{n-d} (-1)^{j-i} b^{\binom{j-i}{2}} {j \brack i} {n \brack j} \frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} \times \left(1 - \frac{|X|}{|Y|} \frac{(q)_{n-j}}{(b^{n+1})_{n-j}} \right. \\ &+ \frac{|X|}{|Y|} (1 - \varepsilon(n, d)) b^{n-j-d+1} \frac{(b^j - 1)(b^n - 1)}{(b^{n-d+1} - 1)(b^{2n-j} - 1)} \frac{(q)_{d-1}}{(b^n)_{d-1}} \right) \end{split}$$

Using (5.46) and applying (3.5) give the desired expression of A_{n-i} .

We can now compute the dual distribution.

Proposition 5.3.20. Let X be the set of generators in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and let d be an even integer with $2 \le d \le n$. Assume that Y is a d-code in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ of size (5.2). Let (A'_{k}) be the dual distribution of Y in terms of the second ordering imposed by (2.53). Then we have

$$A'_{1} = |X|b^{-d+1}\frac{(q)_{d-1}}{(b^{n})_{d-1}}\frac{(b^{n}-1)}{(b^{n-d+1}-1)}(1-\varepsilon(n,d)),$$

and for all k = 0, 1, ..., n - 2,

$$A'_{n-k} = c_k \sum_{j=0}^{d-k-3} b^{\binom{j}{2}-nj} \frac{(b^{-n-1-k})_{n-k-j}}{(-b^{-n})_{n-k-j}} {n-k \brack j} {n-k \brack j}_b (1-\delta_{k,j}),$$
(5.51)

where $c_k = \mu'_{n-k} b^{\binom{n-k}{2} - n(n-k)} \frac{(qb^k)_{n-k}}{(-b^{-n})_{n-k}}$ with μ'_{n-k} given in Table 2.3 and

$$\delta_{k,j} = \varepsilon(n,d) \frac{(qb^{k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}{(b^{n+k+j+1})_{d-k-j-1}} + (1 - \varepsilon(n,d))b^{k+j-d+1} \frac{(b^{n-k-j}-1)}{(b^{n-d+1}-1)} \frac{(qb^{k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}{(b^{n+k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}$$
(5.52)

for all j = 0, 1, ..., d - k - 3. In particular, we have $A'_2 = A'_3 = \cdots = A'_{n-d+2} = 0$.

Proof. First, observe that $A'_1, A'_2, \ldots, A'_{n-d+2}$ were already determined in Proposition 5.3.19 with $A'_2 = A'_3 = \cdots = A'_{n-d+2} = 0$. To obtain A'_{n-k} for $k = 0, 1, \ldots d - 3$, we proceed similarly as in the case of odd d and solve a system of linear equations by using the inverse matrix from Lemma 5.3.6. As in (5.26), we have

$$\sum_{k=0}^{j} b^{k(n-j)} {n-k \brack n-j}_{b} \frac{(b^{n-k+1})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} A'_{k} = |X| {n \brack j}_{b}$$

for all j = n - d + 1, ..., n. Use $A'_2 = A'_3 = \cdots = A'_{n-d+2} = 0$ to obtain

$$\sum_{k=n-d+3}^{j} b^{k(n-j)} {n-k \choose n-j}_{b} \frac{(b^{n-k+1})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} A'_{k}$$
$$= |X| {n \choose j}_{b} - {n \choose j}_{b} \frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} |Y| - b^{n-j} {n-1 \choose n-j}_{b} \frac{(b^{n})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} A'_{1} \quad (5.53)$$

for all j = n - d + 3, ..., n. By using (5.46) and (5.47), the right-hand side of (5.53) can be written as

$$\begin{aligned} |X| {n \brack j}_{b} \left(1 - \varepsilon(n,d) \frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-j}(q)_{d-1}}{(b^{n+1})_{d-1}(q)_{n-j}} \right. \\ &- (1 - \varepsilon(n,d)) b^{n-j-d+1} \frac{(b^{j}-1)}{(b^{n-d+1}-1)} \frac{(b^{n})_{n-j}(q)_{d-1}}{(b^{n})_{d-1}(q)_{n-j}} \end{aligned}$$

By applying (3.5), we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{k=n-d+3}^{j} b^{k(n-j)} \begin{bmatrix} n-k\\n-j \end{bmatrix}_{b} \frac{(b^{n-k+1})_{n-j}}{(q)_{n-j}} A'_{k} \\ &= |X| \begin{bmatrix} n\\j \end{bmatrix}_{b} \left(1 - \varepsilon(n,d) \frac{(qb^{n-j})_{d-n+j-1}}{(b^{2n-j+1})_{d-n+j-1}} \right) \\ &- (1 - \varepsilon(n,d)) b^{n-j-d+1} \frac{(b^{j}-1)}{(b^{n-d+1}-1)} \frac{(qb^{n-j})_{d-n+j-1}}{(b^{2n-j})_{d-n+j-1}} \right). \end{split}$$

Similarly as in the case of odd d, we multiply the matrix QC^{-1} from Lemma 5.3.6, which gives

$$\begin{split} A'_{k} &= \mu'_{k} b^{-(2n+1)k+k^{2}} \frac{(qb^{n-k})_{k}}{(-b^{-n})_{k}} \sum_{j=n-d+3}^{n} b^{\binom{j}{2}+j} \frac{(b^{-k})_{j} (b^{-2n-1+k})_{j}}{(b^{-n})_{j} (-b^{-n})_{j}} {n \brack j}_{b} \\ &\times \left(1 - \varepsilon(n,d) \frac{(qb^{n-j})_{d-n+j-1}}{(b^{2n-j+1})_{d-n+j-1}} - (1 - \varepsilon(n,d)) b^{n-j-d+1} \frac{(b^{j}-1)}{(b^{n-d+1}-1)} \frac{(qb^{n-j})_{d-n+j-1}}{(b^{2n-j})_{d-n+j-1}} \right). \end{split}$$

Apply (2.30) to obtain

$$\begin{split} A'_{n-k} &= \mu'_{n-k} b^{-(n-k)(n+k+1)} \frac{(qb^k)_{n-k}}{(-b^{-n})_{n-k}} \sum_{j=n-d+3}^{n-k} b^{\binom{j}{2}+j+kj} \frac{(b^{-n-1-k})_j}{(-b^{-n})_j} {n-k \choose j}_b \\ &\times \left(1 - \varepsilon(n,d) \frac{(qb^{n-j})_{d-n+j-1}}{(b^{2n-j+1})_{d-n+j-1}} - (1 - \varepsilon(n,d)) b^{n-j-d+1} \frac{(b^j-1)}{(b^{n-d+1}-1)} \frac{(qb^{n-j})_{d-n+j-1}}{(b^{2n-j})_{d-n+j-1}} \right). \end{split}$$

Changing the order of summation and doing some elementary manipulations give the stated expression of A'_{n-k} .

Proving the nonnegativity of both distributions requires the following bounds on $\varepsilon(n, d)$.

Lemma 5.3.21. Let *n* and *d* be integers, where $2 \le d \le n$ and *d* is even. Then we have

$$\varepsilon(n,d) > \begin{cases} -\frac{q^{n+d-1}+1}{q^{d-1}-1} & \text{for even } n\\ \frac{1}{2}q^{d-2}(q^{n-d+1}-1) & \text{for odd } n \end{cases}$$
(5.54)

and

$$\varepsilon(n,d) < \begin{cases} -\frac{q^n}{q+1} & \text{for even } n\\ \\ \frac{q^{n+d-1}-1}{q^{d-1}-1} & \text{for odd } n. \end{cases}$$
(5.55)

Proof. Since d is even, we find from (5.45) that

$$(-1)^{n+1}\varepsilon(n,d) = \frac{-q^{n-d+2} + (-1)^n + (-1)^n q \frac{q^{n+d-2} - (-1)^n}{q^{d-1} - 1} (q^{n-d+1} + (-1)^n)}{(-1)^n q^{n-d+2} - 1 + (-1)^n q \frac{q^{n+d-2} - (-1)^n}{q^{n+d-2} - (-1)^n} (q^{n-d+1} + (-1)^n)}.$$

In (3.26), it was shown that

$$(-1)^{n+1}\varepsilon(n,d) < \frac{q^{n+d-1}+(-1)^n}{q^{d-1}-1},$$

which implies the stated lower and upper bound for even n and odd n, respectively. Assume that n is even. Then we have

$$(-1)^{n+1}\varepsilon(n,d) = \frac{-q^{n-d+2}+1+q\frac{q^{n+d-2}-1}{q^{d-1}-1}(q^{n-d+1}+1)}{q^{n-d+2}-1+q\frac{q^{n+d-2}-1}{q^{n+d-1}+1}(q^{n-d+1}+1)}.$$

Using (5.11) gives

$$\frac{q^{n+d-2}-1}{q^{d-1}-1} \ge q^{n-1}$$

and we also have

$$\frac{q^{n+d-2}-1}{q^{n+d-1}+1} \le \frac{1}{q}.$$

We thus obtain

$$(-1)^{n+1}\varepsilon(n,d) \ge \frac{-q^{n-d+2}+1+q^{2n-d+1}+q^n}{q^{n-d+2}+q^{n-d+1}}$$
$$> \frac{q^{2n-d+1}}{q^{n-d+2}+q^{n-d+1}}$$
$$= \frac{q^n}{q+1},$$

as stated. For odd *n*, we have

$$(-1)^{n+1}\varepsilon(n,d) = \frac{q^{n-d+2}+1+q\frac{q^{n+d-2}+1}{q^{d-1}-1}(q^{n-d+1}-1)}{q^{n-d+2}+1+q\frac{q^{n+d-2}+1}{q^{n+d-1}-1}(q^{n-d+1}-1)}.$$

Because of

$$rac{q^{n+d-2}+1}{q^{d-1}-1} \ge q^{n-1}$$
 and $rac{q^{n+d-2}+1}{q^{n+d-1}-1} \le 1$,

we obtain

$$(-1)^{n+1}\varepsilon(n,d) \ge \frac{q^{n-d+2}+1+q^n(q^{n-d+1}-1)}{q^{n-d+2}+1+q(q^{n-d+1}-1)}.$$

Observe that it holds

$$q^{n-d+2} + 1 > \frac{1}{2}(-q^n + q^{n-1} + q^{d-1} - q^{d-2})$$

since $-q^n + q^{n-1} + q^{d-1} \le 0$. This can be used to show, by elementary manipulations, that

$$\begin{split} q^{n-d+2} + 1 + q^n (q^{n-d+1} - 1) \\ &> \frac{1}{2} q^{d-2} (q^{n-d+1} - 1) \left(q^{n-d+2} + 1 + q (q^{n-d+1} - 1) \right), \end{split}$$

which implies

$$(-1)^{n+1}\varepsilon(n,d) > \frac{1}{2}q^{d-2}(q^{n-d+1}-1),$$

as required.

To prove the nonnegativity of the inner distribution given in Proposition 5.3.19, we rewrite it as

$$A_{n-i} = \frac{|Y|}{|X|} \sum_{j=0}^{n-d-i} a_{i,j}$$
(5.56)

with $a_{i,j} = a'_{i,j}(1 - \varepsilon_{i,j})$, where

$$a'_{i,j} = (-1)^{j} b^{\binom{j}{2}} {n \brack i}_{b} {n-i \choose j}_{b} \frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-j-i}}{(q)_{n-j-i}}$$

and

$$\varepsilon_{i,j} = (1 - \varepsilon(n,d)^{-1})b^{n-j-i-d+1} \frac{(b^{n+d-1} - 1)(b^{j+i} - 1)}{(b^{n-d+1} - 1)(b^{2n-j-i} - 1)} + \frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}} \varepsilon(n,d)^{-1}$$

for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - d and j = 0, 1, ..., n - d - i.

We first give lower and upper bounds on $\varepsilon_{i,j}$.

Lemma 5.3.22. Let *n* and *d* be integers with even *d* such that $2 \le d < n$ and $n \ge 4$. For all integers *i*, *j* with $0 \le i + j \le n - d$, we have

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} > \begin{cases} \frac{31}{32} & \text{for } n \text{ and } i + j \text{ odd} \\ \frac{61}{64} & \text{for } n \text{ and } i + j \text{ even} \\ \frac{191}{256} & \text{for odd } n \text{ and even } i + j \\ \frac{109}{128} & \text{for even } n \text{ and odd } i + j \end{cases}$$

and

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} < \begin{cases} 2 & \text{for } n \text{ and } i + j \text{ odd} \\ \frac{51}{32} & \text{for } n \text{ and } i + j \text{ even} \\ 1 & \text{for odd } n \text{ and even } i + j \\ \frac{259}{256} & \text{for even } n \text{ and odd } i + j. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, we have

$$1 - \varepsilon_{0,0} > \frac{255}{256}$$

for odd n.

Proof. From (5.54) and (5.55), we find

$$-\frac{q+1}{q^n} < \varepsilon(n,d)^{-1} < -\frac{q^{d-1}-1}{q^{n+d-1}+1} \quad \text{for even } n \tag{5.57}$$

and

$$\frac{q^{d-1}-1}{q^{n+d-1}-1} < \varepsilon(n,d)^{-1} < 2\frac{q^{-d+2}}{q^{n-d+1}-1} \quad \text{for odd } n.$$
(5.58)

Note that the sign of $(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}/(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}$ is $(-1)^{(n+1)(n-j-i+1)}$. Moreover, we have

$$\left| \frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}} \right| = \left| \prod_{\ell=0}^{n-j-i-d} \frac{qb^{d-1+\ell}-1}{b^{n+d+\ell}-1} \right|$$
$$\leq \prod_{\ell=0}^{n-j-i-d} \frac{q^{d+\ell}+1}{q^{n+d+\ell}-1}$$
$$\leq q^{-(n-2)(n-j-i-d+1)}$$
(5.59)

for all i, j with $0 \le i + j \le n - d$.

We have to look at four different cases depending on the parity of *n* and i + j. Assume that $n \ge 5$ and i + j are odd. We have

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} = 1 + (1 - \varepsilon(n, d)^{-1})q^{n-j-i-d+1} \frac{(q^{n+d-1} - 1)(q^{j+i} + 1)}{(q^{n-d+1} - 1)(q^{2n-j-i} + 1)} - \frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}} \varepsilon(n, d)^{-1}.$$
 (5.60)

Use that the second summand is nonnegative and

$$\frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}} \ge 0$$

together with the upper bound from (5.58) to obtain

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} > 1 - \frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}} \frac{2q^{-d+2}}{(q^{n-d+1}-1)}$$

>
$$1 - \frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}} 2q^{-n+2}.$$

Because of (5.59), we have

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} > 1 - \frac{2}{q^{(n-2)(n-j-i-d+2)}}$$

Since $n \ge 5$ and $i + j \le n - d$, we deduce

$$1-\varepsilon_{i,j}>\frac{31}{32}.$$

From (5.60) we also obtain

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} < 1 + (1 - \varepsilon(n,d)^{-1})q^{n-j-i-d+1} \frac{(q^{n+d-1} - 1)(q^{j+i} + 1)}{(q^{n-d+1} - 1)(q^{2n-j-i} + 1)}.$$

Using the lower bound from (5.58) gives

$$\begin{split} 1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} &< 1 + q^{n-j-i} \frac{(q^n-1)(q^{j+i}+1)}{(q^{n-d+1}-1)(q^{2n-j-i}+1)} \\ &< 1 + \frac{q^{j+i}+1}{q^{n-d+1}-1}. \end{split}$$

Because of $i + j \le n - d$ and $n - d \ge 1$, we have

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} < 1 + \frac{q^{n-d} + 1}{q^{n-d+1} - 1} \le 2,$$

as required.

Assume now that *n* and j + i are even. We have

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} = 1 + (1 - \varepsilon(n, d)^{-1})q^{n-j-i-d+1} \frac{(q^{n+d-1} + 1)(q^{j+i} - 1)}{(q^{n-d+1} + 1)(q^{2n-j-i} - 1)} - \frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}} \varepsilon(n, d)^{-1}.$$
 (5.61)

The second summand is nonnegative, whereas $\varepsilon(n, d)^{-1}$ and

$$\frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}}$$

are negative. Therefore, we obtain

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} \ge 1 - \left| \frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}} \right| |\varepsilon(n,d)^{-1}|.$$

Using (5.59) and the lower bound from (5.57) gives

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} > 1 - rac{q+1}{q^{n+(n-2)(n-j-i-d+1)}} \geq rac{61}{64},$$

where the last inequality follows from $j + i \le n - d$ and $n \ge 4$. From (5.61) we also obtain

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} < 1 + (1 - \varepsilon(n,d)^{-1})q^{n-j-i-d+1} \frac{(q^{n+d-1}+1)(q^{j+i}-1)}{(q^{n-d+1}+1)(q^{2n-j-i}-1)}.$$

Using the lower bound from (5.57) gives

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} < 1 + q^{-j-i-d+1} \frac{(q^n + q + 1)(q^{n+d-1} + 1)(q^{j+i} - 1)}{(q^{n-d+1} + 1)(q^{2n-j-i} - 1)}.$$

By (3.19) and (5.11), we have

$$1-\varepsilon_{i,j}<1+\frac{q^n+q+1}{q^{2n-d-j-i+1}}.$$

Since $i + j \le n - d$ and $n \ge 4$, we obtain

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} < 1 + \frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{q^n} + \frac{1}{q^{n+1}} \le \frac{51}{32}.$$

Assume that $n \ge 5$ is odd and i + j is even, which implies $i + j \le n - d - 1$. We have

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} = 1 - (1 - \varepsilon(n,d)^{-1})q^{n-j-i-d+1} \frac{(q^{n+d-1} - 1)(q^{j+i} - 1)}{(q^{n-d+1} - 1)(q^{2n-j-i} - 1)} - \frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}} \varepsilon(n,d)^{-1}.$$
 (5.62)

Since $(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}/(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1} \ge 0$, we use the bounds from (5.58) to obtain

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} > 1 - q^{n-j-i} \frac{(q^n - 1)(q^{j+i} - 1)}{(q^{n-d+1} - 1)(q^{2n-j-i} - 1)} - 2 \frac{q^{-d+2}}{(q^{n-d+1} - 1)} \frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}}.$$
 (5.63)

From (3.19) we find

$$\frac{q^n - 1}{q^{2n - j - i} - 1} \le q^{-n + j + i}$$
$$\frac{q^{j + i} - 1}{q^{n - d + 1} - 1} \le q^{-n + j + i + d - 1},$$

which implies

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} > 1 - \frac{1}{q^{n-j-i-d+1}} - 2 \frac{q^{-d+2}}{(q^{n-d+1}-1)} \frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}}.$$

Using (5.59) gives

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} > 1 - \frac{1}{q^{n-j-i-d+1}} - \frac{2}{q^{(n-2)(n-j-i-d+2)}}.$$

Because of $n \ge 5$ and $j + i \le n - d - 1$, we have

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} > 1 - \frac{1}{4} - \frac{1}{2^8} = \frac{191}{256}.$$

In particular, from (5.63) we find similarly

$$1 - \varepsilon_{0,0} > 1 - \frac{1}{2^8} = \frac{255}{256}.$$

By applying $1 - \varepsilon(n, d)^{-1} > 0$ and

$$\frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}}\varepsilon(n,d)^{-1} > 0$$

to (5.62), we obtain $1 - \varepsilon_{i,i} < 1$.

Assume now that *n* is even and i + j is odd, which implies $n - d \ge 2$ and $i + j \ge 1$. We have

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} = 1 - (1 - \varepsilon(n,d)^{-1})q^{n-j-i-d+1} \frac{(q^{n+d-1}+1)(q^{j+i}+1)}{(q^{n-d+1}+1)(q^{2n+j+i}+1)} - \frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}} \varepsilon(n,d)^{-1}.$$
 (5.64)

Since $\varepsilon(n, d)^{-1} < 0$ and $(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}/(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1} \ge 0$, the third summand is nonnegative. Together with the lower bound from (5.57) we obtain

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} > 1 - q^{-j-i-d+1} \frac{(q^n + q + 1)(q^{n+d-1} + 1)(q^{j+i} + 1)}{(q^{n-d+1} + 1)(q^{2n+j+i} + 1)}.$$

By (5.11) we have

$$\frac{q^{n+d-1}+1}{q^{n-d+1}+1} < q^{2d-2},$$

which gives us

$$\begin{split} 1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} &> 1 - \frac{q^n + q + 1}{q^{2n+j+i-d}} \\ &= 1 - \frac{1}{q^{n+j+i-d}} - \frac{1}{q^{2n+j+i-d-1}} - \frac{1}{q^{2n+j+i-d}}. \end{split}$$

Because of $n - d \ge 2$, $n \ge 4$, and $i + j \ge 1$, we deduce

$$1-\varepsilon_{i,j} > \frac{109}{128}.$$

The second summand in (5.64) is nonpositive since $\varepsilon(n, d)^{-1} < 0$. Together with the lower bound from (5.57), we obtain

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} < 1 + \frac{(q+1)}{q^n} \frac{(qb^{d-1})_{n-j-i-d+1}}{(b^{n+d})_{n-j-i-d+1}}.$$

Using (5.59) and $i + j \le n - d - 1$ as well as $n \ge 4$ gives

$$1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} < 1 + \frac{(q+1)}{q^n} q^{-(n-2)(n-j-i-d+1)} \le 1 + \frac{q+1}{q^{3n-4}} \le \frac{259}{256},$$

which completes the proof.

We now show that the inner distribution is nonnegative.

Proposition 5.3.23. For $2 \le d \le n$, all entries of the inner distribution (A_i) given in Proposition 5.3.19 are nonnegative.

Proof. Let (A_i) be given in (5.56).

First, assume that d = n. Then *n* is even and we only have to show that $A_n \ge 0$. By using (5.46), we have

$$A_{n} = \frac{|Y|}{|X|} \frac{(b^{n+1})_{n}}{(q)_{n}} \left(1 - \frac{(qb^{n-1})_{1}}{(b^{2n})_{1}}\varepsilon(n,n)^{-1}\right)$$

= $\frac{(q)_{n-1}(b^{n+1})_{n}}{(b^{n+1})_{n-1}(q)_{n}}\varepsilon(n,n) - \frac{(q)_{n-1}(b^{n+1})_{n}(qb^{n-1})_{1}}{(b^{n+1})_{n-1}(q)_{n}(b^{2n})_{1}}$
= $-(q^{n}+1)\varepsilon(n,n) - 1.$

From (5.54) we obtain

$$A_n > \frac{q^n(q^n + 1)}{q + 1} - 1 > 0.$$

Assume now that $2 \le d < n$. Since $1 - \varepsilon_{i,j} > 0$ for all i, j by Lemma 5.3.22 and the sign of $(b^{n+1})_{n-j-i}/(q)_{n-j-i}$ is $(-1)^{(n+1)(n-j-i)}$, the sign of $a_{i,j}$ is $(-1)^{\binom{j}{2}+ij+j}$. Hence for all i = 0, 1, ..., n - d, we have $\operatorname{sign}(a_{i,2j}) = 1$ if $j \ge 0$ is even and $\operatorname{sign}(a_{i,2j+1}) = 1$ if $j + i \equiv 1 \pmod{2}$. In all other cases, we have $\operatorname{sign}(a_{i,j}) = -1$. Similarly as in the case of odd d, we will show that $(a_{i,j})$ satisfies (5.15). Observe that this will prove the nonnegativity of the inner distribution.

Take $i \in \{0, 1, ..., n - d\}$. For all j = 0, 1, ..., n - d - i - 2, by using (5.12), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|a_{i,j}'|}{|a_{i,j+2}'|} &= \frac{q^{\binom{j}{2}} \left| \binom{n-i}{j}_{b} \frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-j-i}}{(q)_{n-j-i}} \right|}{q^{\binom{j+2}{2}} \left| \binom{n-i}{j+2}_{b} \frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-j-i-2}}{(q)_{n-j-i-2}} \right|} \\ &\geq q^{2j+2i-2n+1} \frac{|(b^{2n-j-i-1}-1)(b^{2n-j-i}-1)|}{|(qb^{n-j-i-2}-1)(qb^{n-j-i-1}-1)|}.\end{aligned}$$

Applying (5.11) gives

Ī

$$\frac{|a'_{i,j}|}{a'_{i,j+2}|} \ge q^{2j+2i-2n+1} \frac{(q^{2n-j-i-1}-1)(q^{2n-j-i}+1)}{(q^{n-j-i-1}+1)(q^{n-j-i}-1)} > q^{2j+2i}.$$

Assume that $n \ge 4$. By using Lemma 5.3.22, we deduce

$$\frac{1 - \varepsilon_{i,j}}{1 - \varepsilon_{i,j+2}} > \begin{cases} \frac{31}{64} & \text{for } n \text{ and } i + j \text{ odd} \\ \frac{61}{102} & \text{for } n \text{ and } i + j \text{ even} \\ \frac{191}{256} & \text{for odd } n \text{ and even } i + j \\ \frac{218}{259} & \text{for even } n \text{ and odd } i + j \end{cases}$$

for all *i*, *j* with $0 \le i + j \le n - d - 2$. For all *i*, *j* with $1 \le i + j \le n - d - 2$, we thus obtain

$$\frac{|a_{i,j}|}{|a_{i,j+2}|} = \frac{|a'_{i,j}|(1-\varepsilon_{i,j})}{|a'_{i,j+2}|(1-\varepsilon_{i,j+2})} > q^{2i+2j} \frac{1-\varepsilon_{i,j}}{1-\varepsilon_{i,j+2}} > 1,$$

as wanted. In the case of $n \ge 4$, it remains to show that

$$\frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}|+|a_{i,2}|} \ge 1$$

for all even $i \ge 0$. Thus, let $i \ge 0$ be even. We have

$$\frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}|+|a_{i,2}|} = \frac{\left|\frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-i}}{(q)_{n-i}}\right| (1-\varepsilon_{i,0})}{\left|\binom{n-i}{1}_{b} \frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-i-1}}{(q)_{n-i-1}}\right| (1-\varepsilon_{i,1}) + q \left|\binom{n-i}{2}_{b} \frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-i-2}}{(q)_{n-i-2}}\right| (1-\varepsilon_{i,2})}.$$

It holds that

$$\left|\frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-i-1}}{(q)_{n-i-1}}\right| = \frac{(q^{n-i} + (-1)^n)}{(q^{2n-i} - 1)} \left|\frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-i}}{(q)_{n-i}}\right|$$

and

$$\frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-i-2}}{(q)_{n-i-2}}\bigg| = \frac{(q^{n-i} + (-1)^n)(q^{n-i-1} - (-1)^n)}{(q^{2n-i} - 1)(q^{2n-i-1} + 1)} \left| \frac{(b^{n+1})_{n-i}}{(q)_{n-i}} \right|.$$

Combining this with

$$\begin{vmatrix} \binom{n-i}{1} \\ b \end{vmatrix} = \frac{q^{n-i} - (-1)^n}{q+1}$$
$$\begin{vmatrix} \binom{n-i}{2} \\ b \end{vmatrix} = \frac{(q^{n-i} - (-1)^n)(q^{n-i-1} + (-1)^n)}{(q+1)(q^2 - 1)}$$

gives

$$\frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}|+|a_{i,2}|} = \frac{1-\varepsilon_{i,0}}{\frac{(q^{2n-2i}-1)}{(q+1)(q^{2n-i}-1)}(1-\varepsilon_{i,1}) + \frac{q(q^{2n-2i}-1)(q^{2n-2i}-2)}{(q+1)(q^{2n-i}-1)(q^{2n-i}-1)(q^{2n-i}-1)(q^{2n-i}-1)(q^{2n-i}-1)(q^{2n-i}-1)(q^{2n-i}-1)}}.$$

Because of (3.19) and $i \ge 0$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}|+|a_{i,2}|} &\geq \frac{1-\varepsilon_{i,0}}{\frac{q^{-i}}{(q+1)}(1-\varepsilon_{i,1})+\frac{q^{-2i}}{(q+1)(q^2-1)}(1-\varepsilon_{i,2})} \\ &\geq \frac{1-\varepsilon_{i,0}}{\frac{1}{3}(1-\varepsilon_{i,1})+\frac{1}{18}(1-\varepsilon_{i,2})}. \end{aligned}$$

Using the lower and upper bounds on $1 - \varepsilon_{i,j}$ from Lemma 5.3.22 gives

$$\frac{|a_{i,0}|}{|a_{i,1}| + |a_{i,2}|} > 1$$

for all $n \ge 4$ and even $i \ge 0$, as required.

It remains to look at n = 3 and d = 2. Because of the sign of $a_{1,0}$, we immediately have $A_2 = \frac{|Y|}{|X|}a_{1,0} \ge 0$. For the entry A_3 , we only need to show $|a_{0,0}|/|a_{0,1}| \ge 1$. We have

$$\frac{|a_{0,0}'|}{|a_{0,1}'|} = \frac{\left|\frac{(q^4)_3}{(q)_3}\right|}{\left|\begin{bmatrix}3\\1\end{bmatrix}_b \frac{(q^4)_2}{(q)_2}\right|} = q+1 \ge 3.$$

We also require bounds on $1 - \varepsilon_{0,0}$ and $1 - \varepsilon_{0,1}$. Use the upper bound from (5.58) to obtain

$$1 - \varepsilon_{0,0} = 1 - \frac{(q^2 + 1)}{(q^5 + 1)(q^3 + 1)} \varepsilon(3, 2)^{-1}$$

$$\geq 1 - \frac{2(q^2 + 1)}{(q^5 + 1)(q^3 + 1)(q^2 - 1)}$$

$$\geq 1 - \frac{2}{q^6}$$

$$\geq \frac{31}{32}.$$

Applying the lower bound from (5.58) gives

$$\begin{split} 1 - \varepsilon_{0,1} &= 1 + (1 - \varepsilon(3, 2)^{-1}) \, q \frac{(q^4 - 1)(q + 1)}{(q^2 - 1)(q^5 + 1)} - \frac{(q^2 + 1)}{(q^5 + 1)} \, \varepsilon(3, 2)^{-1} \\ &\leq 1 + \left(1 - \frac{q - 1}{q^4 - 1}\right) q \, \frac{(q^2 + 1)(q + 1)}{(q^5 + 1)} \\ &= 1 + \frac{q^2(q^3 - 1)}{(q - 1)(q^5 + 1)} \\ &\leq 2. \end{split}$$

In summary, we conclude

$$\frac{|a_{0,0}|}{|a_{0,1}|} = \frac{|a_{0,0}'|}{|a_{0,1}'|} \frac{(1-\varepsilon_{0,0})}{(1-\varepsilon_{0,1})} > 1.$$

This completes the proof.

It remains to show that the dual distribution is nonnegative.

Proposition 5.3.24. For $2 \le d \le n$, all entries of the dual distribution (A'_k) given in Proposition 5.3.20 are nonnegative.

Proof. Let (A'_k) be given in Proposition 5.3.20. We first show that $A'_1 \ge 0$ for $2 \le d \le n$. The sign of $(q)_{d-1}/(b^n)_{d-1}$ is $(-1)^n$ and from (5.47), we thus find

$$A'_{1} = |X|q^{-d+1} \left| \frac{(q)_{d-1}}{(b^{n})_{d-1}} \right| \frac{(q^{n} - (-1)^{n})}{(q^{n-d+1} + (-1)^{n})} ((-1)^{n} - (-1)^{n} \varepsilon(n, d)).$$

From Lemma 5.3.21, we see that $\varepsilon(n,d) \ge 1$ for odd n and $\varepsilon(n,d) < 0$ for even n. Thus, we have $(-1)^n - (-1)^n \varepsilon(n,d) \ge 0$ implying $A'_1 \ge 0$, as required. Observe that we can now consider $d \ge 4$ since for d = 2, we only need to show $A'_1 \ge 0$.

Set $b_{k,j} = b'_{k,j}(1 - \delta_{k,j})$ with $\delta_{k,j}$ as in (5.52) and

$$b'_{k,j} = b^{\binom{j}{2} - nj} \frac{(b^{-n-1-k})_{n-k-j}}{(-b^{-n})_{n-k-j}} {n-k \brack j}_{b}$$

for all k = 0, 1, ..., d - 3 and j = 0, 1, ..., d - k - 3, so that

$$A'_{n-k} = c_k \sum_{j=0}^{d-k-3} b_{k,j}$$

as in (5.51). Since the sign of $(qb^k)_{n-k}/(-b^{-n})_{n-k}$ is $(-1)^{\binom{n-k}{2}+(n-k)(k+1)}$, we obtain $c_k \ge 0$. Hence, we need to show that $\sum_{j=0}^{d-k-3} b_{k,j} \ge 0$. Observe that this will follow from proving that $(b_{k,j})$ satisfies (5.15). The proof is split into some intermediate results, starting with bounds for $|\delta_{k,j}|$.

Claim 1. *For all* $q \ge 2$ *and* $n \ge 8$ *, we have*

$$|\delta_{k,j}| \le \begin{cases} 0.0032 & \text{if } 0 \le k+j \le d-4, \\ 0.05 & \text{if } k+j = d-3. \end{cases}$$

For all $q \ge 4$ *and* $n \ge 4$ *, we have*

$$|\delta_{k,j}| \le \begin{cases} 0.014 & \text{if } 0 \le k+j \le d-4, \\ 0.095 & \text{if } k+j = d-3. \end{cases}$$

Proof of Claim 1. For $0 \le k + j \le d - 3$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\delta_{k,j}| &\leq |\varepsilon(n,d)| \left| \frac{(qb^{k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}{(b^{n+k+j+1})_{d-k-j-1}} \right| \\ &+ (1+|\varepsilon(n,d)|)q^{k+j-d+1} \frac{(q^{n-k-j}+1)}{(q^{n-d+1}-1)} \left| \frac{(qb^{k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}{(b^{n+k+j})_{d-k-j-1}} \right|. \end{aligned}$$

Using $|\varepsilon(n,d)| \le (q^{n+d-1}+1)/(q^{d-1}-1)$ from Lemma 5.3.21 gives

$$\begin{aligned} |\delta_{k,j}| &\leq \frac{(q^{n+d-1}+1)}{(q^{d-1}-1)} \left| \frac{(qb^{k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}{(b^{n+k+j+1})_{d-k-j-1}} \right| \\ &+ q^{k+j} \frac{(q^n+1)(q^{n-k-j}+1)}{(q^{d-1}-1)(q^{n-d+1}-1)} \left| \frac{(qb^{k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}{(b^{n+k+j})_{d-k-j-1}} \right|. \end{aligned}$$
(5.65)

For $m \in \{n, n+1\}$, by using (3.20) and (5.28), we find

$$\left|\frac{(qb^{k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}{(b^{m+k+j})_{d-k-j-1}}\right| \le \prod_{\ell=0}^{d-k-j-2} \frac{q^{k+j+1+\ell}+1}{q^{m+k+j+\ell}-1} \le 10q^{-(m-1)(d-k-j-1)}.$$

This gives us

$$\begin{aligned} |\delta_{k,j}| &\leq 10q^{-n(d-k-j-1)} \, \frac{q^{n+d-1}+1}{q^{d-1}-1} \\ &+ 10q^{k+j-(n-1)(d-k-j-1)} \frac{(q^n+1)(q^{n-k-j}+1)}{(q^{d-1}-1)(q^{n-d+1}-1)}, \end{aligned}$$

which becomes

$$\begin{split} |\delta_{k,j}| &\leq 10q^{-n(d-k-j-2)} \, \frac{1+q^{-n-d+1}}{1-q^{-d+1}} \\ &+ 10q^{-(n-1)(d-k-j-2)+1} \frac{(1+q^{-n})(1+q^{-n+k+j})}{(1-q^{-d+1})(1-q^{-n+d-1})} \end{split}$$

For all $n \ge 8$, $q \ge 2$, and $0 \le k + j \le d - 4$, we obtain $|\delta_{k,j}| \le 0.0032$. For all $n \ge 4$, $q \ge 4$, and $0 \le k + j \le d - 4$, we obtain $|\delta_{k,j}| \le 0.014$. In the case of k + j = d - 3, we find from (5.65) that

$$\begin{aligned} |\delta_{k,j}| &\leq \frac{q^{d-2}+1}{q^{n+d-2}-1} + q^{d-3} \frac{(q^n+1)(q^{n-d+3}+1)(q^{d-2}+1)}{(q^{n-d+1}-1)(q^{n+d-3}-1)(q^{n+d-2}+1)} \\ &\leq q^{-n} \frac{1+q^{-d+2}}{1-q^{-n-d+2}} + q^{-n+2} \frac{(1+q^{-n})(1+q^{-n+d-3})(1+q^{-d+2})}{(1-q^{-n+d-1})(1-q^{-n-d+3})} \end{aligned}$$

For all $n \ge 8$ and $q \ge 2$, we obtain $|\delta_{k,j}| \le 0.05$, and for all $n \ge 4$ and $q \ge 4$, we obtain $|\delta_{k,j}| \le 0.095$. This completes the proof of Claim 1.

Claim 2. For all $q \ge 2$, $n \ge 4$, k = 0, 1, ..., d - 3, and j = 0, 1, ..., d - k - 3, we have

$$\frac{|b_{k,j}'|}{|b_{k,j+2}'|} \ge q^{2j+2k+1} \, \frac{1-q^{-2k-j-2}}{1+q^{-k-j-1}}.$$

Proof of Claim 2. Using the definition of the *q*-Pochhammer symbol, we see that

$$\frac{|b'_{k,j}|}{|b'_{k,j+2}|} = \left| \frac{b^{\binom{j}{2}-nj} \binom{n-k}{j}}{b^{\binom{j+2}{2}-n(j+2)} \binom{n-k}{j+2}_{b} (1-b^{-2k-j-3})(1-b^{-2k-j-2})}{b^{\binom{j+2}{2}-n(j+2)} \binom{n-k}{j+2}_{b} (1+b^{-k-j-2})(1+b^{-k-j-1})} \right|$$

Applying (5.12) gives

$$\frac{|b'_{k,j}|}{|b'_{k,j+2}|} \ge q^{2j+2k+1} \frac{(1+q^{-2k-j-3})(1-q^{-2k-j-2})}{(1-q^{-k-j-2})(1+q^{-k-j-1})} \ge q^{2j+2k+1} \frac{1-q^{-2k-j-2}}{1+q^{-k-j-1}},$$

as wanted.

Claim 3. For all $q \ge 2$ and $n \ge 8$, we have $|b_{k,0}|/|b_{k,1}| \ge 2$ for all $k \ge 1$. For all $q \ge 4$ and $n \ge 4$, we have $|b_{k,0}|/|b_{k,1}| \ge 2$ for all $k \ge 0$.

Proof of Claim 3. By using the definition of the *q*-Pochhammer symbol, we have

$$\frac{|b'_{k,0}|}{|b'_{k,1}|} = \left|\frac{1 - b^{-2k-2}}{b^{-n}(1 + b^{-k-1})\binom{n-k}{1}}\right| = \frac{(1 - q^{-2k-2})(q+1)}{q^{-n}(1 + q^{-k-1})(q^{n-k}+1)}.$$

For $q \ge 2$, $n \ge 8$, and $k \ge 1$, we have

$$\frac{|b_{k,0}'|}{|b_{k,1}'|} \geq \frac{(1-q^{-4})(q+1)}{q^{-n}(1+q^{-2})(q^{n-1}+1)} \geq \frac{128}{43}.$$

For $q \ge 4$, $n \ge 4$, and $k \ge 0$, we obtain

$$\frac{|b_{k,0}'|}{|b_{k,1}'|} \ge \frac{(1-q^{-2})(q+1)}{q^{-n}(1+q^{-2})(q^n+1)} \ge \frac{960}{257}$$

Together with Claim 1, this proves Claim 3.

Claim 4. The sign of $b_{k,j}$ is $(-1)^{\binom{j}{2}+kj+j}$ for all $j, k \ge 0$ if $q \ge 2$ and $n \ge 8$, or if $q \ge 4$ and $n \ge 4$. *Proof of Claim 4.* This follows from Claim 1, which gives $1 - \delta_{k,j} \ge 0$, and from

$$\frac{(b^{-n-1-k})_{n-k-j}}{(-b^{-n})_{n-k-j}} \ge 0.$$

We now combine the results from the previous claims to show that $b_{k,j}$ satisfies (5.15). Assume that $q \ge 2$ and $n \ge 8$, or that $q \ge 4$ and $n \ge 4$. Because of Claim 4, we then have

$$\frac{b_{k,2j}}{|b_{k,2j+2}|} = \frac{|b_{k,2j}|}{|b_{k,2j+2}|} \quad \text{for all } k \ge 0 \text{ and even } j \ge 0$$

and

$$\frac{b_{k,2j+1}}{|b_{k,2j+3}|} = \frac{|b_{k,2j+1}|}{|b_{k,2j+3}|} \quad \text{for all } k, j \ge 0 \text{ with } k+j \equiv 1 \pmod{2}.$$

We can thus look at $|b_{k,j}|/|b_{k,j+2}|$. Claim 1 and 2 imply

$$\frac{|b_{k,j}|}{|b_{k,j+2}|} \geq \frac{|b_{k,j}'|}{|b_{k,j+2}'|} \frac{(1-|\delta_{k,j}|)}{(1+|\delta_{k,j+2}|)} \geq 2$$

for all $k, j \ge 0$ if $q \ge 4$, $n \ge 4$, or for all $k, j \ge 0$ with $k + j \ne 0$ if $q \ge 2$, $n \ge 8$, which also gives

$$\frac{|b_{k,0}|}{|b_{k,1}| + |b_{k,2}|} \ge 1$$

in the respective cases by using Claim 3.

It remains to look at $q \ge 2$, $n \ge 8$, and k = j = 0, that is

$$\frac{|b_{0,0}|}{|b_{0,1}|+|b_{0,2}|}.$$

Using the definition of the *q*-Pochhammer symbol, we see that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|b_{0,0}|}{|b_{0,1}|+|b_{0,2}|} &= \frac{1-\delta_{0,0}}{q^{-n}\frac{(1-q^{-1})}{(1-q^{-2})}\left|\binom{n}{1}\right|_{b}\left(1-\delta_{0,1}\right)+q^{1-2n}\frac{(1-q^{-1})(1+q^{-2})}{(1-q^{-2})(1+q^{-3})}\left|\binom{n}{2}\right|_{b}\left(1-\delta_{0,2}\right)} \\ &\geq \frac{1-\delta_{0,0}}{q^{-n}\frac{1}{(1-q^{-2})}\left|\binom{n}{1}\right|_{b}\left(1-\delta_{0,1}\right)+q^{1-2n}\frac{(1+q^{-2})}{(1-q^{-2})}\left|\binom{n}{2}\right|_{b}\left(1-\delta_{0,2}\right)}.\end{aligned}$$
By applying

$$\left| \begin{bmatrix} n \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}_b \right| \le \frac{q^n + 1}{q + 1} \quad \text{and} \quad \left| \begin{bmatrix} n \\ 2 \end{bmatrix}_b \right| \le \frac{(q^n - 1)(q^{n-1} + 1)}{(q + 1)(q^2 - 1)},$$

we find

$$\frac{|b_{0,0}|}{|b_{0,1}|+|b_{0,2}|} \geq \frac{1-\delta_{0,0}}{\frac{(1+q^{-n})}{(1-q^{-2})(q+1)}(1-\delta_{0,1})+\frac{(1+q^{-2})(1+q^{-n+1})}{(1-q^{-2})(q+1)(q^{2}-1)}(1-\delta_{0,2})}.$$

By using $q \ge 2$ and Claim 1, this becomes

$$\frac{|b_{0,0}|}{|b_{0,1}|+|b_{0,2}|} \geq \frac{1-|\delta_{0,0}|}{\frac{257}{576}(1+|\delta_{0,1}|)+\frac{215}{1152}(1+|\delta_{2,2}|)} \geq 1,$$

as wanted.

For the remaining cases with $q \in \{2,3\}$, $n \in \{4,5,6,7\}$, and $d \in \{4,...,n\}$, the dual distribution is nonnegative as well, which was checked with a computer. This concludes the proof.

Combining Proposition 5.3.23 and 5.3.24 proves Proposition 5.3.18.

5.4 Open problems

We close this chapter by giving a list of open problems related to the LP optimum in classical association schemes.

Problem 5.4.1. *Prove Conjecture* 5.1.4 *concerning the* LP *optimum in* D_n *for odd* d *and odd* n.

Problem 5.4.2. Determine the LP optimum for d-codes in a polar space \mathcal{P} of rank n if

- (a) $\mathcal{P} = B_n$ or C_n and d is even
- (b) $\mathcal{P} = {}^2D_{n+1}$
- (c) $\mathcal{P} = {}^{2}A_{2n}$

Numerical computations of the LP optimum for small values of q, n, and d suggest that the LP optimum is strictly smaller than the bound of Corollary 3.2.4 in the cases (a)–(c).

Problem 5.4.3. Determine the LP optimum for d-codes in the symmetric bilinear forms scheme $Sym_a(n)$ if q is odd and n and d are even or if q is even and d is even.

This problem goes back to a conjecture given in [Sch15, p. 647]. A *d*-code Y in $\text{Sym}_q(n)$ is a set of symmetric $n \times n$ matrices over \mathbb{F}_q such that $\text{rank}(x - y) \ge d$ for all distinct $x, y \in Y$. In [Sch15], the case q odd was studied and sharp

bounds were proved for *d*-codes with odd *d*, which were obtained by using linear programming and are thus exactly the LP optimum. Moreover, it was conjectured in [Sch15] that the LP optimum for even *n* and even *d* is given by

$$q^{(n+1)(n-d+2)/2} \frac{1+q^{-n+d-1}}{q+1}$$

For odd n and even d, a bound was also determined in [Sch15], but it is unknown so far what the LP optimum might look like. In [Sch10], the case qeven was treated and sharp bounds were obtained for odd d by using linear programming as well. Thus, the LP optimum is also known for odd d and even q. But the LP optimum for even d and even q is unknown.

Problem 5.4.4. *Determine the LP optimum in the Hamming scheme* H(n,q) *and the Johnson scheme* J(n,m).

It was stated in [Del73, p. 55] that the LP optimum in H(n,q) is precisely the Singleton bound (2.25) if $q \ge \max\{d, n - d + 2\}$. Otherwise, it is still unknown what the LP optimum in H(n, q) looks like. The case q = 2 for the Hamming scheme is the most important and challenging problem concerning the LP optimum in classical association schemes. Here, one also looks at the asymptotic behavior of the maximal number A(n,d) of elements in a *d*-code in H(n, 2), when $n \to \infty$ and $0 \le d/n \le 1$. A comparison of this asymptotic behavior for various bounds in the binary Hamming scheme is given in Figure 5.1, where the Gilbert-Varshamov bound (GV bound) is a lower bound and the others are all upper bounds. In Figure 5.1, we used a weaker version of the McEliece-Rodemich-Rumsey-Welch bound (MRRW bound), which equals its stronger version for $\delta > 0.273$ and we note that for $\delta \leq 0.273$, the Elias bound is not as good as the stronger version of the MRRW bound [McE+77], see also [MS77, § 17] or [Lin99, § 5] for an overview of the bounds occurring in Figure 5.1. It is known that the asymptotic version of the LP optimum strictly exceeds the GV bound and is at least as large as the arithmetic mean of the weaker MRRW bound and the GV bound, see the gray area in Figure 5.1. It was conjectured in [Sam01] that this arithmetic mean of the weaker MRRW bound and the GV bound is precisely the LP optimum. However, it was pointed out in [BJ01] that this conjecture might be false and that the stronger MRRW bound might be the asymptotic LP optimum.

Similarly, for the Johnson scheme, there exists a GV bound and an MRRW bound for binary constant-weight codes and the asymptotic version of the LP optimum is as large as the arithmetic mean of the MRRW bound and the GV bound [Sam01].



FIGURE 5.1. A comparison of the asymptotic bounds for codes in the binary Hamming scheme, where $a(\delta) = \limsup_{n \to \infty} n^{-1} \log_2 A(n, \lceil \delta n \rceil)$ for $0 \le \delta \le 1/2$.

Problem 5.4.5. *Is there a combinatorial proof for the Singleton bound for* $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$ *and* $\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$ *?*

In the case of $\text{Bil}_q(n, m)$, there exists a combinatorial proof for the Singleton bound (1.1). Presently, it is unknown whether the Singleton bound for $\text{Her}_q(n)$ and $\text{Alt}_q(m)$ can be proved purely combinatorially. This problem is similar to Problem 3.4.1.



--Reduction of *Winter 3* (excerpt 40"-50") from *Recomposed by Max Richter: Vivaldi - The Four Seasons*

CHAPTER 6

Summary

The most notable results of this thesis are briefly summarized below in a simplified version. (See Table A.1 for the notation of the association schemes.) Open problems related to the investigated topics can be found in Section 3.4, 4.3, and 5.4, which pose future research directions.

- (R1) In Theorem 3.2.1 on p. 54, a bound for codes in $J_q(n,m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ was derived in a unified way, where in the case of $J_q(n,m)$, it is the well-known bound from [WXS03], showing that there exists a bound of a similar form for ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ as for $J_q(n,m)$. The proof of Theorem 3.2.1 relies on the fact that the *P* and *Q*-numbers of $J_q(n,m)$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, and $\frac{1}{2}D_m$ can be written in a similar way as dual *q*-Hahn polynomials and *q*-Hahn polynomials, where we used the second ordering of the primitive idempotents in the case of ${}^2A_{2n-1}$.
- (R2) In Corollary 3.2.4 on p. 60, we applied the bounds for codes in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and $\frac{1}{2}D_{n}$ from (R1) to derive bounds for codes in all the remaining polar spaces B_{n} , C_{n} , D_{n} , ${}^{2}A_{2n}$, and ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$.
- (R3) In Section 3.3, we constructed codes in all polar spaces by "lifting" known codes in the alternating bilinear, Hermitian, and symmetric bilinear forms schemes. Moreover, we proved that the constructed codes reach the respective bound obtained in (R1) and (R2) up to a constant factor for ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ with odd *d*; C_{n} with odd *d*; B_{n} with odd *d* and even *q*; and D_{n} except possibly for even *n* and odd *q*; whereas in the remaining cases for all polar spaces, the bounds are met up to a small power of q^{n} .
- (R4) In Proposition 4.2.1, we computed the inner distribution of Steiner systems in polar spaces.
- (R5) In Theorem 4.1.1 on p. 68, we provided an almost complete classification of nontrivial Steiner systems in polar spaces; namely for 1 < t < n, if a *t*-Steiner system in a polar space of rank *n* exists, then we are in D_n

with t = n - 1 (and in this case, it is one of the bipartite halves $\frac{1}{2}D_n$) or possibly in ${}^{2}A_{2n}$ or ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$ with t = n - 1 and $q \ge 3$, or in ${}^{2}A_{2n}$ or ${}^{2}D_{n+1}$ with odd n and $q \ge 2$. We moreover posed Conjecture 4.1.2 on p. 69 stating that t-Steiner systems with 1 < t < n can only exist in D_n for t = n - 1.

(R6) Theorem 5.1.1 on p. 82 contains the optimum of the linear program for codes in $J_q(n, m)$, $\frac{1}{2}D_m$, and ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ as well as for their affine counterparts Bil_q(n, m), Alt_q(m), and Her_q(n). In the last three cases, the optimum was basically known except for Alt_q(m) with even m and odd q and for Her_q(n) with even d. We gave a proof for all parameters. It is remarkable that the optimum in $J_q(n,m)$, $\frac{1}{2}D_m$, and ${}^2A_{2n-1}$ has a similar form as the optimum in their affine counterpart. Moreover, we derived the optimum for *d*-codes in D_n if *d* is even and in B_n and C_n if *d* is odd. The optimum for $\frac{1}{2}D_m$, ${}^2A_{2n-1}$, D_n , B_n , and C_n are precisely the bounds obtained in (R1) and (R2). Additionally, we posed Conjecture 5.1.4 stating the optimum in D_n if *d* and *n* are odd.

APPENDIX A

List of classical association schemes

This chapter contains a tabular overview of the studied classical association schemes.

TABLE A.1. Summary of the studied classical association schemes divided into three categories: (a) basic, (b) ordinary *q*-analog, and (c) affine *q*-analog, together with their type and group.

	association scheme	type	group
	Johnson scheme $J(n, m)$	A_{m+n-1}	S_{m+n}
(a)	Hamming scheme $H(n,q)$	B_n or C_n	$S_q^n \rtimes S_n$
	bipartite half $\frac{1}{2}H(n, 2)$ of $H(n, 2)$	D_n	$S_2^{n-1} \rtimes S_n$
	q-Johnson scheme $J_q(n,m)$	A_{m+n-1}	$\operatorname{GL}_{m+n}(q)$
	parabolic polar space scheme	B_n	$SO_{2n+1}(q)$
	symplectic polar space scheme	C_n	$\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(q)$
(b)	elliptic polar space scheme	${}^{2}D_{n+1}$	$\mathrm{SO}^{2n+2}(q)$
	Hermitian polar space schemes	$^{2}A_{m}$	$SU_m(q^2)$
	hyperbolic polar space scheme	D_n	$\mathrm{O}^+_{2n}(q)$
	bipartite half $\frac{1}{2}D_n$ of D_n	D_n	$\mathrm{SO}^+_{2n}(q)$
	bilinear forms scheme $\operatorname{Bil}_q(n, m)$	A_{m+n-1}	$X \rtimes (\operatorname{GL}_m(q) \times \operatorname{GL}_n(q))$
(c)	Hermitian forms scheme $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$	$^{2}A_{m}$	$X \rtimes \operatorname{GL}_n(q^2)$
	alternating bilinear forms scheme $Alt_q(m)$	D_n	$X \rtimes \operatorname{GL}_m(q)$

ated at y_k such that $P_i(k) = v_i f_i(k)$	$(y_k).$
v_i	_
$(q-1)^i \binom{n}{i}$	-
$\binom{n}{i}\binom{m}{i}$	
$\binom{n}{2}$	

TABLE A.2. Classical association schemes and their orthogonal polynomials $f_i(z)$ of degree i evaluated as the statement of the statement

association scheme	polynomial	$f_i(y_k)$	v_i
H(n,q)	Krawtchouk	$_{2}F_{1}\left(\begin{array}{c}-i,-k\\-n\end{array}\middle \frac{q}{q-1}\right)$	$(q-1)^i \binom{n}{i}$
J(n,m)	dual Hahn	$_{3}F_{2}\left(\left. \begin{array}{c c} -i,-k,k-m-n-1 \\ -m,-n \end{array} \right 1 \right)$	$\binom{n}{i}\binom{m}{i}$
$\frac{1}{2}H(n,2)$	dual Hahn	$_{3}F_{2}\left(\left. \begin{array}{c c} -i,-k,k-n \\ -\frac{n}{2},\frac{-n+1}{2} \end{array} \right 1 \right)$	$\binom{n}{2i}$
$B_n, C_n, D_n,$ ${}^2D_{n+1}, {}^2A_{2n-1}, {}^2A_{2n}$	q-Krawtchouk	${}_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c}p^{-k},p^{-i},-p^{-n-e-1+k}\\0,p^{-n}\end{array}\middle p;p\right)$	$p^{\binom{i+1}{2}+ie \begin{bmatrix} n\\i\end{bmatrix}_p}$
$J_q(n,m)$	dual q-Hahn	${}_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c c}q^{-i},q^{-k},q^{k-m-n-1}\\q^{-m},q^{-n}\end{array}\middle q;q\right)$	$q^{i^2} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ i \end{bmatrix}_q \begin{bmatrix} m \\ i \end{bmatrix}_q$

$\frac{1}{2}D_m$	dual q-Hahn	$_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\left. \begin{array}{c} q^{-2i}, q^{-2k}, q^{-2m+2k} \\ q^{-m}, q^{-m+1} \end{array} \right q^{2}; q^{2} \right)$	$q^{\binom{2i}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} m \\ 2i \end{bmatrix}_q$
$^{2}A_{2n-1}$ (2nd ordering)	dual <i>q-</i> Hahn	$_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c} (-q)^{-i}, (-q)^{-k}, (-q)^{-2n+k-1} \\ (-q)^{-n}, -(-q)^{-n} \end{array} \middle -q; -q \right)$	$q^{i^2} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ i \end{bmatrix}_{q^2}$
$\operatorname{Bil}_q(n,m)$	affine q-Krawtchouk	$_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\left. \begin{array}{c} q^{-k}, q^{-i}, 0\\ q^{-m}, q^{-n} \end{array} \right q; q \right)$	$q^{\binom{i}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ i \end{bmatrix}_{q} \prod_{j=0}^{i-1} (q^{m-j} - 1)$
$\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$	affine q-Krawtchouk	$_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\left. \begin{array}{c} q^{-2k}, q^{-2i}, 0 \\ q^{-m}, q^{-m+1} \end{array} \right q^{2}; q^{2} ight)$	$q^{i^2-i} \begin{bmatrix} \lfloor m/2 \rfloor \\ i \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \prod_{j=0}^{i-1} (q^{2\lceil m/2 \rceil - 2j - 1} - 1)$
$\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$	affine q-Krawtchouk	$_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c} (-q)^{-k}, (-q)^{-i}, 0\\ (-q)^{-n}, -(-q)^{-n} \end{array} \middle -q; -q ight)$	$(-q)^{\binom{i}{2}} {n \brack i}_{-q} \prod_{j=0}^{i-1} (-(-q)^{n-j} - 1)$

association scheme	polynomial	$g_k(z_i)$	μ_k
H(n,q)	Krawtchouk	$_{2}F_{1}\left(\begin{array}{c c} -i,-k & \\ -n & \\ \end{array} \right)$	$(q-1)^k \binom{n}{k}$
J(n,m)	Hahn	$_{3}F_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c c} -i,-k,k-v-1\\ -v+n,-n \end{array} \right 1 ight)$	$\binom{m+n}{k} - \binom{m+n}{k-1}$
$\frac{1}{2}H(n,2)$	Hahn	$_{3}F_{2}\left(\left. \begin{array}{c} -i,-k,k-n \\ -rac{n}{2},rac{-n+1}{2} \end{array} \right 1 ight)$	$\binom{n}{k}$
$B_{n}, C_{n}, D_{n},$ ${}^{2}D_{n+1}, {}^{2}A_{2n-1}, {}^{2}A_{2n}$	q-Krawtchouk	$_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c}p^{-k}, p^{-i}, -p^{-n-e-1+k}\\0, p^{-n}\end{array}\middle p; p\right)$	$p^{k(k-n)} {n \brack k}_{p} \frac{(-p^{e+1};p)_{n}}{(-p^{e-k+1};p)_{n-k}(-p^{n-k-e-1};p)_{k}}$
$J_q(n,m)$	q-Hahn	${}_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c}q^{-i},q^{-k},q^{k-m-n-1}\\q^{-m},q^{-n}\end{array}\middle q;q\right)$	$\begin{bmatrix} m+n \\ k \end{bmatrix}_q - \begin{bmatrix} m+n \\ k-1 \end{bmatrix}_q$

TABLE A.4. Classical association schemes and their orthogonal polynomials $g_k(z)$ of degree k evaluated at z_k such that $Q_k(i) = \mu_k g_k(z_i)$.

$\frac{1}{2}D_m$	q-Hahn	$_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\left. \begin{array}{c} q^{-2i}, q^{-2k}, q^{-2m+2k} \\ q^{-m}, q^{-m+1} \end{array} \right q^{2}; q^{2} \right)$	$q^{k(k-m)} {m \brack k}_{q} \frac{(-1;q)_{m}}{(-q^{-k};q)_{m-k}(-q^{m-k};q)_{k}}$
$^{2}A_{2n-1}$ (2nd ordering)	q-Hahn	$_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c} (-q)^{-i}, (-q)^{-k}, (-q)^{-2n+k-1} \\ (-q)^{-n}, -(-q)^{-n} \end{array} \middle -q; -q \right)$	$\mu_{k/2}$ or $\mu_{n-(k-1)/2}$ from the natural ordering
$\operatorname{Bil}_q(n,m)$	affine q-Krawtchouk	$_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\left. \begin{array}{c} q^{-k}, q^{-i}, 0\\ q^{-m}, q^{-n} \end{array} \right q; q \right)$	$q^{\binom{k}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} n \\ k \end{bmatrix}_q \prod_{j=0}^{k-1} (q^{m-j} - 1)$
$\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$	affine q-Krawtchouk	$_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\left. \begin{array}{c} q^{-2k}, q^{-2i}, 0 \\ q^{-m}, q^{-m+1} \end{array} \right q^{2}; q^{2} ight)$	$q^{k^2-k} \begin{bmatrix} \lfloor m/2 \rfloor \\ k \end{bmatrix}_{q^2} \prod_{j=0}^{k-1} (q^{2\lceil m/2 \rceil - 2j - 1} - 1)$
$\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$	affine q-Krawtchouk	$_{3}\phi_{2}\left(\begin{array}{c} (-q)^{-k}, (-q)^{-i}, 0\\ (-q)^{-n}, -(-q)^{-n} \end{array} \middle -q; -q ight)$	$(-q)^{\binom{k}{2}} {n \brack k}_{-q} \prod_{j=0}^{k-1} (-(-q)^{n-j} - 1)$

Bibliography

- [AA85] George E. Andrews and Richard Askey. "Classical orthogonal polynomials." In: Orthogonal polynomials and applications (Bar-le-Duc, 1984). Vol. 1171. Lecture Notes in Math. Springer, Berlin, 1985, pp. 36–62. DOI: 10.1007/BFb0076530 (cited on p. 36).
- [Bal15] Simeon Ball. *Finite geometry and combinatorial applications*. Vol. 82.
 Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2015, pp. xii+285. DOI: 10.1017/CB09781316257449 (cited on p. 39).
- [Ban+21] Eiichi Bannai, Etsuko Bannai, Tatsuro Ito, and Rie Tanaka. *Al-gebraic Combinatorics*. De Gruyter, Berlin/Boston, 2021. DOI: doi: 10.1515/9783110630251 (cited on pp. 12, 14, 17, 19–20, 23–25, 37, 43–44, 47–48).
- [BB80] Eiichi Bannai and Etsuko Bannai. "How many *P*-polynomial structures can an association scheme have?" In: *European J. Combin.* 1.4 (1980), pp. 289–298. DOI: 10.1016/S0195-6698(80)80028-X (cited on p. 23).
- [BCN89] Andries E. Brouwer, Arjeh M. Cohen, and Arnold Neumaier. Distance-regular graphs. Vol. 18. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1989. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-74341-2 (cited on pp. 2, 36–37, 39, 43–49, 51, 70).
- [BI84] Eiichi Bannai and Tatsuro Ito. *Algebraic combinatorics. I.* Association schemes. The Benjamin/Cummings Publishing Co., Inc., Menlo Park, CA, 1984 (cited on pp. 12, 24–25, 37, 43, 47–48).
- [BJ01] Alexander Barg and David B. Jaffe. "Numerical results on the asymptotic rate of binary codes." In: *Codes and association schemes* (*Piscataway, NJ, 1999*). Vol. 56. DIMACS Ser. Discrete Math. Theoret. Comput. Sci. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2001, pp. 25–32. DOI: 10.1090/dimacs/056/02 (cited on p. 134).
- [Bra+16] Michael Braun, Tuvi Etzion, Patric R. J. Östergård, Alexander Vardy, and Alfred Wassermann. "Existence of *q*-analogs of Steiner

systems." In: *Forum Math. Pi* 4 (2016). DOI: 10.1017/fmp.2016.5 (cited on pp. 7, 67).

- [Cal+97] A. Robert Calderbank, Peter J. Cameron, William M. Kantor, and Johan Jacob Seidel. "Z₄-Kerdock codes, orthogonal spreads, and extremal Euclidean line-sets." In: *Proc. London Math. Soc.* (3) 75.2 (1997), pp. 436–480. DOI: 10.1112/S0024611597000403 (cited on p. 68).
- [Cam74] Peter J. Cameron. "Generalisation of Fisher's inequality to fields with more than one element." In: *Combinatorics (Proc. British Combinatorial Conf., Univ. Coll. Wales, Aberystwyth, 1973).* 1974, 9–13. London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., No. 13. DOI: doi.org/10. 1017/CB09780511662072.003 (cited on pp. 6, 67).
- [Cam92] Peter J. Cameron. Projective and polar spaces. Vol. 13. QMW Maths Notes. Queen Mary and Westfield College, School of Mathematical Sciences, London, 1992. URL: https://webspace.maths.qmul. ac.uk/p.j.cameron/pps/ (cited on p. 39).
- [Car89] Roger W. Carter. Simple groups of Lie type. Wiley Classics Library.
 Reprint of the 1972 original, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
 John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1989 (cited on pp. 42, 68).
- [Chi87] Laura Chihara. "On the zeros of the Askey-Wilson polynomials, with applications to coding theory." In: SIAM J. Math. Anal. 18.1 (1987), pp. 191–207. DOI: 10.1137/0518015 (cited on p. 66).
- [Cos+22] Antonio Cossidente, Giuseppe Marino, Francesco Pavese, and Valentino Smaldore. "On regular systems of finite classical polar spaces." In: *European J. Combin.* 100 (2022), Paper No. 103439, 20. DOI: 10.1016/j.ejc.2021.103439 (cited on pp. 7, 69, 78).
- [CP03] Bruce N. Cooperstein and Antonio Pasini. "The non-existence of ovoids in the dual polar space DW(5, q)." In: *J. Combin. Theory Ser.* A 104.2 (2003), pp. 351–364. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcta.2003.09.007 (cited on p. 70).
- [CS86] Laura Chihara and Dennis Stanton. "Association schemes and quadratic transformations for orthogonal polynomials." In: *Graphs Combin.* 2.2 (1986), pp. 101–112. DOI: 10.1007/BF01788084 (cited on pp. 24–26, 44–46).
- [CS90] Laura Chihara and Dennis Stanton. "Zeros of generalized Krawtchouk polynomials." In: J. Approx. Theory 60.1 (1990), pp. 43–57. DOI: 10.1016/0021-9045(90)90072-X (cited on p. 22).

- [De 16] Bart De Bruyn. An introduction to incidence geometry. Frontiers in Mathematics. Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2016. DOI: 10.1007/ 978-3-319-43811-5 (cited on p. 43).
- [Del73] Philippe Delsarte. "An algebraic approach to the association schemes of coding theory." In: *Philips Res. Rep. Suppl.* 10 (1973) (cited on pp. 3, 11–12, 20–21, 28–30, 32–35, 66, 81, 134).
- [Del76a] Philippe Delsarte. "Association schemes and *t*-designs in regular semilattices." In: *J. Combin. Theory Ser. A* 20.2 (1976), pp. 230–243. DOI: 10.1016/0097-3165(76)90017-0 (cited on pp. 17–18, 35–37, 55).
- [Del76b] Philippe Delsarte. "Properties and applications of the recurrence $F(i + 1, k + 1, n + 1) = q^{k+1}F(i, k + 1, n) q^kF(i, k, n)$." In: *SIAM J. Appl. Math.* 31.2 (1976), pp. 262–270. DOI: 10.1137/0131021 (cited on pp. 23, 39).
- [Del78a] Philippe Delsarte. "Bilinear forms over a finite field, with applications to coding theory." In: *J. Combin. Theory Ser. A* 25.3 (1978), pp. 226–241. DOI: 10.1016/0097-3165(78)90015-8 (cited on pp. 5–6, 47, 49, 53, 81–82, 85, 92).
- [Del78b] Philippe Delsarte. "Hahn polynomials, discrete harmonics, and *t*-designs." In: *SIAM J. Appl. Math.* 34.1 (1978), pp. 157–166. DOI: 10.1137/0134012 (cited on pp. 6, 18, 37, 39, 67).
- [DG75] Philippe Delsarte and Jean-Marie Goethals. "Alternating bilinear forms over *GF*(*q*)." In: *J. Combin. Theory Ser. A* 19 (1975), pp. 26–50.
 DOI: 10.1016/0097-3165(75)90090-4 (cited on pp. 5–6, 48–49, 53, 64–65, 81–82, 85, 92).
- [DL98] Philippe Delsarte and Vladimir I. Levenshtein. "Association schemes and coding theory." In: *IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory* 44.6 (1998). Information theory: 1948–1998, pp. 2477–2504. DOI: 10.1109/18.720545 (cited on p. 2).
- [Dye77] Roger H. Dye. "Partitions and their stabilizers for line complexes and quadrics." In: *Ann. Mat. Pura Appl.* (4) 114 (1977), pp. 173– 194. DOI: 10.1007/BF02413785 (cited on p. 68).
- [Eat+20] John W. Eaton, David Bateman, Søren Hauberg, and Rik Wehbring. GNU Octave version 6.1.0 manual: a high-level interactive language for numerical computations. 2020. URL: https://www.gnu. org/software/octave/doc/v6.1.0/ (cited on p. 32).
- [Ega85] Yoshimi Egawa. "Association schemes of quadratic forms." In: J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 38.1 (1985), pp. 1–14. DOI: 10.1016/0097-3165(85)90016-0 (cited on p. 36).

[Eis99]	Jörg Eisfeld. "The eigenspaces of the Bose-Mesner algebras of the association schemes corresponding to projective spaces and polar spaces." In: <i>Des. Codes Cryptogr.</i> 17.1-3 (1999), pp. 129–150. DOI: 10.1023/A:1008366907558 (cited on pp. 44, 66).
[EV11]	Tuvi Etzion and Alexander Vardy. "Error-correcting codes in pro- jective space." In: <i>IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory</i> 57.2 (2011), pp. 1165– 1173. doi: 10.1109/TIT.2010.2095232 (cited on pp. 54, 65).
[FLV14]	Arman Fazeli, Shachar Lovett, and Alexander Vardy. "Nontrivial <i>t</i> -designs over finite fields exist for all <i>t</i> ." In: <i>J. Combin. Theory Ser. A</i> 127 (2014), pp. 149–160. doi: 10.1016/j.jcta.2014.06.001 (cited on pp. 7, 78).
[GJ83]	Ian P. Goulden and David M. Jackson. <i>Combinatorial enumeration</i> . Wiley-Interscience Series in Discrete Mathematics. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1983 (cited on pp. 74, 99).
[Glo+16]	Stefan Glock, Daniela Kühn, Allan Lo, and Deryk Osthus. "The ex- istence of designs via iterative absorption: hypergraph <i>F</i> -designs for arbitrary <i>F</i> ." In: <i>Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.</i> (<i>to appear</i>) (2016). arXiv:1611.06827v3 [math.CO]. URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/ 1611.06827v3 (cited on pp. 7, 67, 79).
[GM07]	Bernd Gärtner and Jiří Matoušek. <i>Understanding and Using Linear</i> <i>Programming</i> . Universitext. Springer Berlin, Heidelberg, 2007. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-540-30717-4 (cited on p. 30).
[HT16]	James W. P. Hirschfeld and Joseph A. Thas. <i>General Galois geometries</i> . Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer, London, 2016. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4471-6790-7 (cited on pp. 7, 39, 66, 68, 70, 78).
[Ihr18]	Ferdinand Ihringer. <i>Schrijver's SDP bound for network codes</i> . https: //ratiobound.wordpress.com/2018/10/11/schrijvers-sdp- bound-for-network-codes/. [blog post; retrieved at 18:35 MET on September 5, 2022]. 2018 (cited on p. 66).
[IMU89]	Aleksandr A. Ivanov, Mikhail E. Muzichuk, and Vasyl A. Usti- menko. "On a new family of (<i>P</i> and <i>Q</i>)-polynomial schemes." In: <i>European J. Combin.</i> 10.4 (1989), pp. 337–345. DOI: 10.1016/S0195- 6698(89)80006-X (cited on pp. 46, 61).
[Kan82a]	William M. Kantor. "Spreads, translation planes and Kerdock sets. I." In: <i>SIAM J. Algebraic Discrete Methods</i> 3.2 (1982), pp. 151–165. DOI: 10.1137/0603015 (cited on p. 68).

- [Kan82b] William M. Kantor. "Spreads, translation planes and Kerdock sets.
 II." In: SIAM J. Algebraic Discrete Methods 3.3 (1982), pp. 308–318.
 DOI: 10.1137/0603032 (cited on p. 68).
- [Kee14] Peter Keevash. The existence of designs. arXiv:1401.3665 [math.CO]. 2014. URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/1401.3665 (cited on pp. 7, 67, 79).
- [KK08] Ralf Kötter and Frank R. Kschischang. "Coding for errors and erasures in random network coding." In: *IEEE Trans. Inform. The*ory 54.8 (2008), pp. 3579–3591. DOI: 10.1109/TIT.2008.926449 (cited on pp. 1, 6, 53).
- [KLS10] Roelof Koekoek, Peter A. Lesky, and René F. Swarttouw. Hypergeometric orthogonal polynomials and their q-analogues. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2010. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-05014-5 (cited on pp. 21–23, 38, 44–45, 49, 55, 57–58, 100).
- [Lan20] Jesse Lansdown. "Designs in Finite Geometry." PhD thesis. Universitätsbibliothek der RWTH Aachen, University of Western Australia, 2020. DOI: 10.18154/RWTH-2020-12247 (cited on p. 78).
- [Lin99] Jacobus H. van Lint. *Introduction to coding theory*. Third. Vol. 86.
 Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1999, pp. xiv+227. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-58575-3 (cited on p. 134).
- [LW92] Jacobus H. van Lint and Richard M. Wilson. A course in combinatorics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511987045 (cited on p. 12).
- [McE+77] Robert J. McEliece, Eugene R. Rodemich, Howard Rumsey Jr., and Lloyd R. Welch. "New upper bounds on the rate of a code via the Delsarte-MacWilliams inequalities." In: *IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory* 23.2 (1977), pp. 157–166. DOI: 10.1109/tit.1977.1055688 (cited on pp. 5, 81, 134).
- [MS12] Muriel Médard and Alex Sprintson. *Network Coding: Fundamentals and Applications*. Elsevier, 2012. DOI: doi.org/10.1016/C2009-0-30680-7 (cited on p. 1).
- [MS77] F. Jessie MacWilliams and Neil J. A. Sloane. *The theory of error-correcting codes*. *I*. North-Holland Mathematical Library, Vol. 16.
 North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam-New York-Oxford, 1977 (cited on pp. 12, 18, 35, 134).

- [MW14] Jianmin Ma and Kaishun Wang. "Nonexistence of exceptional 5-class association schemes with two Q-polynomial structures." In: *Linear Algebra Appl.* 440 (2014), pp. 278–285. doi: 10.1016/j. laa.2013.11.001 (cited on p. 24).
- [Pan98] Pratima Panigrahi. "The collinearity graph of the O⁻(8,2) quadric is not geometrisable." In: *Des. Codes Cryptogr.* 13.2 (1998), pp. 187–198. DOI: 10.1023/A:1008234630713 (cited on p. 70).
- [Roo82] Cornelis Roos. "On antidesigns and designs in an association scheme." In: *Delft Progr. Rep.* 7.2 (1982), pp. 98–109 (cited on pp. 29–30).
- [Sam01] Alex Samorodnitsky. "On the optimum of Delsarte's linear program." In: J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 96.2 (2001), pp. 261–287. DOI: 10.1006/jcta.2001.3176 (cited on p. 134).
- [Sch05] Alexander Schrijver. "New code upper bounds from the Terwilliger algebra and semidefinite programming." In: *IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory* 51.8 (2005), pp. 2859–2866. DOI: 10.1109/TIT.2005. 851748 (cited on p. 65).
- [Sch10] Kai-Uwe Schmidt. "Symmetric bilinear forms over finite fields of even characteristic." In: J. Combin. Theory Ser. A 117.8 (2010), pp. 1011–1026. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcta.2010.05.006 (cited on pp. 6, 64, 85, 134).
- [Sch15] Kai-Uwe Schmidt. "Symmetric bilinear forms over finite fields with applications to coding theory." In: J. Algebraic Combin. 42.2 (2015), pp. 635–670. DOI: 10.1007/s10801-015-0595-0 (cited on pp. 6, 51, 64, 85, 133–134).
- [Sch18] Kai-Uwe Schmidt. "Hermitian rank distance codes." In: *Des. Codes Cryptogr.* 86.7 (2018), pp. 1469–1481. DOI: 10.1007/s10623-017-0407-8 (cited on pp. 5–6, 48–49, 53, 64, 81–82, 85–86, 92–93, 108).
- [Sch20] Kai-Uwe Schmidt. "Quadratic and symmetric bilinear forms over finite fields and their association schemes." In: *Algebr. Comb.* 3.1 (2020), pp. 161–189. DOI: 10.5802/alco.88 (cited on pp. 6, 51).
- [Sch86] Alexander Schrijver. Theory of linear and integer programming. Wiley-Interscience Series in Discrete Mathematics. A Wiley-Interscience Publication. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., Chichester, 1986 (cited on pp. 30–32).
- [Seg65] Beniamino Segre. "Forme e geometrie hermitiane, con particolare riguardo al caso finito." In: Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) 70 (1965), pp. 1–201. DOI: 10.1007/BF02410088 (cited on p. 68).

- [SKK08] Danilo Silva, Frank R. Kschischang, and Ralf Kötter. "A rank-metric approach to error control in random network coding."
 In: *IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory* 54.9 (2008), pp. 3951–3967. DOI: 10.1109/TIT.2008.928291 (cited on pp. 1, 6, 86).
- [Sta80] Dennis Stanton. "Some *q*-Krawtchouk polynomials on Chevalley groups." In: *Amer. J. Math.* 102.4 (1980), pp. 625–662. doi: 10. 2307/2374091 (cited on pp. 43–45, 66).
- [Sta81] Dennis Stanton. "Three addition theorems for some *q*-Krawtchouk polynomials." In: *Geom. Dedicata* 10.1-4 (1981), pp. 403–425. DOI: 10.1007/BF01447435 (cited on p. 44).
- [Sta84] Dennis Stanton. "Orthogonal polynomials and Chevalley groups." In: Special functions: group theoretical aspects and applications. Math. Appl. Reidel, Dordrecht, 1984, pp. 87–128. DOI: 10.1007/978-94-010-9787-1_2 (cited on pp. 15, 26, 37, 51).
- [Suz98] Hiroshi Suzuki. "Association schemes with multiple *Q*-polynomial structures." In: *J. Algebraic Combin.* 7.2 (1998), pp. 181–196. DOI: 10.1023/A:1008612505738 (cited on p. 24).
- [SW22] Kai-Uwe Schmidt and Charlene Weiß. "Packings and Steiner systems in polar spaces." In: Combinatorial Theory (to appear) (2022). arXiv:2203.06709v2 [math.CO]. URL: https://arxiv.org/abs/ 2203.06709v2 (cited on pp. 53, 67).
- [Tay92] Donald E. Taylor. The geometry of the classical groups. Vol. 9. Sigma Series in Pure Mathematics. Heldermann Verlag, Berlin, 1992 (cited on pp. 39–40, 45).
- [Tei87] Luc Teirlinck. "Nontrivial *t*-designs without repeated blocks exist for all *t*." In: *Discrete Math.* 65.3 (1987), pp. 301–311. DOI: 10.1016/ 0012-365X(87)90061-6 (cited on p. 7).
- [Tha81] Joseph A. Thas. "Ovoids and spreads of finite classical polar spaces." In: *Geom. Dedicata* 10.1-4 (1981), pp. 135–143. DOI: 10. 1007/BF01447417 (cited on p. 68).
- [Tho96] Simon Thomas. "Designs and partial geometries over finite fields." In: *Geom. Dedicata* 63.3 (1996), pp. 247–253. DOI: 10.1007/BF00181415 (cited on p. 70).
- [Val21] Frank Vallentin. "Semidefinite Programming Bounds for Error-Correcting Codes." In: *Concise Encyclopedia of Coding Theory*. Ed. by W. Cary Huffman, Jon-Lark Kim, and Patrick Solé. Chapman and Hall/CRC, 2021. DOI: doi.org/10.1201/9781315147901 (cited on p. 66).

152 Bibliography

[Van11]	Frédéric Vanhove. "Incidence geometry from an algebraic graph
	theory point of view." PhD thesis. Ghent University, 2011. URL:
	https://biblio.ugent.be/publication/1209078 (cited on
	pp. 7, 41, 44, 70).

- [Van14] Robert J. Vanderbei. *Linear programming*. Fourth. Vol. 196. International Series in Operations Research & Management Science. Foundations and extensions. Springer, New York, 2014. DOI: 10. 1007/978-1-4614-7630-6 (cited on pp. 30–31).
- [Was] Alfred Wassermann. "Linear Codes from q-analogues in Design Theory." Talk given at the conference Combinatorial Designs and Codes in 2021; retrieved at 18:35 MET on September 23, 2022. URL: https://cdc2020-math.uniri.hr/wp-content/uploads/2021/ 07/talk_wassermann.pdf (cited on p. 78).
- [WXS03] Huaxiong Wang, Chaoping Xing, and Rei Safavi-Naini. "Linear authentication codes: bounds and constructions." In: *IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory* 49.4 (2003), pp. 866–872. DOI: 10.1109/TIT.2003.
 809567 (cited on pp. 6, 54, 65, 137–138).
- [ZJX11] Zong-Ying Zhang, Yong Jiang, and Shu-Tao Xia. "On the linear programming bounds for constant dimension codes." In: 2011 International Symposium on Networking Coding. IEEE. 2011, pp. 1–4 (cited on pp. 6, 54).

List of figures

1.1	A 2-Steiner system.	2
2.1	Interpretation of condition (A3) for association schemes	13
2.2	Hamming scheme $H(2,2)$	13
2.3	Hamming scheme $H(3,2)$	14
2.4	Johnson scheme $J(2,2)$	14
2.5	A strongly regular graph $srg(9, 4, 1, 2)$	16
2.6	The bipartite halves of the Hamming scheme $H(3, 2)$	26
2.7	A 2-(2,3,1) orthogonal array and a 2-(3,4,1) orthogonal array $\ . \ .$	29
2.8	Symplectic polar space C_2	41
2.9	Hyperbolic polar space D_2	42
2.10	Association scheme arising from D_2	43
2.11	The bipartite halves of the hyperbolic polar space D_2	46
2.12	Bilinear forms scheme $Bil_2(2, 2)$	47
2.13	Hermitian forms scheme $Her_2(2)$	49
3.1	Idea for the proof of Proposition 3.2.3	61
4.1	1-Steiner systems (spreads) in the hyperbolic polar space D_2	68
4.2	A 1-Steiner system (spread) in the symplectic polar space C_2	68
5.1	A comparison of the asymptotic bounds for binary codes	135

List of tables

2.1	Properties of the inner and dual distributions	28
2.2	List of all six finite classical polar spaces	42
2.3	Valencies and multiplicities for ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$ and $\frac{1}{2}D_{m}$	51
A.1	Summary of the studied classical association schemes	139
A.2	Classical association schemes and their <i>P</i> -numbers	140
A.4	Classical association schemes and their <i>Q</i> -numbers	142

List of symbols

0	Hadamard product	
$a^{(i)}$	Pochhammer symbol	21
$(a;q)_n$	<i>q</i> -Pochhammer symbol	38
$(x)_i$	<i>q</i> -Pochhammer symbol $(x;b)_i$	54
$\binom{n}{k}$	binomial coefficient	
$\begin{bmatrix} n \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$	<i>a</i> -binomial coefficient	37
$\begin{bmatrix} n \end{bmatrix}_{a}$	<i>a-</i> number	38
[**]9		00
$A = (A_0, A_1, \ldots, A_n)$	inner distribution of a subset of an association scheme	27
${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$	Hermitian polar space of even dimension	40
${}^{2}A_{2n}$	Hermitian polar space of odd dimension	40
$A' = (A'_0, A'_1, \dots, A'_n)$	dual distribution of a subset of an association scheme	28
$\alpha(n,d)$	bound for <i>d</i> -codes in ${}^{2}A_{2n-1}$	59
$\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$	alternating forms scheme	48
A^T	transpose of a matrix A	
$\operatorname{Aut}(G)$	automorphism group of a group G	
Ь	parameter used for $\operatorname{Bil}_q(n, m)$, $\operatorname{Alt}_q(m)$, $\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$, $J_q(n, m)$,	50
	$\frac{1}{2}D_m$, and $^2A_{2n-1}$	
\mathcal{B}	Bose-Mesner algebra of an association scheme	16
$\beta(m,d)$	bound for <i>d</i> -codes in $\frac{1}{2}D_m$	60
$\operatorname{Bil}_q(n,m)$	bilinear forms scheme (also known as <i>q</i> -Hamming	47
D	scheme)	4.1
B_n	parabolic polar space	41
C	parameter used for Bil. (n, m) Alt. (m) Her. (n) I. (n, m)	50
C	$\frac{1}{2}D_{m}$ and $\frac{2}{4}A_{m}$	00
С	2^{Dm} , and 2^{n}	
C	symplectic polar space	41
\sim_n	symptetic polar space	τı
$\delta_{x,y}$	Kronecker delta	
d_H	Hamming metric	13
	-	

D_i	adjacency matrix of the relation R_i of an association scheme	16
D_n	hyperbolic polar space	41
${}^{2}D_{n+1}$	elliptic polar space	41
$\frac{1}{2}D_n$	bipartite half of the hyperbolic polar space D_n	45
е	parameter associated to a polar space	40
$E_i(\mu(x); C, D, n; q)$	dual <i>q</i> -Hahn polynomial of degree i in $\mu(x)$	38
$E_i(\lambda(x); C, D, n)$	dual Hahn polynomial of degree i in $\lambda(x)$	22
$\varepsilon(n,d)$	factor occuring in $\alpha(n, d)$	59
\mathbb{F}_q	the finite field with <i>q</i> elements	
rFs	hypergeometric function	22
$\operatorname{GL}_n(q)$	the general linear group	
$H_k(q^{-x}; A, B, n; q)$	<i>q</i> -Hahn polynomial of degree k in q^{-x}	38
$H_k(x; A, B, n)$	Hahn polynomial of degree k in x	22
$\frac{1}{2}H(n,2)$	bipartite half of the Hamming scheme $H(n, 2)$	25
H(n,q)	Hamming scheme	13
$\operatorname{Her}_q(n)$	Hermitian forms scheme	48
Ι	identity matrix	16
J	all-ones-matrix	16
J(n,m)	Johnson scheme	13
$J_q(n,m)$	<i>q</i> -Johnson scheme	37
$K^{m imes n}$	the ring of $m \times n$ matrices over a field K	
$K^{X \times Y}$	the ring of $ X \times Y $ matrices over a field <i>K</i> , where the	
	rows and columns are indexed by elements of X and Y	
$K_i(x; A, n)$	Krawtchouk polynomial of degree <i>i</i> in <i>x</i>	22
$K_i(q^{-x}; A, n; q)$	<i>q</i> -Krawtchouk polynomial of degree i in q^{-x}	44
$K_i^{\mathrm{aff}}(q^{-x}; B, n; q)$	affine <i>q</i> -Krawtchouk polynomial of degree <i>i</i> in q^{-x}	49
LP(D)	LP optimum of the LP for a D-code	33
LP(d)	LP optimum of the LP for a <i>d</i> -code	33
μ_k	multiplicities of an association scheme	17
N	the set of positive integers	

\mathbb{N}_0	the set of nonnegative integers	
$O_{2n+1}(q)$	group of $(2n+1) \times (2n+1)$ orthogonal matrices over \mathbb{F}_q	41
$O_{2n+2}^{-}(q)$	group of $(2n + 2) \times (2n + 2)$ orthogonal matrices over	41
	\mathbb{F}_q with sign –	
$\mathrm{O}_{2n}^+(q)$	group of $2n \times 2n$ orthogonal matrices over \mathbb{F}_q with sign +	41
Р	matrix containing the <i>P</i> -numbers $P_i(k)$	18
ϕ_Y	characteristic vector of a set <i>Y</i>	14
$r\phi_s$	<i>q</i> -hypergeometric function	38
p_{ij}^k	intersection numbers of an association scheme	12
$P_i(k)$	<i>P</i> -numbers of an association scheme	17
Q	matrix containing the <i>Q</i> -numbers $Q_k(i)$	18
q_{ij}^k	Krein numbers of an association scheme	19
$Q_k(i)$	Q-numbers of an association scheme	17
\mathbb{R}	the set of real numbers	
\mathcal{R}	the set of relations of an association scheme	12
S_n	symmetric group on <i>n</i> elements	
$\operatorname{Sp}_{2n}(q)$	group of $2n \times 2n$ symplectic matrices over \mathbb{F}_q	41
$\operatorname{Sym}_q(n)$	symmetric bilinear forms scheme	50
$\mathrm{U}_m(q^2)$	group of unitary $m \times m$ matrices over \mathbb{F}_{q^2}	40

Index

A

alternating bilinear forms scheme 5, 8, 48, 49, 53, 64, 81, 82, 85, 86, 87, 92, 135, 137, 138, 139 association scheme 12 P-polynomial 20 Q-polynomial 20 affine 47 affine *q*-analog 4, 36, 139 bipartite 25 bipartite half 25 classical 2,36 cometric 21 metric 20 ordinary q-analog 4, 36, 139 points 12 symmetric 12 type A_{m+n-1} 15 type B_n or C_n 15 type D_n 26

B

bilinear forms scheme 5, 6, 8, 47, 49, 53, 81, 82, 85, 86, 87, 92, 138, 139 Bose-Mesner algebra 2, 16

C

codegenerator 40D-code 27Greek 5, 45d-code 27group actionq-ary code 4, 27transitive 14

binary code 1, 6 constant-weight code 1, 4, 6, 27 perfect code 66 rank-metric code 1, 5, 53 subspace code 1, 5, 53 complementary slackness 32

D

design *T*-design 28 *t*-design 29 combinatorial design 1, 7, 30, 36, 67 design over \mathbb{F}_q 6, 7, 78 design in a polar space 78 dual distribution 28 dual eigenvalue 17 dual linear problem 31 dual LP for *D*-codes 33

Ε

eigenvalue 17

F

Fano plane 30 feasible solution 31

G

Η

Hamming distance 13 Hamming scheme 4, 13, 14, 15, 17, 20, 22, 24, 25, 26, 27, 29, 30, 35, 53, 65, 81, 134, 139, 153 bipartite half of H(n, 2) 25, 139 Hermitian forms scheme 5, 8, 48, 49, 53, 64, 81, 82, 85, 86, 87, 88, 92, 107, 108, 109, 135, 137, 138, 139 hypergeometric function 22 Р

I

inner distribution 27 intersection numbers 12 isometry 39

J

Johnson scheme 3, 4, 13, 14, 15, 18, 20, 22, 25, 27, 29, 35, 37, 53, 67, 79, 81, 134, 139

K

Krein number 19

L

Latin 5,45 LP optimum 31

Μ

matrix adjacency matrix 16 alternating 47 Hermitian 48 minimum distance 1 multiplicity 17

0

objective function 31 orthogonal array 29, 35

P-numbers 17 Pochhammer symbol 21 polar space 40 elliptic polar space 4, 41, 60, 78, 133, 137, 138, 139 Hermitian polar space 4, 7, 40, 44, 47, 49, 54, 55, 60, 64, 78, 82, 86, 89, 90, 96, 100, 116, 117, 119, 133, 137, 138, 139 hyperbolic polar space 4, 41, 42, 45, 60, 64, 69, 84, 133, 137, 139 bipartite half of D_n 5, 7, 45, 46, 47, 49, 54, 55, 60, 61, 68, 69, 82, 86, 89, 96, 100, 137, 138, 139 parabolic polar space 4, 41, 46, 60, 64, 66, 84, 133, 137, 138, 139 rank 40 symplectic polar space 4, 41, 46, 50, 60, 64, 66, 84, 85, 133, 137, 138, 139 polynomial *q*-Hahn polynomial 38, 45, 46, 50, 54, 137 q-Krawtchouk polynomial 44, 140 affine *q*-Krawtchouk polynomial 49, 51, 141 dual q-Hahn polynomial 38, 45, 46, 50, 137, 140 dual Hahn polynomial 22, 38, 140 Eberlein polynomial 22 Hahn polynomial 22, 26, 38 Krawtchouk polynomial 22, 44, 140 Singleton polynomial 35, 83, 87, 88, 89,90 primal linear problem 31 bounded 31 optimal 31 unbounded 31 primal LP for D-codes 33

primitive idempotents 17

Q	alternating 39
	symmetric 39
<i>q</i> -binomial coefficient 37	Hermitian 39
<i>q</i> -Hamming scheme (see bilinear	nondegenerate 39
forms scheme) 47	reflexive 39
q-hypergeometric function 38	Singleton bound 6, 35, 54, 65, 86, 134,
<i>q</i> -Johnson scheme 4, 7, 37, 47, 49, 53,	135
54, 55, 65, 66, 68, 78, 79, 82, 86, 89, 96,	spread 7,66,68
100, 137, 139	Steiner system 1.9.67.79
<i>q</i> -number 38	Steiner system in a polar space 7, 65.
<i>Q</i> -numbers 17	68, 137
<i>q</i> -Pochhammer symbol 38	Steiner system over \mathbb{F}_{2} , 7, 9, 67, 79, 86
quadratic form 39	strongly regular graph 15
D	symmetric bilinear forms scheme 6, 8,
N	50, 64, 85, 133, 137

S

regular system 68

semidefinite programming 65 sesquilinear form 39 bilinear 39 totally isotropic space 39

V

Т

valency 12